The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Edited by

Geoffrey Wool, Etheresia Pretorius and Theresa Marie Rossouw

Published in Frontiers in Immunology Frontiers in Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3660-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3660-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Topic editors

Geoffrey Wool — The University of Chicago, United States Etheresia Pretorius — Stellenbosch University, South Africa Theresa Marie Rossouw — University of Pretoria, South Africa

Citation

Wool, G., Pretorius, E., Rossouw, T. M., eds. (2023). *The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3660-5

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Theresa Marie Rossouw, Etheresia Pretorius and Geoffrey D. Wool

- 07 Inflammation and Platelet Activation After COVID-19 Vaccines - Possible Mechanisms Behind Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis Sisse R. Ostrowski, Ole S. Søgaard, Martin Tolstrup, Nina B. Stærke, Jens Lundgren, Lars Østergaard and Anne-Mette Hvas
- 18 Potential Anionic Substances Binding to Platelet Factor 4 in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia of ChAdOx1-S Vaccine for SARS-CoV-2

Xiaocong Pang, Haitao Liu, Xu He, Tianrong Ji, Yizhun Zhu and Yimin Cui

23 Emerging Role of Platelet-Endothelium Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection-Associated Myocardial Injury

Theresa M. Rossouw, Ronald Anderson, Pravin Manga and Charles Feldman

34 Signaling Through FcγRIIA and the C5a-C5aR Pathway Mediate Platelet Hyperactivation in COVID-19

> Sokratis A. Apostolidis, Amrita Sarkar, Heather M. Giannini, Rishi R. Goel, Divij Mathew, Aae Suzuki, Amy E. Baxter, Allison R. Greenplate, Cécile Alanio, Mohamed Abdel-Hakeem, Derek A. Oldridge, Josephine R. Giles, Jennifer E. Wu, Zeyu Chen, Yinghui Jane Huang, Jonathan Belman, Ajinkya Pattekar, Sasikanth Manne, Oliva Kuthuru, Jeanette Dougherty, Brittany Weiderhold, Ariel R. Weisman, Caroline A. G. Ittner, Sigrid Gouma, Debora Dunbar, Ian Frank, Alexander C. Huang, Laura A. Vella, The UPenn COVID Processing Unit, John P. Reilly, Scott E. Hensley, Lubica Rauova, Liang Zhao, Nuala J. Meyer, Mortimer Poncz, Charles S. Abrams, E. John Wherry

49 SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein 1 Activates Microvascular Endothelial Cells and Complement System Leading to Platelet Aggregation

> Luca Perico, Marina Morigi, Miriam Galbusera, Anna Pezzotta, Sara Gastoldi, Barbara Imberti, Annalisa Perna, Piero Ruggenenti, Roberta Donadelli, Ariela Benigni and Giuseppe Remuzzi

68 The COVID Complex: A Review of Platelet Activation and Immune Complexes in COVID-19

Stefan D. Jevtic and Ishac Nazy

75 Antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with stroke during COVID-19: A role in the signaling pathway leading to platelet activation

> Antonella Capozzi, Gloria Riitano, Serena Recalchi, Valeria Manganelli, Agostina Longo, Anne Falcou, Manuela De Michele, Tina Garofalo, Fabio M. Pulcinelli, Maurizio Sorice and Roberta Misasi

3

- 84 Platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19 and vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia Johannes Hirsch, Günalp Uzun, Jan Zlamal, Anurag Singh and Tamam Bakchoul
- 94 Annexin-V positive extracellular vesicles level is increased in severe COVID-19 disease

Valentine Jacob, Alexis Lambour, Benjamin Swinyard, Yoann Zerbib, Momar Diouf, Simon Soudet, Etienne Brochot, Isabelle Six, Julien Maizel, Michel Slama and Nicolas Guillaume

100 Comparison of platelet-and endothelial-associated biomarkers of disease activity in people hospitalized with Covid-19 with and without HIV co-infection Mieke A. van der Mescht, Helen C. Steel, Zelda de Beer,

Fareed Abdullah, Veronica Ueckermann, Ronald Anderson and Theresa M. Rossouw

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Francesca Granucci, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Theresa Marie Rossouw Matheresa.rossouw@up.ac.za

RECEIVED 29 August 2023 ACCEPTED 08 September 2023 PUBLISHED 25 September 2023

CITATION

Rossouw TM, Pretorius E and Wool GD (2023) Editorial: The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1285355. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1285355

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rossouw, Pretorius and Wool. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Theresa Marie Rossouw^{1*}, Etheresia Pretorius^{2,3} and Geoffrey D. Wool⁴

¹Department of Immunology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, ²Department of Physiological Sciences, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa, ³Department of Biochemistry and Systems Biology, Institute of Systems, Molecular and Integrative Biology, Liverpool, United Kingdom, ⁴Department of Pathology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

KEYWORDS

platelets, SARS-CoV-2, inflammation, immuno-thrombosis, vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia and thrombosis

Editorial on the Research Topic

The immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19

Platelets are increasingly recognized for their role as mediators of immune response and inflammation. As major components of the hematological system, they form an important bridge between immunity and coagulation. When platelets become hyperactivated in response to an infection, patients can develop immuno-thrombosis and coagulopathy. These derangements of hemostasis are particularly relevant in the context of infection with the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, and the subsequent development of coronavirus disease, COVID-19, a disease in which thromboembolic events are an important cause of morbidity and mortality.

This Research Topic focuses on the immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology of COVID-19 as well as Vaccine-induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis (VITT) in *in vitro* and *in vivo* environments.

Jevtic and Nazy provide an elegant review of platelet hyperactivation in COVID-19. They describe how the disease is associated with changes in platelet surface markers, secretion responses, and gene expression as well as increased circulating platelet-leukocyte aggregates. Immune complexes appear to contribute significantly to this platelet-activating effect; the antigen specificity and additional characteristics of these immune complexes remain to be determined.

Platelet activation *in vivo* in COVID-19 patients can lead to reduced responsiveness to additional *in vitro* stimuli, due to functional exhaustion of these anucleate corpuscles. Apostolidis et al. show that COVID-19 is associated with increased markers of basal platelet activation and reduced agonist responsiveness. Exposure to COVID-19 plasma increases donor platelet activation and, in a flow model, causes more platelet adhesion. The ability of patient plasma to activate donor platelets correlates with worsened patient outcomes. These effects occur through FcgRIIa-Syk and C5a-C5aR pathways; this identifies

Syk kinase inhibitors and C5 inhibitors as therapeutics with potential promise for COVID-19 thromboinflammation.

The role of complement activation is also explored by Perico et al. They describe a novel mechanism through which SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 protein sufficiently induces inflammatory and thrombogenic processes in the microvasculature. They demonstrate that the *in vitro* activation of endothelial cells with S1 protein, *via* ACE2, lead to leukocyte recruitment and C3 and C5b-9 deposition on endothelial cells, along with C3a and C5a generation that further magnify spike-induced complement activation. They propose that this process possibly recapitulates the systemic thromboembolic complications observed in severe COVID-19 cases, hence strengthening the argument for the use of complement inhibitors.

Capozzi et al. investigate patients with COVID-19 who experienced ischemic stroke. Immunoglobulin from such patients, particularly when containing antiphospholipid antibodies, is shown to activate donor platelets through phosphorylation of ERK and p38 as well as cause aggregation and ATP secretion.

Extracellular vesicles (EV) in biological fluids can be identified through light scatter properties and the presence of phosphatidylserine (PS) on their outer membrane leaflet. Annexin A5 binding is often used to identify PS positive particles. Jacob et al. report a significant increase in annexin A5 avid circulating EV (total plasma as well as endothelial- and platelet- derived EV) in COVID-19 ICU patients. Such microparticles are associated with increased thrombotic events.

Overall, these studies demonstrate the significant interplay of the humoral immune system and platelet activation in COVID-19, contributing to the high rate of thromboembolism seen in this disease.

The blood of people living with HIV (PLWH) are known to be hypercoagulable and they might therefore be particularly vulnerable to the thromboembolic complications of SARS-CoV-2. In an insightful study, van der Mescht et al., assess platelet and endothelium-associated cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors in 174 patients hospitalised with COVID-19. HIV co-infection was not associated with increased intensity of the inflammatory response. They do, however, report an interesting association between increased levels of the angiogenic factor, plasma vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), with SARS-CoV-2/HIV coinfection. Of note, PLWH with low CD4 counts or uncontrolled HIV replication, had lower levels of VEGF concentrations, possibly indicating an inappropriate immune response.

Rossouw et al. review the interaction of platelets with the vascular endothelium in the context of COVID-19-related myocardial injury. They describe the interaction of the viral spike protein with endothelial ACE2 together with alternative mechanisms that involve nucleocapsid and viroporin in the generation of a generalized endotheliitis. They further explain how platelet-derived calcium-binding proteins, SA100A8 and SA100A9, intensify endothelial activation and dysfunction. These events create a SARS-CoV-2-driven cycle of intravascular inflammation and coagulation, which contributes significantly to a poor clinical outcome in patients with severe disease.

Finally, three articles explore the immunological role of platelet activation in the pathophysiology VITT.

In an unprecedented head-to-head comparison between the Oxford/AstraZeneca [ChAdOx1] (AZ) and mRNA vaccines, Ostrowski et al. present original data about the diverse responses elicited by different vaccines. Their findings reveal enhanced inflammation, platelet activation, and thrombin generation following AZ vaccination and shed light on potential triggers and mechanisms underlying complications like VITT.

Pang et al. in a hypothesis and theory paper, venture into the uncharted territory of anionic substances binding to platelet factor 4 (PF4) in the context of VITT induced by the ChAdOx1-S vaccine. They identify five potential candidates within the vaccine that could trigger VITT, with negatively charged impurity proteins emerging as the most likely instigator. By unravelling the molecular interactions between these anionic substances and PF4, the authors shed light on the intricate web of events that give rise to VITT.

These hypotheses lay the groundwork for a deeper understanding of VITT's, offering a potential avenue for risk assessment and intervention strategies to ensure the safety of vaccine recipients.

In a succinct mini review, Hirsch et al. explore the interplay between platelets and neutrophils, both in the context of COVID-19 and VITT. The review underscores the central roles played by hyperactivated platelets and neutrophil extracellular traps in the coagulopathy associated with COVID-19. The authors highlight the emergence of a new paradigm in thrombophilia, catalysed by autoantibody formation in response to adenoviral vector vaccines.

The collective insights from the papers, spanning original data to theoretical exploration and concise synthesis, featured in this Frontiers of Immunology Research Topic, underscore the need for multidisciplinary research and edge us forward towards unravelling the complexities of platelet activation in the context of infection.

Author contributions

TR: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. EP: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. GW: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.





Inflammation and Platelet Activation After COVID-19 Vaccines - Possible Mechanisms Behind Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis

Sisse R. Ostrowski^{1,2}, Ole S. Søgaard^{3,4}, Martin Tolstrup^{3,4}, Nina B. Stærke^{3,4}, Jens Lundgren^{2,5}, Lars Østergaard^{3,4} and Anne-Mette Hvas^{4,6*}

¹ Department of Clinical Immunology, Copenhagen Hospital Biobank Unit, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ² Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ Department Infectious Disease, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁴ Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁵ Department of Infectious Diseases, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁶ Department Clinical Biochemistry, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Theresa Marie Rossouw, University of Pretoria, South Africa

Reviewed by:

Alexander G. Gabibov, Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry (RAS), Russia Angelo A. Manfredi, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Italy

*Correspondence:

Anne-Mette Hvas am.hvas@dadlnet.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 18 September 2021 Accepted: 05 November 2021 Published: 23 November 2021

Citation:

Ostrowski SR, Søgaard OS, Tolstrup M, Stærke NB, Lundgren J, Østergaard L and Hvas A-M (2021) Inflammation and Platelet Activation After COVID-19 Vaccines -Possible Mechanisms Behind Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis. Front. Immunol. 12:779453. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.779453 Introduction of vaccines against COVID-19 has provided the most promising chance to control the world-wide COVID-19 pandemic. However, the adenovirus-vector based Oxford/AstraZeneca [ChAdOx1] (AZ) and Johnson & Johnson [Ad26.CoV2.S] COVID-19 vaccines have been linked with serious thromboembolic events combined with thrombocytopenia, denominated Vaccine-induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis (VITT). The pathogenesis of COVID-19 VITT remain incompletely understood; especially the initial events that trigger platelet activation, platelet factor (PF)4 release, complex formation and PF4 antibody production are puzzling. This is a prospective study investigating the impact of different COVID-19 vaccines on inflammation (CRP, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10), vascular endothelial activation (syndecan-1, thrombomodulin, E-selectin, ICAM-1, ICAM-3, VCAM-1), platelet activation (P-selectin, TGF- β , sCD40L) and aggregation (Multiplate[®] impedance aggregometry), whole blood coagulation (ROTEM[®]), thrombin generation and PF4 antibodies to reveal potential differences between AZ and mRNA vaccines in individuals without VITT. The study included 80 (55 AZ and 55 mRNA) vaccinated individuals and 55 non-vaccinated ageand gender matched healthy controls. The main findings where that both vaccines enhanced inflammation and platelet activation, though AZ vaccination induced a more pronounced increase in several inflammatory and platelet activation markers compared to mRNA vaccination and that post-vaccination thrombin generation was higher following AZ vaccination compared to mRNA vaccination. No difference in neither the PF4 antibody level nor the proportion of individuals with positive PF4 antibodies were observed between the vaccine groups. This is the first study to report enhanced inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation following AZ vaccination compared to mRNA

7

vaccination in a head-to-head comparison. We speculate that specific components of the AZ adenovirus vector may serve as initial trigger(s) of (hyper)inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation, potentially lowering the threshold for a cascade of events that both trigger complications related to excessive inflammation, platelet and coagulation activation as observed in epidemiological studies and promote development of VITT when combined with high-titer functionally active PF4 antibodies.

Keywords: COVID-19, platelet factor 4, thrombocytopenia, thrombosis, vaccines, VITT, TTS

INTRODUCTION

Introduction of vaccines against COVID-19 has provided the most promising chance to control the world-wide COVID-19 pandemic. The chimp adenovirus vector-based Oxford/AstraZeneca [AZD1222/ChAdOx1] (AZ) COVID-19 vaccine was approved in the United Kingdom ultimo December 2020 and by the European Medicines Agency at the end of January 2021 and it is one of the most widely used COVID-19 vaccines. In March 2021, the first cases of serious thromboembolic events combined with thrombocytopenia following AZ vaccines were reported (1-3). These events lead to a pause in the use of the AZ vaccine in several European countries, and Denmark later chose to completely remove the AZ vaccine from the general vaccination program. In April 2021, vaccination with another adenovirus vector-based COVID-19 vaccine from Johnson & Johnson [Ad26.CoV2.S] was paused in the United States when similar clinical cases were reported (4-6). Subsequently, larger case series have been published delineating the occurrence and severity of this complication (7-9), now denominated Vaccine-induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis (VITT) (10).

VITT is characterized by multiple thromboses at unusual sites most often as cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) and splanchnic vein thromboses combined with thrombocytopenia, increased D-dimer and often decreased fibrinogen (1, 2, 7-9, 11). VITT is occasionally complicated by arterial thrombosis as ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction or limb ischemia (3, 12, 13).

The mechanisms behind the pathogenesis of VITT remain incompletely understood, but there is much to suggest that the platelet consumption and the progressive thrombogenic state is initiated by formation of antibodies against the protein platelet factor 4 (PF4). Unusual high serum levels of PF4 antibodies have been found in the vast majority of patients with VITT (1-4, 7, 8). PF4 is a tetrameric chemokine (CXCL4) stored mainly in megakaryocytes and in the α -granules of platelets (14) and released upon platelet activation. In VITT, patients form IgG antibodies against the PF4-polyanion complexes, which activate the platelets via the Fcy receptor on the surface of the platelets. This platelet activation induces increased release of PF4, which contributes to complex formation with the newly formed PF4 autoantibodies leading to thrombocytopenia, increased platelet aggregation and thrombus formation. It is, however, not yet known what triggers the strong autoimmune response in VITT or which components of the vaccines that trigger antibody formation to PF4.

To investigate the impact of COVID-19 vaccines on inflammation and platelets, we analyzed markers of inflammation, vascular endothelial activation, platelet activation and aggregation, whole blood coagulation, thrombin generation and PF4 antibodies pre- and post-vaccination in a cohort of individuals without VITT receiving either AZ or mRNA [Pfizer/ BioNTech BNT162b2 and Moderna mRNA-1273] vaccines. For further comparison, an age and gender matched control group comprising healthy non-vaccinated individuals was included.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Participants

Vaccinated study participants were included in the Danish national vaccine trial ENFORCE (*National Cohort Study of Effectiveness and Safety of SARS-CoV-2/Covid-19 vaccines*, https://chip.dk/Research/Studies/ENFORCE/About-ENFORCE) EudraCT no (2020–006003–42). The ENFORCE trial is funded by The Danish Ministry of Health. The ENFORCE trial was approved by the National ethical committee (1-10-72-337-20) and the Danish data protection agency (1-16-02-289-21). Oral and written informed consent from all participants were obtained. The study was conducted in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki.

Individuals recently vaccinated with either AZ or mRNA vaccines against COVID-19 were invited to provide an early post-vaccination blood sample (see **Figure 1** for study design). The present study included eighty participants recently vaccinated (median of 11 days (range 8-16) post-vaccination) with either AZ (n=55, Oxford/AstraZenica [AZD1222/ChAdOx1]) or mRNA (n=25 in total: n=16 Pfizer/BioNTech [BNT162b2] and n=9 Moderna [mRNA-1273]) vaccines. Prevaccination samples were available from all participants, as they were participants in the ENFORCE study.

Since blood samples for platelet aggregation, whole blood coagulation and thrombin generation were not available at the pre-vaccination sample, non-vaccinated healthy individuals (controls) were invited to participate. The non-vaccinated controls were included in a separate study approved by the regional ethical committee (1-10-72-208-21) and the data protection agency (1-16-02-246-21). Oral and written informed consent from all participants were obtained. The study was conducted in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki. Eighty controls volunteered to participate and among these,



we selected a subgroup that was age matched (age distribution matched from 20-70+ years for each 10-year interval with random and data blinded removal of individuals within age intervals with overrepresentation) and gender matched (similar approach as for the age matching) with the entire vaccination group (n=80). The age and gender matched controls comprised 55 individuals.

Participant Data

Age, gender and information about anticoagulant medication or platelet inhibitors were registered upon study participation and blood sampling.

Biomarkers of Inflammation, Vascular Endothelial Activation and Platelet Activation

Biomarker analysis was conducted pre- and post-vaccination. Markers reflecting inflammation (C-reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10), vascular endothelial activation (syndecan-1, thrombomodulin, endothelial (E)-Selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, ICAM-3, vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1) and platelet activation (platelet (P)-Selectin, transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , soluble CD40 ligand (CD40L)) were measured in EDTA plasma by MesoScale Discovery (MSD) single or multiplex panels according to the manufacturer's recommendation by a MESO QuickPlex SQ 120 instrument (Rockville, Maryland, US). The following panels were applied: Proinflammatory panel I (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10). Human vascular injury kit I (E-Selectin, ICAM-3, P-Selectin, Thrombomodulin). Human vascular injury (CRP, ICAM-1, VCAM-1). Human syndecan-1 assay (syndecan-1). Human effector checkpoint assay (soluble CD40L). Human TGF- β 1 assay (TGF- β). Results are displayed as concentrations (either pg/ml, ng/ml or μ g/ml as appropriate).

Standard Coagulation, Platelet Aggregation (Multiplate), Whole Blood Coagulation (Thromboelastometry, ROTEM) and Thrombin Generation

All analyses were performed post-vaccination and in non-vaccinated healthy controls in an ISO 15189 accredited laboratory.

Standard Coagulation

In brief, platelet count was measured in EDTA plasma employing Sysmex XN-9000 (Sysmex, Kobe, Japan). Blood samples for the remaining coagulation tests were obtained using 3.2% sodium citrate. Fibrinogen (functional, Clauss methods), D-dimer, international normalized ratio (INR), and activated partial thrombin time (aPTT) were analyzed employing Sysmex C5100 (Sysmex, Kobe, Japan).

Platelet Aggregation

Blood was collected in tubes anticoagulated by hirudin. The analysis was performed within 2 hours employing impedance aggregometry (Multiplate[®] Analyzer, Roche, Germany). Platelets were activated with adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (Roche ADPtest), collagen (Bio/Data Corporation, BioNordika, Herlev, Denmark), and arachidonic acid (AA) (Roche ASPItest), according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The area under curve (AUC, aggregation units* min) was registered.

Whole Blood Coagulation

Whole blood for thromboelastometry (ROTEM, Instrumentation Laboratory, Bedford, USA) was collected using 3.2% sodium citrate tubes. The samples were left to rest for 30 min and analyzed within 2 hours. The standard assays EXTEM, INTEM, and FIBTEM were performed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The following parameters were registered: clotting time (CT, seconds), maximum clot formation (MCF, mm) and lysis at 30 minutes (LI30, %).

Thrombin Generation

Blood was collected using sodium citrate 3.2% tubes, centrifuged at 3,000 g for 25 min within 1 hour after blood sampling to obtain platelet-poor plasma, aliquoted, and stored at -80°C until analysis. The thrombin generation assay (calibrated automated thrombogram[®], Thrombinoscope[®] BV, Maastricht, the Netherlands) was performed as previously described, with final concentration of 5 pM tissue factor in wells (15). The following parameters were registered: Lag time (min), time to peak thrombin concentration (ttPeak, min), peak thrombin concentration (peak, nM), and endogenous thrombin potential (ETP, area under curve, nM*min).

Platelet Factor (PF)4 Antibodies

PF4 antibodies were investigated post-vaccination and in non-vaccinated healthy controls.

The immunoglobulin-G (IgG) specific ELISA-based assay Lifecodes PF4 IgG (Immucor, Solihull, United Kingdom) was employed to measure antibodies against PF4 (16). The blood samples were collected in tubes without anticoagulant, and serum was separated from red blood cells within 2 hours and stored at -80°C until analysis. The analysis was performed in duplicate and in case of more than 20% deviation the test was rerun. Based on 120 serum samples from healthy individuals, the manufacturer calculated a 95% reference interval with a 90% confidence and stated the upper end of the reference interval to be 0.352 O.D. units. According to the manufacturer, test results showing O.D. values equal to or greater than 0.400 are regarded as positive results.

Statistics

Data on demography, biomarkers, aggregation, whole blood coagulation, thrombin generation and PF4 antibodies are displayed as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR) or as n and proportions. AZ and mRNA vaccinated individuals (pre-, post-vaccination, delta values) and non-vaccinated controls were compared by Mann-Whitney U tests or Chi-square/Fishers exact tests, as appropriate. Delta values were calculated as post-vaccination values minus pre-vaccination values. Changes in variables over time (from pre- to post-vaccination) within sub-groups (AZ and mRNA vaccinated) were compared by Wilcoxon singed-rank test. Spearman correlations were conducted to investigate correlations between platelet count post-vaccination and platelet activation biomarkers and to investigate the intercorrelation between platelet activation biomarkers, results are displayed as rho and p-values. IBM SPSS statistics v. 25 were used for all analyses and figures. P-values <0.050 are considered significant.

RESULTS

Study Participants

Eighty vaccinated were included; 55 vaccinated with AZ and 25 vaccinated with mRNA COVID-19 vaccines. The median age of the entire group (AZ + mRNA) was 49 years (IQR 37-58), 73% were women. The AZ and mRNA groups had comparable age (median 48 (IQR 35-57) *vs* 49 (IQR 38-61) years), but the AZ group comprised a higher proportion of women (n=44, 80%) than the mRNA group (n=14, 56%) (p=0.026). It should be emphasized that based on the vaccination program in Denmark, the mRNA vaccinated individuals were more vulnerable and had a higher degree of co-morbidity compared to the AZ vaccinated individuals, as the latter mainly comprised healthcare professionals. This "vaccine group bias" may also explain the higher proportion of women in the AZ group compared to the mRNA group.

Among the vaccinated individuals, four subjects (two in each group) received aspirin (ASA). One individual in the mRNA group received a direct oral anticoagulant drug and one individual in the AZ group received a vitamin K antagonist.

Fifty-five non-vaccinated age and gender matched healthy individuals (controls) were included (median age 49 years (IQR 38-56), 73% women). We considered the matching successful, as median age and gender composition in the controls were comparable to both the entire cohort, the AZ and the mRNA groups (all p=NS).

Inflammation and Vascular Endothelial Activation Pre-Vaccination

Several inflammation markers were higher in the mRNA group compared to the AZ group: CRP, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8 (**Figure 2**). Furthermore, pre-vaccination, syndecan-1, a vascular endothelial glycocalyx marker, was increased in the mRNA group whereas the remaining vascular endothelial markers were comparable between groups (**Figure 3**).

Post-Vaccination

CRP and IL-6 remained higher in the mRNA group whereas TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-8 changed in magnitude, so the AZ and mRNA groups had comparable levels (**Figure 2**). IL-10 neither differed between groups pre- nor post-vaccination. Post-vaccination, TNF- α and IL-8 only increased in the AZ group whereas IL-6 and IL-10 increased in both groups. CRP did not change in either group and IL-1 β did not change in the AZ group whereas it declined in the mRNA group. Post-vaccination, no differences between groups were observed in any vascular endothelial markers and the increase in these (delta values) was comparable (**Figure 3**).

Delta Changes

The delta increases in TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-8 were higher in the AZ group whereas the increase in IL-6 was higher in the mRNA group (**Figure 2**). The delta change in CRP and IL-10 did not differ between groups.

Platelet Activation

Pre-Vaccination

P-selectin and CD40L were both higher in the mRNA group than in the AZ group whereas TGF- β did not differ between groups.



FIGURE 2 | Inflammation markers pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes with either AZ (n=55) or mRNA (n=25) vaccines. Levels of C-reactive protein (CRP, μ g/ml), Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α (pg/ml), interleukin (IL)-1 β (pg/ml), IL-6 (pg/ml), IL-8 (pg/ml) and IL-10 (pg/ml) are displayed on log scales. The top figure displays pre- and post-vaccination values, and the bottom figure displays delta changes. The box plots display median, first and third quartile (box mid-line, button and top, respectively) and the whiskers display maximum and minimum values with outliers (circles) and extremes (small asterisks) displayed. AZ vaccinated individuals are displayed by blue bars (top figure: pre=light blue, post=dark blue) and mRNA vaccinated individuals are displayed by gray bars (top figure: pre = light gray, post=dark gray). Differences between AZ and mRNA vaccinated individuals either pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes are investigated by Mann-Whitney U test, with p-values displayed. Changes over time within the AZ or mRNA groups are investigated by Wilcoxon signed-rank test, with **p < 0.0001 and *p < 0.010 (displayed over the post-vaccination bars).

Post-Vaccination

Though the three platelet activation markers increased from preto post-vaccination in both groups, compared to pre-vaccination, a different pattern was observed post-vaccination, with higher TGF- β in the AZ group and comparable levels of P-selectin and CD40L between the vaccination groups (**Figure 4**).

Delta Changes

The delta increase in TGF- β and CD40L were higher in the AZ group compared to the mRNA group (**Figure 4**).

Since the investigated platelet activation biomarkers, are also released to a lesser extend from other cells than platelets, we investigated the intercorrelations between the investigated



FIGURE 3 | Vascular endothelial activation markers pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes with either AZ (n=55) or mRNA (n=25) vaccines. Levels of Syndecan-1 (pg/ml), thrombomodulin (TM, ng/ml), endothelial (E)-selectin (ng/ml), intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 (µg/ml), ICAM-3 (ng/ml) and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 (µg/ml) are displayed on log scales. The top figure displays pre- and post-vaccination values, and the bottom figure displays delta changes. The box plots display median, first and third quartile (box mid-line, button and top, respectively) and the whiskers display maximum and minimum values with outliers (circles) and extremes (small asterisks) displayed. AZ vaccinated individuals are displayed by blue bars (top figure: pre=light blue, post=dark blue) and mRNA vaccinated individuals are displayed by gray bars (top figure: pre=light gray, post=dark gray). Differences between AZ and mRNA vaccinated individuals either pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes are investigated by Mann-Whitney U test, with p-values displayed. Changes over time within the AZ or mRNA groups are investigated by Wilcoxon signed-rank test, with **p < 0.0001 and *p < 0.010 (displayed over the post-vaccination bars).

platelet activation markers (Table S1) and between postvaccination platelet count and platelet activation markers (Figure S1).

In brief, all platelet activation markers were intercorrelated, with the strongest being between TGF- β and CD40L (pre-vaccination: rho=0.93-0.94; post-vaccination and delta: rho=0.69-0.90). P-selectin generally correlated weaker with the

other platelet activation markers. Despite the mRNA group being the smallest, some of the strongest intercorrelations were observed in this group post-vaccination and for delta values (**Table S1**).

Post-vaccination platelet count correlated generally with both pre- and post-vaccination platelet activation markers, with the strongest correlations observed between post-vaccination platelet



FIGURE 4 | Platelet activation markers pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes with either AZ (n=55) or mRNA (n=25) vaccines. Levels of platelet (P)-selectin (ng/ml), transforming growth factor (TGF)- β (pg/ml) and soluble CD40 ligand (CD40L, pg/ml) are displayed on a log scale. The top figure displays pre- and post-vaccination values, and the bottom figure displays delta changes. The box plots display median, first and third quartile (box mid-line, button and top, respectively) and the whiskers display maximum and minimum values with outliers (circles) and extremes (small asterisks) displayed. AZ vaccinated individuals are displayed by blue bars (top figure: pre=light blue, post=dark blue) and mRNA vaccinated individuals are displayed by gray bars (top figure: pre=light gray, post=dark gray). Differences between AZ and mRNA vaccinated individuals either pre- and post-vaccination and delta changes are investigated by Mann-Whitney U test, with p-values displayed. Changes over time within the AZ or mRNA groups are investigated by Wilcoxon signed-rank test, with **p < 0.0001 and *p < 0.010 (displayed over the post-vaccination bars).

count and post-vaccination TGF- β (rho=0.56-0.60) followed by CD40L (rho=0.37-0.42). P-selectin only correlated weakly with platelet count (**Figure S1**).

Standard Coagulation, Platelet Aggregation, Whole Blood Coagulation and Thrombin Generation

We only had data on standard coagulation, platelet aggregation, whole blood coagulation and thrombin generation post-vaccination due to the design of the study (**Figure 1**).

Post-vaccination, the AZ group had higher platelet count than the mRNA group whereas the mRNA group had higher INR, fibrinogen and higher INTEM LI30 indicating less fibrinolysis (**Table 1**). The AZ group had shorter lagtime and ttPeak and higher Peak and ETP than the mRNA group, all parameters indicating higher thrombin generation in the AZ group (**Table 1**).

Compared to non-vaccinated controls, the AZ group had higher platelet count and higher D-dimer post-vaccination

whereas the mRNA group had higher fibrinogen and lower aPTT and INR (**Table 1**). Furthermore, both vaccination groups had higher post-vaccination platelet aggregation indicated by higher COLtest aggregation, and stronger clot formation indicated by higher EXTEM MCF and FIBTEM MCF than non-vaccinated controls (**Table 1**). Finally, the AZ group had longer post-vaccination INTEM CT, lower INTEM LI30 (indicating more fibrinolysis) and higher ETP (indicating more thrombin generation) than controls whereas, the mRNA group had longer lagtime and ttPeak than controls (**Table 1**).

Platelet Factor (PF)4 Antibodies

PF4 antibodies were analyzed post-vaccination and in controls. Post-vaccination, one individual in the mRNA group and two individuals in the control group had positive PF4 antibodies (>0.400 O.D.) whereas no individuals had O.D. >0.400 in the AZ group (p=NS). The post-vaccination median level of PF4 antibodies in the AZ and mRNA groups did not differ (0.11 O.D. (IQR 0.08-0.16) *vs.* 0.09 O.D. (IQR 0.07-0.11), p=NS).

TABLE 1 | Coagulation, primary and secondary hemostasis and thrombin generation post-vaccination either AZ (n=55) or mRNA (n=25) vaccines and in non-vaccinated age and gender matched controls (n=55).

Group	Unit	AZ Median (IQR)	mRNA Median (IQR)	AZ <i>v</i> s mRNA p-value	Controls Median (IQR)	Con vs AZ	Con vs mRN/
Standard coag	ulation						
Platelet count	10 ⁹ /L	285 (251-329)	265 (217-279)	0.013	245 (215-281)	<0.0001	NS
D-dimer	FEU/L	0.30 (0.25-0.43)	0.26 (0.25-0.38)	NS	0.25 (0.25-0.32)	0.004	NS
Fibrinogen	µmol/L	8.78 (7.39-9.92)	10.59 (8.45-12.54)	0.004	8.29 (7.08-9.71)	NS	0.001
aPTT	Sec	23.3 (21.8-25)	22.6 (21.7-24.4)	NS	23.7 (22.7-24.7)	NS	0.032
INR	IU	1.00 (1.00-1.06)	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	NS	1.00 (1.00-1.05)	NS	0.042
Platelet aggreg	gation (Multip	late)					
COLtest	AUC	688 (582-770)	695 (645-766)	NS	464 (367-611)	<0.0001	<0.0001
ADPtest	AUC	809 (690-984)	808 (677-964)	NS	810 (754-1,007)	NS	NS
ASPItest	AUC	1,060 (896-1,194)	1,066 (791-1,164)	NS	1,074 (962-1,164)	NS	NS
ASPItest*	AUC	1,065 (946-1,206)	1,066 (800-1,175)	NS	1,074 (962-1,164)	NS	NS
Thromboelasto	metry (ROTE	M)					
EXTEM CT	Sec	62 (60-67)	64 (58-66)	NS	63 (56-67)	NS	NS
EXTEM MCF	mm	65 (62-67)	66 (62-68)	NS	63 (60-66)	0.007	0.023
EXTEM LI30	%	100 (100-100)	100 (100-100)	NS	100 (100-100)	NS	NS
INTEM CT	Sec	187 (178-198)	184 (175-212)	NS	181 (173-190)	0.015	NS
INTEM MCF	mm	63 (62-66)	64 (61-67)	NS	63 (60-65)	NS	NS
INTEM LI30	%	99 (98-100)	100 (99-100)	0.007	100 (99-100)	0.007	NS
FIBTEM MCF	mm	16 (13-19)	16 (14-20)	NS	15 (11-17)	0.007	0.014
Thrombin gene	eration						
Lagtime	min	2.74 (2.40-3.40)	3.33 (3.00-3.33)	0.011	2.83 (2.67-3.00)	NS	<0.0001
Peak	nM	241 (198-279)	198 (174-253)	0.030	221 (190-254)	NS	NS
ttPeak	min	6.24 (5.41-7.24)	7.00 (6.50-7.71)	0.003	6.33 (6.00-7.00)	NS	<0.0001
ETP	nM*min	1,430 (1,346-1,673)	1,318 (1,195-1,612)	0.050	1,360 (1,270-1,492)	0.015	NS

Platelet count normal range: Females: 165-400; Males: 145-350. D-dimer normal range: <50 years <0.5 FEU/L; >50 years <0.6 FEU/L. *Two individuals in each group received ASA, median (IQR) values are displayed without these individuals included. Post-vaccination values in AZ and mRNA vaccinated individuals are compared by Mann-Whitney U test. P-values <0.050 are displayed in bold. P-values >0.10 are displayed as NS (not significant). aPTT, activate partial thrombin time; INR, international normalized ratio; CT, clotting time. MCF, maximum clot firmness; LI30, lysis after 30 min; ttPeak, time to peak; ETP, endogenous thrombin potential.

The PF4 antibody level in controls was 0.09 O.D. (IQR 0.06-0.13), which was lower than the AZ group post-vaccination (p=0.021) but comparable to the mRNA group post-vaccination (p=NS).

DISCUSSION

The main finding in the present study was that AZ vaccination against COVID-19 induced a more pronounced increase in several inflammatory and platelet activation markers compared to mRNA vaccination. Also, post-vaccination thrombin generation was higher for all parameters in AZ vaccinated individuals than in mRNA vaccinated individuals. We found no difference in neither the PF4 antibody level nor the proportion of PF4 antibody positives between the vaccination groups.

The present study investigated individuals vaccinated against COVID-19 with either AZ or mRNA vaccines. None of the study participants developed VITT so our findings reflect normal vaccination responses to the investigated vaccines. The finding that AZ vaccination induced enhanced inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation compared to mRNA vaccination in a head-to-head comparison is notable and has to our knowledge not previously been reported. Importantly, our finding is in accordance with that of a recent epidemiologic study, reporting that AZ vaccination is associated with an increase in venous thromboembolic events, including CVST, and slightly higher rates of thrombocytopenia, coagulation disorders and bleeding (17). Together this indicates that even in a population with normal vaccination responses, higher levels of complications related to excessive inflammation, platelet and coagulation activation are observed following AZ vaccination.

Vaccines are designed and administered to inflict an immune response (18, 19), and some degree of inflammation and platelet activation is to be expected post-vaccination [the latter due to the close link between innate immunity and platelet activation (20)], in accordance with the findings in the present study that both vaccines resulted in enhanced inflammation and platelet activation one week after vaccination. Despite this common vaccination response, it is however notable, that the AZ vaccine induced higher increases in several key inflammatory mediators (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-8) compared to mRNA vaccines, also given that the mRNA vaccinated individuals had a higher degree of low-grade inflammation pre-vaccination.

Though the mechanisms behind the pathogenesis of VITT remain incompletely understood, the initial events that trigger platelet activation, PF4 release, complex formation and PF4 antibody production (whichever comes first initially) are especially puzzling. It has been reported that PF4 antibodies are present at low levels in up to 7% of healthy individuals (21) and that healthy individuals have a reservoir of B cells specific for PF4 complexes, but that different immunoregulatory mechanisms hold these B cells under control (22, 23). It has also been reported that almost 7% of COVID-19 vaccinated individuals (both adenovirus

vector-based vaccines and mRNA vaccines) have low titers of PF4 antibodies, but these antibodies are not functionally active (24). Given that PF4 in healthy individuals is stored (hidden) in the megakaryocytes and in the α -granules of platelets (14), an early event post-vaccination leading to a breach of tolerance and generation of functionally active PF4 antibodies would be necessary to induce ensuing platelet activation and release of PF4 (25). Several studies have focused on vaccine components from the AZ adenovirus vector vaccine as a trigger of the cascade of early events (1, 25, 26). Though no specific component(s) have yet been identified as trigger of VITT, it has been suggested that one critical downstream event may be hyperinflammation induced by the AZ adenovirus vector vaccine (25). This notion is supported by our finding of higher increases in inflammation following the AZ vaccine compared to mRNA vaccines and the finding of higher increases in the chemokine IL-8/CXCL8, a potent neutrophil chemoattractant and activator (27, 28), is notable given that neutrophil activation and NETosis have been proposed to be involved in VITT pathophysiology (25). This study can only speculate on mechanisms contributing to the observed (hyper) inflammation observed following the AZ vaccine and further studies are needed to reveal potential structural components of the Adenovirus vector vaccines that may contribute to the (hyper) inflammation observed in this and other studies (1, 25, 26).

The AZ and mRNA vaccines both enhanced inflammation, platelet activation and vascular endothelial activation, a notable finding given that COVID-19 itself is also associated with extensive inflammation and platelet activation with e.g. high circulating proinflammatory cytokine levels, enhanced P-selectin expression and high soluble levels and extensive widespread vascular endothelial activation (29-33). Several studies of COVID-19 associated platelet activation or vascular endothelial activation have included advanced OMICS analyses, and despite the few biomarkers in common with our study, it is difficult to directly compare the COVID-19 vaccine and SARS-CoV-2 infection/COVID-19 induced changes. Though it is not possible from the design of the present study, to determine to which degree the observed platelet and vascular endothelial activation observed following COVID-19 vaccines is attributed to direct effects of SARS-CoV-2 antigens or indirect effects due to (hyper) inflammation, we envision that (hyper)inflammation is the main driver following vaccination whereas SARS-CoV-2 antigens (viremia) may be a greater contributor in COVID-19. Despite the common platelet activation following different COVID-19 vaccines, the present study also found higher increases in platelet activation and enhanced thrombin generation following the AZ vaccine compared to mRNA vaccines. This is to our knowledge the first study reporting this based on a head-to-head comparison. Given that platelet activation is a hallmark of VITT, the finding of higher increases in biomarkers suggestive of platelet degranulation combined with enhanced thrombin generation following the AZ vaccine is highly intriguing. Though VITT (34, 35) and CVST (9) have been reported following COVID-19 vaccination with mRNA vaccines, only CVST following AZ vaccination is associated with thrombocytopenia (9), emphasizing the critical involvement of platelets in VITT and

potentially also the cascade of events that trigger VITT. We speculate that specific components of the AZ adenovirus vector may serve as initial trigger(s) of (hyper)inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation, potentially lowering the threshold for a cascade of events that both trigger complications related to excessive inflammation, platelet and coagulation activation as observed in epidemiologic studies (17) and promote development of VITT when combined with high-titer functionally active PF4 antibodies.

Finally, the present study found no evidence of enhanced PF4 antibody production following AZ vaccination compared to mRNA vaccination. This finding is not surprising given the previous finding from larger and better powered studies investigating PF4 antibodies in AZ vaccinated individuals (24, 36). The finding however emphasizes that the observed higher increase in platelet activation and thrombin generation in AZ vaccinated individuals compared to mRNA vaccinated individuals is not dependent only of PF4 antibodies. This points to specific components in the AZ adenovirus vector vaccine as initial trigger(s) of (hyper) inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation.

The study had several limitations. The study included a low number of participants and conducted many different investigations, together increasing the risk of both Type I and Type II errors. This should be taken into account, when interpreting the results (p-values just below 0.050 may be by chance). Furthermore, for the whole blood coagulation tests, we did not have pre-vaccination values for comparison but instead had to include an age and gender matched control group for these comparisons. Finally, we did not collect a full medical history on the vaccinated study participants, despite inferring that the vaccination program in Denmark introduced a "vaccine group bias" as mainly vulnerable individuals/patients were vaccinated with mRNA vaccines and healthcare professionals were vaccinated with AZ vaccines at the time of conduct of the study. The strengths of the study were however the quick response to the VITT focus with early blood sampling postvaccination and the availability of pre-vaccination samples collected uniformly from the same individuals and participants in the ENFORCE vaccine trial. Furthermore, the head-to-head comparison of the AZ and mRNA vaccine response in the same study, minimizing variation is a clear strength. Finally, the inclusion of a broad range of both plasma and whole blood based analyses revealing inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation in the same study, is a clear strength.

In conclusion, the present study investigated the influence of different COVID-19 vaccines on inflammation, vascular endothelial activation, platelet activation and aggregation, whole blood coagulation, thrombin generation and PF4 antibodies to reveal potential differences between AZ and mRNA vaccines in individuals without VITT. The main findings were that the AZ vaccine induced a more pronounced increase in inflammation and platelet activation and higher thrombin generation compared to mRNA vaccines and that none of the vaccinated individuals developed PF4 antibodies. We speculate that specific components of the AZ adenovirus vector may serve as initial trigger(s) of (hyper) inflammation, platelet activation and thrombin generation,

potentially lowering the threshold for a cascade of events that both trigger complications related to excessive inflammation, platelet and coagulation activation as observed in epidemiologic studies and promote development of VITT when combined with high-titer functionally active PF4 antibodies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the National Ethical Committee (Denmark). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SO, OS, MT, NS, JL, LØ, and AH contributed to the design of the study. NS, OS, and AH participated in the enrolment of study

REFERENCES

- Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 nCov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840
- Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT, et al. Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:2124–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 2104882
- Blauenfeldt RA, Kristensen SR, Ernstsen SL, Kristensen CCH, Simonsen CZ, Hvas A-M. Thrombocytopenia With Acute Ischemic Stroke and Bleeding in a Patient Newly Vaccinated With an Adenoviral Vector-Based COVID-19 Vaccine. J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19:1771-5. doi: 10.1111/jth.15347
- See I, Su JR, Lale A, Woo EJ, Guh AY, Shimabukuro TT, et al. US Case Reports of Cerebral Venous Sinus Thrombosis With Thrombocytopenia After Ad26.Cov2.S Vaccination, March 2 to April 21, 2021. *JAMA* (2021) 325:2448– 56. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.7517
- Muir K-L, Kallam A, Koepsell SA, Gundabolu K. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After Ad26.COV2.S Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:1964–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2105869
- Sadoff J, Davis K, Douoguih M. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After Ad26.COV2.S Vaccination — Response From the Manufacturer. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:1965–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2106075
- Scully M, Singh D, Lown R, Poles A, Solomon T, Levi M, et al. Pathologic Antibodies to Platelet Factor 4 After ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:2202–11. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2105385
- Pavord S, Scully M, Hunt BJ, Lester W, Bagot C, Craven B, et al. Clinical Features of Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis. *N Engl J Med* (2021) 385:1680–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2109908
- 9. Krzywicka K, Heldner MR, Sánchez van Kammen M, van Haaps T, Hiltunen S, Silvis SM, et al. Post-SARS-CoV-2-Vaccination Cerebral Venous Sinus Thrombosis: An Analysis of Cases Notified to the European Medicines Agency. *Eur J Neurol* (2021) 28:3656–62. doi: 10.1111/ene.15029

participants and data collection. SO and AH led and supervised the laboratory analyses. SO and AH analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the data interpretation and in revising the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Danish national vaccine trial ENFORCE (National Cohort Study of Effectiveness and Safety of SARS-CoV-2/Covid-19 vaccines, https://chip.dk/Research/Studies/ENFORCE/About-ENFORCE) EudraCT no (2020-006003-42) for providing the framework making this study possible. Furthermore, we would like to thank the laboratory technicians from the Biobank Unit, Dept. of Clinical Immunology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet for their excellent work with biomarker analyses.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.779453/full#supplementary-material

- Makris M, Pavord S, Lester W, Scully M, Hunt B. Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis (VITT). *Res Pract Thromb Haemost* (2021) 5:e12529. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12529
- Tølbøll Sørensen AL, Rolland M, Hartmann J, Harboe ZB, Roed C, Jensen TØ, et al. A Case of Thrombocytopenia and Multiple Thromboses After Vaccination With ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Against SARS-CoV-2. *Blood Adv* (2021) 5:2569–74. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2021004904
- Al-Mayhani T, Saber S, Stubbs MJ, Losseff NA, Perry RJ, Simister RJ, et al. Ischaemic Stroke as a Presenting Feature of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2021) 92:1247–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-326984
- Jones M, Boisvert A, Landry J, Petrasek PF. Limb Ischemia and Pulmonary Artery Thrombosis Afer the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (Oxford–AstraZeneca) Vaccine: A Case of Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. *Can Med Assoc J* (2021) 193:E906–10. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.210795
- Lassila R. Platelet Function Tests in Bleeding Disorders. Semin Thromb Hemost (2016) 42:185–90. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1571307
- Vibede E, Hvas CL, Tønnesen E, Hvas A-M. The Effect of Fresh Frozen Plasma in Critically Ill Patients. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* (2017) 61:492–501. doi: 10.1111/aas.12885
- Platton S, Bartlett A, MacCallum P, Makris M, McDonald V, Singh D, et al. Evaluation of Laboratory Assays for Anti-Platelet Factor 4 Antibodies After ChAdOx1 nCOV-19 Vaccination. J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19:2007–13. doi: 10.1111/jth.15362
- Pottegård A, Lund LC, Karlstad Ø, Dahl J, Andersen M, Hallas J, et al. Arterial Events, Venous Thromboembolism, Thrombocytopenia, and Bleeding After Vaccination With Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1-S in Denmark and Norway: Population Based Cohort Study. *BMJ* (2021) 373:n1114. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1114
- Grigoryan L, Pulendran B. The Immunology of SARS-CoV-2 Infections and Vaccines. Semin Immunol (2020) 50:101422. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2020.101422
- Pereira B, Xu X-N, Akbar AN. Targeting Inflammation and Immunosenescence to Improve Vaccine Responses in the Elderly. Front Immunol (2020) 11:583019. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.583019

- Engelmann B, Massberg S. Thrombosis as an Intravascular Effector of Innate Immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13:34–45. doi: 10.1038/nri3345
- Hursting MJ, Pai PJ, McCracken JE, Hwang F, Suvarna S, Lokhnygina Y, et al. Platelet Factor 4/Heparin Antibodies in Blood Bank Donors. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2010) 134:774–80. doi: 10.1309/ajcpg0mnr5ngknfx
- Zheng Y, Wang AW, Yu M, Padmanabhan A, Tourdot BE, Newman DK, et al. B-Cell Tolerance Regulates Production of Antibodies Causing Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. *Blood* (2014) 123:931–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-540781
- Zheng Y, Zhu W, Haribhai D, Williams CB, Aster RH, Wen R, et al. Regulatory T Cells Control PF4/Heparin Antibody Production in Mice. *J Immunol* (2019) 203:1786–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900196
- Thiele T, Ulm L, Holtfreter S, Schönborn L, Kuhn SO, Scheer C, et al. Frequency of Positive Anti-PF4/polyanion Antibody Tests After COVID-19 Vaccination With ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2. *Blood* (2021) 138:299– 303. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021012217
- Azzarone B, Veneziani I, Moretta L, Maggi E. Pathogenic Mechanisms of Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia in People Receiving Anti-COVID-19 Adenoviral-Based Vaccines: A Proposal. Front Immunol (2021) 12:728513. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.728513
- McGonagle D, De Marco G, Bridgewood C. Mechanisms of Immunothrombosis in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia (VITT) Compared to Natural SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Autoimmun (2021) 121:102662. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2021.102662
- Altan-Bonnet G, Mukherjee R. Cytokine-Mediated Communication: A Quantitative Appraisal of Immune Complexity. Nat Rev Immunol (2019) 19:205–17. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0131-x
- Capucetti A, Albano F, Bonecchi R. Multiple Roles for Chemokines in Neutrophil Biology. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1259. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01259
- Iba T, Levy JH. The Roles of Platelets in COVID-19-Associated Coagulopathy and Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* (2021) S1050-1738(21)00096-7. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2021.08.012
- Kaklamanos A, Belogiannis K, Skendros P, Gorgoulis VG, Vlachoyiannopoulos PG, Tzioufas AG. COVID-19 Immunobiology: Lessons Learned, New Questions Arise. Front Immunol (2021) 12:719023. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.719023
- Yatim N, Boussier J, Chocron R, Hadjadj J, Philippe A, Gendron N, et al. Platelet Activation in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients. Ann Intensive Care (2021) 11:113. doi: 10.1186/s13613-021-00899-1

- Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet Gene Expression and Function in Patients With COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214
- 33. Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CRR, et al. Platelet Activation and Platelet-Monocyte Aggregate Formation Trigger Tissue Factor Expression in Patients With Severe COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252
- 34. Sangli SA-O, Virani A, Cheronis N, Vannatter B, Minich C, Noronha S, et al. Thrombosis With Thrombocytopenia After the Messenger RNA-1273 Vaccine. Ann Internal Med (2021) 170:1480–2. doi: 10.7326/L21-0244
- Pishko AM, Cuker AA-O. Thrombosis After Vaccination With Messenger RNA-1273: Is This Vaccine-Induced Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia or Thrombosis With Thrombocytopenia Syndrome? *Ann Internal Med* (2021) 174:1468–9. doi: 10.7326/M21-2680
- 36. Sørvoll IH, Horvei KD, Ernstsen SL, Lægreid IJ, Lund S, Grønli RH, et al. An Observational Study to Identify the Prevalence of Thrombocytopenia and Anti-PF4/polyanion Antibodies in Norwegian Health Care Workers After COVID-19 Vaccination. J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19:1813–8. doi: 10.1111/ jth.15352

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ostrowski, Søgaard, Tolstrup, Stærke, Lundgren, Østergaard and Hvas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Potential Anionic Substances Binding to Platelet Factor 4 in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia of ChAdOx1-S Vaccine for SARS-CoV-2

Xiaocong Pang^{1†}, Haitao Liu^{2†}, Xu He¹, Tianrong Ji¹, Yizhun Zhu^{3,4*} and Yimin Cui^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Selidji Todagbe Agnandji, Centre de Recherche Médicales de Lambaréné, Gabon

Reviewed by:

David García-Azorín, Hospital Clínico Universitario de Valladolid, Spain Joel Fleury Djoba Siawaya, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Mère-Enfant de la Fondation Jeanne EBORI (CHUMEFJE), Gabon

*Correspondence:

Yizhun Zhu yzzhu@must.edu.mo Yimin Cui cui.pharm@pkufh.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 24 September 2021 Accepted: 13 December 2021 Published: 12 January 2022

Citation:

Pang X, Liu H, He X, Ji T, Zhu Y and Cui Y (2022) Potential Anionic Substances Binding to Platelet Factor 4 in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia of ChAdOx1-S Vaccine for SARS-CoV-2. Front. Immunol. 12:782335. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.782335 ¹ Department of Pharmacy, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, ² Investment Department, Tigermed Consulting Co., Ltd, Hangzhou, China, ³ School of Pharmacy and State Key Laboratory for the Quality Research of Chinese Medicine, Macau University of Science and Technology, Macao, Macao SAR, China, ⁴ Shanghai Key Laboratory of Bioactive Small Molecules, Department of Pharmacology, School of Pharmacy, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Recent reports of rare ChAdOx1-S vaccine-related venous thrombosis led to the suspension of its usage in several countries. Vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) is characterized by thrombocytopenia and thrombosis in association with anti-platelet factor 4 (PF4) antibodies. Herein, we propose five potential anionic substances of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine that can combine with PF4 and trigger VITT, including (1) the proteins on the surface of adenovirus, e.g., negative charged glycoprotein, (2) the adjuvant components of the vaccine, e.g., Tween 80, (3) the DNA of adenovirus, (4) the S protein antigen expressed by the vaccine, and (5) the negatively charged impurity proteins expressed by the vaccine, e.g., adenovirus skeleton proteins. After analysis of each case, we consider the most possible trigger to be the negatively charged impurity proteins expressed by the vaccine. Then, we display the possible extravascular route and intravascular route of the formation of PF4 autoantibodies triggered by the negatively charged impurity proteins, which is accordant with the clinical situation. Accordingly, the susceptible individuals of VITT after ChAdOx1-S vaccination may be people who express negatively charged impurity proteins and reach a certain high titer.

Keywords: vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT), ChAdOx1-S vaccine, SARS-CoV-2, anionic substances, PF4

INTRODUCTION

Due to severe thrombotic adverse events named vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) (1, 2) reported in Denmark, Norway, Germany, Austria, and the United Kingdom, the usage of AstraZeneca recombinant adenoviral ChAdOx1-S was limited in several countries (3). VITT was more frequent in young people, therefore, the health authorities of several European countries and Canada modified their immunization strategies, reserving the ChAdOx1-S vaccine for older people (4). The

United States also reported similar events related to the Ad26.COV2-S Janssen vaccine, leading to a pause in its roll-out (4, 5). According to a recent report (6), as of July 2021, 342 patients had died in Taiwan after receiving the ChAdOx1-S vaccine which had been supplied with a total of 1.24 million doses since 15 June; the mortality was as high as 287 parts per million.

Even though patients with VITT had similar mortality after two vaccine doses, the VITT occurrence rate was higher in the ChAdOx1-S vaccine (7, 8). Greinacher et al. reported that people receiving ChAdOx1-S had one or more thrombotic complications beginning 5 to 16 days after vaccination (9). So far, most of the reported cases became symptomatic within 30 days of the first dose of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, and VITT was more frequent in women and patients aged < 55 years (5, 9). VITT patients often showed laboratory signs of disseminated intravascular coagulation with severe thrombocytopenia (9), and most thrombotic complications occurred at unusual sites, particularly cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVT). On the basis of such a situation, healthcare authorities advised vaccine recipients who suffered symptoms such as shortness of breath, chest, abdominal, or extremities pain, severe headache, dizziness, visual disturbances, or other neurologic symptoms within 30 days of ChAdOx1-S vaccination should be urgently investigated for VITT by associated laboratory tests (10, 11).

Then, the serious question is, among the various vaccines approved worldwide, why has the ChAdOx1-S vaccine caused so many VITT cases?

THE KEY PLAYER: PF4 AND ANIONIC SUBSTANCES

The ChAdOx1-S vaccine utilizes chimpanzee adenovirus, which is considered safe, as its vaccine vector is not transmitted in humans, but it seems that this may not be the case.

According to a previous report (1), PF4-heparin antibodies were detected in the blood of patients with severe thrombosis, but these patients did not use heparin. So which component produced a similar effect to heparin after the injection of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, forming the PF4-component complex, and then led to the formation of the PF4 autoantibody, triggering the thrombosis process just like PF4 immune activation in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT)?

From the perspective of biochemical properties, McGonagle et al. (12) pointed out that PF4 is easily combined with anionic substances, such as DNA, heparin, etc. Then, which anionic substances of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine may bind to PF4?

FIVE POTENTIAL ANIONIC SUBSTANCES

According to the related reports, we suggest five potential anionic substances of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine that can combine with PF4 as follows:

1. The proteins on the surface of adenovirus, for example, negatively charged glycoprotein

- 2. The adjuvant components of the vaccine, for example, Tween 80
- 3. The DNA of adenovirus
- 4. The S protein antigen expressed by the vaccine
- 5. The negatively charged impurity proteins expressed by the vaccine, for example, adenovirus skeleton proteins

For substance 1, although part of the adenovirus vaccine can enter the blood after intramuscular injection (13), this reason does not sound plausible, because this could not explain the rarity of the clinical observation of VITT. Moreover, even if some people have been infected with human adenovirus before, there are neutralizing antibodies against human adenovirus, when other adenoviruses enter again, the more possible result is the neutralization of adenovirus, not VITT.

For substance 2, the adjuvant components of the vaccine, such as Tween 80 (14), are also anionic, they may enter the blood and combine with PF4 to cause thrombosis theoretically. However, up to now, no relevant literature has been found to prove that they are related to VITT. More importantly, the adjuvant components are widely used in vaccines or other drugs, this also could not explain the rarity of the clinical observation of VITT (15).

As for substance 1 and substance 2, Gresele et al. (16) pointed out that VITT develops usually at least 1 week after vaccination, it is very unlikely that circulating Ad-vector or vaccine excipients would still be present in the blood, rendering more likely alternative explanations, and in particular an immunological reaction.

For substance 3, McGonagle et al. (12) pointed out that local tissue microtrauma, along with local microbleeding and immune cell activity, will bring adenoviral DNA in contact with PF4, which is then taken up by APCs and memory B cell engagement in the regional lymph nodes, leading to substantially increased PF4 autoantibody production. It is related to failed extravascular tissue tolerance mechanisms which are different from HIT. But how could the DNA enveloped in the Chadox1 adenovirus capsid be released to bind with PF4? Although Kircheis R et al. (17) pointed out that among the 50 billion virus particles in each dose, some may break apart and release their DNA, then the Ad26.COV2.S vaccine would also have released DNA and caused the same incidence and severity of VITT, which does not accord with the current situation (18).

For substance 4, in COVID-19 patients, anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG-spike glycoprotein immune complexes can activate platelets through FcyRIIa. Kadkhoda et al. (13) figured out that adenoviral vectors leak into the circulation, travel to distant sites, and infect permissive cells. Once infected, copious amounts of soluble spike glycoproteins lead to a relatively high level of SARS-CoV-2 spike 'antigenemia". In a person with a prior SARS-CoV-2 infection and/or with cross-reactive antibodies to common coronaviruses (CoVs), a high enough titer of aberrantly glycosylated antibodies would be induced. But if a person is pre-infected with SARS-CoV-2 and there are SARS-CoV-2 antibodies, the vaccine would be ineffective rather than the cause for VITT. As for the crossreactive antibodies, there are no direct references supporting its relation to VITT. Greinacher et al. (15) found that antibodies tested against PF4 induced by vaccination do not cross-react with the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein, which indicates that the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein may not be a trigger of VITT.

Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia

From another perspective, the above four anionic substances are common in other adenovirus-based vaccines, for example, the Ad26.COV2.S vaccine, if they are plausible, which means that the Ad26.COV2.S vaccine would cause the same incidence and severity of VITT as the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, but that is apparently not the situation (18). Or at least for the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, the above four anionic substances cannot cover all substances that may bind to PF4, triggering VITT.

For substance 5, Almugrin et al. (19) found that the genome of Chadox1 may express low-level adenovirus skeleton protein, although replication-defective in normal cells, 28 kbp of adenovirus genes is delivered to the cell nucleus alongside the SARS-CoV-2 S glycoprotein gene in some cell lines such as A549 and MRC5, and the expression of adenovirus cytoskeleton protein can then be detected. Besides, McGonagle et al. (12) also pointed out that a role for adenoviral proteins has been suggested as a potential factor in VITT in susceptible individuals. Susceptible individuals may be people who express the negatively charged impurity proteinsadenovirus skeleton protein-and reach a certain high titer. Just as the viral RNA can innate immune-driven immunothrombosis in severe COVID-19 pneumonia, the negatively charged proteins in these adenovirus skeleton proteins may play the same role as viral RNA and form adenovirus skeleton protein-PF4 complexes (12), with this adjuvanticity likely contributing to autoantibody development and ultimately thrombosis in VITT.

THE POSSIBLE ROUTES OF THE FORMATION OF PF4 AUTOANTIBODIES TRIGGERED BY NEGATIVELY CHARGED IMPURITY PROTEINS—ADENOVIRUS SKELETON PROTEINS

The two possible routes for the formation of PF4 autoantibodies include the following:

(1) The extravascular route (**Figure 1**): after the intramuscular injection of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, the adenovirus enters into the muscle cell, mainly expressing the spike protein, but for some susceptible individuals as depicted above, the adenovirus gene is also expressed and there are adenovirus vector proteins. And if local microbleeding accidently happens, the adenovirus vector proteins have the chance to bind to PF4, which are then taken up by APC cells, memory B cells engage, and regional lymph nodes secret PF4 autoantibody which then enters the blood through lymphatic circulation and triggers the VITT process.

(2) The intravascular route (**Figure 1**): after the intramuscular injection of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, the adenovirus leaks into the blood circulation, travels to distant and different tissues, and infects a range of permissive cells, which confer susceptibility, such as epithelial and endothelial cells, etc., that then secret the adenovirus vector proteins along with copious SARS-CoV-2 spike proteins, and the adenovirus vector proteins bind to PF4, and trigger the VITT process.

Route 1 is the extravascular immune response hypothesis which takes a relatively short amount of time while route 2 is the intravascular immune response hypothesis which takes a relatively long time, which is concordant with the clinical situation where there are urgent VITT cases occurring about 5 days after vaccination and chronic cases occurring about 24 days after vaccination (1, 12, 18). And young women have a more intense immune response than men and the elderly, so they are more prone to the above immune response routes.

DISCUSSION

Based on the biochemical properties, we suppose that five possible anionic substances in association with the ChAdOx1-S vaccine may bind to PF4. Although they all have potential, we consider the negatively charged impurity proteins expressed by



the vaccine as the most possible trigger, but whether the extravascular and the intravascular models exist together or just one happens needs to be substantiated.

ChAdOx1-S-vaccinated individuals must undergo some concurrent events in order to develop VITT syndrome. (1) They are "predisposed" individuals who could express negatively charged impurity proteins—adenovirus skeleton protein and reach a certain high titer. That "prevalence" of the susceptible individuals determines the basic occurrence rate of VITT, for which the "prevalence" of VITT is different in different countries and regions. (2) For the extravascular route, local accident microbleeding needs happening in unison. (3) For the intravascular route, after the adenoviruses leak into the blood circulation, they need to travel to distant and different tissues, e.g., the cerebral sinus, and infect a range of permissive cells, which would induce lethal cerebral VITT and take a relatively long time in accordance with the cerebral venous thrombosis symptom feature in patients with VITT (20).

We propose one novel and data-supporting (19) potential anionic substance of the ChAdOx1-S vaccine that may combine with PF4 and trigger VITT, which could be verified by testing whether the negatively charged impurity proteins expressed by the vaccine could be detected in the sera from VITT patients through quantitative proteomics, or by separation and purification of the impurity proteins and testing their binding ability with PF4.

Although the mechanism of VITT is still unclear, there are many other hypotheses exploring the potential triggering causes of VITT, such as soluble shorter spiker protein variants binding to PF4, genetically determined enhanced expression of $Fc\gamma$ RIIa,

REFERENCES

- Cines DB, Bussel JB. SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(23):2254–6. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMe2106315
- Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT, et al. Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia After Chadox1 Ncov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(22):2124–30. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2104882
- European Medicines Agency Astrazeneca's COVID-19 Vaccine: EMA Finds Possible Link to Very Rare Cases of Unusual Blood Clots With Low Blood Platelets. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/astrazenecascovid-19-vaccine-ema-finds-possible-link-very-rare-cases-unusual-bloodclots-low-blood.
- Borobia AM, Carcas AJ, Pérez-Olmeda M, Castaño L, Bertran MJ, García-Pérez J, et al. CombiVacS Study Group. Immunogenicity and Reactogenicity of BNT162b2 Booster in ChAdOx1-S-Primed Participants (CombiVacS): A Multicentre, Open-Label, Randomised, Controlled, Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet* (2021) 398(10295):121–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01420-3
- Greinacher A, Selleng K, Mayerle J, Palankar R, Wesche J, Reiche S, et al. Immune-Response in COVID-19 Vaccination Study Group. Anti-Platelet Factor 4 Antibodies Causing VITT do Not Cross-React With SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein. *Blood* (2021) 138(14):1269–77. doi: 10.1182/blood
- 6. 342 People in Taiwan Died After Being Vaccinated With AstraZeneca, the Mortality Ranked First in the World, Taiwan's "Blue Commission": No Need for Investigation? [Monograph on the Internet]. Guancha Syndicate (2021). Available at: https://www.guancha.cn/politics/2021_07_09_ 597798.shtml.
- 7. Cari L, Alhosseini MN, Fiore P, Pierno S, Pacor S, Bergamo A, et al. Cardiovascular, Neurological, and Pulmonary Events Following

and the altered glycosylation state of IgG (16), etc., all of which need hypothetical condition support and verification.

The anionic substances discussed in this article that may bind to PF4 are mainly for the ChAdOx1-S vaccine, other adenovirusbased vaccines need further investigation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XP, HL, YZ, and YC developed ideas and drafted the manuscript. XH and TJ acquired the data and revised the manuscript. All the authors participated in revising the manuscript and approved the final version. XP and HL contributed equally to this work.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Key R&D Program of China (grant No. 2020YFC2008304), National Natural Science Foundation (No. 81973320, No.81673509, and No. 81903714) of China and the Macau Science and Technology Development Fund (FDCT) (No. 0002/2019/APD, 067/2018/A2, 033/2017/ AMJ, and 0007/2019/AKP).

Vaccination With the BNT162b2, ChAdOx1 Ncov-19, and Ad26.COV2.S Vaccines: An Analysis of European Data. *J Autoimmun* (2021) 125:102742. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2021.102742

- Kannan SR, Spratt AN, Cohen AR, Naqvi SH, Chand HS, Quinn TP, et al. Evolutionary Analysis of the Delta and Delta Plus Variants of the SARS-CoV-2 Viruses. J Autoimmun (2021) 124:102715. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2021.102715
- Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 Ncov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(22):2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840
- Lai CC, Ko WC, Chen CJ, Chen PY, Huang YC, Lee PI, et al. COVID-19 Vaccines and Thrombosis With Thrombocytopenia Syndrome. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2021) 20(8):1027–35. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2021. 1949294
- Franchini M, Liumbruno GM, Pezzo M. COVID-19 Vaccine-Associated Immune Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia (VITT): Diagnostic and Therapeutic Recommendations for a New Syndrome. *Eur J Haematol* (2021) 107(2):173–80. doi: 10.1111/ejh.13665
- McGonagle D, De Marco G, Bridgewood C. Mechanisms of Immunothrombosis in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia (VITT) Compared to Natural SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Autoimmun (2021) 121:102662. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2021.102662
- Kadkhoda K. Post-Adenoviral-Based COVID-19 Vaccines Thrombosis: A Proposed Mechanism. J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19(7):1831–2. doi: 10.1111/ jth.15348
- Caballero ML, Quirce S. Excipients as Potential Agents of Anaphylaxis in Vaccines: Analyzing the Formulations of Currently Authorized COVID-19 Vaccines. J Invest Allergol Clin Immunol (2021) 31(1):92–3. doi: 10.18176/ jiaci.0667

- Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, Wesche J, Handtke S, Wolff M, et al. Insights in ChAdOx1 Ncov-19 Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia (VITT). *Blood* (2021) 138(22):2256–68. doi: 10.1182/ blood.2021013231
- Gresele P, Momi S, Marcucci R, Ramundo F, De Stefano V, Tripodi A. Interactions of Adenoviruses With Platelets and Coagulation and the Vaccine-Associated Autoimmune Thrombocytopenia Thrombosis Syndrome. *Haematologica* (2021) 106(12):3034–45. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2021.279289
- Kircheis R. Coagulopathies After Vaccination Against SARS-CoV-2 May Be Derived From a Combined Effect of SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein and Adenovirus Vector-Triggered Signaling Pathways. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22 (19):10791. doi: 10.3390/ijms221910791
- Sadoff J, Davis K, Douoguih M. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After Ad26.COV2.S Vaccination - Response From the Manufacturer. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(20):1965–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2106075
- Almuqrin A, Davidson AD, Williamson MK, Lewis PA, Heesom KJ, Morris S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Chadox1 Ncov-19 Infection of Human Cell Lines Reveals Low Levels of Viral Backbone Gene Transcription Alongside Very High Levels of SARS-CoV-2 S Glycoprotein Gene Transcription. *Genome Med* (2021) 13(1):43. doi: 10.1186/s13073-021-00859-1
- 20. Perry RJ, Tamborska A, Singh B, Craven B, Marigold R, Arthur-Farraj P, et al. Cerebral Venous Thrombosis After Vaccination Against COVID-19 in the

UK: A Multicentre Cohort Study. Lancet (2021) 398(10306):1147-56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01608-1

Conflict of Interest: HL and TJ are employed by Tigermed Consulting Co., Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pang, Liu, He, Ji, Zhu and Cui. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emerging Role of Platelet-Endothelium Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection-Associated Myocardial Injury

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Janos G. Filep, Université de Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Juan Pablo de Rivero Vaccari, University of Miami, United States Gabrielle Lapping-Carr, University of Chicago Medical Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Theresa M. Rossouw theresa.rossouw@up.ac.za

[†]ORCID:

Theresa M. Rossouw orcid.org/0000-0003-4066-922X Ronald Anderson orcid.org/0000-0002-5925-6452 Pravin Manga orcid.org/0000-0002-2709-2158 Charles Feldman orcid.org/0000-0002-6881-8314

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 September 2021 Accepted: 19 January 2022 Published: 04 February 2022

Citation:

Rossouw TM, Anderson R, Manga P and Feldman C (2022) Emerging Role of Platelet-Endothelium Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection-Associated Myocardial Injury. Front. Immunol. 13:776861. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.776861 Theresa M. Rossouw^{1*†}, Ronald Anderson^{1†}, Pravin Manga^{2†} and Charles Feldman^{2†}

¹ Department of Immunology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, ² Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

Cardiovascular dysfunction and disease are common and frequently fatal complications of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection. Indeed, from early on during the SARS-CoV-2 virus pandemic it was recognized that cardiac complications may occur, even in patients with no underlying cardiac disorders, as part of the acute infection, and that these were associated with more severe disease and increased morbidity and mortality. The most common cardiac complication is acute cardiac injury, defined by significant elevation of cardiac troponins. The potential mechanisms of cardiovascular complications include direct viral myocardial injury, systemic inflammation induced by the virus, sepsis, arrhythmia, myocardial oxygen supply-demand mismatch, electrolyte abnormalities, and hypercoagulability. This review is focused on the prevalence, risk factors and clinical course of COVID-19-related myocardial injury, as well as on current data with regard to disease pathogenesis, specifically the interaction of platelets with the vascular endothelium. The latter section includes consideration of the role of SARS-CoV-2 proteins in triggering development of a generalized endotheliitis that, in turn, drives intense activation of platelets. Most prominently, SARS-CoV-2-induced endotheliitis involves interaction of the viral spike protein with endothelial angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) together with alternative mechanisms that involve the nucleocapsid and viroporin. In addition, the mechanisms by which activated platelets intensify endothelial activation and dysfunction, seemingly driven by release of the platelet-derived calcium-binding proteins, SA100A8 and SA100A9, are described. These events create a SARS-CoV-2-driven cycle of intravascular inflammation and coagulation, which contributes significantly to a poor clinical outcome in patients with severe disease.

Keywords: ACE2 receptor, acute myocardial injury, cardiovascular disease, corona virus disease (COVID-19), endotheliitis, nucleocapsid (N) protein, platelet activation, spike protein

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19), caused by the novel coronavirus, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is a multi-system inflammatory disorder, which, in its severe form, is characterized by endothelial damage and hypercoagulability (1). Although the etiology of the arterial and venous thromboembolic events observed in 10-25% of patients admitted with SARS-CoV-2 infection (2) is still being debated, the role of the complex interactions between platelets, the endothelium and SARS-CoV-2 are increasingly recognized. COVID-19-associated thrombosis has been reported in many sites, such as the skin (3), respiratory tract (4, 5), brain (6), gastrointestinal tract (7) and extremities (8), but is particularly catastrophic when the heart is involved (9), especially in the context of a pro-atherosclerotic milieu.

From early on in our understanding of infection with this coronavirus, it has been recognized that underlying cardiac comorbid conditions are important risk factors for COVID-19 infection and that cardiac complications may occur, even in patients with no underlying cardiac disorders, as part of the acute infection. One of the early publications from Wuhan, describing 41 hospitalized cases with COVID-19 pneumonia, noted that 73% of the patients were men, with 32% having underlying co-morbidities, including hypertension in 15% and cardiovascular diseases in 15% (10). A number of complications were noted in the patients, including acute cardiac injury in 12%. Shortly thereafter, several reports confirmed that underlying cardiovascular co-morbidities, as well as cardiac complications due to acute COVID-19 infection, were associated with more severe disease and increased morbidity and mortality (11-16). From these collective publications, it was noted that the most common cardiac complication was acute cardiac injury, defined by significant elevation of cardiac troponins. The acute cardiac injury was secondary to a number of cardiac conditions, including acute myocardial infarction due to acute coronary syndrome (ACS), myocarditis, arrhythmias, and cardiomyopathy, while cardiogenic shock and cardiac arrest were also reported. Thromboembolic disease, both venous and arterial, was also described. The potential mechanisms of cardiovascular complications included direct viral myocardial injury, systemic inflammation induced by the virus, sepsis, arrhythmia, myocardial oxygen supply-demand mismatch, electrolyte abnormalities, and hypercoagulability (17-21). As was noted in 2020, despite many publications there remain many uncertainties regarding the origins of these cardiac complications (22).

The aim of the current manuscript is to review recent data on the clinical manifestations and mechanisms of acute cardiac involvement in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. We specifically address acute myocardial injury and ACS, and the potential mechanisms of these complications, especially with regard to the role of plateletendothelium interactions, concentrating on publications that appeared mainly during 2020/2021.

THE CLINICAL ASPECTS OF COVID-19 AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

While underlying cardiovascular comorbidities are a risk factor for COVID-19 infection and severity, the infection itself has the

potential to cause a significant impact on the cardiovascular health of millions of people worldwide. The virus can infect the heart, as well as vascular tissue, circulating cells, and various organs, through its interaction with the ACE2 receptor, which it uses as a host cell receptor through its spike protein. It is, therefore, not surprising that cardiovascular events are a common extrapulmonary manifestation of COVID-19 infection (extensively reviewed in 17 and 18). The potential cardiac manifestations of COVID-19 infection are shown in **Table 1**, with the putative mechanisms depicted in **Table 2** (17–21).

The cardiac manifestations that may occur during COVID-19 infection include acute cardiac injury, myocarditis, acute myocardial infarction (AMI), heart failure, arrhythmia, cardiomyopathy, hypotension, shock, and cardiac arrest (18, 23, 24). An echocardiographic study of patients with COVID-19 documented pre-existing abnormalities, which prompted the authors to suggest caution with regard to attributing such abnormalities to acute COVID-19 infection (25). Among the vascular complications documented are venous and arterial thrombotic events, which are associated with greater need for respiratory support, vasopressors, and hemodialysis, and a longer hospital stay (24, 26). Autopsy studies from patients who died from COVID-19 infection have demonstrated a range of cardiac abnormalities including cardiac hypertrophy and/or enlargement, ventricular dilatation, infarction, and fibrosis (24).

A number of investigators have shown the potential value of a range of cardiac biomarkers, including high sensitivity troponins (Tn; TnT and TnI), creatinine kinase isoenzyme-MB (CK-MB) and N-terminal pro-brain-type natriuretic peptide (BNP; NT-proBNP), either as early indicators of cardiac involvement in COVID-19 infections and/or as markers of disease prognosis (27–34), while measurement of D-dimers is thought to be potentially important in preventing, diagnosing and managing vascular complications (24).

The troponins TnT and TnI are known as the cardiac troponins, and act on cardiac muscle contraction by regulating the calcium-dependent interactions of actin and myosin (35). The CK component of CK-MB is an enzyme that catalyzes the reversible transformation of creatinine and ATP to creatinine phosphate and ADP (35). Lastly, BNP is a hormone produced by

TABLE 1 Potential cardiac complications in COVID-19 infections*.
Acute myocardial injury – elevated troponin levels
Acute coronary syndrome
O Non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome – NSTEMI or unstable angina
 ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI)
 Acute myocardial infarction
Type 1 – acute atherothrombotic coronary artery disease, mostly plaque
rupture or thrombosis
Type 2 – oxygen supply-demand mismatch

- Cardiomyopathy
- O Include stress cardiomyopathy Takotsubo cardiomyopathy
 Mvocarditis
- Arrhythmia
- Drug-induced cardiac effects
- Cardiac failure
- Hypotension and/or cardiogenic shock
- Cardiac arrest

*See References (17-21).

TABLE 2 | Possible causes of cardiac events in COVID-19 infection*

• Direct cardiac injury

- O Viral-induced myocardial injury
- O Tropism of the virus for the ACE-2 receptor
- Systemic inflammation-cytokine release syndrome and multisystem
- inflammatory syndrome
- Sepsis
- Plaque rupture or thrombosis
- Hematological changes-arterial thrombosis, hypercoagulability/coagulopathy
- and disseminated intravascular coagulation
- Hypoxia
- •Myocardial oxygen supply-demand mismatch
- Dysfunctional endothelial response
- Arrhythmia
- Electrolyte disorders
- Direct drug toxicity and/or drug-drug interactions

*See References (17-21).

the heart, with both BNP and NT-proBNP being released in response to pressure changes within the heart (36). The former two biomarkers indicate myocardial injury, whereas the latter is a marker of hemodynamic stress (37).

In one systematic review and meta-analysis the pooled incidence of elevated levels of TnI, CK-MB and CK in COVID-19 cases were 15.16%, 10.92%, and 12.99%, respectively (38). Another detailed review indicated that troponin levels were elevated in 12% to 28% of cases with SARS-CoV-2 infection (18). While studies have indicated significant differences in biomarker levels in patients with differing COVID-19 infection severity, these levels also depended on whether the biomarkers were measured early on, or later, in the course of the infection (32, 38). Importantly, in COVID-19 cases, particularly those with underlying pre-existing cardiac disease, the prognostic cut-off values of these biomarkers may be lower than the reference standards (39). Furthermore, studies have shown that TnI, CKMB, and Pro-BNP are higher in non-survivors compared with survivors among critically ill patients with COVID-19 infection (28).

Lastly, it is important to be aware that cardiovascular sequelae can occur even in patients with mild COVID-19 infections, as well as in asymptomatic carriers of SARS-CoV-2 who may not even have been tested for this virus, and who may be at risk of developing cardiovascular disorders as bystander effects of the virus (40, 41). It remains essential to recognize and manage cardiovascular events during COVID-19 infection as soon as possible, as they are associated with worse outcomes (26, 42).

Acute Myocardial Injury

In studies of COVID-19 infection, myocardial injury has been defined as elevation of cardiac troponin I (TnI), or troponin T (TnT) to $>99^{th}$ percentile of the upper reference limit, or the presence of new electrocardiographic or echocardiographic abnormalities (18). Myocardial injury can occur *via* ischemic and non-ischemic mechanisms and the overall rate of acute cardiac injury in older studies has been reported to be between 7.2 and 36%, with rates as high as 59% in those who died (18, 43, 44). The rate of acute cardiac injury has been found to be higher in the case of infection with viruses, such as SARS-CoV-2, that bind the ACE2 receptor, than in those with viruses that do not (45). Cardiac injury

can occur early or later in the course of COVID-19 infection and recurrent episodes of cardiac injury may occur, with the latter events being associated with worse outcome (46). Importantly, more severe cardiac injury is associated with higher levels of TnI, greater need for ICU admission, and higher mortality (18).

The potential etiologies of COVID-related acute myocardial injury include i) ACS due to plaque rupture or thrombosis (Type I myocardial infarction), or supply-demand mismatch (Type II myocardial infarction), or ii) injury due to disseminated intravascular coagulation or non-ischemic injury, associated with myocarditis, stress-induced cardiomyopathy, cytokine release or acute pulmonary embolism (47). Cardiac injury is associated with more severe disease and a worse prognosis (43).

Interestingly, one hypothesis-generating study from the US, which mirrored similar studies from other countries, such as European countries, as well as Australia and New Zealand, indicated that most metropolitan cities noted a marked increase in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, early in 2020, which generally paralleled the local prevalence of COVID-19 infections (48). It was suggested that this was likely due to the SARS-CoV-2 virus, but that these deaths could not be reported as being due to COVID-19 as testing was not done on most patients before they died. The study also did not attempt to address clinical details, such as data on cardiac events.

Acute Myocardial Infarction/Acute Coronary Syndrome

The topic of COVID-19 and acute myocardial injury/ACS has been extensively reviewed (47). Among the common findings are firstly, that there is an increased risk of myocardial injury and infarction in patients with COVID-19 infection, especially in those patients with underlying cardiovascular comorbidities and/or risk factors. Secondly, there is a range of differential diagnoses with regard to the cause of myocardial injury, as noted above. Thirdly, lower rates of hospitalization have been noted worldwide for acute coronary syndrome during the COVID-19 pandemic, most likely because of patients' hesitancy to present to hospital, as well as misdiagnosis. Lastly, lack of preparation and standardized protocols for early management of ACS, in the setting of protection of healthcare professionals and the environment, have potentially led to delayed treatment of ACS.

A recent study from Sweden, indicated that when day one of the infection was excluded, the odds ratio for an AMI in the two weeks following COVID-19 infection was 3.41 [95%CI 1.58-7.36] and when day 0 was included it was 6.61 [95% CI 3.56-12.20]. The authors suggested that AMI (and ischemic stroke) represented a part of the clinical picture of COVID-19 infection, highlighting the need for prevention by vaccination (49).

In one registry-based retrospective analysis of hospitalized patients with COVID-19 who suffered an AMI, the overall mortality was 22.8% (50). The deceased were older than survivors, and patients with hypertension, worsening renal function and higher cardiac troponin T and C-reactive protein levels were more likely to die. Importantly, one observational study documented that occult infections with SARS-CoV-2 (and influenza) occurred in patients presenting with AMI, but without COVID-19 symptoms (13% of cases) and while there was no difference in mortality in those with

and without COVID-19 infection, the former group had a shorter time to a recurrent cardiovascular event (51).

Two studies investigated the clinical course and outcome of patients with AMI, with and without COVID-19 infection. The one study analyzed patients in a prospective COVID-ACS international registry, using a pre-COVID-19 cohort as the control group (52), while the other compared COVID-19-negative and -positive cases admitted to hospital with AMI early in the pandemic (53). The former study documented that patients with COVID-19 and ACS presented later and had an increased in-hospital mortality compared to the pre-COVID-19 cohort, and that there was a greater rate of cardiogenic shock, which was a major contributor to the poorer outcome. The latter study documented that patients with COVID-19 and AMI were older, had more comorbidities, and had a higher hospital mortality, compared to those without COVID-19.

Some authors have restricted their analyses to those cases with ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) (54-56). The first study compared patients with confirmed COVID-19 and STEMI with an age- and sex-matched STEMI group prior to COVID-19 (54). Patients with COVID-19 infection were more likely to present with cardiogenic shock (18%), but less likely to have angiography (78%) compared to the control group. The primary outcome was a composite of in-hospital death, stroke, recurrent AMI and repeat unplanned revascularization, which occurred more commonly in the COVID-19-positive group compared to controls. The second study showed a significant increase in in-hospital mortality, stent thrombosis and cardiogenic shock after percutaneous revascularization in those patients with STEMI and COVID-19 infection compared with a contemporaneous group of non-COVID STEMI patients (55). The third study indicated that STEMI patients admitted during the first wave of COVID-19 infections in Israel, had a longer ischemic time, which translated into more severe disease on hospital admission and a higher in-hospital adverse event rate than observed in STEMI cases admitted in a corresponding period in 2018 (57).

Interestingly a literature review of COVID-19 patients who had STEMI, in the early part of the pandemic, documented that 17% of cases were due to non-obstructive coronary artery disease, which was associated with a mortality of 30% (similar to those with obstructive coronary artery disease); however, such data were based on case reports and case series only (57). The role of thrombosis, including extensive and multi-vessel thrombosis, irrespective of the presence or absence of atherosclerotic plaques has been described, and is reviewed elsewhere (58, 59).

Other studies have analyzed predominantly Type II myocardial infarction in patients with COVID-19 (60). These studies indicate that such cases may be caused by an imbalance between oxygen supply and demand, possibly due to hypoxia, increased heart rate, systemic inflammation and/or decompensated cardiac failure, and are associated with high in-hospital mortality rates.

Clearly, a number of studies, some described above, suggest that there has been a delay in health-seeking behavior, primarily due to fear of contracting SARS-CoV-2 infection. This may account for the apparent decrease in prevalence of AMI during COVID-19 and be associated with a delay in medical intervention, resulting in an alarming rate of rare complications from AMI (48, 52, 61).

THE ROLE OF PLATELETS IN ISCHEMIC CARDIAC DISEASE

Platelets play an important role in the development of thromboinflammatory conditions and complications and are thus recognized as critical participants in the development of AMI (62). Platelet activation is a complex and multistep process (which is beyond the scope of the current review), principally mediated by specific platelet receptors that control adhesion and activation (62). Notable amongst these are the platelet collagen receptor: Fc receptor: γ -chain (FcR γ) co-expressed with glycoprotein (GP) VI. Patients with ACS have been reported to express higher numbers of GPVI receptors (63), have altered GPVI signaling (64) and an increased aggregation response (64).

Various platelet surface activation markers, such as CD62P (Pselectin), CD40L, platelet factor 4 and GP IIb/IIIa, as well as biological markers, primarily platelet micro-particles, have been associated with inflammation, atherosclerosis, and thrombosis (65). Platelet-monocyte aggregates, which persist in peripheral blood for longer than the surface markers and are therefore viewed as more sensitive markers of *in vivo* platelet activation (65), are an early marker of acute MI and have also been linked to myocardial noreflow in STEMI patients (66, 67). Indirect markers of platelet activation, such as increased mean platelet volume (68), as well as higher levels of von Willebrand factor (69), and serotonin (70), have also been observed during acute MI.

PLATELET INTERACTIONS WITH SARS-CoV-2

In addition to expression of the low-affinity receptor for the Fc fragment of immunoglobulin G, which may promote viral entry, platelets also express TLR7, as mentioned above, which enables these cells to interact with viral single-stranded RNA (71, 72). Both of these mechanisms, as well as others (73), may contribute to viral persistence and hyperreactivity of platelets. In the case of ACE2, the major SARS-Cov-2 cell entry receptor and its associated transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2), expression of this viral receptor and enzyme by platelets has been reported by some (74), but challenged by others (75). Because a direct role, if any, for the spike (S) protein of SARS-Cov-2 in mediating platelet hyperreactivity and thrombocytopenia in severe disease remains to be established, this section of the review is largely focused on severe COVID-19 that is associated with endothelial infection, activation and dysfunction as significant contributors to platelet overdrive and development of vascular disease.

PLATELET INTERACTION WITH INFLAMED/DAMAGED ENDOTHELIUM

Although platelets do not normally interact with intact vascular endothelium, they nevertheless play a critical role in maintaining vascular homeostasis *via* continuous monitoring of endothelial integrity. This is accomplished by preventing and repairing vascular leaks such as those associated with leukocyte extravasation (76). However, in the setting of the excessive

Platelet-Endothelium Interactions in COVID-19

endothelial activation and dysfunction that occur during serious SARS-CoV-2 infection, platelets acquire a more aggressive phenotype. Notwithstanding platelet activation mediated by thrombin and collagen, as well as autocrine activation by adenosine 5'-monophosphate and thromboxane $A_{2,}$ this is augmented by interaction of platelet Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) with viral single stranded RNA. Platelet activation is characterized by increased expression of CD62P and tissue factor, as well as platelet/leukocyte aggregate formation, which contribute significantly to the pathogenesis of thrombotic disease (77–79).

In this setting, the interaction of platelets with stressed vascular endothelium involves most of the adhesive mechanisms that also maintain vascular homeostasis. However, the transition from homeostatic regulation to vascular disease is determined by the extent of endothelial dysfunction and the associated increase in the intensity and duration of platelet adhesion and activation that drives the recruitment of highly reactive neutrophils and monocytes.

Mechanisms that promote the adhesion of platelets to inflamed vascular endothelium are numerous and these have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (80, 81). Prominent among these are initial adhesive events that promote "rolling" of platelets along endothelium, particularly the interaction of the major platelet membrane receptor, GP1b (CD42)-1X-V with von Willebrand factor released from endothelial cells (ECs). This type of rolling action is reinforced by interactions that involve upregulated expression of CD62P, present on both cell types, with its counter receptor, P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), also expressed on both cell types, albeit weakly in the case of platelets (81).

Stabilization of platelet/EC interactions requires the cooperation of two key integrins and three endothelialassociated, pro-adhesive molecules. These are the integrins, $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$, expressed on platelets and ECs, respectively, and the proteins, fibrinogen and fibronectin, as well as the glycoprotein, von Willebrand factor, which act as bridges linking the platelet and EC integrins to achieve firm binding. This is intensified *via* the fibrinogen-dependent interactions of $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1; CD54) expressed on ECs, as well as by the association of EC-bound GP1b-IX-V/von Willebrand factor with platelet $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ (81).

In addition to these platelet-endothelium interactions, other prominent mechanisms by which prolonged platelet activation poses risks to cardiovascular health include the following:

- microvascular occlusion due to formation of large intravascular homotypic aggregates of platelets, as well as heterotypic aggregates of platelets with neutrophils and monocytes (78, 82);
- platelet-driven systemic inflammatory responses associated with activation of neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages, resulting in excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines, especially interleukin (IL)-6, as well as induction of intense intracellular oxidative stress (83, 84);
- excessive platelet-driven intravascular formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) that contribute to organ damage and dysfunction (85, 86);

- release of prothrombotic/procoagulant factors (factor V, prothrombin, fibrinogen, von Willebrand factor) from platelet α-granules (87);
- platelet-driven active and passive expression of tissue factor by monocytes and neutrophils, respectively (78, 88).

These platelet-driven inflammatory mechanisms are summarized in **Table 3**.

PLATELET-MEDIATED ENDOTHELIAL DAMAGE AND DYSFUNCTION

In addition to the direct proinflammatory/prothrombotic and cytotoxic effects of the SARS-Cov-2 S protein on vascular endothelium, as well as impairment of the renin-angiotensinaldosterone system (83), prolonged platelet activation in severe COVID-19 infection also amplifies endotheliopathy (89) In this context, a very recent study by Barrett et al. described potential mechanisms by which activated platelets exacerbate endothelial activation and damage (90). Using a strategy based on integration of endothelial cells and platelets isolated from patients hospitalized with COVID-19, transcriptomic analysis of mRNA expression extracted from endothelial cells exposed to platelet releasate revealed alterations in processes involved in maintenance of tight junction barrier integrity, coagulation and inflammation, characteristic of an "inflammatory, hypercoaguable phenotype" (90).

Systematic genetic analysis enabled the authors to identify the genes encoding the calcium-binding proteins, SA100A8 and SA100A9, also known as myeloid-related proteins (MRP) 8 and 14, respectively, as being the most prominent plateletderived mediators of endothelial activation. These proteins are stored in platelet granules and dimerize to form the potent, proinflammatory protein, calprotectin (MRP8/14). Interacting with CD36 on vascular endothelium, calprotectin weakens cell-cell interactions and initiates release of the proinflammatory cytokines, IL-6, and IL-8 (90–92).

Importantly, the systemic levels of MRP8/14 were found to be significantly higher in the cohort of patients hospitalized with COVID-19 relative to those of control subjects and were associated with development of thrombosis and other adverse events (90).

Very recently, Bye et al. described another mechanism operative in patients with severe COVID-19 by which platelets may augment endothelial activation and dysfunction (93). In this setting, platelets that have adhered to SARS-CoV-2-infected endothelial cells *via* von Willebrand factor make contact with surface-bound immune complexes formed between the S protein and heavily Fc regiongalactosylated immunoglobulin G antibodies, which effectively bind to and activate the platelet $Fc\gamma$ RIIA receptor (93).

ENDOTHELIITIS DUE TO SERIOUS SARS-CoV-2 INFECTION

Notwithstanding the involvement of cells of the innate and adaptive immune systems, there is increasing recognition of

TABLE 3 | Mechanisms by which activated platelets contribute to vascular and organ damage during severe COVID-19 infection.

Mechanism	Refs
• Formation of large intravascular homotypic (platelets) and heterotypic (platelets/neutrophils/monocytes) aggregates that result in microvascular occlusion	(78, 82)
• Initiation and perpetuation of systemic inflammatory responses that drive excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines and severe oxidative stress	(83, 84)
Drive the intravascular formation of obstructive neutrophil extracellular traps	(85, 86)
 Release prothrombotic/procoagulant factors contained in α-granules 	(87)
Initiate synthesis and release of tissue factor by platelet-activated monocytes	(78, 88)

the key role played by the vascular endothelium in the development of the prothrombotic state and hypercoagulability that precede the occurrence of arterial and venous complications in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection, particularly those with preexisting, procoagulant tendencies (94–97). Of the 29 SARS-CoV-2 proteins, it is the S protein in particular and, to a lesser extent, the nucleocapsid protein (NP) that drive virus-mediated endothelial damage. Of these two viral proteins, the former is cytotoxic, causing loss of endothelial structural integrity, while the latter induces a proinflammatory endothelial phenotype. Importantly, ECs do not express TLR7, excluding putative proinflammatory interactions with viral single-stranded RNA (98).

Spike Protein-Mediated Endothelial Dysfunction

This viral protein consists of two subunits, S1 and S2. These spike proteins bind initially to endothelial surface glycosaminoglycans, enabling recognition of, and interaction with, their natural cellular counter receptor, ACE2, which is expressed on several types of host cells, including vascular endothelium (99). Physical binding of ACE2 to the S protein necessitates proteolytic cleavage at the S1/S2 sites by the cellular enzyme, TMPRSS2. These events precede, and are a prerequisite, for membrane fusion and viral entry. Thereafter S protein-mediated endothelial dysfunction results from at least two distinct mechanisms, both of which are dependent on viral infection of ECs, which results from binding of the S1 region to ACE2.

Firstly, and very recently, Lei et al. engineered an RNA-free pseudovirus variant of SARS-CoV-2 that was comprised of an inert outer shell impregnated with the S protein that enabled efficient attachment to ACE2 (99). Intratracheal administration of this variant of SARS-CoV-2 to Syrian hamsters mimicked many of the features of the pulmonary damage associated with natural SARS-CoV-2 infection. These changes included downregulation of endothelial expression of ACE2 that was due to decreased stability of the virus receptor that resulted from impaired phosphorylation of the ACE2 Ser-680 amino acid residue by the endothelial enzyme, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) (99). This event, in turn, targeted the dephosphorylated variant of ACE2 for proteolytic degradation by a pathway driven by the oncoprotein, MDM2 (murine double minute 2) that mediates ubiquitination of unstable ACE2 (99, 100). In addition, dysregulation of endothelial protein phosphorylative activity also resulted in interference with the activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (99).

The authors replicated these findings in a series of *in vitro* experiments in which isolated pulmonary arterial ECs were infected

with the SARS-CoV-2 pseudovirus (99). In addition, they also observed that exposure of the ECs to recombinant S1 protein caused mitochondrial dysfunction and EC fragmentation, seemingly because of intense intracellular oxidative stress associated with loss of ACE2. Based on their findings, the authors concluded that SARS-CoV-2 S1 protein-mediated loss of endothelial ACE2 "may exacerbate endothelial dysfunction, leading to endotheliitis" (99).

The aforementioned findings are largely in keeping with those of another very recent study reported by Raghavan et al. (101). Using an in vitro cell culture-based approach, these authors investigated the effects of exposure to recombinant S1 protein on the structural integrity of primary cultures of mouse brain ECs isolated from nondiabetic and diabetic mice (101). The authors measured the proadhesive activities of several types of EC junctional adhesion molecules [vascular endothelial (VE) cadherin; junctional adhesion molecule-A (JAM-A) that regulates tight junctions; the gap junction protein, connexin-43; PECAM-1 (CD31) also highly expressed at EC intercellular junctions]. Following exposure to the S1 protein, the cellular levels of all four junctional adhesion molecules decreased significantly, resulting in disruption of the endothelial barrier, an effect that was most evident with ECs from diabetic mice (101). Mechanistically, S1 protein-mediated endothelial disruption appeared to result from an increased association of the junctional adhesion molecules with the membrane-associated protein, Rab5a, which is a GTPase regulator of intracellular vesicular transport that regulates the movement of membrane proteins between the plasma membrane and early endosomes (101, 102). In the clinical setting of COVID-19, loss of barrier function results not only in detachment of ECs that are detected as circulating cells floating in blood (103), but also exposure of the arterial sub-endothelium with the attendant risk of myocardial infarction and stroke.

Notwithstanding involvement in infection and death of ECs by SARS-CoV-2, the role of ACE2, if any, in S1 protein-mediated junctional adhesion molecule dysfunction does, however, remain to be established.

Spike Protein and Complement-Mediated Dysfunction of Endothelial Cells

Recently, Yu et al., albeit also using an *in vitro*-based approach, demonstrated that treatment of eukaryotic cells with either the S1 or S2 recombinant proteins, but not NP, initiated endothelial cytotoxicity *via* activation of the alternative complement pathway (104). The authors used an engineered *PIGA*null TF1 cell line that does not express ACE2 for their studies. This is an erythroleukemic cell line genetically depleted of phosphatidylinositol glycan class A (*PIGA*), which is the precursor of glycosylphosphatidylinositol

(GPI). This glycophospholipid anchors the complement regulatory proteins, CD55 (inactivates the C3 convertases of the alternative and classical pathways) and CD59 (attenuates the lytic activity of the membrane attack complex). Cytotoxicity of both the S1 and S2 proteins occurred in the presence of normal human serum measured using a colorimetric assay based on cellular metabolic activity (104). The involvement of the alternative, as opposed to the classical pathway of complement activation, was demonstrated according to the presence of increased levels of fragment Bb (derived from activation of Factor B), as well as by the protective effects of inhibition of Factor D and by the addition of Factor H (104). Although remaining to be conclusively established, the authors speculate that the S1 and S2 proteins initiate activation of the alternative complement pathway by interfering with the activity of regulatory Factor H (104).

Although of potential pathophysiological significance, studies of this type need to be repeated using endothelial cell lines with intact complement regulatory surface proteins, as well as expression of ACE2.

Activation of the NLRP3 Inflammasome by the S and Viroporin SARS-CoV-2 Proteins

The S protein of SARS-CoV-2 has also been shown to activate the proinflammatory/pro-pyroptosis NLR family pyrin domaincontaining protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome, seemingly by a pro-oxidative mechanism in various types of eukaryotic cells, including small human hematopoietic and EC precursor cells, as well as macrophages (105, 106). In addition, the SARS-CoV-2 small membrane permeability-inducing protein, viroporin, may also potentiate activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome via a mechanism involving efflux of K⁺ (107). Importantly, the NLRP3 inflammasome is present in vascular endothelium, activation of which triggers endothelial dysfunction and death (108). Although seemingly unexplored, putative activation of the EC NLRP3 inflammasome may also contribute to the development of SARS-CoV-2-mediated endotheliitis.

Nucleocapsid Protein

The NP of SARS-CoV-2 is a 45.6 kDa (theoretical) multivalent RNA-binding protein that initiates activation of ECs by mechanisms that are non-cytotoxic and do not involve ACE2 (109). In this context, Qian et al. recently investigated the effects of exposure of five different types of human primary EC cultures (pulmonary vascular, umbilical vein, aortic, coronary artery and

dermal microvascular) to recombinant NP (0.05-1 micrograms/ milliliter) for 4-24 hours in vitro (109). This resulted in dose- and time-related increased expression of the endothelial adhesion molecules, intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), that promoted adherence of human primary monocytes (109). Mechanistically, NP-mediated endothelial activation involved interaction of the viral protein with TLR2 expressed on ECs. This event, in turn, triggered activation of intracellular signaling mechanisms driven by nuclear factor kappa B (NF-KB) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), resulting in transcription of the genes encoding ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 (109).

Although indicative of a proinflammatory activity of the SARS-CoV-2 NP that may contribute to the endotheliitis of advanced COVID-19 infection, independent confirmation of these findings, as well as extrapolation to the pathogenesis of thrombosis in small vessels, is necessary.

These various mechanisms by which the SARS-Cov-2 spike protein, viroporin and NP promote endothelial damage and dysfunction are summarized in Table 4.

Given the very recent interest in the involvement of the vascular endothelium in the pathogenesis of COVID-19, only a few reports have described relationships between disease severity and outcome with elevations in systemic biomarkers of endothelial activation and dysfunction such as von Willebrand factor and thrombomodulin (110-112). The paucity of reports focused on this important topic underscores the necessity for more intensive investigation. Novel platelet-directed therapies currently under investigation include the P-selectin-targeted monoclonal antibody, crizanlizumab (113).

ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES OF A DAMAGED ENDOTHELIUM

Endothelial damage precedes the adhesion and activation of platelets, neutrophils, and monocytes. This event, in turn, results in the development of a procoagulant state due to the loss of ECderived anti-coagulant proteins such as thrombomodulin and anti-thrombin III, as well as the prostanoid, prostacyclin. These procoagulant mechanisms are intensified, in turn, by potentiation of platelet activation via endothelial leakage of von Willebrand factor and by increased synthesis and expression of tissue factor by

Protein	Mechanisms	Refs
Spike protein	Degradation of ACE2	(99)
	Decreased activity of eNOS	
	Mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular oxidative stress	
	Displacement of endothelial junctional adhesion molecules	(101)
	Cytotoxicity due to activation of the alternative complement pathway	(104)
	 Possible activation of the endothelial NLRP3 inflammasome potentiated by viroporin 	(105–108)
Nucleocapsid protein	• Upregulation of expression of the endothelial adhesion molecules, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, resulting in recruitment of inflammatory cells	(109)

ACE, acetylcholine esterase; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; NLRP3, NLR family pyrin domain-containing protein 3; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1



ECs. Inflammatory events that occur on an essentially intact endothelium in the setting of a low shear stress predispose for the development of venous thrombosis (114). In the case of arterial thrombosis, disruption of the endothelial barrier in the setting of high shear stress, exposure of the sub-endothelial extracellular matrix, platelet accumulation, and, in particular, the existence of a pre-atherosclerotic milieu, are likely to predispose for development of MI and stroke. These processes are depicted in **Figure 1**.

CONCLUSION

COVID-19 is a systemic disease affecting various systems, including the cardiovascular system, where it leads to significant mortality. While our understanding of the pathogenesis of COVID-19 and associated complications is evolving, evidence is emerging about the very important role of

REFERENCES

- Quinaglia T, Shabani M, Breder I, Silber HA, Lima JAC, Sposito AC. Coronavirus Disease-19: The Multi-Level, Multi-Faceted Vasculopathy. *Atherosclerosis* (2021) 322:39–50. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2021.02.009
- Middeldorp S, Coppens M, van Haaps TF, Foppen M, Vlaar AP, Müller MCA, et al. Incidence of Venous Thromboembolism in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18(8):1995–2002. doi: 10.1111/jth.14888
- Seirafianpour F, Sodagar S, Pour Mohammad A, Panahi P, Mozafarpoor S, Almasi S, et al. Cutaneous Manifestations and Considerations in COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review. *Dermatol Ther* (2020) 33(6):e13986. doi: 10.1111/dth.13986
- 4. Yao XH, Li TY, He ZC, Ping YF, Liu HW, Yu SC, et al. A Pathological Report of Three COVID-19 Cases by Minimal Invasive Autopsies.

platelets *per se* together with endotheliitis and its attendant role in platelet recruitment and activation. These events create a SARS-CoV-2-driven cycle of intravascular inflammation and coagulation, which contributes significantly to a poor clinical outcome in patients with severe disease. Clearly, the role of platelet-endothelium interactions in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 needs further intense exploration to enable optimization of the treatment of the infection and its complications with the ultimate goal of improving outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TR, RA, and CF contributed equally to the conceptualization and compilation of the manuscript, while all four authors (TR, RA, PM, and CF) were involved in reviewing and finalizing the manuscript and approved its submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi (2020) 49(5):411-7. doi: 10.3760/ cma.j.cn112151-20200312-00193

- Dolhnikoff M, Duarte-Neto AN, de Almeida Monteiro RA, da Silva LFF, de Oliveira EP, Saldiva PHN, et al. Pathological Evidence of Pulmonary Thrombotic Phenomena in Severe COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18(6):1517–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14844
- Kirschenbaum D, Imbach LL, Rushing EJ, Frauenknecht KBM, Gascho D, Ineichen BV, et al. Intracerebral Endotheliitis and Microbleeds Are Neuropathological Features of COVID-19. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2021) 47(3):454–9. doi: 10.1111/nan.12677
- Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, Leonard-Lorant I, Ohana M, Delabranche X. Et Al; CRICS TRIGGERSEP Group (Clinical Research in Intensive Care and Sepsis Trial Group for Global Evaluation and Research in Sepsis). High Risk of Thrombosis in Patients With Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection: A Multicenter Prospective Cohort Study. *Intensive Care Med* (2020) 46 (6):1089–98. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06062-x

- Ilonzo N, Kumar S, Borazan N, Hansen T, Rao A, Lantis J, et al. Endotheliitis in Coronavirus Disease 2019-Positive Patients After Extremity Amputation for Acute Thrombotic Events. *Ann Vasc Surg* (2021) 72:209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.avsg.2020.12.004
- Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, Cai Y, Liu T, Yang F, et al. Association of Cardiac Injury With Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Cardiol* (2020) 5(7):802–10. doi: 10.1001/ jamacardio.2020.0950
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Features of Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10223):497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Krittanawong C, Virk HUH, Narasimhan B, Wang Z, Narasimhan H, Zhang HJ, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Cardiovascular Risk: A Meta-Analysis. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* (2020) 63(4):527–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.pcad.2020.05.001
- Wang L, He W, Yu X, Hu D, Bao M, Liu H, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Elderly Patients: Characteristics and Prognostic Factors Based on 40-Week Follow-Up. J Infect (2020) 80(6):639–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf. 2020.03.019
- Bansal M. Cardiovascular Disease and COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Syndr (2020) 14(3):247–50. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.03.013
- Kang Y, Chen T, Mui D, Ferrari V, Jagasia D, Scherrer-Crosbie M, et al. Cardiovascular Manifestations and Treatment Considerations in COVID-19. *Heart* (2020) 106(15):1132–41. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-317056
- Azevedo RB, Botelho BG, Hollanda JVG, Ferreira LVL, Junqueira de Andrade LZ, Oei SSML, et al. Covid-19 and the Cardiovascular System: A Comprehensive Review. J Hum Hypertens (2021) 35(1):4–11. doi: 10.1038/ s41371-020-0387-4
- Nishiga M, Wang DW, Han Y, Lewis DB, Wu JC. COVID-19 and Cardiovascular Disease: From Basic Mechanisms to Clinical Perspectives. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2020) 17(9):543–58. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0413-9
- Chung MK, Zidar DA, Bristow MR, Cameron SJ, Chan T, Harding CV III, et al. COVID-19 and Cardiovascular Disease: From Bench to Bedside. *Circ Res* (2021) 128(8):1214–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.317997
- Maab H, Mustafa F, Shabbir SJ. Cardiovascular Impact of COVID-19: An Array of Presentations. *Acta BioMed* (2021) 92(2):e2021021. doi: 10.23750/ abm.v92i2.10299
- Pinto DS. COVID-19: Myocardial Infarction and Other Coronary Artery Disease Issues. Up-To-Date (2021). Available at: https://www.uptodate.com/ contents/covid-19-myocardial-infarction-and-other-coronary-arterydisease-issues (Accessed 6 August, 2021).
- Basu-Ray I, Almaddah NK, Adedayo A, Soos MP. Cardiac Manifestations of Coronavirus (COVID-19) (2021). Statpearls. Available at: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK556152/ (Accessed 6 August, 2021).
- Abbasi J. Researchers Investigate What COVID-19 Does to the Heart. JAMA (2021) 325(9):808–11. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.0107
- Al-Mohammad A, Partridge DG, Fent G, Watson O, Lewis NT, Storey RF, et al. The Cardiac Complications of COVID-19: Many Publications, Multiple Uncertainties. *Vasc Biol* (2020) 2(1):R105–14. doi: 10.1530/VB-20-0009
- Cao Q, Lei H, Yang M, Wei L, Dong Y, Xu J, et al. Impact of Cardiovascular Diseases on COVID-19: A Systematic Review. *Med Sci Monit* (2021) 27: e930032. doi: 10.12659/MSM.930032
- Schmid A, Petrovic M, Akella K, Pareddy A, Velavan SS. Getting to the Heart of the Matter: Myocardial Injury, Coagulopathy, and Other Potential Cardiovascular Implications of COVID-19. *Int J Vasc Med* (2021) 2021:6693895. doi: 10.1155/2021/6693895
- Krishna H, Ryu AJ, Scott CG, Mandale DR, Naqvi TZ, Pellikka PA. Cardiac Abnormalities in COVID-19 and Relationship to Outcome. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2021) 96(4):932–42. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2021.01.006
- 26. El Rhalete A, Rhazi I, Bensaid A, Zaid I, Bkiyer H, Ismaili N, et al. Cardiovascular Injuries During COVID-19 Infection: A PROCESS-Compliant Case Series From the Eastern Morocco. Ann Med Surg (Lond) (2021) 65:102309. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102309
- Caro-Codón J, Rey JR, Buño A, Iniesta AM, Rosillo SO, Castrejon-Castrejon S. Et Al; CARD-COVID Investigators. Characterization of Myocardial Injury in a Cohort of Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Med Clin* (*Barc*) (2021) 157(6):274–80. doi: 10.1016/j.medcli.2021.02.001

- Tuo H, Li W, Tang L, He B, Yao B, Mao P, et al. Cardiac Biomarker Abnormalities Are Closely Related to Prognosis in Patients With COVID-19. Int Heart J (2021) 62(1):148–52. doi: 10.1536/ihj.20-180
- Papageorgiou N, Sohrabi C, Prieto Merino D, Tyrlis A, Atieh AE, Saberwal B, et al. High Sensitivity Troponin and COVID-19 Outcomes. *Acta Cardiol* (2021). doi: 10.1080/00015385.2021.1887586
- 30. De Michieli L, Babuin L, Vigolo S, Berti De Marinis G, Lunardon A, Favretto F, et al. Using High Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin Values in Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection (COVID-19): The Padova Experience. *Clin Biochem* (2021) 90:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2021.01.006
- Calvo-Fernández A, Izquierdo A, Subirana I, Farré N, Vila J, Durán X, et al. Markers of Myocardial Injury in the Prediction of Short-Term COVID-19 Prognosis. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* (2021) 74(7):576–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.rec.2020.09.011
- 32. Li P, Wu W, Zhang T, Wang Z, Li J, Zhu M, et al. Implications of Cardiac Markers in Risk-Stratification and Management for COVID-19 Patients. *Crit Care* (2021) 25(1):158. doi: 10.1186/s13054-021-03555-z
- Caro-Codón J, Rey JR, Buño A, Iniesta AM, Rosillo SO, Castrejon-Castrejon S. Et Al; CARD-COVID Investigators. Characterization of NT-proBNP in a Large Cohort of COVID-19 Patients. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2021) 23(3):456–64. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.2095
- 34. López-Otero D, López-Pais J, Antúnez-Muiños PJ, Cacho-Antonio C, González-Ferrero T, González-Juanatey JR. Association Between Myocardial Injury and Prognosis of COVID-19 Hospitalized Patients, With or Without Heart Disease. CARDIOVID Registry. *Rev Esp Cardiol* (*Engl Ed*) (2021) 74(1):105–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2020.08.005
- Aydin S, Ugur K, Aydin S, Sahin İ, Yardim M. Biomarkers in Acute Myocardial Infarction: Current Perspectives. Vasc Health Risk Manag (2019) 15:1–10. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S166157
- 36. Januzzi JL, van Kimmenade R, Lainchbury J, Bayes-Genis A, Ordonez-Llanos J, Santalo-Bel M, et al. NT-proBNP Testing for Diagnosis and Short-Term Prognosis in Acute Destabilized Heart Failure: An International Pooled Analysis of 1256 Patients: The International Collaborative of NTproBNP Study. *Eur Heart J* (2006) 27(3):330–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehi631
- Jacob R, Khan M. Cardiac Biomarkers: What Is and What Can Be. Indian J Cardiovasc Dis Women WINCARS (2018) 3(4):240–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1679104
- 38. Sahranavard M, Akhavan Rezayat A, Zamiri Bidary M, Omranzadeh A, Rohani F, Hamidi Farahani R, et al. Cardiac Complications in COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arch Iran Med (2021) 24(2):152–63. doi: 10.34172/aim.2021.24
- Qin JJ, Cheng X, Zhou F, Lei F, Akolkar G, Cai J, et al. Redefining Cardiac Biomarkers in Predicting Mortality of Inpatients With COVID-19. *Hypertension* (2020) 76(4):1104–12. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15528
- Zhou M, Wong CK, Un KC, Lau YM, Lee JC, Tam FC, et al. Cardiovascular Sequelae in Uncomplicated COVID-19 Survivors. *PloS One* (2021) 16(2): e0246732. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246732
- Gupta S, Mitra A. Challenge of Post-COVID Era: Management of Cardiovascular Complications in Asymptomatic Carriers of SARS-CoV-2. *Heart Fail Rev* (2021) 27(1):239–49. doi: 10.1007/s10741-021-10076-y
- 42. Xu Q, Samanapally H, Nathala P, Salunkhe V, Furmanek S, Cahill MN, et al. Center of Excellence for Research in Infectious Diseases (CERID) Coronavirus Study Group on Behalf of the COVID-19 CardioVascular Research Group (COVID-CVRG). Outcomes and Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Events in Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth (2021) 35(12):3581–93. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2021.03.035
- 43. Tajbakhsh A, Gheibi Hayat SM, Taghizadeh H, Akbari A, Inabadi M, Savardashtaki A, et al. COVID-19 and Cardiac Injury: Clinical Manifestations, Biomarkers, Mechanisms, Diagnosis, Treatment, and Follow Up. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther* (2021) 19(3):345–57. doi: 10.1080/ 14787210.2020.1822737
- Adu-Amankwaah J, Mprah R, Adekunle AO, Ndzie Noah ML, Adzika GK, Machuki JO, et al. The Cardiovascular Aspect of COVID-19. Ann Med (2021) 53(1):227–36. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2020.1861644
- 45. Cheng MP, Cau A, Lee TC, Brodie D, Slutsky A, Marshall J, et al. Angiotensin Receptor Blocker Coronavirus Study (ARBs) CORONA I. Acute Cardiac Injury in Coronavirus Disease 2019 and Other Viral

Infections - A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Care Med (2021) 49(9):1558–66. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000005026

- 46. Sun W, Zhang Y, Wu C, Wang S, Xie Y, Zhang D, et al. Early vs. Late Onset Cardiac Injury and Mortality in Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients in Wuhan. Front Cardiovasc Med (2021) 8:645587. doi: 10.3389/fcvm. 2021.645587
- Cameli M, Pastore MC, Mandoli GE, D'Ascenzi F, Focardi M, Biagioni G, et al. COVID-19 and Acute Coronary Syndromes: Current Data and Future Implications. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2021) 7:593496. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2020.593496
- 48. McVaney KE, Pepe PE, Maloney LM, Bronsky ES, Crowe RP, Augustine JJ. Et Al; Writing Group on Behalf of the Metropolitan EMS Medical Directors Global Alliance. The Relationship of Large City Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrests and the Prevalence of COVID-19. *EClinicalMedicine* (2021) 34:100815. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100815
- Katsoularis I, Fonseca-Rodríguez O, Farrington P, Lindmark K, Fors Connolly AM. Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction and Ischaemic Stroke Following COVID-19 in Sweden: A Self-Controlled Case Series and Matched Cohort Study. *Lancet* (2021) 398(10300):599–607. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(21)00896-5
- Tavolinejad H, Hosseini K, Sadeghian S, Pourhosseini H, Lotfi-Tokaldany M, Masoudkabir F, et al. Clinical Implications and Indicators of Mortality Among Patients Hospitalized With Concurrent COVID-19 and Myocardial Infarction. *Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars* (2021) 49(4):293–302. doi: 10.5543/ tkda.2021.14331
- Akhtar Z, Chowdhury F, Aleem MA, Ghosh PK, Rahman M, Rahman M, et al. Undiagnosed SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Outcome in Patients With Acute MI and No COVID-19 Symptoms. *Open Heart* (2021) 8(1):e001617. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2021-001617
- 52. Kite TA, Ludman PF, Gale CP, Wu J, Caixeta A, Mansourati J. Et Al; International COVID-ACS Registry Investigators. International Prospective Registry of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients With COVID-19. J Am Coll Cardiol (2021) 77(20):2466–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.03.309
- 53. Case BC, Yerasi C, Forrestal BJ, Shea C, Rappaport H, Medranda GA, et al. Comparison of Characteristics and Outcomes of Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction With Versus Without Coronarvirus-19. Am J Cardiol (2021) 144:8–12. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2020.12.059
- 54. Garcia S, Dehghani P, Grines C, Davidson L, Nayak KR, Saw J. Et Al; Society for Cardiac Angiography and Interventions, the Canadian Association of Interventional Cardiology, and the American College of Cardiology Interventional Council. Initial Findings From the North American COVID-19 Myocardial Infarction Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol (2021) 77 (16):1994–2003. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.02.055
- Rodriguez-Leor O, Cid Alvarez AB, Pérez de Prado A, Rossello X, Ojeda S, Serrador A, et al. In-Hospital Outcomes of COVID-19 ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction Patients. *EuroIntervention* (2021) 16(17):1426–33. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-00935
- Fardman A, Zahger D, Orvin K, Oren D, Kofman N, Mohsen J, et al. Acute Myocardial Infarction in the Covid-19 Era: Incidence, Clinical Characteristics and in-Hospital Outcomes-A Multicenter Registry. *PloS One* (2021) 16(6):e0253524. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253524
- Diaz-Arocutipa C, Torres-Valencia J, Saucedo-Chinchay J, Cuevas C. ST-Segment Elevation in Patients With COVID-19: A Systematic Review. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2021) 52(3):738–45. doi: 10.1007/s11239-021-02411-9
- Mohamed Ali A, Wasim D, Larsen TH, Bogale N, Bleie Ø, Saeed S. Acute Myocardial Infarction Due to Microvascular Obstruction in a Young Woman Who Recently Recovered From COVID-19 Infection. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis (2021) 8(6):66. doi: 10.3390/jcdd8060066
- Kermani-Alghoraishi M. A Review of Coronary Artery Thrombosis: A New Challenging Finding in COVID-19 Patients and ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. *Curr Probl Cardiol* (2021) 46(3):100744. doi: 10.1016/ j.cpcardiol.2020.100744
- Talanas G, Dossi F, Parodi G. Type 2 Myocardial Infarction in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) (2021) 22 (7):603–5. doi: 10.2459/JCM.00000000001136
- Tan JH, Tong J, Ho HH. Delayed Presentation of Acute Coronary Syndrome With Mechanical Complication During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Case Report. Eur Heart J Case Rep (2020) 5(2):ytaa506. doi: 10.1093/ehjcr/ytaa506

- Lebas H, Yahiaoui K, Martos R, Boulaftali Y. Platelets Are at the Nexus of Vascular Diseases. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2019) 6:132. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2019.00132
- Bigalke B, Haap M, Stellos K, Geisler T, Seizer P, Kremmer E, et al. Platelet Glycoprotein VI (GPVI) for Early Identification of Acute Coronary Syndrome in Patients With Chest Pain. *Thromb Res* (2010) 125(5):e184–9. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2010.01.005
- 64. Vélez P, Ocaranza-Sánchez R, López-Otero D, Grigorian-Shamagian L, Rosa I, Guitián E, et al. Alteration of Platelet GPVI Signaling in ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction Patients Demonstrated by a Combination of Proteomic, Biochemical, and Functional Approaches. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:39603. doi: 10.1038/srep39603
- Yun SH, Sim EH, Goh RY, Park JI, Han JY. Platelet Activation: The Mechanisms and Potential Biomarkers. *BioMed Res Int* (2016) 2016:9060143. doi: 10.1155/2016/9060143
- 66. Furman MI, Barnard MR, Krueger LA, Fox ML, Shilale EA, Lessard DM, et al. Circulating Monocyte-Platelet Aggregates Are an Early Marker of Acute Myocardial Infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol (2001) 38(4):1002–6. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01485-1
- 67. Ren F, Mu N, Zhang X, Tan J, Li L, Zhang C, et al. Increased Platelet-Leukocyte Aggregates Are Associated With Myocardial No-Reflow in Patients With ST Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Am J Med Sci (2016) 352(3):261–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjms.2016.05.034
- Amraotkar AR, Song DD, Otero D, Trainor PJ, Ismail I, Kothari V, et al. Platelet Count and Mean Platelet Volume at the Time of and After Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2017) 23(8):1052–9. doi: 10.1177/1076029616683804
- Goto S, Sakai H, Goto M, Ono M, Ikeda Y, Handa S, et al. Enhanced Shear-Induced Platelet Aggregation in Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation* (1999) 99(5):608–13. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.99.5.608
- Mauler M, Herr N, Schoenichen C, Witsch T, Marchini T, Härdtner C, et al. Platelet Serotonin Aggravates Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury via Neutrophil Degranulation. Circulation (2019) 139(7):918–31. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.033942
- Qiao J, Al-Tamimi M, Baker RI, Andrews RK, Gardiner EE. The Platelet Fc Receptor, Fcγriia. *Immunol Rev* (2015) 268(1):241–52. doi: 10.1111/ imr.12370
- 72. Koupenova M, Vitseva O, MacKay CR, Beaulieu LM, Benjamin EJ, Mick E, et al. Platelet-TLR7 Mediates Host Survival and Platelet Count During Viral Infection in the Absence of Platelet-Dependent Thrombosis. *Blood* (2014) 124(5):791–802. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-536003
- 73. Shen S, Zhang J, Fang Y, Lu S, Wu J, Zheng X, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Interacts With Platelets and Megakaryocytes via ACE2-Independent Mechanism. J Hematol Oncol (2021) 14(1):72. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01082-6
- 74. Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Binds Platelet ACE2 to Enhance Thrombosis in COVID-19. J Hematol Oncol (2020) 13(1):120. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00954-7
- Campbell RA, Boilard E, Rondina MT. Is There a Role for the ACE2 Receptor in SARS-CoV-2 Interactions With Platelets? J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19(1):46–50. doi: 10.1111/jth.15156
- 76. Braun LJ, Stegmeyer RI, Schäfer K, Volkery S, Currie SM, Kempe B, et al. Platelets Docking to VWF Prevent Leaks During Leukocyte Extravasation by Stimulating Tie-2. *Blood* (2020) 136(5):627–39. doi: 10.1182/ blood.2019003442
- 77. Canzano P, Brambilla M, Porro B, Cosentino N, Tortorici E, Vicini S, et al. Platelet and Endothelial Activation as Potential Mechanisms Behind the Thrombotic Complications of COVID-19 Patients. *JACC Basic Transl Sci* (2021) 6(3):202–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2020.12.009
- Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CRR, et al. Platelet Activation and Platelet-Monocyte Aggregate Formation Trigger Tissue Factor Expression in Patients With Severe COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136(11):1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252
- Yatim N, Boussier J, Chocron R, Hadjadj J, Philippe A, Gendron N, et al. Platelet Activation in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients. *Ann Intensive Care* (2021) 11(1):113. doi: 10.1186/s13613-021-00899-1
- Etulain J, Schattner M. Glycobiology of Platelet-Endothelial Cell Interactions. *Glycobiology* (2014) 24(12):1252–9. doi: 10.1093/glycob/ cwu056

- Coenen DM, Mastenbroek TG, Cosemans JMEM. Platelet Interaction With Activated Endothelium: Mechanistic Insights From Microfluidics. *Blood* (2017) 130(26):2819–28. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-780825
- Le Joncour A, Biard L, Vautier M, Bugaut H, Mekinian A, Maalouf G, et al. Neutrophil-Platelet and Monocyte-Platelet Aggregates in COVID-19 Patients. *Thromb Haemost* (2020) 120(12):1733–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1718732
- Siddiqi HK, Libby P, Ridker PM. COVID-19 A Vascular Disease. Trends Cardiovasc Med (2021) 31(1):1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2020.10.005
- Sabaka P, Koščálová A, Straka I, Hodosy J, Lipták R, Kmotorková B, et al. Role of Interleukin 6 as a Predictive Factor for a Severe Course of Covid-19: Retrospective Data Analysis of Patients From a Long-Term Care Facility During Covid-19 Outbreak. *BMC Infect Dis* (2021) 21(1):308. doi: 10.1186/ s12879-021-05945-8
- Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in COVID-19. JCI Insight (2020) 5(11): e138999. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.138999
- Barnes BJ, Adrover JM, Baxter-Stoltzfus A, Borczuk A, Cools-Lartigue J, Crawford JM, et al. Targeting Potential Drivers of COVID-19: Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. J Exp Med (2020) 217(6):e20200652. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20200652
- Golebiewska EM, Poole AW. Platelet Secretion: From Haemostasis to Wound Healing and Beyond. *Blood Rev* (2015) 29(3):153-62. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.10.003
- Skendros P, Mitsios A, Chrysanthopoulou A, Mastellos DC, Metallidis S, Rafailidis P, et al. Complement and Tissue Factor-Enriched Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Are Key Drivers in COVID-19 Immunothrombosis. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130(11):6151–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI141374
- Gu SX, Tyagi T, Jain K, Gu VW, Lee SH, Hwa JM, et al. Thrombocytopathy and Endotheliopathy: Crucial Contributors to COVID-19 Thromboinflammation. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2021) 18(3):194-209. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-00469-1
- Barrett TJ, Cornwell M, Myndzar K, Rolling CC, Xia Y, Drenkova K, et al. Platelets Amplify Endotheliopathy in COVID-19. *Sci Adv* (2021) 7(37): eabh2434. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abh2434
- Viemann D, Strey A, Janning A, Jurk K, Klimmek K, Vogl T, et al. Myeloid-Related Proteins 8 and 14 Induce a Specific Inflammatory Response in Human Microvascular Endothelial Cells. *Blood* (2005) 105(7):2955–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2520
- Wang Y, Fang C, Gao H, Bilodeau ML, Zhang Z, Croce K, et al. Platelet-Derived S100 Family Member Myeloid-Related Protein-14 Regulates Thrombosis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(5):2160–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI70966
- 93. Bye AP, Hoepel W, Mitchell JL, Jégouic S, Loureiro S, Sage T, et al. Aberrant Glycosylation of Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Spike IgG Is a Prothrombotic Stimulus for Platelets. *Blood* (2021) 138(16):1481–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021011871
- 94. Iffah R, Gavins FNE. Thromboinflammation in Coronavirus Disease 2019: The Clot Thickens. Br J Pharmacol (2021). doi: 10.1111/bph.15594
- Portier I, Campbell RA, Denorme F. Mechanisms of Immunothrombosis in COVID-19. Curr Opin Hematol (2021) 28(6):445–53. doi: 10.1097/ MOH.000000000000666
- 96. Bonaventura A, Vecchié A, Dagna L, Martinod K, Dixon DL, Van Tassell BW, et al. Endothelial Dysfunction and Immunothrombosis as Key Pathogenic Mechanisms in COVID-19. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2021) 21 (5):319–29. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00536-9
- 97. Piazza G, Morrow DA. Diagnosis, Management, and Pathophysiology of Arterial and Venous Thrombosis in COVID-19. *JAMA* (2020) 324 (24):2548–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.23422
- Mai J, Virtue A, Shen J, Wang H, Yang XF. An Evolving New Paradigm: Endothelial Cells–Conditional Innate Immune Cells. J Hematol Oncol (2013) 6:61. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-61
- Lei Y, Zhang J, Schiavon CR, He M, Chen L, Shen H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Impairs Endothelial Function *via* Downregulation of ACE 2. *Circ Res* (2021) 128(9):1323–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318902
- 100. Shen H, Zhang J, Wang C, Jain PP, Xiong M, Shi X, et al. MDM2-Mediated Ubiquitination of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 Contributes to the Development of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circulation* (2020) 142 (12):1190–204. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048191

- 101. Raghavan S, Kenchappa DB, Leo MD. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Induces Degradation of Junctional Proteins That Maintain Endothelial Barrier Integrity. Front Cardiovasc Med (2021) 8:687783. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2021.687783
- 102. Woodman PG. Biogenesis of the Sorting Endosome: The Role of Rab5. Traffic (2000) 1(9):695–701. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2000.010902.x
- 103. Chioh FW, Fong SW, Young BE, Wu KX, Siau A, Krishnan S, et al. Convalescent COVID-19 Patients Are Susceptible to Endothelial Dysfunction Due to Persistent Immune Activation. *Elife* (2021) 10:e64909. doi: 10.7554/eLife.64909
- 104. Yu J, Yuan X, Chen H, Chaturvedi S, Braunstein EM, Brodsky RA. Direct Activation of the Alternative Complement Pathway by SARS-CoV-2 Spike Proteins Is Blocked by Factor D Inhibition. *Blood* (2020) 136(18):2080–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008248
- 105. Ratajczak MZ, Bujko K, Ciechanowicz A, Sielatycka K, Cymer M, Marlicz W, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Entry Receptor ACE2 Is Expressed on Very Small CD45-Precursors of Hematopoietic and Endothelial Cells and in Response to Virus Spike Protein Activates the Nlrp3 Inflammasome. *Stem Cell Rev Rep* (2021) 17(1):266–77. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10010-z
- 106. Theobald SJ, Simonis A, Georgomanolis T, Kreer C, Zehner M, Eisfeld HS, et al. Long-Lived Macrophage Reprogramming Drives Spike Protein-Mediated Inflammasome Activation in COVID-19. *EMBO Mol Med* (2021) 13(8):e14150. doi: 10.15252/emmm.202114150
- 107. Xu H, Akinyemi IA, Chitre SA, Loeb JC, Lednicky JA, McIntosh MT, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Viroporin Encoded by ORF3a Triggers the NLRP3 Inflammatory Pathway. *Virology* (2022) 568:13–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.virol.2022.01.003
- 108. Bai B, Yang Y, Wang Q, Li M, Tian C, Liu Y, et al. NLRP3 Inflammasome in Endothelial Dysfunction. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(9):776. doi: 10.1038/ s41419-020-02985-x
- 109. Qian Y, Lei T, Patel PS, Lee CH, Monaghan-Nichols P, Xin HB, et al. Direct Activation of Endothelial Cells by SARS-CoV-2 Nucleocapsid Protein Is Blocked by Simvastatin. J Virol (2021) 95(23):e0139621. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.01396-21
- 110. Goshua G, Pine AB, Meizlish ML, Chang CH, Zhang H, Bahel P, et al. Endotheliopathy in COVID-19-Associated Coagulopathy: Evidence From a Single-Centre, Cross-Sectional Study. *Lancet Haematol* (2020) 7(8):e575–82. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30216-7
- 111. Al Otair H, AlSaleh K, AlQahtany FS, Al Ayed K, Al Ammar H, Al Mefgai N, et al. The Level of vWF Antigen and Coagulation Markers in Hospitalized Patients With Covid-19. J Blood Med (2021) 12:809–17. doi: 10.2147/ JBM.S318940
- 112. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial Cell Infection and Endotheliitis in COVID-19. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10234):1417–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5
- 113. Leucker TM, Osburn WO, Reventun P, Smith K, Claggett B, Kirwan BA, et al. Effect of Crizanlizumab, a P-Selectin Inhibitor, in COVID-19: A Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Trial. *JACC Basic Transl Sci* (2021) 6 (12):935–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2021.09.013
- Mackman N. New Insights Into the Mechanisms of Venous Thrombosis. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(7):2331–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI60229

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rossouw, Anderson, Manga and Feldman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrice Cognasse, U1059 SAnté INgéniérie BlOlogie (INSERM), France

Reviewed by:

Ashraf Siddig Yousif, Ragon Institute, United States Younes Zaid, Mohammed V University, Morocco

*Correspondence:

Charles S. Abrams abrams@pennmedicine.upenn.edu E. John Wherry wherry@pennmedicine.upenn.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]Members of the UPenn COVID Processing Unit can be found in the Acknowledgments

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 December 2021 Accepted: 07 February 2022 Published: 03 March 2022

Citation:

Apostolidis SA, Sarkar A, Giannini HM, Goel RR, Mathew D, Suzuki A, Baxter AE, Greenplate AR, Alanio C, Abdel-Hakeem M, Oldridge DA, Giles JR, Wu JE, Chen Z, Huang YJ, Belman J. Pattekar A. Manne S. Kuthuru O. Doughertv J. Weiderhold B, Weisman AR, Ittner CAG, Gouma S, Dunbar D, Frank I, Huang AC, Vella LA, The UPenn COVID Processing Unit, Reilly JP, Hensley SE, Rauova L, Zhao L. Mever NJ. Poncz M. Abrams CS and Wherry EJ (2022) Signaling Through FcyRIIA and the C5a-C5aR Pathway Mediate Platelet Hyperactivation in COVID-19. Front, Immunol, 13:834988. doi: 10.3389/fimmu 2022 834988

Signaling Through FcγRIIA and the C5a-C5aR Pathway Mediate Platelet Hyperactivation in COVID-19

Sokratis A. Apostolidis^{1,2}, Amrita Sarkar^{3†}, Heather M. Giannini^{4†}, Rishi R. Goel^{1†}, Divij Mathew^{1†}, Aae Suzuki⁵, Amy E. Baxter^{1,6}, Allison R. Greenplate^{1,7}, Cécile Alanio^{1,6,8}, Mohamed Abdel-Hakeem^{1,6}, Derek A. Oldridge^{1,9,10}, Josephine R. Giles^{1,6,8}, Jennifer E. Wu^{1,6,8}, Zeyu Chen^{1,6}, Yinghui Jane Huang^{1,6}, Jonathan Belman^{1,10}, Ajinkya Pattekar^{1,7}, Sasikanth Manne^{1,6}, Oliva Kuthuru^{1,6}, Jeanette Dougherty^{1,6}, Brittany Weiderhold⁵, Ariel R. Weisman⁴, Caroline A. G. Ittner⁴, Sigrid Gouma¹¹, Debora Dunbar¹², Ian Frank¹², Alexander C. Huang^{1,8,13}, Laura A. Vella^{1,14}, The UPenn COVID Processing Unit[‡], John P. Reilly⁴, Scott E. Hensley^{1,11}, Lubica Rauova^{3,15}, Liang Zhao⁵, Nuala J. Meyer⁴, Mortimer Poncz^{3,15}, Charles S. Abrams^{5*}

¹ Institute for Immunology, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ² Division of Rheumatology, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ³ Division of Hematology, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁴ Division of Pulmonary, Allergy and Critical Care Medicine, Center for Translational Lung Biology, Lung Biology Institute, Department of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁵ Department of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁶ Department of Systems Pharmacology and Translational Therapeutics, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁷ Immune HealthTM, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁸ Parker Institute for Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁹ Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹⁰ Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹¹ Department of Microbiology, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹² Division of Infectious Diseases, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹³ Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹⁴ Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ¹⁵ Department of Pediatrics, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Patients with COVID-19 present with a wide variety of clinical manifestations. Thromboembolic events constitute a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2. Severe COVID-19 has been associated with hyperinflammation and pre-existing cardiovascular disease. Platelets are important mediators and sensors of inflammation and are directly affected by cardiovascular stressors. In this report, we found that platelets from severely ill, hospitalized COVID-19 patients exhibited higher basal levels of activation measured by P-selectin surface expression and had poor functional reserve upon *in vitro* stimulation. To investigate this question in more detail, we developed an assay to assess the capacity of plasma from COVID-19 patients to activate platelets from healthy donors. Platelet activation was a common feature of plasma from COVID-19 patients and correlated with key measures of clinical outcome including kidney and liver injury, and APACHEIII scores. Further, we

identified ferritin as a pivotal clinical marker associated with platelet hyperactivation. The COVID-19 plasma-mediated effect on control platelets was highest for patients that subsequently developed inpatient thrombotic events. Proteomic analysis of plasma from COVID-19 patients identified key mediators of inflammation and cardiovascular disease that positively correlated with *in vitro* platelet activation. Mechanistically, blocking the signaling of the FcγRIIa-Syk and C5a-C5aR pathways on platelets, using antibody-mediated neutralization, IgG depletion or the Syk inhibitor fostamatinib, reversed this hyperactivity driven by COVID-19 plasma and prevented platelet aggregation in endothelial microfluidic chamber conditions. These data identified these potentially actionable pathways as central for platelet activation and/or vascular complications and clinical outcomes in COVID-19 patients. In conclusion, we reveal a key role of platelet-mediated immunothrombosis in COVID-19 and identify distinct, clinically relevant, targetable signaling pathways that mediate this effect.

Keywords: platelet, COVID - 19, FcyRIIa, complement, fostamatinib



INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has led to a global-scale pandemic creating an unprecedented burden on human health and public health processes (1). SARS-CoV-2 infected patients present with a wide spectrum of clinical presentations, ranging from asymptomatic infections to prolonged ICU stays accompanied by significant morbidity and mortality (2–4). Although Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) represents the hallmark of COVID-19 associated clinical manifestations, thrombotic events are enriched in patients with severe COVID-19 and have been linked to worse outcomes (3, 5– 8). Increased levels of d-dimer and platelet dysfunction are frequently observed in COVID-19 patients (9–13), indicating a loss of homeostasis in platelet function, vascular integrity and the coagulation cascade.

Platelets are anucleated megakaryocyte-derived blood cells that play a prominent role in hemostasis and thrombus formation (14). Beyond hemostasis, platelets represent cellular mediators of inflammation and interact with the immune system in multiple ways, including priming of other immune cells and integrating extrinsic immunological stimuli (15–17). Platelets express a variety of TLR receptors, express HLA class II for antigen presentation and respond to complement activation (15, 18, 19). In COVID-19, patients with severe disease often exhibit increased platelet activation and formation of platelet-monocyte aggregates facilitated by tissue factor expression on monocytes (13). RNA sequencing of platelets in COVID-19 patients has
revealed an altered transcriptional profile with enrichment in the pathways of antigen presentation, protein ubiquitination and mitochondrial dysfunction (12). Phenotypic analysis of platelets in COVID-19 demonstrated that platelets undergo a series of functional and biochemical changes most pronounced in patients with severe disease (20). In addition, SARS-CoV-2 has been shown to associate with (21) and bind ACE2 receptors on the platelet surface (22), whereas other studies have demonstrated that platelets can internalize SARS-CoV-2 virions in a process that contributes to their hyperactivated state (23). A candidate-driven genetic association study identified putative complement and coagulation-related loci associated with severe COVID-19 (24). Finally, unbiased pathway-enrichment analysis of circulating proteins in COVID-19 patients underscored platelet degranulation and complement activation as the top pathways associated with disease severity (25). Thus, platelets have key role not only in hemostasis but also in inflammatory processes, and platelet dysregulation is central to the pathogenesis and clinical outcomes in severe COVID-19 in many patients.

Despite the importance of platelets in thrombotic events in COVID-19 patients, how heightened platelet activation is linked to clinical features of disease and the associated underlying mechanisms remain poorly understood. These gaps in our understanding of platelet function and dysfunction during SARS-CoV-2 infection limit our ability to identify patients at risk of thromboembolic events and to treat vascular complications of COVID-19 including clots. Moreover, identifying the inflammatory effector molecules and pathways that underlie the activation and dysregulation of platelets in COVID-19 could reveal novel opportunities for therapeutic intervention. To address these questions, we examined platelets and the platelet-activating potential of plasma from severely ill, hospitalized COVID-19 patients. These studies revealed an increase in basal expression of the activation marker P-selectin on platelets from severe COVID-19 patients coupled with poor response to Thrombin Receptor Activation Peptide (TRAP) stimulation, indicating loss of functional reserve, compared to platelets from convalescent and healthy donors. COVID-19 patient plasma robustly activated healthy platelets from control donors and this platelet activating potential was highest prior to the precipitation of a thrombotic event. Correlation of platelet activation induced by COVID-19 plasma with clinical features collected during patient hospitalization revealed significant associations with ferritin levels and key measures of clinical outcome including kidney and liver injury, and APACHE III scores. Moreover, proteomic analysis identified central mediators of inflammation and cardiovascular homeostasis correlating with a platelet hyperactivated state consistent with a role for platelets linking inflammatory events to thrombotic pathology. Finally, we identified a key role for Fc receptor and complement signaling in platelet activation in COVID-19 because blockade of signaling through the FcyRIIa-Syk and the C5a-C5aR axis using antibody blockade, depletion of immunoglobulin from COVID-19 plasma or the FDA approved drug fostamatinib blocked activation of healthy platelets by COVID-19 plasma. Thus, these studies

identify a platelet hyperactive state associated with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection, define the underlying mechanisms, and have direct therapeutic implications for the prevention and treatment of thrombotic complications in patients with COVID-19.

RESULTS

Platelets From Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients Exhibit Increased Activation at Baseline and Poor Functional Reserve

COVID-19 is associated with heightened activation of platelets both at baseline and after pharmacologic stimulation in response to low doses of agonists (12, 13). We interrogated a cohort of hospitalized COVID-19 patients, a cohort of non-hospitalized COVID-19 recovered health care workers and a cohort of healthy control subjects recruited at the University of Pennsylvania Health System for which we had collected peripheral blood samples and clinical annotation (**Supplementary Table 1**) during the period of April to June of 2020 (26). The inpatient cohort spanned a range of severity scores with moderate and severe/critical scores being the most common. Most patients were treated in a high-acuity medicine floor or ICU setting and clinically manifested pneumonia with hypoxia.

CD62P (P-selectin) is bound to the membrane of α -granules within the cytoplasm of platelets, transported to the plasma membrane rapidly after activation and can be used as a marker of platelet activation. To evaluate the activation status of platelets from COVID-19 patients in our cohort, we assayed surface expression of CD62P directly ex vivo or after stimulation with TRAP that activates platelets via the thrombin receptor (Figure 1A). We compared CD62P surface expression in three separate groups: hospitalized COVID-19 patients (COVID-19 inpatient), patients previously infected with SARS-CoV-2 that recovered and reached convalescence (COVID-19 convalescent) and healthy donors. The COVID-19 inpatient group had higher expression of CD62P at baseline [median geometric mean fluorescence intensity (gMFI) 56.0] compared to the COVID-19 convalescent (median gMFI 45.2) or healthy donor (median gMFI 20.2) group (Figures 1A, B). Upon TRAP stimulation, CD62P expression increased for all three groups (Figures 1A, B). However, the ratio of TRAP/basal surface CD62P expression was highest for the healthy donor group (ratio 28.4), intermediate for the convalescent group (ratio 6.98) and lowest for the inpatient COVID19 group (ratio 5.77, Figure 1B). These results identify a heightened basal platelet activation state in hospitalized COVID-19 patients, but also demonstrate a reduced functional reserve in platelets from these patients revealed by ex vivo TRAP stimulation.

A causal link between cardiovascular disease and COVID-19 outcomes, including thrombotic complications, has been proposed previously (27–29) but how exactly such clinical events relate to platelet activation phenotypes is not clear. Thus, we first assessed CD62P expression, both basal and



FIGURE 1 | Platelets from hospitalized COVID-19 patients exhibit increased activation at baseline and diminished functional reserve. **(A, B)** Representative histograms **(A)** and cumulative data **(B)** for CD62P surface expression of *ex vivo* isolated platelets assayed with or without TRAP stimulation for 20mins. The CD62P gMFI ratio of TRAP/basal-treated is also shown. The three patient cohorts shown are COVID-19 inpatient (n=38), COVID-19 convalescent (n=23) and healthy donors (n=7). Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric testing was used to compare all three groups and pair-wise comparisons were also performed; *p*-values are depicted. **(C)** Cumulative data for CD62P surface expression of *ex vivo* isolated platelets at baseline (basal), after TRAP activation (TRAP) and their ratio for hospitalized COVID-19 patients on full-dose (n=10) or prophylactic/intermediate dose (n=13) of anticoagulation. Wilcoxon non-parametric testing was used and the *p*-values are depicted. **(D)** Cumulative data for CD62P surface expression of *ex vivo* isolated platelets at baseline for hospitalized COVID-19 patients with (n=31) or without (n=7) cardiovascular disease risk factors. Wilcoxon non-parametric testing was used, and the *p*-value is depicted. FMO control, Fluorescence minus one control; gMFI, geometric mean fluorescence intensity; TRAP, Thrombin Receptor Activation Peptide.

following TRAP stimulation, in hospitalized COVID-19 patients that exhibited clinically evident thrombosis. However, CD62P surface levels were similar between COVID-19 inpatients that had a clinical thrombus and those who did not (**Supplementary Figure 1**). COVID-19 hospitalized patients are placed on

different protocols of anticoagulation. In our cohort, several patients were on full-dose anticoagulation and others were on standard-of-care, prophylactic dose (or intermediate according to the inpatient protocol at the time of COVID-19 hospital care) anticoagulation. This distinction likely captures both the effect of

Platelet Hyperactivation in COVID-19

inpatient clotting incidents and pre-existing, underlying comorbidities, including pro-thrombotic states and cardiovascular etiologies, requiring anti-coagulation. We therefore used this distinction in anti-coagulant treatment to evaluate the CD62P results. This analysis revealed a significant increase in basal CD62P surface levels in patients on full-dose compared to those on prophylactic or intermediate dose anticoagulation (Figure 1C). Both groups, however, responded after TRAP stimulation by increasing CD62P MFI and although there was a trend for lower CD62P TRAP/basal ratio in the fulldose anticoagulation group, this difference did not reach statistical significance (Figure 1C). To address this question from a different perspective, we compared the platelet activation indicated by CD62P expression between subjects with and without cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors. COVID-19 patients with CVD risk displayed elevated basal CD62P expression on the plasma membrane of platelets compared to patients without CVD risks (Figure 1D). These data indicate that platelet activation in COVID-19 patients was higher in those patients on full-dose anticoagulation either due to an acquired in-hospital event or a pre-existing condition and was also associated with the presence of cardiovascular risk. Thus, defining the mechanisms and pathways contributing to the platelet activation may reveal insights into COVID-19 pathogenesis and thrombotic complications.

Plasma From Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients With High Inflammatory Index Causes Platelet Hyperactivation

COVID-19 can often manifest as a hyperinflammatory state. We, therefore, next investigated whether plasma from COVID-19 patients contained soluble mediators capable of activating platelets. To test this idea, we incubated plasma from COVID-19 patients with platelets from healthy donors and assessed platelet activation state. In addition to CD62P, we measured surface CD63 levels (also known as LAMP-3). Following response to an extracellular stimulus, platelets degranulate and during this process translocate the granule membrane bound protein CD63 to their plasma membrane, thereby allowing CD63 surface expression to be used as a marker of platelet activation. We also quantified Fcy receptor IIa (FcyRIIa, CD32), the only Fcy receptor on platelets, and C3aR to evaluate changes in these receptors that could underlie potential effects of immune complexes and/or anaphylatoxins on platelet activation. The control platelets were pre-gated as CD42b+ (GPIba+) single cells (for gating strategy see Supplementary Figure 2). Unlike our ex vivo analysis of platelets from COVID-19 patients, treatment of healthy platelets using plasma from COVID-19 patients did not induce higher CD62P expression than plasma from recovered or healthy donors (Figure 2A). In contrast, however, CD63 and CD32 were increased on control platelets following incubation with plasma from the COVID-19 inpatient group compared to platelets treated with plasma from the COVID-19 convalescent group (Figure 2A). C3aR levels also increased upon treatment with COVID-19 inpatient plasma when compared to the healthy donor plasma (Figure 2A).

The reasons for the differences in CD62P between direct *ex vivo* analysis of platelets from COVID-19 patients and induction of healthy platelet activation from plasma from COVID-19 patients may reflect a different kinetics after *in vivo* versus *in vitro* activation, or non-plasma-based activation signals for CD62P, such as those that occur when platelets interact with collagen in a damaged vessel wall. Nevertheless, these results demonstrate that plasma from COVID-19 patients preferentially activates platelets indicating that this assay can be used to further gain insights into pathways underlying platelet activation and/or dysfunction associated with COVID-19 disease.

The data in Figure 2A implicate factors circulating in the plasma from COVID-19 patients that mediate platelet activation. However, there was considerable within-group heterogeneity. We hypothesized that this variation in platelet activation could be explained at least partially by the clinical heterogeneity documented in COVID-19 patients (30-32). To test this idea, we correlated surface expression of CD62P, CD63, CD32 and C3aR with established clinical markers used for monitoring and decision-making during the hospitalization of high-acuity patients (Figure 2B). These clinically measured features of disease included markers of kidney injury (incident acute kidney injury, development of end-stage renal disease, creatinine and BUN blood levels), markers of liver injury (liver transaminases AST and ALT), cell counts (neutrophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, platelets), levels of d-dimer, ferritin, lactate and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). We also incorporated Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) III scoring in our analysis that affords prognostication and mortality prediction in the acute clinical setting. Analyzing these data together with platelet activation changes induced by plasma from COVID-19 patients revealed strong correlations among CD63, CD32 and C3aR, but not with CD62P (Figure 2B, top 4x4 square of correlations). Examining clinical features, CD63 correlated with higher levels of creatinine and BUN, both reflecting the development of kidney dysfunction. The presence of AKI, while correlating positively with CD63, did not reach nominal *p*-value significance, possibly due to the fact that AKI is exceedingly common in the ICU setting and creatinine/BUN provide a more dynamic range of kidney function. Higher levels of CD63 and C3aR correlated with AST [reaching nominal p value, but not our false discovery (FDR) cutoff of 0.05] that is used to monitor liver injury. Of the markers of inflammation and cellular stress, ferritin had the strongest positive correlation with the ability of plasma to activate platelets (Figures 2B, C). There was a statistically significant positive correlation between ferritin and CD63 or CD32 that also met our FDR cutoff (Figure 2B). CD32 correlated positively with LDH. Examination of cell counts revealed a strong negative correlation between platelet counts and CD62P (reaching both p value and FDR significance) and other correlations reached nominal p value, but not FDR significance (Figure 2B), consistent with previous studies (26). Finally, APACHE III scores positively correlated with CD63, indicating that plasma from patients with high disease severity had increased ability to activate platelets. Our findings indicate that clinical measures of disease severity and organ damage,



FIGURE 2 | The ability of COVID19 plasma to activate platelets is increased for patients with evidence of organ damage, high circulating levels of ferritin, and at timepoints preceding a thrombotic event. **(A)** Plasma from COVID-19 inpatient (n=63), COVID-19 convalescent (n=20) and healthy donors (n=9) was incubated with platelets isolated from healthy volunteers. The gMFI levels of CD63, CD62P, CD32 and C3aR are shown in these three groups. Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric testing was used to compare all three groups and pair-wise comparisons were also performed; *p*-values are depicted. **(B)** Spearman correlation of the gMFI surface levels of the markers used in **(A)** and selected clinical parameters of the COVID-19 inpatient group (n=63). Δ correlation coefficient shown on the key (bottom). Asterisks *, ** and **** denote p values less than 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Highlighted squares denote FDR values less than 0.05. **(C)** CD63 gMFI surface levels of control platelets induced by plasma derived from COVID-19 patients with thrombosis drawn at different timepoints relative to the thrombosic event. **(D)** CD63 gMFI surface levels of control platelets induced by plasma derived from COVID-19 patients prior to thrombosis and after thrombosis, COVID-19 patients without thrombosis and COVID-19 patients in convalescence. Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric testing was used to compare all four groups and pair-wise comparisons were also performed using Wilcoxon testing; *p*-values are depicted. **(E)** Representative scatter plots for creatinine vs CD63, platelet count vs CD62P and APACHE III score vs CD63. Samples are colored based on the absence (grey color) or presence of thrombosis relative to the time of draw (red before thrombosis and blue after thrombosis). The Spearman correlation co-efficient and the corresponding *p*-value are depicted.

such as kidney and liver injury, markers of inflammation and cellular stress, and cumulative disease score measures had high concordance with platelet hyperactivation.

The relationship between CD63, CD32, C3aR and clinical disease indicated by ferritin levels and organ damage biomarkers in the blood suggested that the platelet activation potential of plasma from COVID-19 patients might provide additional insights into disease pathogenesis. Thromboembolic events are associated with poor outcomes, cardiopulmonary collapse and mortality in high-severity SARS-CoV-2 infected patients (30, 33, 34). In a large metanalysis of 42 studies, thromboembolic risk was associated with higher mortality in COVID-19 patients (7). Platelets not only contribute to normal thrombus formation but in case of hyperactivation can precipitate spontaneous clotting in situ (35-38). Thus, we examined the COVID-19 patients who experienced a clinically evident thrombosis during their hospital stay. We subdivided the samples to those coming from patients who did not yet have a clotting incident at the time of the blood draw (but went on to develop one later in their hospital stay) and the ones that already had a clotting event at or before the time of the draw. Plotting CD63 levels of healthy platelets activated by plasma from COVID-19 patients revealed a potential relationship between platelet activation capacity and future thrombosis (Figure 2C). To further examine this potential relationship between platelet activation and thrombotic events, we compared CD63 induction by plasma from COVID-19 patients with future thrombotic events, patients with past thrombotic events, patients who never experience thrombotic complications and COVID-19 recovered patients (Figure 2D). Indeed, plasma obtained from patients prior to incident thrombotic events had the greatest capacity to induce CD63 on platelets from healthy donors compared to the other groups. Thus, platelet activation potential appears to be highest in COVID-19 patients prior to a clotting event. Samples that were drawn from patients that experienced incident thrombosis were among the ones with the highest levels of both platelet activation markers and biomarkers of clinical deterioration (Figure 2E and Supplementary Figure 2B), especially in the days leading to the thrombotic event. Additionally, we could identify clusters of patients that had their sample drawn after a thrombotic event with high creatinine levels and APACHEIII scores but intermediate CD63 levels, possibly indicating the clinical sequalae of the recent thrombosis (Figure 2E). Thus, the ability of a COVID-19 patient's plasma to activate platelets exogenously appears to be connected to clinical events, including future thrombotic events. This suggests that circulating factors within the plasma of COVID-19 patients might induce platelet activation, thrombosis, and other clinical outcomes.

COVID-19 Plasma-Induced Platelet Activation Is Associated With Markers of Inflammation and Cardiovascular Disease

To begin to interrogate the soluble mediators that may underlie the platelet activation ability of COVID-19 patient plasma, we performed Proximity Extension Assays (PEA) using the O-link platform. This analysis interrogated 274 analytes in the blood with a focus on cardiovascular, inflammatory and organ damage related processes. We examined which of these circulating inflammatory mediators correlated with the ability of COVID-19 plasma to induce CD63 expression on platelets from healthy donors. Indeed, the concentration of numerous proteins in circulation correlated with the induction of CD63 on platelets (Figure 3). The top proteins identified were mediators of inflammation, including IL-18, IL18BP, ADA, CCL15, and proteins involved in vascular and heart pathology, including VEGFA, NPPC and PCSK9 (Figure 3). There were also proteins suggesting neutrophil involvement such as NCF2, and potential indicators of nuclear content such as NBN, TOP2B, and EIF4EBP1 possibly consistent with release of neutrophil extracellular traps. It was notable that only positive correlations were revealed suggesting that, at least at this level of resolution, there were few if any counterregulatory pathways induced to maintain platelet quiescence. Individual positive correlations were examined more directly for CCL15, ADA, VEGFA and PCSK9 (Supplementary Figure 3). These findings further support the clinical metadata analysis described above (Figure 2) and establish the connection between increased platelet activation and circulating mediators of inflammation, neutrophil activity and/or indicators of cardiovascular disease and tissue damage in COVID-19.

FcγRIIa Activation and Complement Anaphylatoxins Mediate Platelet Activation in COVID-19

The protein analysis described above suggested a connection between the platelet activation potential of COVID-19 plasma with tissue damage, cardiovascular pathways and COVID-19 associated inflammation. Infection with SARS-CoV-2 elicits a complex immune response, characterized by patterns of cellular and soluble inflammatory mediators that may differ considerably from patient to patient (26, 39, 40). How features of this inflammatory response relate to activation of platelets is unclear, though several possibilities exist. Specifically, immune complex formation and pro-inflammatory Fcy structures have been implicated in the pathogenesis of severe COVID-19 (41-43) and platelets express FcyRIIa (15, 18, 44). In addition, platelets express complement receptors C3aR (18) and C5aR (45) and complement components, including anaphylatoxins, have roles in the inflammatory cascade during SARS-CoV-2 infection (24, 39, 40, 46). Finally, IL-6 is often elevated and has been evaluated as a therapeutic target in COVID-19 (47-51). IL-6 may have a role in activating platelets in other settings, including through membranebound gp130 (52). As shown above, surface abundance of CD32 (FcyRIIa) and of C3aR increases following platelet incubation with plasma derived from COVID-19 patients with a high inflammatory signature (Figures 2B, C). Thus, we hypothesized that Fc receptor signaling, IL-6 signaling and/or the signaling by the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a, might be causally involved in platelet activation by COVID-19 plasma. To test this hypothesis, we examined the effect of blocking each of these pathways on the ability of plasma from COVID-19 patients to activate platelets (Figure 4A and Supplementary Figure 4A). Blocking each



pathway individually inhibited platelet activation indicated by reduced induction of CD63, CD32, C3aR or CD62P. Blocking FcyRIIa had the strongest effect, followed by C5a neutralization whereas IL-6 and C3a blockade had the weakest effect and preferentially impacted CD62P and CD63, but not CD32 or C3aR (Figure 4A). However, blocking all 4 pathways simultaneously robustly decreased platelet activation indicated by all markers. This effect was more pronounced for samples from patients with higher ferritin (Supplementary Figure 4B). To evaluate how these distinct pathways might cooperate for platelet activation, we assessed different combinations of pathway blockade (Figure 4B). Although all pathways contributed to platelet activation indicated by CD63 induction, blockade of FcyRIIa appeared to have the most robust effect when combined with other blocking antibodies, especially in combination with anti-C5a and anti-C3a antibodies (Figure 4B). To further evaluate the role of FcyRIIa in platelet activation by COVID-19 plasma, we depleted IgG from the plasma samples prior to the platelet activation. IgG depletion reduced platelet activation by COVID-19 patient derived serum and this effect was accentuated further by neutralizing C5a (Figure 4C). Thus, these data indicate that the

ability of plasma from COVID-19 patients to activate platelets occurs, at least partially, through IgG-mediated activation of $Fc\gamma$ RIIa and this effect can be further augmented by signals from complement, including C5a.

Fostamatinib Ameliorates the Heightened Activation of Platelets Induced by COVID-19 Plasma

The FcγRIIa signals through recruitment and phosphorylationmediated activation of Syk (53, 54). To confirm and extend the observations described above, we next investigated whether Syk inhibition impacted platelet activation by plasma from COVID-19 patients. Fostamatinib is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that blocks the enzymatic activity of Syk and is clinically used for treatment of chronic immune thrombocytopenia (55). Syk phosphorylation was induced in as early as 1 minute following incubation of platelets from healthy donors with plasma from COVID-19 patients and increased further at 5 minutes compared to the effect of plasma from healthy control subjects (**Figure 5A**). We next assessed the impact of inhibiting Syk signaling on COVID-19 plasma mediated platelet activation. Addition of the



FIGURE 4 | FcyRIIa activation and complement anaphylatoxins mediate platelet activation in COVID-19. (A) Heatmap of gMFI expression of CD62P, CD63, CD32 and C3aR on the surface of control platelets incubated with COVID-19 plasma (n=10 patients) in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies to FcyRIIa, IL6, C3a and C5a, as indicated. (B) Boxplots of gMFI expression of CD63 on the surface of control platelets incubated with COVID-19 plasma (n=5 patients, depicted with distinct colors) with different combinations of neutralizing antibodies to FcyRIIa, IL6, C3a and C5a, as indicated. (C) Boxplots of gMFI expression of CD63 on the surface of control platelets incubated with COVID-19 plasma (n=5 patients, depicted with distinct colors) with different combinations of neutralizing antibodies to FcyRIIa, IL6, C3a and C5a, as indicated. (C) Boxplots of gMFI expression of CD63 on the surface of control platelets incubated with COVID-19 plasma (n = 9 patients, depicted with distinct colors) with different combinations of lgG depletion and neutralizing antibodies to C3a and C5a.

fostamatinib active metabolite R406 to the platelet assay described above decreased activation of healthy platelets by plasma from COVID-19 patients (**Supplementary Figure 5**). Addition of neutralizing antibodies to C3a and C5a did not further reduce platelet activation under these conditions suggesting a dominant role of Syk signaling in this setting. These data indicate a key role for antibody-mediated activation of platelets through $Fc\gamma$ RIIa and possibly also complement activation. Whether this effect is the result of immune complexes, only IgG or also other isotypes that result in complement activation will require future studies. Nevertheless, these data suggest potential clinical utility of Syk inhibition or drugs that block complement signaling at least in a subset of patients.

To further interrogate the prothrombotic potential of plasma from patients with COVID-19, we used a photochemical injury model in an endothelial-lined microfluidic channel. Induction of photochemical injury in this model results in activation of the endothelium with released von Willebrand factor (VWF) strands localized to the region of light exposure perfused with hematoporphyrin. We have previously described this approach in studies of platelet activation in the prothrombotic disorder of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (56). Plasma from either normal control subjects or from patients with severe COVID-19 (1/10 final dilution) was added to calcein-labeled platelets isolated from healthy donors and perfused over injured endothelial cells. Although some platelet adhesion to the extruded VWF was observed over the subsequent 15 minutes for the channels where healthy plasma was added, this effect was markedly enhanced in those channels with added COVID-19 plasma (Figures 5B-D). Pre-incubation of platelets with either Syk inhibitor or antibodies that neutralize FcyRIIa, or C5a largely abrogated this enhanced platelet aggregation (Figures 5B-D and Supplementary Table 2). These data are consistent with a role for both FcyRIIa and complement activation of the platelets by the COVID-19 plasma and highlight the connection between antibody mediated platelet activation and the potential to initiate vascular thrombotic events. Moreover, the identification of these pathways dependent on Syk signaling suggests potential therapeutic opportunities.

DISCUSSION

Platelets act as a cellular connection between the immune system and hemostasis, integrating signals from different immune cell subsets, soluble inflammatory mediators and the complement cascade. As a result, platelets have the capacity to link signals from exuberant immune responses to thrombotic complications. Severe COVID-19 results in loss of immune homeostasis either due to a suboptimal, albeit persistent, immune response to SARS-CoV-2 or due to immune system hyperactivation that is disproportionate to what is necessary for efficient virus elimination (57). The data presented here indicate that plasma samples derived from COVID-19 patients with a high inflammatory index and accumulated organ damage possess a robust ability to activate healthy platelets suggesting a link between infection-induced circulating mediators and potential thrombotic events. This connection was more apparent when evaluating platelet activation through the surface expression of the lysosomal marker CD63. Of note, lysosomal markers have



isolated platelet suspension was added and after 5, 10 and 15 minutes (log10 scale, fold change over healthy control plasma flown in uninjured channels). (D) All 7 sets of experiments from D are shown at the 10-minute timepoint.

previously been associated with both inflammation and thrombosis (58). Indeed, induction of platelet activation was the highest in samples drawn prior to a clotting incident, an observation that could have future clinical utility. Further, we were able to begin to identify pathways involved in platelet activation revealing a key role for IgG mediated $Fc\gamma$ RIIa signaling and complement, though other signals and pathways are also likely involved. Thus, our data define a key role for platelet activation potential of plasma from COVID-19 patients and link these observations to severity of the inflammatory state, clinical outcome measures, specific immunological pathways, potential thrombotic risk, and a pathway with clinical targeting opportunities.

Cardiovascular disease risk factors, including hyperlipidemia, hypertension and diabetes, have been recognized early in the pandemic as important determinants of COVID-19 outcomes (27–29). Our proteomics analysis revealed a correlation between mediators of cardiovascular health and platelet activation. Specifically, one of the most correlated proteins was VEGFA. Increased circulating VEGFA may point to an underlying strain to the cardiovascular system (59) in individuals with co-incident high levels of platelet activation. Correlation with other proteins of cardiovascular health, including NPPC (60, 61) and FABP9 (62), further support this hypothesis. Finally, among the highly correlated proteins was PCSK9 that has a central role not only in LDL metabolism (63–65) but has been shown to promote platelet activation (66) and can be found elevated in sepsis (67). As a result, our findings demonstrate a connection between platelet hyperactivation and elevated markers of cardiovascular dysregulation.

Complement activation and immune complexes that act through pro-inflammatory Fc structures have been linked to severe COVID-19 outcomes (41, 43, 68, 69). Inhibition of FcyRIIa signaling, either through receptor blockade, IgG depletion or Syk inhibition, substantially reduced the platelet hyperactivation induced by COVID-19 plasma. Fostamatinib has an FDA-approved indication as first-line treatment for chronic ITP (55). This drug has also been trialed in rheumatoid arthritis, albeit with modest effects (70). In this report, Syk inhibition using fostamatinib robustly blunted in vitro platelet activation induced by COVID-19 plasma. Not only do these data identify a potential mechanism of platelet activation in COVID-19 via antibody and/or immune complex mediated platelet Fc receptor signaling, but they also point to a therapeutic intervention opportunity in COVID-19 patients, especially those with a high risk for thrombotic complications. Indeed, fostamatinib is

currently being tested in a clinical trial in hospitalized COVID-19 patients (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04579393). A preliminary report posted by the manufacturer of fostamatinib suggested that Syk inhibition might protect against COVID-19 induced hypoxia. Although speculative at this stage, this information might indicate that Syk is required for the formation of pulmonary microthrombi reported in patients with COVID-19 induced hypoxia (37). In addition to Syk inhibition, inhibition of the Fc-mediated and/or complementmediated platelet activation could be achieved through other therapeutic modalities. For example, Fc-mediated platelet stimulation could be tempered by plasmapheresis of immune complexes from COVID-19 patients (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04374539). In addition, it may also be relevant that of the two complement anaphylatoxin receptors tested, C5a neutralization had the largest additive effect to Fc blockade reducing platelet hyperactivation. Blocking the C5a-C5aR axis with monoclonal antibodies against C5aR reduced the activation of human myeloid cells and lung injury in a human C5aR knockin mouse model (40). Eculizumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits the cleavage of C5 to C5a and C5b and previously approved for treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hematuria (71) and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome (72), is also currently in a clinical trial to investigate its efficacy in severe COVID-19 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04355494). Other potential complement pathway inhibitors also exist and are under investigation in COVID-19 patients. The current work may provide a deeper understanding of how these interventions function to prevent thromboembolic events, suggest biomarkers of drug efficacy and even potential drug combinations that may improve outcomes in particular groups of patients. Thus, our data identify the FcyRIIa-Syk and the C5a-C5aR axes as key mediators of platelet hyperactivity in COVID-19 and highlight the therapeutic potential of targeting these mechanisms in COVID-19 patients, especially those with high-thrombotic risk.

Finally, our findings provide a framework for additional plateletfocused studies. They establish the role of thromboinflammation in COVID-19, support the role of cardiovascular disequilibrium in platelet dysfunction and indicate that there are plasma soluble factors that drive platelet hyperactivation. Moreover, given the recent concerns about very rare venous thrombosis and thrombocytopenia following adenovirus-based SARS-CoV-2 vaccination (73–76), the studies described here might suggest approaches to evaluate underlying mechanisms for these events. Indeed, although further studies are necessary to examine the beneficial potential of restoring platelet function in COVID-19 patient outcomes, our studies highlight putative therapeutic candidates to address platelet-driven clotting complications of COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients, Subjects, and Clinical Data Collection

Patients admitted to the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania with a SARS-CoV-2 positive result were screened

and approached for informed consent within 3 days of hospitalization (COVID-19 inpatient group). Health care workers were recruited at the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania and received both a PCR test to assess for active infection and serologic testing for antibodies against SARS-CoV-2; all individuals included in this study were serologically convalescent and PCR negative (COVID-19 convalescent group). Healthy donors were recruited through word of mouth at the University of Pennsylvania and were adults with no prior diagnosis of or recent symptoms consistent with COVID-19. The sample size for all groups and experimental conditions is shown below:

- Experiments conducted on fresh platelet samples: COVID-19 inpatient (n=38), COVID-19 convalescent (n=23) and healthy donors (n=7)
- Experiments conducted using plasma samples: COVID-19 inpatient (n=63), COVID-19 convalescent (n=20) and healthy donors (n=9).

Peripheral blood was collected from all subjects. For inpatient cases, clinical data were abstracted from the electronic medical record into standardized case report forms. APACHE III scoring was based on data collected in the first 24 hours of ICU admission or the first 24 hours of hospital admission for subjects who remained in an inpatient unit. Acute kidney injury (AKI) represented incident acute kidney injury that occurred on days zero - five of ICU admission, defined according to the AKIN creatinine criteria. Eligible patients for this outcome were free of end stage renal disease at baseline (dialysis dependence, baseline creatinine > 4 mg/dL). Comorbidities including prior history of clotting (deep vein thrombosis (DVT), pulmonary embolism (PE), cerebrovascular accident (CVA), myocardial infarction (MI), or other thrombus) were collected prospectively based on the EMR. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors were considered present if patients had any of the following: diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, peripheral arterial disease, cerebrovascular disease, or known coronary artery disease. In-hospital clotting events were determined by EMR chart review and requiring a documented and date-stamped DVT, PE, CVA, MI, or other thrombus by duplex, echocardiogram, or contrast-enhanced imaging. Anticoagulation (AC) treatment at the time of research blood collection was recorded; "intermediate" dose AC was equivalent to enoxaparin 0.5 mg/kg subcutaneously twice daily in contrast to "prophylactic" dose enoxaparin of 0.5 mg/kg once daily. Clinical laboratory data were collected from the date closest to the date of research blood collection.

Sample Processing, Platelet Isolation and Activation

Peripheral blood was collected into sodium heparin tubes (BD, Cat#367874). For directly *ex vivo* assays, whole blood was diluted 10-fold with Tyrode's buffer and then used for stimulation assays with TRAP or vehicle in the presence of 50mM CaCl2. TRAP was added at a final concentration of 35uM for 15mins at 37°C. The activation was terminated by adding PBS/4% PFA for 20

mins. For *in vitro* activation assays of control platelets with COVID-19 plasma, healthy platelets were first isolated. Whole blood collected in citrate tubes was spun at 125g for 15 minutes and the supernatant was collected to isolate PRP (platelet rich plasma). PRP was spun at 330g for 10 minutes to collect pelleted platelets that were resuspended in 1x Tyrode's Buffer. Platelets were subsequently activated on a 96-well plate with 50uL of sodium heparin isolated plasma derived from COVID-19 patients or healthy volunteers.

Neutralization and Inhibition Assays

Neutralizing monoclonal antibodies against C3a (Biolegend, cat # 518105), C5a (R&D, cat # MAB2037-SP), IL-6 (Biolegend, cat # 501101) were used for the neutralization assays. Inhibition of activation of $Fc\gamma$ RIIa by human IgG/immune complexes was achieved with the use of Human TruStain FcX (Fc Receptor Blocking Solution, cat # 422302). IgG depletion from plasma was performed using the Albumin IgG Depletion Spintrap from Millipore-Sigma (cat # GE28-9480-20) based on the manufacturer's instructions. The active metabolite of fostamatinib R406 was purchased from Selleckchem (cat # S1533), dissolved in DMSO and used at a final concentration of 5 μ M.

Flow Cytometry and Antibody Clones

Antibodies used for staining of whole blood and platelets:

BD	Cat # 745929
BD	Cat # 551061
BD	Cat # 555524
Biolegend	Cat # 345808
Biolegend	Cat # 353030
	BD BD Biolegend

Samples were acquired on a 4 laser BD FACS LSR. Standardized SPHERO rainbow beads (Spherotech, Cat#RFP-30-5A) were used to track and adjust PMTs over time. UltraComp eBeads (ThermoFisher, Cat#01-2222-42) were used for compensation. Up to $1x10^5$ platelets were acquired per each sample.

Proximity Extension Assays and SARS-CoV-2 Serologic Testing

Proximity Extension Assays using plasma derived from COVID-19 patients were performed using the commercially available Olink protein biomarker platform. Specifically, three Olink Target 96 panels were used: Olink Target 96 Cardiovascular III, Olink Target 96 Inflammation and Olink Target 96 Organ Damage panel. SARS-CoV2- RBG IgG and IgM measurements were performed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) as previously described (77).

Platelet Aggregation on Photochemically-Injured Endothelium in a Microfluidic System

 6×10^{6} cells/channel of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs, ATCC- PCS-100-013) were seeded into the

fibronectin (50 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich cat. # F0895) coated channels of a 48-well microfluidic plate (Bioflux, Fluxion Biosciences) and then injured by flowing a 50ug/mL solution of hematoporphyrin (Sigma-Aldrich) with exposure to blue light using the HXP-120 C light source with 475-nm excitation and 530-nm emission filters as previously described (56). 200µL of platelet suspension (2x10⁶ platelets in HBSS^{Ca-Mg-}) from healthy donors was labelled with calcein-AM (2 µg/mL final concentration, ThermoFisher Scientific Cat # C3100MP) for 15 mins and then R406, Human TrueStain FcX or anti-C5a were added into the respective tube for a 15-minute incubation. 20µl of either healthy control or COVID-19 patient plasma (1:10 final dilution) was added just prior to being flowed through the channel at 10 dynes/cm². Platelet accumulation in the injured endothelium field was captured by Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 inverted microscope using Montage Fluxion software and analyzed using ImageJ as described (56).

Statistics

Pairwise correlations between variables were calculated and visualized as a correlogram using the R function *corrplot* (**Figure 2B**) displaying the positive correlations in red and negative correlations in blue. Spearman *p*-value significance levels were shown.

Due to the heterogeneity of clinical and flow cytometric data, non-parametric tests of association were preferentially used throughout this study unless otherwise specified. Correlation coefficients between ordered features (including discrete ordinal, continuous scale, or a mixture of the two) were quantified by the Spearman rank correlation coefficient and significance was assessed by the corresponding non-parametric methods (null hypothesis: $\rho = 0$). Tests of association between mixed continuous versus non-ordered categorical variables were performed by Wilcoxon test (for n = 2 categories) or by Kruskal-Wallis test (for n > 2 categories). All tests were performed two-sided, using a nominal significance threshold of p < 0.05 unless otherwise specified. When appropriate to adjust for multiple hypothesis testing, false discovery rate (FDR) correction was performed by the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure at the FDR < 0.05 significance threshold unless otherwise specified.

Other statistical analysis was performed using Prism software (GraphPad). Other details, if any, for each experiment are provided within the relevant figure legends.

Study Approval

All participants or their surrogates provided informed consent prior to participation in accordance with protocols approved by the regional ethical research boards and the Declaration of Helsinki.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the regional ethical research boards (University of Pennsylvania) and in accordance with protocols approved by the Declaration of Helsinki. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SA, CSA, and EW conceived the study. SA, AmS, HG, RG, DM, MA-H, and SG carried out experiments. SA, HG, AB, AG, CA, JW, ZC, YH, AP, OK, JD, AW, CI, DD, IF, AH, LV, JR, and NM were involved in clinical recruitment, sample allocation, processing and acquisition. All authors participated in data analysis and interpretation. SA, AmS, AaS, LR, LZ, MP, CSA, and EW wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH AI105343, AI08263, and the Allen Institute for Immunology (EW). The adult COVID-19 cohort was supported by NIH HL137006 and HL137915 (NM) and the UPenn Institute for Immunology. SA was supported by T32 AR076951-01 from NIH, the Allen Institute for Immunology and the Chen Family Research Fund. RG was supported through a Raffensperger 21st Century Scholar Award from the University of Pennsylvania. DM and JG were supported by T32 CA009140. HMG was supported by T32 HL007586-34 from NHLBI. ZC was funded by NIH grant CA234842. DO was funded by NHLBI R38 HL143613 and NCI T32 CA009140. JB was supported by T32 HL007775-19. LAV is funded by a Mentored Clinical Scientist Career Development Award from NIAID/NIH (K08 AI136660). AH

REFERENCES

- Yang J, Chen X, Deng X, Chen Z, Gong H, Yan H, et al. Disease Burden and Clinical Severity of the First Pandemic Wave of COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19238-2
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical Course and Risk Factors for Mortality of Adult Inpatients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Features of Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Stadlbauer D, Amanat F, Chromikova V, Jiang K, Strohmeier S, Arunkumar GA, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Seroconversion in Humans: A Detailed Protocol for a Serological Assay, Antigen Production, and Test Setup. *Curr Protoc Microbiol* (2020) 57:e100. doi: 10.1002/cpmc.100
- Middeldorp S, Coppens M, van Haaps TF, Foppen M, Vlaar AP, Müller MCA, et al. Incidence of Venous Thromboembolism in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18:1995–2002. doi: 10.1111/jth.14888

was funded by grant CA230157 from the NIH and the Tara Miller Foundation. JG is a Cancer Research Institute-Mark Foundation Fellow. MP and LR were supported by NIH R35 HL150698. CSA was supported by the US Public Health Service grants PO1 HL120846 and PO1 HL40387 from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NIH). JG, JW, CA, and EW are supported by the Parker Institute for Cancer Immunotherapy which supports the Cancer Immunology program at the University of Pennsylvania. We thank Jeffrey Lurie and Joel Embiid, Josh Harris, and David Blitzer for philanthropic support. The funders were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to sincerely thank patients and blood donors, their families and surrogates, and medical personnel. The UPenn COVID Processing Unit comprises individuals from diverse laboratories at the University of Pennsylvania who volunteered time and effort to enable study of COVID-19 patients during the pandemic: Sharon Adamski, Zahidul Alam, Mary M. Addison, Katelyn T. Byrne, Aditi Chandra, Hélène C. Descamps, Nicholas Han, Yaroslav Kaminskiy, Shane C. Kammerman, Justin Kim, Jacob T. Hamilton, Nune Markosyan, Julia Han Noll, Dalia K. Omran, Eric Perkey, Elizabeth M. Prager, Dana Pueschl, Austin Rennels, Jennifer B. Shah, Jake S. Shilan, Nils Wilhausen, Ashley N. Vanderbeck. All are affiliated with the University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 834988/full#supplementary-material

- Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers D, Kant KM, et al. Confirmation of the High Cumulative Incidence of Thrombotic Complications in Critically Ill ICU Patients With COVID-19: An Updated Analysis. *Thromb Res* (2020) 191:148–50. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres. 2020.04.041
- Malas MB, Naazie IN, Elsayed N, Mathlouthi A, Marmor R, Clary B. Thromboembolism Risk of COVID-19 Is High and Associated With a Higher Risk of Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *EClinicalMedicine* (2020) 29–30. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100639
- Katsoularis I, Fonseca-Rodríguez O, Farrington P, Lindmark K, Connolly A-MF. Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction and Ischaemic Stroke Following COVID-19 in Sweden: A Self-Controlled Case Series and Matched Cohort Study. *Lancet* (2021) 398:599–607. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00896-5
- Lippi G, Plebani M, Henry BM. Thrombocytopenia Is Associated With Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Infections: A Meta-Analysis. *Clin Chim Acta* (2020) 506:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.03.022
- Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal Coagulation Parameters Are Associated With Poor Prognosis in Patients With Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18:844–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.14768

- Yang X, Yang Q, Wang Y, Wu Y, Xu J, Yu Y, et al. Thrombocytopenia and Its Association With Mortality in Patients With COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18:1469–72. doi: 10.1111/jth.14848
- Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet Gene Expression and Function in Patients With COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214
- Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CRR, et al. Platelet Activation and Platelet-Monocyte Aggregate Formation Trigger Tissue Factor Expression in Patients With Severe COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252
- van der Meijden PEJ, Heemskerk JWM. Platelet Biology and Functions: New Concepts and Clinical Perspectives. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2019) 16:166–79. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0110-0
- Guo L, Rondina MT. The Era of Thromboinflammation: Platelets Are Dynamic Sensors and Effector Cells During Infectious Diseases. Front Immunol (2019) 10:2204. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02204
- Brass LF, Manning DR, Cichowski K, Abrams CS. Signaling Through G Proteins in Platelets: To the Integrins and Beyond. In: *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*. Thieme (1997). p. 581–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1657593
- Smyth SS, Mcever RP, Weyrich AS, Morrell CN, Hoffman MR, Arepally GM, et al. Platelet Functions Beyond Hemostasis. J Thromb Haemost (2009) 7:1759–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03586.x
- Mezger M, Nording H, Sauter R, Graf T, Heim C, von Bubnoff N, et al. Platelets and Immune Responses During Thromboinflammation. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01731
- Eriksson O, Mohlin C, Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN. The Human Platelet as an Innate Immune Cell: Interactions Between Activated Platelets and the Complement System. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1590. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01590
- 20. Ercan H, Schrottmaier WC, Pirabe A, Schmuckenschlager A, Pereyra D, Santol J, et al. Platelet Phenotype Analysis of COVID-19 Patients Reveals Progressive Changes in the Activation of Integrin α iib β 3, F13A1, the SARS-CoV-2 Target EIF4A1 and Annexin A5. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2021) 8:779073. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.779073
- Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets Can Associate With SARS-CoV-2 RNA and Are Hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703
- 22. Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Binds Platelet ACE2 to Enhance Thrombosis in COVID-19. *J Hematol Oncol* (2020) 13. doi: 10.1186/S13045-020-00954-7
- Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Tanriverdi K, Somasundaran M, Liu P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Initiates Programmed Cell Death in Platelets. *Circ Res* (2021) 129:631–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319117
- Ramlall V, Thangaraj PM, Meydan C, Foox J, Butler D, Kim J, et al. Immune Complement and Coagulation Dysfunction in Adverse Outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:1609–15. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1021-2
- Shu T, Ning W, Wu D, Xu J, Han Q, Huang M, et al. Plasma Proteomics Identify Biomarkers and Pathogenesis of COVID-19. *Immunity* (2020) 53:1108–1122.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.10.008
- Mathew D, Giles JR, Baxter AE, Oldridge DA, Greenplate AR, Wu JE, et al. Deep Immune Profiling of COVID-19 Patients Reveals Distinct Immunotypes With Therapeutic Implications. *Science (80-)* (2020) 369. doi: 10.1126/ SCIENCE.ABC8511
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc (2020) 323:1239–42. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2020.2648
- Stefan N, Birkenfeld AL, Schulze MB, Ludwig DS. Obesity and Impaired Metabolic Health in Patients With COVID-19. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2020) 16:341-2. doi: 10.1038/s41574-020-0364-6
- Choi GJ, Kim HM, Kang H. The Potential Role of Dyslipidemia in COVID-19 Severity: An Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews. J Lipid Atheroscler (2020) 9:435. doi: 10.12997/jla.2020.9.3.435
- Grasselli G, Tonetti T, Protti A, Langer T, Girardis M, Bellani G, et al. Pathophysiology of COVID-19-Associated Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: A Multicentre Prospective Observational Study. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8:1201–8. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30370-2

- Sinha P, Calfee CS, Cherian S, Brealey D, Cutler S, King C, et al. Prevalence of Phenotypes of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome in Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19: A Prospective Observational Study. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8:1209–18. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30366-0
- Ware LB. Physiological and Biological Heterogeneity in COVID-19-Associated Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8:1163–5. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30369-6
- Bilaloglu S, Aphinyanaphongs Y, Jones S, Iturrate E, Hochman J, Berger JS. Thrombosis in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in a New York City Health System. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc (2020) 324:799–801. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2020.13372
- Tan BK, Mainbourg S, Friggeri A, Bertoletti L, Douplat M, Dargaud Y, et al. Arterial and Venous Thromboembolism in COVID-19: A Study-Level Meta-Analysis. *Thorax* (2021) 76:970–9. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-215383
- Greinacher A. CLINICAL PRACTICE. Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med (2015) 373:252–61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1411910
- Tefferi A, Pardanani A. Essential Thrombocythemia. N Engl J Med (2019) 381:2135–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1816082
- Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary Vascular Endothelialitis, Thrombosis, and Angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2020) 383:120–8. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2015432
- Edelstein LC, Simon LM, Montoya RT, Holinstat M, Chen ES, Bergeron A, et al. Racial Differences in Human Platelet PAR4 Reactivity Reflect Expression of PCTP and miR-376c. Nat Med (2013) 19:1609–16. doi: 10.1038/nm.3385
- Skendros P, Mitsios A, Chrysanthopoulou A, Mastellos DC, Metallidis S, Rafailidis P, et al. Complement and Tissue Factor–Enriched Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Are Key Drivers in COVID-19 Immunothrombosis. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:6151–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI141374
- Carvelli J, Demaria O, Vély F, Batista L, Benmansour NC, Fares J, et al. Association of COVID-19 Inflammation With Activation of the C5a–C5aR1 Axis. *Nature* (2020) 588:146–50. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2600-6
- Gonzalez J, Edwards K, Chakraborty S, Mallajosyula V, Buzzanco AS, Sherwood R, et al. Proinflammatory IgG Fc Structures in Patients With Severe COVID-19. *Nat Immunol* (2021) 22(1):67–73. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00828-7
- Nazy I, Jevtic SD, Moore JC, Huynh A, Smith JW, Kelton JG, et al. Platelet Activating Immune Complexes Identified in COVID-19 Associated Coagulopathy. *medRxiv* (2020) 2020.11.04.20226076. doi: 10.1101/ 2020.11.04.20226076
- Bournazos S, Gupta A, Ravetch JV. The Role of IgG Fc Receptors in Antibody-Dependent Enhancement. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20:633–43. doi: 10.1038/ s41577-020-00410-0
- 44. Cognasse F, Laradi S, Berthelot P, Bourlet T, Marotte H, Mismetti P, et al. Platelet Inflammatory Response to Stress. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1478. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01478
- Patzelt J, Mueller KAL, Breuning S, Karathanos A, Schleicher R, Seizer P, et al. Expression of Anaphylatoxin Receptors on Platelets in Patients With Coronary Heart Disease. *Atherosclerosis* (2015) 238:289–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2014.12.002
- Aid M, Busman-Sahay K, Vidal SJ, Maliga Z, Bondoc S, Starke C, et al. Vascular Disease and Thrombosis in SARS-CoV-2-Infected Rhesus Macaques. *Cell* (2020) 183:1354–1366.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.10.005
- Biran N, Ip A, Ahn J, Go RC, Wang S, Mathura S, et al. Tocilizumab Among Patients With COVID-19 in the Intensive Care Unit: A Multicentre Observational Study. *Lancet Rheumatol* (2020) 2:e603–12. doi: 10.1016/S2665-9913(20)30277-0
- Tleyjeh IM, Kashour Z, Damlaj M, Riaz M, Tlayjeh H, Altannir M, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Tocilizumab in COVID-19 Patients: A Living Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2020) 27(2):215–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.10.036
- Campochiaro C, Della-Torre E, Cavalli G, De Luca G, Ripa M, Boffini N, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Tocilizumab in Severe COVID-19 Patients: A Single-Centre Retrospective Cohort Study. *Eur J Intern Med* (2020) 76:43–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.05.021
- Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ. COVID-19: Consider Cytokine Storm Syndromes and Immunosuppression. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1033–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0
- Chen LYC, Hoiland RL, Stukas S, Wellington CL, Sekhon MS. Confronting the Controversy: Interleukin-6 and the COVID-19 Cytokine Storm Syndrome. *Eur Respir J* (2020) 56. doi: 10.1183/13993003.03006-2020

- Marta RF, Goette NP, Lev PR, Chazarreta CD, Pirola CJ, Molinas FC. Normal Platelets Possess the Soluble Form of IL-6 Receptor. *Cytokine* (2005) 29:13–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2004.09.003
- 53. Kiefer F, Brumell J, Al-Alawi N, Latour S, Cheng A, Veillette A, et al. The Syk Protein Tyrosine Kinase Is Essential for Fcγ Receptor Signaling in Macrophages and Neutrophils. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18:4209-20. doi: 10.1128/mcb.18.7.4209
- Anania JC, Chenoweth AM, Wines BD, MarkHogarth P. The Human Fcγrii (CD32) Family of Leukocyte FCR in Health and Disease. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:464. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00464
- 55. Bussel J, Arnold DM, Grossbard E, Mayer J, Treliński J, Homenda W, et al. Fostamatinib for the Treatment of Adult Persistent and Chronic Immune Thrombocytopenia: Results of Two Phase 3, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trials. Am J Hematol (2018) 93:921–30. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25125
- Johnston I, Sarkar A, Hayes V, Koma GT, Arepally GM, Chen J, et al. Recognition of PF4-VWF Complexes by Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia Antibodies Contributes to Thrombus Propagation. *Blood* (2020) 135:1270–80. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD.2018881607
- Carvalho T, Krammer F, Iwasaki A. The First 12 Months of COVID-19: A Timeline of Immunological Insights. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2021) 21:245–56. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00522-1
- Min SH, Suzuki A, Stalker TJ, Zhao L, Wang Y, McKennan C, et al. Loss of PIKfyve in Platelets Causes a Lysosomal Disease Leading to Inflammation and Thrombosis in Mice. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:1–12. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms5691
- Khurana R, Simons M, Martin JF, Zachary IC. Role of Angiogenesis in Cardiovascular Disease: A Critical Appraisal. *Circulation* (2005) 112:1813–24. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.535294
- Prickett TC, Espiner E A. Circulating Products of C-Type Natriuretic Peptide and Links With Organ Function in Health and Disease. *Peptides* (2020) 132:170363. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2020.170363
- Song W, Wang H, Wu Q. Atrial Natriuretic Peptide in Cardiovascular Biology and Disease (NPPA). Gene (2015) 569:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2015.06.029
- Pérez-Sanz TM, de Luis DA. Fatty Acid Binding Proteins and Cardiovascular Risk. Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep (2013) 7:17–24. doi: 10.1007/s12170-012-0287-4
- Spolitu S, Dai W, Zadroga JA, Ozcan L. Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/ Kexin Type 9 and Lipid Metabolism. *Curr Opin Lipidol* (2019) 30:186–91. doi: 10.1097/MOL.000000000000001
- Abifadel M, Varret M, Rabès JP, Allard D, Ouguerram K, Devillers M, et al. Mutations in PCSK9 Cause Autosomal Dominant Hypercholesterolemia. *Nat Genet* (2003) 34:154–6. doi: 10.1038/ng1161
- Hadjiphilippou S, Ray KK. PCSK9 Inhibition and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: Does Reality Match the Hype? *Heart* (2017) 103:1670–9. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2016-310844
- Paciullo F, Momi S, Gresele P. PCSK9 in Haemostasis and Thrombosis: Possible Pleiotropic Effects of PCSK9 Inhibitors in Cardiovascular Prevention. *Thromb Haemost* (2019) 119:359–67. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1676863
- Boyd JH, Fjell CD, Russell JA, Sirounis D, Cirstea MS, Walley KR. Increased Plasma PCSK9 Levels Are Associated With Reduced Endotoxin Clearance and the Development of Acute Organ Failures During Sepsis. J Innate Immun (2016) 8:211–20. doi: 10.1159/000442976
- Holter JC, Pischke SE, de Boer E, Lind A, Jenum S, Holten AR, et al. Systemic Complement Activation is Associated With Respiratory Failure in COVID-19 Hospitalized Patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2020) 117:25018–25. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2010540117
- 69. Java A, Apicelli AJ, Kathryn Liszewski M, Coler-Reilly A, Atkinson JP, Kim AHJ, et al. The Complement System in COVID-19: Friend and Foe? JCI Insight (2020) 5. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.140711

- 70. Weinblatt ME, Genovese MC, Ho M, Hollis S, Rosiak-Jedrychowicz K, Kavanaugh A, et al. Effects of Fostamatinib, an Oral Spleen Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor, in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients With an Inadequate Response to Methotrexate: Results From a Phase Iii, Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66:3255–64. doi: 10.1002/art.38851
- Charles E, Parker J, Kar S, Kirkpatrick Eculizumab P. Eculizumab. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2007) 6:515–6. doi: 10.1038/nrd2369
- Keating GM. Eculizumab: A Review of Its Use in Atypical Haemolytic Uraemic Syndrome. Drugs (2013) 73:2053–66. doi: 10.1007/s40265-013-0147-7
- Cines DB, Bussel JB. SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(23):2254–6. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMe2106315
- 74. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 Ncov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(23):2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840
- Muir K-L, Kallam A, Koepsell SA, Gundabolu K. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After Ad26.COV2.S Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(20):1964–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2105869
- 76. Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT, et al. Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 Ncov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(23):2124–30. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2104882
- Anderson EM, Goodwin EC, Verma A, Arevalo CP, Bolton MJ, Weirick ME, et al. Seasonal Human Coronavirus Antibodies Are Boosted Upon SARS-CoV-2 Infection But Not Associated With Protection. *Cell* (2021) 184:1858– 1864.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.010

Conflict of Interest: SH has received consultancy fees from Sanofi Pasteur, Lumen, Novavax, and Merck for work unrelated to this report. AH is a consultant for Immunai. EW is consulting or is an advisor for Merck, Elstar, Janssen, Related Sciences, Synthekine and Surface Oncology. EW is a founder of Surface Oncology and Arsenal Biosciences. EW is an inventor on a patent (US Patent number 10,370,446) submitted by Emory University that covers the use of PD-1 blockade to treat infections and cancer.

NM reports funding to her institution from Quantum Leap Healthcare Collaborative, Athersys, Inc., Biomarck, Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Apostolidis, Sarkar, Giannini, Goel, Mathew, Suzuki, Baxter, Greenplate, Alanio, Abdel-Hakeem, Oldridge, Giles, Wu, Chen, Huang, Belman, Pattekar, Manne, Kuthuru, Dougherty, Weiderhold, Weisman, Ittner, Gouma, Dunbar, Frank, Huang, Vella, The UPenn COVID Processing Unit, Reilly, Hensley, Rauova, Zhao, Meyer, Poncz, Abrams and Wherry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein 1 Activates Microvascular Endothelial Cells and Complement System Leading to Platelet Aggregation

Luca Perico^{1†}, Marina Morigi^{1†}, Miriam Galbusera¹, Anna Pezzotta¹, Sara Gastoldi¹, Barbara Imberti¹, Annalisa Perna¹, Piero Ruggenenti^{1,2}, Roberta Donadelli¹, Ariela Benigni^{1*} and Giuseppe Remuzzi¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Olumayokun Olajide, University of Huddersfield, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Eleni Gavriilaki, G. Papanikolaou General Hospital, Greece Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Ariela Benigni ariela.benigni@marionegri.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 December 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 07 March 2022

Citation:

Perico L, Morigi M, Galbusera M, Pezzotta A, Gastoldi S, Imberti B, Perna A, Ruggenenti P, Donadelli R, Benigni A and Remuzzi G (2022) SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein 1 Activates Microvascular Endothelial Cells and Complement System Leading to Platelet Aggregation. Front. Immunol. 13:827146. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.827146 ¹ Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri IRCCS, Bergamo, Italy, ² Unit of Nephrology and Dialysis, Azienda Socio Sanitaria Territoriale (ASST) Papa Giovanni XXIII, Bergamo, Italy

Microvascular thrombosis is associated with multiorgan failure and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Although thrombotic complications may be ascribed to the ability of SARS-CoV-2 to infect and replicate in endothelial cells, it has been poorly investigated whether, in the complexity of viral infection in the human host, specific viral elements alone can induce endothelial damage. Detection of circulating spike protein in the sera of severe COVID-19 patients was evaluated by ELISA. In vitro experiments were performed on human microvascular endothelial cells from the derma and lung exposed to SARS-CoV-2-derived spike protein 1 (S1). The expression of adhesive molecules was studied by immunofluorescence and leukocyte adhesion and platelet aggregation were assessed under flow conditions. Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) and AMPK expression were investigated by Western Blot analysis. In addition, S1-treated endothelial cells were incubated with anti-ACE2 blocking antibody, AMPK agonist, or complement inhibitors. Our results show that significant levels of spike protein were found in the 30.4% of severe COVID-19 patients. In vitro, the activation of endothelial cells with S1 protein, via ACE2, impaired AMPK signalling, leading to robust leukocyte recruitment due to increased adhesive molecule expression and thrombomodulin loss. This S1-induced pro-inflammatory phenotype led to exuberant C3 and C5b-9 deposition on endothelial cells, along with C3a and C5a generation that further amplified S1-induced complement activation. Functional blockade of ACE2 or complement inhibition halted S1-induced platelet aggregates by limiting von Willebrand factor and P-selectin exocytosis and expression on endothelial cells. Overall, we demonstrate that SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 is sufficient in itself to propagate inflammatory and thrombogenic processes in the microvasculature, amplified by the complement system, recapitulating the thromboembolic complications of COVID-19.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2 spike protein 1, complement system, endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, thrombosis

INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, a novel coronavirus was isolated from the respiratory epithelium of patients with unexplained pneumonia in Wuhan, China. This pathogen, named Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), was identified as the causative agent of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). As of January 2022, over 375 million confirmed SARS-CoV-2 cases had been reported, claiming almost 5.7 million lives worldwide (1).

SARS-CoV-2 is a highly cytopathic virus that, like the other members of the *coronaviridae* family, induces epithelial cells to undergo apoptotic cell death as part of its replication cycle (2). Following SARS-CoV-2 infection in target cells (3, 4), the disease can manifest as a series of different clinical conditions, ranging from asymptomatic to life-threatening cases (5). For about 80% of patients, the infection is restricted to the proximal airways of the lungs, causing mild disease with modest symptoms (5). In about 20% of patients, SARS-CoV-2 infection can expand to the distal lung and rapidly deteriorate to a severe illness, characterised by bilateral interstitial pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and multi-organ damage with a high fatality rate (5).

Among the distinctive features of severe COVID-19, vascular abnormalities have been among the most frequently reported complications (6-8). There is growing evidence that SARS-CoV-2 induces endotheliitis and inflammatory cell infiltration in the lungs (7, 9). Following endothelial infection, loss of vessel barrier integrity and the development of a pro-coagulative endothelium have been identified as pivotal contributors to the initiation and propagation of ARDS (7, 9). Evidence of altered coagulation parameters during COVID-19 appeared in early reports from China, as revealed by elevated levels of partial thromboplastin time, prothrombin, D-dimer, and C-reactive protein in hospitalized patients (10). Similarly, autoptic studies in lung tissues found the presence of platelet-fibrin thrombi in small vessels associated with foci of alveolar hemorrhage (11, 12), suggesting that coagulopathy is critical for the outcome of COVID-19 (13-15). In this context, microvascular injury and thrombosis have also been shown to be associated with the activation of the complement system, as revealed by the presence of C3, C3a, C5a, and C5b-9 in the lungs and in the circulation of patients who succumbed to SARS-CoV-2 infection (16-19). In line with these findings, overt disseminated intravascular coagulation of small and large vessels (20), complement activation, and venous thromboembolic complications, in particular acute pulmonary embolisms (21-24), were identified as the pathogenic features of non-survivor COVID-19 patients.

Mechanistically, several data pointed to an immune system overreaction as the main driver of the disruption of the thromboresistant phenotype of the microvascular endothelium during SARS-CoV-2 infection (25). Additional findings also revealed that SARS-CoV-2 can induce vascular damage in the lungs by directly infecting endothelial cells. This hypothesis has been corroborated by electron microscopy and immunofluorescence analyses of postmortem tissue that showed that SARS-CoV-2 and viral particles can be detected in endothelial cells within the lungs (7, 9), although the clinical (26–28) and experimental data (29, 30) here are controversial. Spatially resolved SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected in the pulmonary endothelium through *in situ* hybridization (31), further suggesting potential viral replication in lung microvascular endothelial cells. Although with mixed results (32, 33), a recent study suggested that SARS-CoV-2 can be found in the circulation more abundantly than previously thought and that plasmatic viremia correlates with disease severity and mortality (34). Based on this finding, it is conceivable that endothelial cells are exposed to SARS-CoV-2 in severe COVID-19 patients.

Of all the SARS-CoV-2 components, the subunit 1 of the spike protein (S1) - which is generated following proteolysis by host proteases such as TMPRSS2 (35, 36) - has the ability to interact with different receptors on the human target cells, including angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), via the receptor-binding domain (RBD) and can induce specific cellular responses (35, 36). Numerous studies have demonstrated that endothelial cells express both ACE2 and TMPRSS2 (37-39), suggesting that the S1 protein potentially has an effect on endothelial cell activation and dysfunction, possibly leading to the engagement of pro-apoptotic pathways (40). In relation to this, the deposition of S1 protein has been documented in the cutaneous microvascular endothelium (41). In line with the above findings, it has also been shown that SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 protein, but not other structural proteins of the virus, can bind endothelial cells, inducing alterations in endothelial cell phenotype by enhancing the expression of cytokines, adhesive molecules and reactive oxygen species, as well as impairing cell permeability and metabolic functions (42-46). In addition, it has been shown that S1 can directly activate the alternative pathway of complement on the cell surface by interfering with Factor H function (47). Lastly, our group recently documented that exposing sera from severe COVID-19 patients to endothelial cells induced platelet aggregation via the engagement of C5a/C5aR1 axis (48).

The aim of this study is to investigate whether SARS-CoV-2derived S1 is in itself sufficient to alter the endothelial phenotype, leading to microvascular inflammatory response and thrombosis *via* activation of the complement system.

RESULTS

SARS-CoV-2-Derived Spike Protein Is Detectable in the Circulation of Patients With Severe COVID-19

We explored the presence of the spike protein in sera from uninfected subjects (n=9), mildly ill convalescent COVID-19 patients (n=9) and severely ill COVID-19 patients (n=23) with an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Patients' characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**.

None of the selected sera from uninfected subjects or mildly ill COVID-19 patients (0 out of 18; 0%) exhibited detectable levels of circulating spike protein. Conversely, we found that 30.4% (7 out of 23) of hospitalized COVID-19 patients with active disease had detectable levels of spike protein above the

	Overall (n=41)	Negative control (n=9)	Mild COVID-19 (n=9)	Severe COVID-19 (n=23)	p-value
Age (years)*	62.6 ± 14.5	58.9 ± 12.1 ^{a,b}	59.0 ± 19.0 ^c	65.5 ± 13.4	^a 0.210 <i>vs</i> Severe COVID-19 ^b 0.284 <i>vs</i> Mild COVID-19 ^c 0.988 <i>vs</i> Severe COVID-19
Male sex (%)	26 (63.4)	6 (66.7) ^{d,e}	5 (55.6) ^f	15 (65.2)	^d 0.938 <i>vs</i> Severe COVID-19 ^e 0.629 <i>vs</i> Mild COVID-19 ^f 0.612 <i>vs</i> Severe COVID-19

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of patients included in the study

*mean ± S.D.

The superscript refers to individual p-value of each parameter.

detection range of the assay. Individual levels of the spike protein in hospitalized patients' sera are reported in **Table 2**.

When hospitalized COVID-19 patients were divided according to positivity for spike protein in the serum, we found that the mean age of spike protein-positive patients was similar to that of spike-negative patients (Table 3). There were no differences between the sexes regarding the rate of spike protein positivity (Table 3). In contrast, there was a borderline significant difference (*p-value*=0.057) in the rate of SARS-CoV-2 RNA positivity when we used RT-real-time PCR on nasopharyngeal samples at the time of blood withdrawal (Table 3), suggesting that spike protein-positive patients still had detectable viral load at the time of hospitalization. This was further supported by the finding - though it was not statistically significant - that spike-positive patients tended to be admitted early after symptom onset compared to spike-negative subjects (Table 3). Our data are in line with previous findings showing that viral peak occurs early, 2-4 days after infection, while viral shedding is almost absent after 10 days (32, 49-51).

TABLE 2	Levels of the spike protein in the sera of hospitalized COVID-19 patients.

Patient	Age(years)	Gender	Spike protein levels*(ng/ml)
1	79	Female	45.51
2	60	Male	16.72
3	77	Male	9.43
4	78	Male	3.07
5	61	Female	2.94
6	49	Male	2.76
7	27	Male	2.73
8	76	Male	Negative
9	55	Male	Negative
10	63	Male	Negative
11	71	Male	Negative
12	66	Male	Negative
13	44	Female	Negative
14	69	Female	Negative
14	76	Male	Negative
16	67	Female	Negative
17	78	Male	Negative
18	77	Male	Negative
19	80	Female	Negative
20	76	Male	Negative
21	71	Male	Negative
22	56	Female	Negative
23	60	Female	Negative

*Assay sensitivity: > 2.7 ng/ml.

No comorbidities were found to be associated with a positive result in the detection of the spike protein (**Table 3**). While we found no differences in most of the clinical and biochemical parameters analysed, we observed a borderline difference (*p-value*=0.054) in the levels of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) found in spike-positive and -negative patients (**Table 3**), possibly reflecting increased, widespread tissue damage in spike-positive patients. When we measured circulating levels of C5a and sC5b-9, we found that COVID-19 patients had significantly increased levels of C5a and sC5b-9 compared to healthy subjects (C5a: 41.4 \pm 20.6 vs 7.6 \pm 2.2 ng/ml, *p-value*<0.0001; sC5b9: 1137 \pm 432 vs 205 \pm 59 ng/ml, *p-value*<0.0001). In spike-positive patients, we found significantly higher levels of circulating C5a compared to spike-negative patients (C5a: 60.4 \pm 11.8 vs 27.9 \pm 13.0 ng/ml; *p-value*=0.0013, **Table 3**).

We were not able to observe a statistical difference in the % of subjects experiencing thrombotic events between spike-positive and -negative patients when we analysed their medical records, although all thrombotic complications occurred in spikenegative subjects (**Table 3**). The explanation for this unexpected finding is that most spike-positive COVID-19 patients, unlike those who were spike-negative, were receiving anticoagulant treatments before hospital admission (**Table 3**), possibly counteracting the thrombogenic effect of SARS-CoV-2.

In line with a previous finding in a similar geographical area during the same time period (52), here we also found that thromboembolic complications, which occurred in 26.1% of severe COVID-19 cases, manifested at hospital admission, possibly suggesting that thrombosis is a hallmark feature of advanced disease. As for the outcome, we found no differences between the two groups regarding hospitalization length and death (**Table 3**).

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Binds Endothelial Cells and Alters Their Phenotype in a Dose-Dependent Manner

Having identified detectable levels of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein in the circulation of severe COVID-19 patients, we evaluated whether spike protein-derived S1 was in itself sufficient to alter endothelial cell phenotype.

First, we evaluated the effects of different S1 concentrations (53, 54) on human microvascular endothelial cell (HMEC-1) viability, which went from a concentration similar to that found in the sera of severe COVID-19 patients to higher concentrations used in previous studies (42, 47, 53, 54). As shown in **Figure 1A**,

	Overall (n=23)	Spike-negative (n=16)	Spike-positive (n=7)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)*	65.5 ± 13.4	67.2 ± 10.5	61.6 ± 19.0	0.368
Male sex (%)	15 (65.2)	10 (62.5)	5 (71.4)	0.146
Patients with positive RT-PCR at hospital admission (%)	16 (69.6)	9 (56.2)	7 (100)	0.057
Length from symptom onset to hospital admission (days)*	8.1 ± 4.1	9.1 ± 4.3	5.9 ± 2.6	0.084
Comorbidities				
Hypertension (%)	8 (47.8)	3 (50)	3 (42.9)	0.752
Cardiovascular (%)	6 (26.1)	4 (25)	2 (28.6)	0.857
Diabetes (%)	7 (30.4)	5 (31.3)	2 (28.6)	0.898
Obesity (%)	4 (17.4)	2 (12.5)	2 (28.5)	0.349
Clinical and biochemical parameters				
BMI (Kg/m ²)*	26.5 ± 4.0	26.2 ± 4.3	27.1 ± 4.1	0.747
WBC (cells/mL)*	9315 ± 3264	9106 ± 3494	9870 ± 2756	0.637
PLTs (cells/mL)*	255826 ± 140194	264938 ± 130483	235000 ± 670248	0.575
CRP (mg/dL)*	12.2 ± 8.6	11.3 ± 8.0	14.6 ± 10.4	0.426
LDH (U/L)*	451 ± 308	348 ± 120	627 ± 449	0.054
D-dimer (ng/mL)*	3065 ± 8089	4013 ± 9442	600 ± 345	0.439
PF (mmHg)*	148 ± 47	147 ± 53	151 ± 26	0.271
Complement components				
C5a (ng/ml)*	41.4 ± 20.6	27.9 ± 13.0	60.4 ± 11.8	0.001
sC5b-9 (ng/ml)*	1137 ± 432	987 ± 292	1347 ± 539	0.164
Patients receiving antithrombotic treatments before admission (%)	7 (30.4)	3 (18.7)	4 (57.1)	0.066
Hospitalization length (days)*	41.8 ± 33.7	46.8 ± 32.4	30.4 ± 36.3	0.293
Deaths (%)	7 (30.4)	5 (31.3)	2 (28.6)	0.898

*mean ± S.D.

BMI, body mass index; CRP, c-reactive protein; LDH, lactate dehydrogenases; PF, PaO2/FiO2 ratio; PLTs, platelets; WBC, white blood cell.

at the concentrations of 0.5 and 10 nM, S1 did not affect endothelial cell count after 24 h exposure, unlike when a concentration of 50 nM S1 was used, which markedly reduced cell vitality at 24 h. These findings were corroborated by data obtained with a crystal violet viability assay, showing a significant decrease in endothelial cell viability only after exposure to 50 nM S1 (**Supplementary Figure 1A**).

Having established the sub-toxic concentrations of S1, we elected to use 0.5 and 10 nM S1 in the subsequent experiments. First, we evaluated whether S1 can bind and activate endothelial cells. Through immunofluorescence analysis, we found a significant dose-dependent binding of the S1 protein on the apical surface of HMEC-1 treated with 0.5 and 10 nM S1 (Figure 1B). Then, we evaluated whether the binding of S1 could alter the phenotype of endothelial cells by analysing the expression of the pro-inflammatory adhesive molecule for leukocyte, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) (55), and the pro-thrombogenic protein von Willebrand factor (vWF) (56). We found that both S1 concentrations were able to significantly upregulate ICAM-1 protein expression (Figure 1C) in a dosedependent manner and enhance vWF deposition (Figure 1D). Given the critical thrombogenic role of vWF when shuttled from Weibel-Palade to the endothelial luminal surface (56), we elected to analyse its localization through a 3D reconstruction of z-stack slices acquired with confocal microscopy. In resting HMEC-1 costained with green cell tracker, we found that vWF was detectable in the cell cytoplasm, in contrast with 10 nM S1-activated endothelial cells, which exhibited remarkable vWF staining on the luminal surface (Supplementary Figure 1B), reflecting the ability of S1 to promote the release of vWF a key player in the formation of platelet adhesion and aggregation.

Collectively, these findings highlight a novel mechanism triggered by SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 alone that can propagate the pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic effects on the endothelium.

Given that we found detectable levels of the spike protein in the sera of hospitalized patients, it is conceivable that the total burden of circulating S1 on endothelial cells could be significantly higher in the early course of the disease. SARS-CoV-2 viral load peacks early after symptom onset, while it decreases at 10 days, when patients are usually hospitalized (32, 49–51). For this reason, we used the sub-toxic concentration of 10 nM S1 in subsequent experiments to mimic the prolonged exposure of endothelial cells to S1 that occurs during the early phase of COVID-19.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Induces Pro-Inflammatory and Pro-Thrombotic Responses in Endothelial Cells Through the Engagement of ACE2

Several reports have suggested that, among the different host cell receptors, ACE2 could be the key surface protein for SARS-CoV-2 binding and entry into endothelial cells (57). Thus, we first investigated whether HMEC-1 express ACE2 and whether S1 could affect its expression. As shown in **Figure 2A**, HMEC-1 constitutively express ACE2 protein which, however, was not modulated by exposure to 10 nM S1. This finding was also confirmed in Vero cells exposed to 10 nM S1, used here as a positive control (**Supplementary Figures 2A, B**).

Then, we explored whether S1 engagement with ACE2 was instrumental to the observed changes in endothelial cell phenotype. To this end, we studied whether the upregulation



value<0.001 vs CTR; ^{SSS}*p*-value<0.001 vs 0.5 nM S1; ^{oo}*p*-value<0.01, and ^{ooo}*p*-value<0.001 vs 10 nM S1. All the slides were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar 20 µm.

of adhesive and pro-thrombotic molecules induced by S1 was prevented by the inhibition of ACE2. In our setting, we observed that the upregulation of ICAM-1 induced by S1 was reduced significantly by the functional blocking antibody anti-ACE2 (ACE2) but not by an irrelevant (Irr) antibody (**Figure 2B**). Then, we studied P-selectin, an adhesive molecule that participates with ICAM-1 in endothelial cell/leukocyte interaction and in promoting pro-thrombotic processes (58, 59). We observed increased expression of P-selectin on the surface of S1-treated endothelial cells, which was inhibited significantly by ACE2 antibody (**Figure 2C**). Similarly, functional blockade of ACE2, but not an Irr Ab, significantly reduced vWF staining on the endothelial surface (**Figure 2D**). When we studied the expression of the endothelial adhesive molecule vitronectin receptor ($\alpha V\beta 3$), we found that S1 failed to modulate its expression on endothelial cells (**Supplementary Figure 3A**). Lastly, we investigated the expression of thrombomodulin, a glycoprotein that confers cytoprotective, anti-inflammatory and thromboresistant properties to endothelial cells (60, 61). We observed that S1 challenge significantly reduced thrombomodulin (CTR: 703 ± 35 *vs* 10 nM S1: 258 ± 22, pixel²/cell; **Supplementary Figure 3B**), which



FIGURE 2 | S1, through ACE2, upregulates adhesive molecules on HMEC-1 by impairing AMPK signalling. (A) Quantification and representative Western Blots of ACE2 protein expression in HMEC-1 exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM). GAPDH was used as a sample loading control. (B–D) Quantification and representative images of ICAM-1 expression [(B), red], P-selectin expression [(C), red], and vWF deposition [(D), red] on HMEC-1 incubated with medium alone (CTR) or with S1 (10 nM) in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 µg/ml) or Irr Ab (2 µg/ml). (E) Quantification and representative Western Blots of AMPK activation, evaluated as the ratio between the expression of pAMPK^{Thr172} and total AMPK in HMEC-1 exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM). (F, G) Quantification of ICAM-1 expression (F) and vWF deposition (G) on HMEC-1 incubated with medium alone (CTR) or with S1 (10 nM) in the presence of AMPK agonist AICAR (2 mM). All experiments were repeated at least 3 times. Data represent mean ± SEM and were analysed with unpaired t-test or Tukey's multiple comparison test, as appropriate. ***p-value*<0.001, and ****p-value*<0.001 vs CTR; ^{ooo}*p-value*<0.001 vs 10 nM S1; ^{###}*p-value*<0.001 vs 10 nM S1+Irr. All slides were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar 20 µm for (B, C) and 50 µm for (D).

was inhibited significantly by ACE2 functional blockade (10 nM S1+ACE2: 536 \pm 102 vs S1+Irr: 228 \pm 47, pixel²/cell; representative images are shown in **Supplementary Figure 3B**).

Taken together, these data suggest that S1, by targeting ACE2, plays a critical role in inducing the activation of the microvascular endothelium, driving the shift toward a pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic endothelial phenotype.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Impairs AMPK Signaling

To find the molecular mechanisms behind the phenotypic changes in microvascular endothelial cells that S1 induces, we investigated whether AMPK signaling is involved (42). As shown in **Figure 2E**, we observed a significant reduction in AMPK activity in HMEC-1 upon 10 nM S1 exposure, as revealed by the decreased ratio of phospho AMPK (pAMPK) and total AMPK by Western Blot analysis. Given that AMPK plays a major role in regulating the expression of adhesive molecules (62–64), we studied the effect of the AMPK agonist AICAR on S1-treated HMEC-1. In this setting, AICAR exerted a beneficial effect on endothelial cells by reducing the expression of ICAM-1 and vWF induced by S1 (**Figures 2F, G**, and **Supplementary Figure 4A, B**), providing direct evidence that AMPK signaling plays a protective role in mediating the endothelial cell response to the S1 protein.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Induces Endothelial Dysfunction, Leading to Aberrant Complement Activation *via* ACE2

Recent evidence suggests that the complement system may play a substantial role in promoting microvascular inflammation, which appears to contribute to the severity of COVID-19 (65-67). The finding that the upregulation of adhesive molecules, such as P-Selectin (58, 59), or the loss of thrombomodulin (59, 68), may drive the complement attack on the endothelium, prompted us to investigate whether S1 protein-induced endothelial dysfunction could modulate complement activation and deposition on the microvascular endothelium. To this end, we exposed HMEC-1 to S1 and then to human serum (HS) from a pool of healthy volunteers as a source of complement. As shown in Figure 3A, we observed massive C3 deposition on HMEC-1 exposed to 10 nM S1, compared to unstimulated cells. When endothelial cells were exposed to S1 in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab, there was a significant decrease in C3 staining, compared to the deposits observed on cells treated with an Irr Ab (Figure 3A), demonstrating that the S1/ACE2 axis plays a key role in mediating complement activation at the endothelial level. Pretreating human serum with complement C3 inhibitor compstatin led to a significant decrease in C3 staining that was comparable to that of unstimulated HMEC-1 (Figure 3A). A significant inhibitory effect was found in the presence of complement 1 inhibitor, which blocks the classical pathway (Figure 3A). Notably, blocking the endothelial C3a receptor with a specific antagonist led to a significant decrease in C3 deposits on endothelial cells, whereas C5a receptor blockade had no effect (Figure 3A).

In our assay, we also demonstrated that complement activation on HMEC-1 exposed to 10 nM S1 protein

proceeded to the formation of the terminal membrane attack C5b-9 complex, as shown in **Figure 3B**. The massive C5b-9 staining that had been observed on endothelial cells exposed to S1 protein was largely prevented by anti-ACE2 Ab but not by Irr Ab (**Figure 3B**). Blocking C3 activation with compstatin led to a profound inhibition of C5b-9 formation on the surface of HMEC-1 (**Figure 3B**). The partial effect of C1 inhibitor on C5b-9 staining was like that obtained on C3 deposits (**Figure 3B**). Blockade of the C3a and C5a receptors led to an inhibition of C5b-9 formation on HMEC-1 (**Figure 3B**).

Overall, these data indicate that endothelial dysfunction induced by SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 protein triggers exuberant complement deposition on activated microvascular endothelial cells and that the anaphylatoxins C3a and, to a lesser extent, C5a, further amplify the complex process of complement activation that fuels inflammation in response to S1.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Induces Endothelial Dysfunction, Promoting Leukocyte Adhesion *via* ACE2

To investigate the functional impact of the observed endothelial phenotypic changes, we first determined whether the activation of HMEC-1 promoted by S1 was instrumental to the recruitment of leukocytes under flow conditions. Exposure of HMEC-1 to 10 nM S1 markedly induced leukocyte adhesion on HMEC-1 in a parallel plate flow chamber (Figure 4A). This effect was like that obtained by a positive control such as Shiga Toxin 2 (Stx2, Supplementary Figure 5A). Data that the functional blocking antibody against ICAM-1 robustly reduced the number of adherent leukocytes (Supplementary Figure 5B) confirmed that the upregulation of ICAM-1 on S1-activated HMEC-1 was accountable for leukocyte stable adhesion. We also found that ACE2 affected the adhesive properties of S1-activated endothelial cells, as demonstrated by the significant decrease in leukocyte adhesion by ACE2 functional blocking antibody, unlike with the Irr antibody (Figure 4A). Pre-exposure of leukocytes to 10 nM S1 resulted in more adherent leukocytes on S1-treated HMEC-1 (Figure 4B). Co-staining of histone H3 citrullinated (citHH3, green) and neutrophil elastase (NE, red) revealed that neutrophils adhered to S1-treated HMEC-1 and were activated to release NE in extracellular traps (NETs, inset) when they were challenged with 10 nM S1 (Figure 4C, insets). No detectable NETs were found when unstimulated leukocytes were perfused on S1-activated HMEC-1 (Figure 4C, insets).

A recent study has suggested that aberrant complement activation during COVID-19 plays an important role in the activation of circulating neutrophils (65). Therefore, we proceeded to evaluate whether C3a generated during the S1induced C3 activation amplifies the process of leukocyteendothelial interaction induced by S1. Notably, we found that the number of adherent S1-treated leukocytes on S1-activated HMEC-1 rose significantly after endothelial exposure to C3a, compared to endothelial cells exposed to S1 alone (adhesion of S1-treated leukocytes on: 10 nM S1-treated HMEC-1, $35 \pm 2 vs$ 10 nM S1- and C3a-treated HMEC-1, 46 ± 2 , adherent leukocytes/mm²).



FIGURE 3 | S1 induces C3 and C5b-9 deposition on HMEC-1 by interacting with ACE2. (A) Quantification and representative images of C3 deposition (green) on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or to S1 (10 nM) in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 µg/ml) or the corresponding Irr Ab (2 µg/ml) and then incubated with human serum (HS, 50%) for 2h in the presence or in the absence of complement inhibitors (Compstatin, Comp; C1 inhibitor, C1inh; C3a receptor antagonist, C3aRa; C5a receptor antagonist, C5aRa). (B) Quantification and representative images of C5b-9 formation (green) on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM) in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 µg/ml) and then incubated with HS 50% in the presence or in the absence of complement inhibitors (Compstatin, Comp; C1 inhibitor, C1inh; C3a receptor antagonist, C3aRa; C5a receptor antagonist, C5aRa). (B) Quantification and representative images of C5b-9 formation (green) on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM) in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 µg/ml) or Irr Ab (2 µg/ml) and then incubated with HS 50% in the presence or in the absence of complement inhibitors (Comp, C1inh, C3aRa, and C5aRa). All experiments were repeated at least 3 times. Data represent mean ± SEM and were analysed with Tukey's multiple comparison test. **p-value*<0.05, and ****p-value*<0.001*vs* CTR; °*p-value*<0.01, and °°°*p-value*<0.001 *vs* 10 nM S1; ###*p-value*<0.001 *vs* 10 nM S1+Irr. All slides were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bars 50 µm.



bar 20 μ m.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Protein Induces Platelet Aggregates, Exacerbated by Complement Activation, on Microvascular Endothelial Cells

We then moved on to evaluating whether the endothelial dysfunction induced by the S1 protein also has functional relevance in disrupting the thromboresistant phenotype of the microvascular endothelium. To this end, we perfused heparinized whole blood on S1-activated HMEC-1 in a parallel plate flow chamber. Our data showed that 10 nM S1 exposure on HMEC-1 promoted significant platelet deposition and aggregation on the cell surface compared to unstimulated cells under flow (**Figure 5A**). The S1-induced platelet aggregate formation was comparable to that observed following Stx2

exposure (Stx2: 2277 \pm 129 pixel^/field), used as a positive control (69).

To demonstrate how complement activation contributes to amplifying S1-dependent platelet aggregation, S1-treated HMEC were exposed to HS as a source of complement. Here, we found that when perfused with whole blood under flow conditions (**Figures 5B, C**), HMEC-1 exposed to 10 nM S1 protein exhibited a more than 10-fold increase in the cell area covered by platelet aggregates compared to unstimulated cells. The addition of anti-ACE2 Ab during incubation with 10 nM S1 protein almost normalized platelet aggregate formation on the endothelial cell surface, which remained unaffected after the addition of Irr Ab (**Figures 5B, C**). The pivotal role of the complement system was demonstrated by the remarkable inhibition of platelet aggregation detected on 10 nM S1-treated HMEC-1 in the presence of HS incubated with C3 inhibitor compstatin, C3aR or C5aR antagonists, respectively (**Figures 5B, C**).

We then evaluated whether complement activation affects vWF deposition on HMEC-1. In this experimental setting, exposure of endothelial cells to 10 nM S1 and HS also induced a significant increase in vWF on the endothelial cell surface (**Figures 5D, E**). Conversely, the addition to HS of the C3 inhibitor compstatin, C3aR, or C5aR antagonists, significantly decreased vWF staining on HMEC-1 exposed to 10 nM S1 (**Figures 5D, E**).

Overall, these data indicate that S1 promotes a robust microvascular endothelial cell response, which is a determinant in the propagation of pro-inflammatory and thrombogenic processes both amplified by the activation of the complement system.

SARS-CoV-2-Derived S1 Activates Pulmonary Endothelial Cells to Express Adhesive and Pro-Thrombotic Molecules by Binding to ACE2

To provide proof-of-concept that the above mechanisms are also shared by microvascular endothelial cells in the lungs, we further studied the effect of S1 on the expression of ACE2, ICAM-1, vWF and AMPK signalling on primary human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (HPMECs). First, we found that S1 bound to the surface of HPMEC (Figure 6A). We confirmed that HPMEC constitutively express ACE2, whose expression was not affected by S1 challenge (Figure 6B). Notably, we found that HPMEC expressed ACE2 to a similar extent as Vero cells, used as a positive control, while they expressed higher ACE2 levels than HMEC-1 (Supplementary Figure 6). Exposure of HPMEC to S1 elicited a marked increase in ICAM-1 and vWF stainings, which were limited by the addition of ACE2 blocking antibody (Figures 6C, D). Lastly, we found that S1 impaired AMPK signalling (Figure 6E). The finding that AICAR prevented ICAM-1 and that vWF increased expression induced by S1 (Figures 6C, D) demonstrated that AMPK signalling plays a critical, protective role in HPMEC activation.

All these data suggest that S1 induced a robust response in HPMEC, even more than HMEC-1, and caused a loss in the thromboresistant phenotype *via* ACE2.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we describe a mechanism that has never been reported through which SARS-CoV-2-derived S1 protein alone induces a pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic phenotype of human microvascular endothelial cells of dermal and pulmonary origin, possibly recapitulating the systemic microvascular complications observed in severe COVID-19 cases.

The first finding of this study is that the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 can be found in the sera of patients with COVID-19. Indeed, using ELISA we found that spike protein is detected in at least 30% of hospitalized patients with severe disease. Although this assay cannot discriminate between intact SARS-CoV-2 virus and free spike protein, a recent study suggests that SARS-CoV-2 can be found in the circulation in a similar proportion (30-40%) of severe COVID-19 patients and that plasmatic viremia correlates with disease severity and mortality (34). Our finding that patients positive for plasmatic spike protein had a borderline significant increase in the rate of SARS-CoV-2 RNA positivity suggests that spike proteinpositive patients may have had a higher viral load at the time of hospitalization than spike protein-negative subjects. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that the presence of spike protein could be the result of systemic viral particle release during COVID-19. At this stage of the disease, elevated viremia could contribute to the diffusion of viral particles that may damage microvascular endothelial cells in the lungs and in more distal organs, leading to systemic thrombotic complications. In line with this possibility, a study in mice showed that circulating S1 could localise in the microvascular endothelium (54). Furthermore, a recent report documented that circulating nucleocapsid protein can be detected in the sera of COVID-19 positive subjects, particularly in those who remain negative for anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies, suggesting that systemic shedding of viral components likely occurs soon after infection (70). However, our serological analysis was performed on the sera of hospitalized patients, who are generally admitted to the hospital 10 days after symptom onset (32, 49-51). All available data regarding the kinetics in SARS-CoV-2 viral load reveal that the viraemic peak occurs early, 2-4 days after infection, and viral shedding is almost absent 10 days after infection (32, 49-51). In line with this finding, we found that patients positive for plasmatic spike protein tended to be admitted earlier after symptom onset. The presence of spike protein in the sera of hospitalized patients suggests that the total burden of circulating S1 on endothelial cells could be significantly higher early during COVID-19.

Based on our data and the available published studies, we can infer that, during the early phase of the infection, the lung microvasculature is the first target of SARS-CoV-2. Indeed, the high replication rate of the virus in lung epithelial cells could particularly affect the local microvascular endothelial cells lining the capillaries in the alveoli. In this phase, pulmonary embolism has been identified as the hallmark feature of microvascular thrombosis in severe COVID-19 cases (71, 72). As the disease progresses, sustained shedding of viral protein may target microvascular endothelial cells in organs distal to the lungs, possibly leading to systemic thrombotic complications (73).

Following these observations, here we investigated whether S1 protein could induce endothelial cell activation and dysfunction to understand the underlying mechanisms that may recapitulate the microvascular thrombotic complications observed in COVID-19. We provide data that S1 alone was able to activate human microvascular endothelial cells, thus promoting leukocyte adhesion. The ability of S1 to induce inflammatory cell recruitment on endothelial cells was the result of the upregulation of endothelial P-selectin and ICAM-1, which are



FIGURE 5 | S1 activates the complement system amplifying platelet aggregate formation on HMEC-1 through ACE2. (A) Quantification of platelet aggregate formation on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM). Platelets aggregates on HMEC-1 perfused with heparinised blood under flow conditions (60 dynes/cm²) were evaluated and expressed as pixels²/field analysed. (B, C) Quantification (B) and representative images (C) of platelet aggregate formation on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR), S1 (10 nM), or 10 nM S1 in the presence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 µg/ml) or the corresponding Irr Ab (2 µg/ml) and then incubated with 50% human serum (HS) for 2h. In selected samples, S1-treated HMEC-1 were incubated with 50% HS in the presence of complement inhibitors (Compstatin, Comp; C3a receptor antagonist, C3aRa; C5a receptor antagonist, C5aRa). Platelet aggregate formation on HMEC-1 under flow conditions (60 dynes/cm²) was quantified and expressed as pixel²/field analysed. (D, E) Quantification (D) and representative images (E) of vWF deposition on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM) and then incubated with 50% HS in the presence of complement inhibitors (Compstatin, Comp; C3a receptor antagonist, C3aRa; C5a receptor antagonist, C5aRa). Platelet aggregate formation on HMEC-1 under flow conditions (60 dynes/cm²) was quantified and expressed as pixel²/field analysed. (D, E) Quantification (D) and representative images (E) of vWF deposition on HMEC-1 pre-exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM) and then incubated with 50% HS in the presence of complement inhibitors (Comp, C3aRa, and C5aRa). All experiments were repeated at least 3 times. Data represent mean ± SEM and were analysed with unpaired t-test or Tukey's multiple comparison test, as appropriate. ***p*-value<0.01 vs CTR; °*p*-value<0.05, °°*p*-value<0.01, and °°^o*p*-value<0.001 vs 10 nM S1; ##*p*-value<0.01 and ###*p*-value<0.001 vs 10 nM S1; ##*p*-value<0.01 and ###*p*-value<0.001 vs 10



FIGURE 6 | S1, through ACE2, upregulates adhesive molecules on HPMEC by impairing AMPK signalling. (A) Quantification and representative images of the binding of the S1 protein (red) to HPMEC treated with medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM) for 24 h. (B) Quantification and representative Western Blots of ACE2 protein expression in HPMEC exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or S1 (10 nM). GAPDH was used as a sample loading control. (C, D) Quantification and representative images of ICAM-1 expression [(C), red], and WVF deposition [(D), red] on HPMEC incubated with medium alone (CTR) or with S1 (10 nM) in the presence or absence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 μg/ml) or AICAR (2 mM). (E) Quantification and representative Western Blots of AMPK activation, evaluated as the ratio between the expression of pAMPK^{Thr172} and total AMPK in HPMEC exposed for 24h to medium alone (CTR) or 10 nM S1. All experiments were repeated at least 3 times. Data represent mean ± SEM and were analysed with unpaired t-test or Tukey's multiple comparison test, as appropriate. **p-value*<0.05, and ****p-value*<0.001 *vs* CTR; °°*p-value*<0.01, and °°*p-value*<0.001 *vs* 10 nM S1. All slides were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar 50 μm.

known to be key players in the paradigm of rolling and stable adhesion of inflammatory cells on the endothelium (55).

To demonstrate that the S1 directly elicits cell signalling *via* interaction with its cognate receptor, we showed that the functional blockade of ACE2 was sufficient to inhibit S1-dependent increased endothelial adhesiveness to leukocytes. The hypothesis that ACE2 plays a fundamental role in S1-endothelial cell interaction is supported by the available data, which confirms that soluble human recombinant ACE2 halted SARS-CoV-2 infection in engineered human blood vessel organoids (74). However, we cannot rule out the possibility that other endothelial receptors, such as neuropilin-1 (75), dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (76), and CD147 (77) contribute to S1-induced endothelial cell injury.

Although it is important to consider that S1 can induce exocytosis from Weibel-Palade bodies, contributing to increased expression of P-selectin on endothelial cells, it is possible that the engagement of S1 with ACE2 activates endothelial gene transcription of P-selectin and ICAM-1. Our *in vitro* studies support this hypothesis because they clearly demonstrated that S1-ACE2 interaction impaired AMPK signalling, inducing an increase in the adhesive properties of endothelial cells. Indeed, AMPK inhibits NF- κ B (78), the main transcription factors involved in the expression of proinflammatory and adhesive proteins (79). Notably, the importance of AMPK signalling is a common feature of the microvascular endothelial cells of different origin.

Our data also revealed an additional mechanism through which S1 potentiates microvascular endothelial injury *via* the direct activation of neutrophils. Indeed, leukocytes challenged with S1 further increased their recruitment on S1-activated endothelial cells and promoted neutrophil NET release. The clinical relevance of our data rests on the findings that both the accumulation of neutrophils activated by SARS-CoV-2 (80), and the formation of NETs in damaged tissue are associated with a poor COVID-19 prognosis (81, 82). Collectively, our findings highlight that S1 plays a direct role in fuelling the process of inflammation in microvascular endothelial cells.

Exposing HMEC-1 to S1 significantly promoted the deposition of platelet aggregates under flow at high shear stress, which demonstrates that S1 directly affects the endothelial thromboresistant phenotype. This phenomenon was likely the result of the S1-induced alterations in the complex interplay between the surface expression of P-selectin and vWF, due to increased exocytosis. However, the contribution of blood-derived vWF should also be considered, as revealed by the lower level of vWF expression in the serum-free experimental setting. It is well known that endothelial P-selectin participates in the process of thrombosis by binding directly to platelets or by interacting with vWF, which further supports our data. At high shear stress, this latter fundamental adhesive substrate enables the deposition of platelets, tethering their GPIb and then $\alpha II\beta3$ receptors (56, 69).

Furthermore, the ability of S1 to induce the loss of thrombomodulin – a cofactor that prevents local fibrin formation and that is also an inhibitor of complement activation (59) – may amplify the thrombotic effects triggered by the viral protein. Considering that S1 was able to promote exocytosis in endothelial cells, the loss of thrombomodulin could be the result of its shedding by newly exposed proteases on the cell surface.

Our *in vitro* study highlights the direct role that S1-ACE2 interaction plays in engaging intracellular signalling, contributing to the impairment of vascular integrity and development of a pro-thrombotic state that may have pathophysiological implications in COVID-19.

Earlier studies have shown that alterations in the endothelial thromboresistant phenotype, including the overexpression of endothelial P-Selectin (58, 69) and the loss of thrombomodulin (59, 68), contribute to complement activation, which increases the risk of thrombosis. In line with these reports, we have provided evidence that S1 interaction with ACE2 led to marked C3 and C5b-9 deposition on endothelial cells, which was associated with increased formation of platelet aggregates. The complement system plays a major role in exacerbating this phenomenon, as confirmed by data that showed that the specific C3 inhibitor compstatin, as well as the inhibitors of C3a and C5a receptors, robustly inhibited platelet deposition on S1-activated endothelial cells. Furthermore, several pieces of evidence support the hypothesis that the terminal complement pathway plays a role in exacerbating the inflammatory reaction on the endothelium by promoting neutrophil and macrophage recruitment and their activation to generate an oxidative burst (83). Additionally, C3a and, to a lesser extent, C5a - generated following S1 exposure - were the key mediators in the amplification of the complement cascade and, together with C3, contributed to S1-dependent microvascular thrombosis. There is evidence that C3a and C5a, generated following complement activation, are driving factors in altering endothelial thromboresistance (59, 84, 85). Further proof-ofconcept that C5a has thrombogenic effects on endothelial cells comes from data showing that C5a inhibition halts the platelet aggregation induced by sera from severe COVID-19 patients, possibly through the exocytosis of vWF and P-selectin (48). Finally, data from the UK show that genetic predisposition to complement dysregulation is a risk factors for morbidity and death from SARS-CoV-2 infection, which indicates that hyperactivation of complement is a hallmark feature of the pathophysiology of severe COVID-19 (86, 87).

Based on the above, inhibiting the complement system could be a potential treatment for COVID-19 patients. A recent case report on a patient with ARDS due to COVID-19 pneumonia showed that treatment with a C3 inhibitor was safe and associated with a favourable outcome (88). Much larger case series have shown that the C5 inhibitor, eculizumab, and a MASP-2 inhibitor, narsoplimab, may have also some therapeutic efficacy (89–91).

Limitation of the study: one of the major limitations of our study is the small sample size of patients, which may affect the analysis outcomes. Additionally, the analysis of circulating spike protein was performed exclusively in serum from COVID-19 patients obtained at the time of hospital admission, making it impossible to study the early phase kinetics of circulating spike proteins, as well as the temporality of the thrombotic phenomena in COVID-19. Furthermore, these patients were in an advanced phase of the disease and thrombosis was mainly diagnosed based on the analysis of medical records. Additionally, thrombosis in COVID-19 is often difficult to detect, particularly in mechanically ventilated patients with severe pneumonia. Finally, the ELISA assay used to detect the spike protein in human sera cannot differentiate between intact SARS-CoV-2 virus and free spike protein.

In summary, our study documented that: 1) circulating spike protein can be found in severe COVID-19 patients; 2) S1 directly induced the activation of multifaceted deleterious processes that lead to endothelial cell dysfunction; 3) engagement of ACE2 by S1 is sufficient to alter the adhesive properties of microvascular endothelial cells by altering AMPK signalling, resulting in the recruitment of inflammatory cells; 4) the S1-induced inflammatory phenotype favours exuberant C3 and C5b-9 deposits on microvascular endothelial cells, and the generation of C3a and C5a further amplified the complement activation induced by S1; 5) all these events promote a loop of reciprocal activation, ultimately leading to increased platelet aggregates on microvascular endothelial cells.

Overall, these data provide novel insights that can help to identify more effective therapies to inhibit the complement system in patients with severe COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Statement

Sera from convalescent COVID-19 patients with mild disease or negative subjects were selected from a previous study by our group in the same geographical area and during the same period of time (92). These subjects were selected in order to obtain ageand sex-matched controls for the severe COVID-19 cases. Patients with severe COVID-19 who were admitted to the COVID Unit of the Azienda Socio Sanitaria Territoriale (ASST) Papa Giovanni XXIII hospital in Bergamo (Italy) between March and June 2020 because of severe respiratory distress due to COVID-19 diagnosed on the basis of the 19 March 2020 WHO Interim guidance criteria (93). Sera from severely ill COVID-19 patients were collected at hospital admission. The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Azienda Sanitaria Locale Bergamo, Italy. Written informed consent was obtained from all enrolled patients. All patients' characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

Detection of Spike Protein and Complement Components in Human Samples

To detect SARS-CoV-2 spike protein in human sera, the specific COVID-19 Spike Protein ELISA Kit (Abcam, ab274342) was used, following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, microwell plates were coated with SARS-CoV-2-derived spike antibody and incubated with human sera. Antigen detection was performed

by incubation with an anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike antibody, followed by streptavidin-HRP conjugate. Measurement of OD at 450 nm was performed on the multimode microplate reader TECAN Infinite M200[®] PRO.

Plasmatic levels of sC5b-9 and C5a were evaluated using MicroVue sC5b-9 Plus EIA (Quidel) and MicroVue C5a EIA (Quidel). Blood was collected in ice-cold EDTA tubes and immediately centrifuged at 4°C to avoid *ex vivo* complement activation. Plasma was quickly separated and frozen at -80°C until assay.

Endothelial Cell Cultures and Experimental Design

A large body of the literature reported the use of different types of immortalized endothelial cell lines to study SARS-CoV-2 infection (47, 94–96). We chose to study the human microvascular endothelial cell line of dermal origin (HMEC-1; RRID: CVCL_YJ39), obtained from Dr Edwin Ades and Francisco J. Candal (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention) and Dr Thomas Lawley from Emory University (97). Cells were cultured and validated as described previously (69). In our setting, HMEC-1, obtained from different batches, were used at low passages (max 20th) in order to retain all the endothelial functions during culture (69).

For cell viability studies, HMEC-1 were exposed to MCDB 131 medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 2% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS, Invitrogen) in the presence or absence of SARS-CoV-2-derived spike protein 1 (S1) at a concentration of 0.5 nM (37.5 ng/ml), 10 nM (750 ng/ml), and 50 nM (3750 ng/ml) for 24 h and then a cell count was performed. The S1 used for all the experiments is a commercially available recombinant SARS-CoV-2 S1 purified by metal ion affinity chromatography (230-01101, RayBiotech). The above range of concentrations was chosen on the basis of previous studies (47, 53, 54).

All the experimental designs are summarized in **Supplementary Figures 7A, B**. For the leukocyte adhesion assay, leukocyte suspensions were incubated for 1h with control medium or S1 (10 nM) before perfusion on unstimulated or S1-treated HMEC-1 (24 h, 10 nM). In selected experiments, HMEC-1 were incubated with S1 for 24 h in the presence of anti-ACE2 functional blocking antibody (Ab, 2 µg/ml, Adipogen, AG-20A-0037PF), anti-ICAM-1 functional blocking Ab (10 µg/ml, Merck, MAB2146), or the corresponding irrelevant (Irr) Ab (IgG mouse, Santa Cruz, sc2025) at the proper concentration (2 and 10 µg/ml) 1 h before S1 incubation (**Supplementary Figure 7A**). In additional experiments, HMEC-1 were incubated with 1 µM C3a (A118, Complement Technology; for 4 h) or 50 pM Shiga Toxin 2 (Stx2, for 24 h) – used here as a positive control (98) – before leukocyte perfusion.

For immunofluorescence studies, HMEC-1 were incubated for 24h with control medium or S1 (10 nM) in the presence or absence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 μ g/ml, Adipogen) or the corresponding Irr Ab (IgG mouse, Santa Cruz). In additional experiments, after 24 h incubation with control medium or S1, cells were exposed for 2 hours to a pool of human serum from healthy donors (HS) diluted 1:2 with test medium (HBSS with 0.5% BSA) in the presence or in the absence of compstatin (100

Microvascular Thrombosis in COVID-19

 μ M, Tocris bioscience, 2585/1) to block the complement component C3, or complement inhibitor 1 (36 μg/ml, Merck, SRP3318) to block the classical complement pathway. In this setting, the addition of a C3a receptor antagonist (1 μM, Merck, 559410) or a C5a receptor antagonist (10 μM, Merck, 234415) were tested (**Supplementary Figure 7B**). In additional samples, AMPK activator, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-β-Dribofuranoside (AICAR, Toronto Research Chemicals Inc, A611700) was used at a concentration of 2 mM.

For the analysis of vWF localization, HMEC-1 were stained with 1 μ M cell tracker green CMFDA (Life Technology, C7025) for 30 minutes at 37°C at the end of incubation with control medium or 10 nM S1.

For the platelet adhesion assay under flow conditions, HMEC-1 were incubated for 24h with control medium or S1 (10 nM) before blood perfusion. In additional experiments, after 24h of incubation with medium or S1, HMEC-1 were exposed for 2 hours to HS diluted 1:2 in the presence or in the absence of anti-ACE2 Ab (2 μ g/ml, Adipogen) or the corresponding Irr Ab (IgG mouse, Santa Cruz), or C3 inhibitor compstatin (100 μ M, Tocris bioscience). In this setting, a C3a receptor antagonist (1 μ M, Merck) or a C5a receptor antagonist (10 μ M, Merck) were also added in HS diluted 1:2.

Human primary pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (HPMEC; Lonza, CC-2527) were grown in EGMTM-2 MV Microvascular Endothelial Cell Growth Medium-2 BulletKitTM (Lonza, CC-3202) following the manufacturers' instructions. According to the manufacturer's validation, HPMEC express CD31/105, von Willebrand Factor VIII, are positive for acetylated low density lipoprotein uptake, and are PECAM positive. HPMEC were incubated with S1 at a concentration of 10 nM for 24h in the presence or absence of 2 µg/ml anti-ACE2 Ab or 2 mM AICAR.

As a positive control for the determination of S1 binding and ACE2 expression, Vero CCL-81 cells (ATCC, CCL-81; RRID: CVCL_0059) were cultured in Eagle's minimal essential medium (EMEM, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/ streptomycin (P/S, Invitrogen).

Crystal Violet Viability Assay

HMEC-1 were seeded 10000 cells/well in 96-well plates in MCDB 131 in the presence of 2% FCS and, when confluent, were exposed for 24 h to different concentrations of S1 (0.5 nM, 10 nM and 50 nM). At the end of incubation, cells were fixed and stained with 0.5% crystal violet in 20% methanol. The stain was eluted with a 1:1 solution of ethanol and 0.1M sodium citrate, the absorbance was measured at 595 nm on the multimode microplate reader (Victor3, 1420 Multilabel counter, PerkinElmer). Cell viability was evaluated as live cells stained with crystal violet after subtraction of baseline absorbance. Data are expressed as percentage of viable cells.

Leukocyte Adhesion Assay Under Physiologic Flow Conditions

Leukocytes were isolated from blood collected on EDTA (final concentration 5 mmol/L) as we previously described (98). For adhesion experiments, we used a parallel-plate flow chamber

connected to a perfusion system (98). HMEC-1 slides were flowed with leukocyte suspension (10⁶ cells/ml) with a shear stress of 1.5 dynes/cm² to reproduce the circulation of postcapillary venules for 10 minutes (98). Images of adhering leukocytes on the HMEC-1 surface were acquired during the perfusion experiments, digitized, and processed using Image J software. The number of adherent leukocytes was determined on a series of 16 consecutive images. Adherent leukocytes were identified and counted at the end of the 10 min perfusion (98).

Platelet Adhesion Assay Under Flow Conditions

Perfusion of heparinized whole blood (10 UI/ml) obtained from healthy subjects (prelabelled with the fluorescent dye mepacrine, 10 μ M) was performed in a flow chamber at 60 dynes/cm², as encountered in the microvasculature (59, 69). After 3 min of perfusion, the endothelial cell monolayer was fixed in acetone. Fifteen fields – systematically digitalized *per* sample of platelets, deposited along the endothelial surface – were acquired using an inverted confocal laser microscope (Leica TCS SP8, Leica Microsystems), and areas occupied by platelet aggregates were evaluated using Image J software and expressed as pixel² *per* field analysed. For each sample, after excluding the lowest and the highest value, the mean was calculated based on the remaining 13 fields.

Immunofluorescence Analysis

The slides were fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde (Società Italiana Chimici). After blocking, cells were incubated with the specific antibodies: mouse anti-SARS-CoV-2 RBD (1:1000, Abcam, ab277624), mouse anti-P-selectin (1:10, R&D Systems, BBA30), mouse-anti ICAM-1 (1:100, Merck, MAB2146), FITC-conjugated rabbit anti-C3c-complement (1:300, Dako, F0201), rabbit anti-complement C5b9 complex (1:200, Calbiochem, 204903), rabbit anti-vWF (10 μ g/ml, Dako, A0082), mouse anti-thrombomodulin (1:50, R&D Systems, MAB3947) followed by the corresponding secondary antibodies (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories). Nuclei were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Sigma-Aldrich). Digital images were acquired using an inverted confocal laser microscope (Leica TCS SP8) or ApoTome Axio Imager Z2 (Zeiss).

The quantification of S1 deposition on endothelial cells was performed by analysing 10 fields/sample using Image J software and expressed as the area covered by the fluorescence *per* cell number (pixel2/cell).

The quantification of endothelial P-selectin and ICAM-1 stainings was performed by analysing 10 fields/sample using Image J software and expressed as the area covered by the fluorescence *per* cell number (pixel²/cell).

For C3, and C5b-9, fifteen fields, systematically digitized along the surface, were acquired using a computer-based image analysis system. The area occupied by the fluorescent staining was evaluated by automatic edge detection, using built-in specific functions of Image J software and expressed as pixel² *per* field analysed. vWF was quantified as above and expressed as pixel² *per* cell. For each sample, after excluding the lowest and the highest values, the mean was calculated on the remaining 13 fields. NET formation, at the end of the leukocyte adhesion assay, was studied on HMEC-1 fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde, and permeabilised with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich, T8787). After blocking, cells were incubated with rabbit anti-Histone H3 (citrulline R2+R8 R17, 1:100, Abcam, ab5103) and mouse anti-Neutrophil Elastase (1:100, Abcam, ab254178), followed by the corresponding secondary antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI.

Protein Extraction and Western Blot Analysis

HMEC-1, Vero CCL-81, and HPMEC were sonicated in CelLytic M (Sigma-Aldrich, C2978) supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, P8340). Following centrifugation at 16000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C, lysates were collected and total protein concentration was determined using DC^{TM} assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories, 5000112).

Equal amounts of proteins (30 µg) were separated on 12% SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad Laboratories). After blocking with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) supplemented with 0.1% Tween-20, membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with the following antibodies: rabbit anti-ACE2 (1:1000; abcam, ab272500), rabbit anti-phospho AMPKa Thr172 (1:1000; Cell signaling, 2531), and rabbit anti-AMPK α (1:1000; Cell signaling, 2532). Mouse anti-GAPDH (1:5000; Origene Technologies, TA802519) was used as sample-loading control. The signals were visualised on an Odyssey[®]FC Imaging System (LiCor) by infrared (IR) fluorescence using a secondary goat anti-rabbit IRDye 680LT antibody (1:1000; LiCor, FE3680210) and a goat anti-mouse IRDye 800CW (1:1000; LiCor, FE30926210). Bands were quantified through densitometry using the Image Studio Lite 5.0 (LiCor) software.

Statistical Analysis

For studies in human subjects, data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or as number of patients (%). Comparisons of binary characteristics in positive *vs* negative participants were performed using the chi-squared test, while age and continuous levels were compared with unpaired t-test. All analyses were carried out using SAS (Version 9.4). All *p*-values were 2-sided.

For *in vitro* studies, all experiments were performed in at least three distinct biological samples (15 replicates for each sample). Data are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Data analysis was performed using Prism Software (GraphPad Software Inc). Comparisons were made using unpaired t-test or ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test, as appropriate. Normality assumption was verified with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Statistical significance was defined as *p-value*<0.05.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Azienda Sanitaria Locale Bergamo, Italy. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: LP and MM. Investigation, data curation, and formal analysis: LP, MM, MG, APez, SG, and BI. Clinical data analysis: APer and PR. Evaluation of plasmatic complement components: RD. Writing of the original draft: LP, MM, MG, and BI. Supervision and final approval: AB and GR. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The present study was supported by generous contributions from: Associazione Calcio Monza, Monza; Barabino Immobiliare, Milano; Brembomatic Pedrali, Pontirolo Nuovo, Bergamo; Fondazione Aiutiamoli a vivere, Ranica, Bergamo; Fondazione UBI Banca Popolare di Bergamo Onlus, Bergamo; GF-ELTI, Sovere, Bergamo; Mrs Mariella Guzzoni, Bergamo; Mrs Hazzazi Malika El, Milano; Mr Alberto Paccanelli, Bergamo; SMILAB Srl, San Pellegrino Terme, Bergamo; Mrs Paola Suardi, Bergamo. The funders had no role in study design, data collection or analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr Nadia Rubis from the Aldo e Cele Daccò Clinical Research Centre for Rare Diseases at the Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri IRCCS, Bergamo, for collecting and analysing the clinical data of COVID-19 patients. We also thank Dr Valentina Portalupi, Dr Federica Tomatis, Dr Diego Curtò from the Unit of Nephrology and Dialysis, Azienda Socio-Sanitaria Territoriale (ASST) Papa Giovanni XXIII, Bergamo, for providing sera from severe COVID-19 cases and clinical information. The authors are grateful to Kerstin Mierke for excellent editing work on the manuscript. LP is the recipient of a Career Development Programme from Fondazione Aiuti per la Ricerca sulle Malattie Rare (ARMR), Bergamo, Italy.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 827146/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- 1. COVID-19 Map. Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Centre. Available at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html (Accessed January 31, 2022).
- Tan Y, Lim SG, Hong W. Regulation of Cell Death During Infection by the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus and Other Coronaviruses. *Cell Microbiol* (2007) 9:2552–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.01034.x
- Ravindra NG, Alfajaro MM, Gasque V, Huston NC, Wan H, Szigeti-Buck K, et al. Single-Cell Longitudinal Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Human Airway Epithelium Identifies Target Cells, Alterations in Gene Expression, and Cell State Changes. *PloS Biol* (2021) 19:e3001143. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.3001143
- Mulay A, Konda B, Garcia G, Yao C, Beil S, Villalba JM, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Primary Human Lung Epithelium for COVID-19 Modeling and Drug Discovery. *Cell Rep* (2021) 35:109055. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109055
- Perico L, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Should COVID-19 Concern Nephrologists? Why and to What Extent? The Emerging Impasse of Angiotensin Blockade. *Nephron* (2020) 144:213–21. doi: 10.1159/000507305
- Teuwen LA, Geldhof V, Pasut A, Carmeliet P. COVID-19: The Vasculature Unleashed. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20:389–91. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0343-0
- Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary Vascular Endothelialitis, Thrombosis, and Angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2020) 383:120–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432
- Perico L, Benigni A, Casiraghi F, Ng LFP, Renia L, Remuzzi G. Immunity, Endothelial Injury and Complement-Induced Coagulopathy in COVID-19. Nat Rev Nephrol (2021) 17:46–64. doi: 10.1038/s41581-020-00357-4
- Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial Cell Infection and Endotheliitis in COVID-19. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1417–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical Course and Risk Factors for Mortality of Adult Inpatients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Lancet Lond Engl* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Fox SE, Akmatbekov A, Harbert JL, Li G, Brown JQ, Heide RSV. Pulmonary and Cardiac Pathology in Covid-19: The First Autopsy Series From New Orleans. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8:681–6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30243-5
- Carsana L, Sonzogni A, Nasr A, Rossi RS, Pellegrinelli A, Zerbi P, et al. Pulmonary Post-Mortem Findings in a Series of COVID-19 Cases From Northern Italy: A Two-Centre Descriptive Study. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2020) 20:1135–40. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30434-5
- 13. Porfidia A, Pola R. Venous Thromboembolism in COVID-19 Patients. *J Thromb Haemost* (2020) 18:1516–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.14842
- Zhu J, Ji P, Pang J, Zhong Z, Li H, He C, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 3062 COVID-19 Patients: A Meta-Analysis. J Med Virol (2020) 92:1902–14. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25884
- Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, Gong J, Li D, Sun Z. Anticoagulant Treatment is Associated With Decreased Mortality in Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 Patients With Coagulopathy. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18:1094–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14817
- Noris M, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. The Case of Complement Activation in COVID-19 Multiorgan Impact. *Kidney Int* (2020) 98:314–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.kint.2020.05.013
- Magro C, Mulvey JJ, Berlin D, Nuovo G, Salvatore S, Harp J, et al. Complement Associated Microvascular Injury and Thrombosis in the Pathogenesis of Severe COVID-19 Infection: A Report of Five Cases. *Transl Res J Lab Clin Med* (2020) 220:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2020.04.007
- Holter JC, Pischke SE, Boer E, Lind A, Jenum S, Holten AR, et al. Systemic Complement Activation is Associated With Respiratory Failure in COVID-19 Hospitalized Patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2020) 117:25018–25. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.2010540117
- Ma L, Sahu SK, Cano M, Kuppuswamy V, Bajwa J, McPhatter J, et al. Increased Complement Activation is a Distinctive Feature of Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Sci Immunol* (2021) 13:eabh2259. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.abh2259
- Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal Coagulation Parameters Are Associated With Poor Prognosis in Patients With Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost JTH (2020) 18:844–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.14768

- Danzi GB, Loffi M, Galeazzi G, Gherbesi E. Acute Pulmonary Embolism and COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Random Association? *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41:1858. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa254
- 22. Llitjos JF, Leclerc M, Chochois C, Monsallier J-M, Ramakers M, Auvray M, et al. High Incidence of Venous Thromboembolic Events in Anticoagulated Severe COVID-19 Patients. *J Thromb Haemost* (2020) 18:1743–6. doi: 10.1111/jth.14869
- Zuckier LS, Moadel RM, Haramati LB, Freeman L. Diagnostic Evaluation of Pulmonary Embolism During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Nucl Med (2020) 61:630–1. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.120.245571
- Beun R, Kusadasi N, Sikma M, Westerink J, Huisman A. Thromboembolic Events and Apparent Heparin Resistance in Patients Infected With SARS-CoV-2. Int J Lab Hematol (2020) 42:19–20. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13230
- Bonaventura A, Vecchié A, Dagna L, Martinod K, Dixon DL, Van Tassell BW, et al. Endothelial Dysfunction and Immunothrombosis as Key Pathogenic Mechanisms in COVID-19. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2021) 21:319–29. doi: 10.1038/ s41577-021-00536-9
- Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel A, et al. Electron Microscopy of SARS-CoV-2: A Challenging Task – Authors' Reply. *Lancet* (2020) 395:e100. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31185-5
- Miller SE, Goldsmith CS. Caution in Identifying Coronaviruses by Electron Microscopy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2020) 31:2223–4. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020050755
- Bernard I, Limonta D, Mahal LK, Hobman TC. Endothelium Infection and Dysregulation by SARS-CoV-2: Evidence and Caveats in COVID-19. *Viruses* (2020) 13:29. doi: 10.3390/v13010029
- Nascimento Conde J, Schutt WR, Gorbunova EE, Mackow ER. Recombinant ACE2 Expression Is Required for SARS-CoV-2 To Infect Primary Human Endothelial Cells and Induce Inflammatory and Procoagulative Responses. *mBio* (2020) 11:e03185-20. doi: 10.1128/mBio.03185-20
- McCracken IR, Saginc G, He L, Huseynov A, Daniels A, Fletcher S, et al. Lack of Evidence of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 Expression and Replicative Infection by SARS-CoV-2 in Human Endothelial Cells. *Circulation* (2021) 143:865–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.052824
- Ackermann M, Mentzer SJ, Jonigk D. Visualization of SARS-CoV-2 in the Lung. N Engl J Med (2020) 383:2689–90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2030450
- Wölfel R, Corman VM, Guggemos W, Seilmaier M, Zange S, Müller MA, et al. Virological Assessment of Hospitalized Patients With COVID-2019. *Nature* (2020) 581:465–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2196-x
- Wang W, Xu Y, Gao R, Lu R, Han K, Wu G, et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Different Types of Clinical Specimens. JAMA (2020) 323:1843-4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.3786
- Fajnzylber J, Regan J, Coxen K, Corry H, Wong C, Rosenthal A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load is Associated With Increased Disease Severity and Mortality. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:5493. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19057-5
- 35. Shang J, Wan Y, Luo C, Ye G, Geng Q, Auerbach A, et al. Cell Entry Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2020) 117:11727–34. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2003138117
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. *Cell* (2020) 181:271–80.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- 37. Zhang J, Dong J, Martin M, He M, Gongol B, Marin TL, et al. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylation of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 in Endothelium Mitigates Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2018) 198:509–20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201712-2570OC
- Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis MLC, Lely AT, Navis GJ, van Goor H. Tissue Distribution of ACE2 Protein, the Functional Receptor for SARS Coronavirus. A First Step in Understanding SARS Pathogenesis. J Pathol (2004) 203:631–7. doi: 10.1002/path.1570
- Zhao Y, Zhao Z, Wang Y, Zhou Y, Ma Y, Zuo W. Single-Cell RNA Expression Profiling of ACE2, the Receptor of SARS-CoV-2. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2020) 202:756–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202001-0179LE
- Chow KYC, Yeung YS, Hon CC, Zeng F, Law KM, Leung FCC. Adenovirus-Mediated Expression of the C-Terminal Domain of SARS-CoV Spike Protein is Sufficient to Induce Apoptosis in Vero E6 Cells. *FEBS Lett* (2005) 579:6699– 704. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.10.065
- Ko CJ, Harigopal M, Gehlhausen JR, Bosenberg M, McNiff JM, Damsky W. Discordant Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein and RNA Staining in Cutaneous

Perniotic Lesions Suggests Endothelial Deposition of Cleaved Spike Protein. *J Cutan Pathol* (2021) 48:47–52. doi: 10.1111/cup.13866

- Lei Y, Zhang J, Schiavon CR, He M, Chen L, Shen H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Impairs Endothelial Function *via* Downregulation of ACE 2. *Circ Res* (2021) 128:1323–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318902
- 43. Kim ES, Jeon MT, Kim KS, Lee S, Kim S, Kim DG. Spike Proteins of SARS-CoV-2 Induce Pathological Changes in Molecular Delivery and Metabolic Function in the Brain Endothelial Cells. *Viruses* (2021) 13:2021. doi: 10.3390/ v13102021
- Kumar N, Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Hunker KL, Knight JS, Kanthi Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein S1-Mediated Endothelial Injury and Pro-Inflammatory State Is Amplified by Dihydrotestosterone and Prevented by Mineralocorticoid Antagonism. *Viruses* (2021) 13:2209. doi: 10.3390/v13112209
- 45. Jana S, Heaven MR, Alayash AI. Cell-Free Hemoglobin Does Not Attenuate the Effects of SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein S1 Subunit in Pulmonary Endothelial Cells. Int J Mol Sci (2021) 22:9041. doi: 10.3390/ijms22169041
- Raghavan S, Kenchappa DB, Leo MD. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Induces Degradation of Junctional Proteins That Maintain Endothelial Barrier Integrity. Front Cardiovasc Med (2021) 8:687783. doi: 10.3389/ fcvm.2021.687783
- 47. Yu J, Yuan X, Chen H, Chaturvedi S, Braunstein EM, Brodsky RA. Direct Activation of the Alternative Complement Pathway by SARS-CoV-2 Spike Proteins is Blocked by Factor D Inhibition. *Blood* (2020) 136:2080–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008248
- Aiello S, Gastoldi S, Galbusera M, Ruggenenti PL, Portalupi V, Rota S, et al. C5a and C5aR1 Are Key Drivers of Microvascular Platelet Aggregation in Clinical Entities Spanning From aHUS to COVID-19. *Blood Adv* (2022) 6:866–81. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2021005246
- Cevik M, Kuppalli K, Kindrachuk J, Peiris M. Virology, Transmission, and Pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2. *BMJ* (2020) 371:m3862. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.m3862
- McGrath BA, Brenner MJ, Warrillow SJ, Pandian V, Arora A, Cameron TS, et al. Tracheostomy in the COVID-19 Era: Global and Multidisciplinary Guidance. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8:717–25. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20) 30230-7
- He X, Lau EHY, Wu P, Deng X, Wang J, Hao X, et al. Temporal Dynamics in Viral Shedding and Transmissibility of COVID-19. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:672–5. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0869-5
- Lodigiani C, Iapichino G, Carenzo L, Cecconi M, Ferrazzi P, Sebastian T, et al. Venous and Arterial Thromboembolic Complications in COVID-19 Patients Admitted to an Academic Hospital in Milan, Italy. *Thromb Res* (2020) 191:9– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.024
- Buzhdygan TP, DeOre BJ, Baldwin-Leclair A, McGary H, Razmpour R, Galie PA, et al. The SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Alters Barrier Function in 2D Static and 3D Microfluidic *In Vitro* Models of the Human Blood–Brain Barrier. *Neurobiol Dis* (2020) 146:105131. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2020.10513
- 54. Nuovo GJ, Magro C, Shaffer T, Awad H, Suster D, Mikhail S, et al. Endothelial Cell Damage is the Central Part of COVID-19 and a Mouse Model Induced by Injection of the S1 Subunit of the Spike Protein. Ann Diagn Pathol (2021) 51:151682. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2020.151682
- Bevilacqua MP. Endothelial-Leukocyte Adhesion Molecules. Annu Rev Immunol (1993) 11:767–804. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.004003
- Ruggeri ZM. The Role of Von Willebrand Factor in Thrombus Formation. *Thromb Res* (2007) 120(Suppl 1):S5–9. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2007.03.011
- Perico L, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2: From a Vasoactive Peptide to the Gatekeeper of a Global Pandemic. *Curr Opin* Nephrol Hypertens (2021) 30:252–63. doi: 10.1097/MNH.000000000000692
- Merle NS, Paule R, Leon J, Daugan M, Robe-Rybkine T, Poillerat V, et al. P-Selectin Drives Complement Attack on Endothelium During Intravascular Hemolysis in TLR-4/Heme-Dependent Manner. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2019) 116:6280–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1814797116
- Morigi M, Galbusera M, Gastoldi S, Locatelli M, Buelli S, Pezzotta A, et al. Alternative Pathway Activation of Complement by Shiga Toxin Promotes Exuberant C3a Formation That Triggers Microvascular Thrombosis. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:172–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100491
- Watanabe-Kusunoki K, Nakazawa D, Ishizu A, Atsumi T. Thrombomodulin as a Physiological Modulator of Intravascular Injury. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:575890. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.575890

- Kawamoto E, Nago N, Okamoto T, Gaowa A, Masui-Ito A, Sakakura Y, et al. Anti-Adhesive Effects of Human Soluble Thrombomodulin and Its Domains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2019) 511:312–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2019.02.041
- 62. Bai HB, Wang Y, Zhang YH, Zhang Y. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Activation Regulates Adhesion of Monocytes to Vascular Endothelial Cells and the Underlying Mechanism. *Sheng Li Xue Bao* (2016) 68:41–9.
- Thors B, Halldórsson H, Thorgeirsson G. eNOS Activation Mediated by AMPK After Stimulation of Endothelial Cells With Histamine or Thrombin is Dependent on LKB1. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1813:322–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbamcr.2010.12.001
- Fisslthaler B, Fleming I. Activation and Signaling by the AMP-Activated Protein Kinase in Endothelial Cells. *Circ Res* (2009) 105:114–27. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.109.201590
- 65. Skendros P, Mitsios A, Chrysanthopoulou A, Mastellos DC, Metallidis S, Rafailidis P, et al. Complement and Tissue Factor–Enriched Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Are Key Drivers in COVID-19 Immunothrombosis. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:6151–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI141374
- Song WC, FitzGerald GA. COVID-19, Microangiopathy, Hemostatic Activation, and Complement. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:3950–3. doi: 10.1172/ JCI140183
- Java A, Apicelli AJ, Liszewski MK, Coler-Reilly A, Atkinson JP, Kim AHJ, et al. The Complement System in COVID-19: Friend and Foe? *JCI Insight* (2020) 5:e140711. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.140711
- Delvaeye M, DeVriese A, Moons M, Esmon N, Esmon C, Conway EM. Regulation of Complement Activation by Thrombomodulin. *Blood* (2009) 114:5127–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V114.22.5127.5127
- 69. Morigi M, Galbusera M, Binda E, Imberti B, Gastoldi S, Remuzzi A, et al. Verotoxin-1-Induced Up-Regulation of Adhesive Molecules Renders Microvascular Endothelial Cells Thrombogenic at High Shear Stress. *Blood* (2001) 98:1828–35. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.6.1828
- Li T, Wang L, Wang H, Li X, Zhang S, Xu Y, et al. Serum SARS-COV-2 Nucleocapsid Protein: A Sensitivity and Specificity Early Diagnostic Marker for SARS-COV-2 Infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2020) 10:470. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00470
- 71. Jevnikar M, Sanchez O, Chocron R, Andronikof M, Raphael M, Meyrignac O, et al. Prevalence of Pulmonary Embolism in Patients With COVID 19 at the Time of Hospital Admission. *Eur Respir J* (2021) 58:2101033. doi: 10.1183/ 13993003.00116-2021
- Suh YJ, Hong H, Ohana M, Bompard F, Revel M-P, Valle C, et al. Pulmonary Embolism and Deep Vein Thrombosis in COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Radiology* (2021) 298:E70–80. doi: 10.1148/ radiol.2020203557
- Asakura H, Ogawa H. COVID-19-Associated Coagulopathy and Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation. *Int J Hematol* (2020) 113:45–57. doi: 10.1007/s12185-020-03029-y
- Monteil V, Kwon H, Prado P, Hagelkrüys A, Wimmer RA, Stahl M, et al. Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 Infections in Engineered Human Tissues Using Clinical-Grade Soluble Human Ace2. *Cell* (2020) 181:905–13.e7. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2020.04.004
- Cantuti-Castelvetri L, Ojha R, Pedro LD, Djannatian M, Franz J, Kuivanen S, et al. Neuropilin-1 Facilitates SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry and Infectivity. *Science* (2020) 370:856–60. doi: 10.1126/science.abd2985
- 76. Li Y, Zhang Z, Yang L, Lian X, Xie Y, Li S, et al. The MERS-CoV Receptor DPP4 as a Candidate Binding Target of the SARS-CoV-2 Spike. *iScience* (2020) 23:101160. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2020.101160
- Radzikowska U, Ding M, Tan G, Zhakparov D, Peng Y, Wawrzyniak P, et al. Distribution of ACE2, CD147, CD26, and Other SARS-CoV-2 Associated Molecules in Tissues and Immune Cells in Health and in Asthma, COPD, Obesity, Hypertension, and COVID-19 Risk Factors. *Allergy* (2020) 75:2829– 45. doi: 10.1111/all.14429
- Salminen A, Hyttinen JMT, Kaarniranta K. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Inhibits NF-κb Signaling and Inflammation: Impact on Healthspan and Lifespan. J Mol Med (2011) 89:667–76. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0748-0
- Morigi M, Angioletti S, Imberti B, Donadelli R, Micheletti G, Figliuzzi M, et al. Leukocyte-Endothelial Interaction Is Augmented by High Glucose Concentrations and Hyperglycemia in a NF-kB-Dependent Fashion. J Clin Invest (1998) 101:1905–15. doi: 10.1172/JCI656

- Zhao Y, Kuang M, Zhu L, Li J, Jia Z, Guo X, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Interacts With and Activates TLR4. *Cell Res* (2021) 31:818–20. doi: 10.1038/ s41422-021-00495-9
- Dupont A, Antoine R, Senna S, Mouhamed M, Mickael R, Delphine C, et al. Vascular Endothelial Damage in the Pathogenesis of Organ Injury in Severe COVID-19. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2021) 41:1760–73. doi: 10.1161/ ATVBAHA.120.315595
- Veras FP, Pontelli MC, Silva CM, Toller-Kawahisa JE, de Lima M, Nascimento DC, et al. SARS-CoV-2–Triggered Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Mediate COVID-19 Pathology. J Exp Med (2020) 217:e20201129. doi: 10.1084/jem.20201129
- Ohta R, Torii Y, Imai M, Kimura H, Okada N, Ito Y. Serum Concentrations of Complement Anaphylatoxins and Proinflammatory Mediators in Patients With 2009 H1N1 Influenza. *Microbiol Immunol* (2011) 55:191–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2011.00309.x
- Foreman KE, Vaporciyan AA, Bonish BK, Jones ML, Johnson KJ, Glovsky MM, et al. C5a-Induced Expression of P-Selectin in Endothelial Cells. J Clin Invest (1994) 94:1147–55. doi: 10.1172/JCI117430
- Bettoni S, Galbusera M, Gastoldi S, Donadelli R, Tentori C, Spartà G, et al. Interaction Between Multimeric Von Willebrand Factor and Complement: A Fresh Look to the Pathophysiology of Microvascular Thrombosis. *J Immunol* (2017) 199:1021–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601121
- Afzali B, Noris M, Lambrecht BN, Kemper C. The State of Complement in COVID-19. Nat Rev Immunol (2022) 22:77–84. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00665-1
- Ramlall V, Thangaraj PM, Meydan C, Foox J, Butler D, Kim J, et al. Immune Complement and Coagulation Dysfunction in Adverse Outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:1609–15. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1021-2
- Mastaglio S, Ruggeri A, Risitano AM, Angelillo P, Yancopoulou D, Mastellos DC, et al. The First Case of COVID-19 Treated With the Complement C3 Inhibitor AMY-101. *Clin Immunol* (2020) 215:108450. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2020.108450
- Ruggenenti P, Marco FD, Cortinovis M, Lorini L, Sala S, Novelli L, et al. Eculizumab in Patients With Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Requiring Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Ventilator Support: Retrospective Cohort Study. *PloS One* (2021) 16:e0261113. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0261113
- Annane D, Heming N, Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Frémeaux-Bacchi V, Vigan M, Roux A-L, et al. Eculizumab as an Emergency Treatment for Adult Patients With Severe COVID-19 in the Intensive Care Unit: A Proof-of-Concept Study. *EClinicalMedicine* (2020) 28:100590. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100590
- Rambaldi A, Gritti G, Micò MC, Frigeni M, Borleri G, Salvi A, et al. Endothelial Injury and Thrombotic Microangiopathy in COVID-19: Treatment With the Lectin-Pathway Inhibitor Narsoplimab. *Immunobiology* (2020) 225:152001. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2020.152001

- Perico L, Tomasoni S, Peracchi T, Perna A, Pezzotta A, Remuzzi G, et al. COVID-19 and Lombardy: TESTing the Impact of the First Wave of the Pandemic. *EBioMedicine* (2020) 61:103069. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.103069
- Laboratory Testing for 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-Ncov) in Suspected Human Cases. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications-detailredirect/10665-331501 (Accessed January 31, 2022).
- Meyer K, Patra T, Vijayamahantesh, Ray R. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Induces Paracrine Senescence and Leukocyte Adhesion in Endothelial Cells. *J Virol* (2021) 95:e00794–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00794-21
- Patra T, Meyer K, Geerling L, Isbell TS, Hoft DF, Brien J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Promotes IL-6 Trans-Signaling by Activation of Angiotensin II Receptor Signaling in Epithelial Cells. *PloS Pathog* (2020) 16:e1009128. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009128
- 96. Li F, Li J, Wang P-H, Yang N, Huang J, Ou J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Promotes Inflammation and Apoptosis Through Autophagy by ROS-Suppressed PI3K/AKT/mTOR Signaling. *Biochim Biophys Acta BBA - Mol Basis Dis* (2021) 1867:166260. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2021.166260
- Ades EW, Candal FJ, Swerlick RA, George VG, Summers S, Bosse DC, et al. HMEC-1: Establishment of an Immortalized Human Microvascular Endothelial Cell Line. J Invest Dermatol (1992) 99:683–90. doi: 10.1111/ 1523-1747.ep12613748
- Morigi M, Micheletti G, Figliuzzi M, Imberti B, Karmali MA, Remuzzi A, et al. Verotoxin-1 Promotes Leukocyte Adhesion to Cultured Endothelial Cells Under Physiologic Flow Conditions. *Blood* (1995) 86:4553–8. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V86.12.4553.bloodjournal86124553

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Perico, Morigi, Galbusera, Pezzotta, Gastoldi, Imberti, Perna, Ruggenenti, Donadelli, Benigni and Remuzzi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The COVID Complex: A Review of Platelet Activation and Immune Complexes in COVID-19

Stefan D. Jevtic¹ and Ishac Nazy^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Medicine, McMaster University Medical Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ² McMaster Centre for Transfusion Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a highly prothrombotic viral infection that primarily manifests as an acute respiratory syndrome. However, critically ill COVID-19 patients will often develop venous thromboembolism with associated increases in morbidity and mortality. The cause for this prothrombotic state is unclear but is likely related to platelet hyperactivation. In this review, we summarize the current evidence surrounding COVID-19 thrombosis and platelet hyperactivation. We highlight the fact that several studies have identified a soluble factor in COVID-19 patient plasma that is capable of altering platelet phenotype *in vitro*. Furthermore, this soluble factor appears to be an immune complex, which may be composed of COVID-19 Spike protein and related antibodies. We suggest that these Spike-specific immune complexes contribute to COVID-19 platelet activation and thrombosis in a manner similar to heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Understanding this underlying pathobiology will be critical for advancement of future research and therapeutic options.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Geoffrey Wool, University of Chicago, United States

Reviewed by:

Carsten Deppermann, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany

> *Correspondence: Ishac Nazy nazyi@mcmaster.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 November 2021 Accepted: 31 January 2022 Published: 14 March 2022

Citation:

Jevtic SD and Nazy I (2022) The COVID Complex: A Review of Platelet Activation and Immune Complexes in COVID-19. Front. Immunol. 13:807934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.807934 Keywords: COVID-19, platelet, antigen-antibody complex, immune complex, thrombosis, thrombocytopenia, heparin, VITT

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a respiratory infection caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1, 2). It has resulted in a global pandemic and is characterized by a highly inflammatory and prothrombotic state. Pulmonary involvement is the primary clinical manifestation but subsequent multi-organ failure and death can occur in severe cases (3–5). The prevalence of COVID-19 thromboembolism is quite variable across studies but appears to be highest in the critical care population, where estimates range from 20-65% (5–9). These can be both arterial and venous thromboses, making COVID-19 a unique prothrombotic state. Although the exact mechanisms underlying thrombosis are likely multifactorial, mounting evidence suggests that platelets play a crucial role.

Platelets have long been known to function as mediators of thrombosis and hemostasis but have only recently gained recognition in their role as immune mediators (10, 11). These anucleate cells mediate various immune related roles throughout the body, from antigen presentation to immune complex signaling. Of particular interest is their role in viral infection, where platelets are able to internalize and degrade pathogen as well as release soluble immune mediators (12). This likely contributes to their

important role in COVID-19 and explains, at least in part, how platelet hyperactivation increases thrombotic risk.

In this review, we summarize the general thrombotic nature of COVID-19 and the importance of understanding this process in regards to therapeutic options. Subsequently, we review platelet physiology and their current recognized functions as immune cells. We also review platelet activation in heparininduced thrombocytopenia (HIT) and how this parallels platelet activity in COVID-19. Finally, we discuss the novel entity of vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) and the role of platelets in this unique COVID-19 associated disorder.

COVID-19 AND THROMBOSIS

COVID-19 is a severe viral infection that was identified in Wuhan, China in late 2019. It initially presents as a respiratory tract infection, including fever, dyspnea, and myalgias, but can rapidly progress to a more severe form (1). These critically ill COVID-19 patients are characterized by excess inflammation and a prothrombotic state. COVID-19 thrombosis features both arterial and venous thromboembolic events, often with concomitant thrombocytopenia (7, 13). In one retrospective study of 1476 hospitalized COVID-19 patients, 20.7% were found to have thrombocytopenia (where 125×10^9 /L was the lower limit of normal) (14). The degree of thrombocytopenia has also been shown to independently associate with mortality outcomes, suggesting that platelet activation plays an important role in disease severity (14).

Thrombosis is particularly prevalent amongst critically ill COVID-19 patients, with some studies identifying deep vein thrombosis in up to 79% of patients through ultrasound screening (9). Unusual thrombi are also more prevalent amongst COVID-19 patients, including ischemic stroke, limb ischemia, and aortic thrombi (15). Up to 27.6% of thromboembolic events in critically ill patients occur even in the setting of prophylactic anticoagulation, emphasizing the extreme nature of this thrombotic state (16). Therapeutic dosing of anticoagulation may thus be required in COVID-19 hospitalized patients.

This observation has resulted in several randomized clinical trials demonstrating a benefit of therapeutic-dose low molecular weight heparin in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. In the ATTACC, ACTIV-4a, and REMAP-CAP multi-platform trial, therapeutic doses of heparin increased the probability of organ support-free days in non-critically ill patients (odds ratio 1.27, 95% credible interval 1.03-1.58) (17). However, there was no significant benefit for survival until hospital discharge, although there was a trend towards benefit (adjusted odds ratio 1.21, 95% credible interval 0.87-1.68). Interestingly, the RAPID trial did demonstrate a significant mortality benefit from therapeutic heparin in hospitalized, non-critically ill patients (odds ratio 0.22, 95% confidence interval 0.07-0.65) (18). Therefore, therapeutic anticoagulation is likely to benefit COVID-19 patients who are hospitalized without critical illness. It should be noted, however, that therapeutic anticoagulation showed no

benefit to mortality or reduced organ support in critically ill COVID-19 patients (19). It may be that anticoagulation in these patients was introduced at an overly advanced stage of disease. Nonetheless, it implies that critically ill patients differ significantly in their underlying physiology and require unique therapies.

PLATELETS AND THEIR ROLE AS IMMUNE CELLS

Prior to delving into platelet activation in COVID-19, it is important to gain a basic understanding of how platelet synthesis and function are intimately related to immunity. Platelets are produced in the bone marrow from progenitor cells, termed megakaryocytes, through a complex process of hematopoietic stem cell differentiation (20). Their production is primarily driven by the cytokine mediator, thrombopoietin (TPO), which is synthesized by both the liver and kidneys. TPO is known to be upregulated by inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, and contributes to the rapid platelet production seen with inflammation (21). This is secondary to a subgroup of "predifferentiated" stem cells that are biased towards the megakaryocyte lineage and rapidly differentiate on TPO exposure (22-24). The hematopoietic system is thus efficiently designed to produce platelets in the context of infection, suggesting an important role in immunity.

Once released into circulation, platelets are equipped with various intracellular materials (over 300) to mediate their effector functions (25). These include inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β), procoagulant factors (tissue factor, serotonin), and angiostatic molecules (platelet-factor 4/PF4) (26-28). These molecules are released upon platelet activation, which is mediated through various cell surface receptors. Many of these cell surface receptors also contribute to immune cell interaction and function. For example, the GPIb receptor is normally involved in platelet adhesion at sites of vascular injury through von Willebrand factor binding. However, GPIb is also capable of binding to von Willebrand factor exposed on immune cells infected with bacterial pathogen, such as hepatic Kupffer cells (29). It has been shown in a mouse model that this interaction is crucial for platelet aggregation around infected cells and host survival. P-selectin is another platelet surface receptor that is known to be upregulated with platelet activation. It is capable of binding to leukocytes through the P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 to mediate intracellular leukocyte signaling and neutrophil rolling (30–32). This process is crucial for leukocyte mobilization and concentration at sites of infection. Indeed, the P-selectin dependent interaction between neutrophils and platelets has been shown to contribute to acute lung injury in mouse models (33, 34). Platelet depletion or P-selectin inhibition both reduced subsequent neutrophil recruitment and lung injury. Platelets are thus equipped, through both intracellular and cell surface proteins, to mediate various immune functions. These interactions may contribute to the lung pathology seen in COVID-19 through immune cell recruitment.

IMMUNE COMPLEXES ARE CAPABLE OF PLATELET ACTIVATION

Immune complexes are important initial defenses against pathogen infection and are formed from antibody binding to soluble antigen. They often consist of immunoglobulins (Ig) of the IgG or IgM type but can also be IgA (35, 36). Immune complexes primarily mediate function through binding to cell surface receptors found on various cell types, including platelets. Most binding occurs through the Fcy receptors II (FcyRII) and III, which are either activating (a) or inhibiting (b), respectively (35). Platelets contain only one Fc receptor (FcyRIIa) on their surface and thus are able to bind IgG-specific immune complexes (37). Immune complex binding to the platelet receptor leads to subsequent activation and release of intracellular molecules such as serotonin. This promotes a prothrombotic state and has been implicated in various autoimmune conditions. The most wellcharacterized platelet-mediated immune complex disorder is heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) (38, 39).

HIT is a prothrombotic autoimmune disorder characterized by the presence of thrombocytopenia (low platelets) and thrombosis that shares many features with COVID-19. It most commonly presents in hospitalized patients who are receiving unfractionated heparin anticoagulation and is characterized by antibodies targeting platelet factor 4 (PF4)-heparin complexes (39). PF4 is a positively charged protein released from platelets that is capable of binding negatively charged molecules, such as heparin (40). Certain individuals develop anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies that form immune complexes. These immune complexes activate the FcyRIIa on platelets resulting in thrombocytopenia that is often accompanied by thrombosis, which is secondary to the release of serotonin and other procoagulant platelet microparticles. Circulating anti-PF4/heparin antibodies can be found in up to 50% of patients exposed to heparin (41, 42). However, only a minority of these will be functional and lead to disease presentation. This is secondary to the unique epitope specificity required for immune complex formation and platelet activation (43). Therefore, it is important to use functional platelet activation assays to diagnose HIT.

One of the international reference assays for diagnosing HIT, developed at our institution, is the serotonin release assay (SRA). Briefly, platelets from healthy donors are incubated with radioactive ¹⁴C-serotonin allowing uptake into platelets. These modified platelets are subsequently exposed to patient plasma, in the presence and absence of heparin, which allows formation of anti-PF4/heparin immune complexes (44). These immune complexes subsequently activate platelets through the FcyRIIa leading to release of ¹⁴C-serotonin, which is then measured by beta radioactivity. The addition of exogenous heparin is vital for this activation in HIT to facilitate formation of appropriate antigen complexes. However, certain samples tested in the SRA for HIT will demonstrate heparin-independent platelet activation (45). This is inconsistent with a diagnosis of classical HIT, meaning that the assay may detect additional mechanisms of platelet activation. Therefore, the SRA can be modified to study platelet hyperactivation in novel diseases, such as COVID-19 (see Figure 1).

PLATELETS ARE HYPERACTIVATED IN CRITICALLY ILL COVID-19 PATIENTS

To this point, many studies have confirmed that platelets in COVID-19 patients display a hyperactivated phenotype with altered gene expression. In a cohort of 115 COVID-19 patients, featuring both non-severe and severe disease, platelets secreted increased IL-1beta and soluble CD40 ligand compared to healthy controls (46). Furthermore, circulating levels of serotonin and PF4 were increased in patient serum, suggesting platelet degranulation. Common cell markers of platelet activation, including P-selectin and CD63, are also increased in critically ill COVID-19 patients, but not those with mild disease (47). Platelets from critically ill COVID-19 patients also demonstrated increased markers of apoptosis, such as phosphatidylserine externalization and cleaved-caspase 9, which correlate with thromboembolic events (48). In addition to platelet activation, there is evidence of unique transcriptome changes that occur in platelets from COVID-19 patients. Using RNA-seq analysis on platelets from 10 COVID-19 patients, Manne et al. demonstrated significant upregulation of genes involved in antigen presentation (49). Platelets are thus significantly altered to a more active phenotype in COVID-19, particularly in critically ill patients, and may contribute to clinical presentation.

One mechanism by which platelets may contribute to COVID-19 presentation is through neutrophil recruitment and aggregation. As previously noted, platelet P-selectin is able to bind neutrophil ligands to induce rolling and aggregation at sites of activation (50). This interaction can lead to prothrombotic platelet-neutrophil aggregates as well as the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. For example, plasma from hospitalized COVID-19 patients demonstrates increased circulating platelet-neutrophil aggregates on flow cytometry compared to healthy controls (51). Furthermore, autopsies in COVID-19 patients confirm the presence of microvascular thrombi consisting of neutrophil extracellular traps and platelets (52, 53). These platelet-neutrophil interactions are more prominent in critically ill COVID-19 patients, where there is evidence of a hyperactivated platelet phenotype (52, 54). Therefore, hyperactivated platelets in COVID-19 also contribute to neutrophil activation, which fuels the thrombo-inflammatory milieu.

It is still unclear as to what triggers such drastic platelet changes in critically ill patients. Some have hypothesized that SARS-CoV-2 directly interacts with platelets to mediate these observed effects. Evidence for this is supported by the presence of viral RNA in platelets of infected individuals, although this is only seen in up to 24% of patients (46, 49, 55). However, aside from a single study (55), multiple studies have failed to demonstrate ACE2 expression on the platelet surface or evidence of ACE2 RNA in platelets (46, 49). The cause of this discrepancy is unclear and may be related to different techniques for platelet isolation (56). Regardless, SARS-CoV-2 RNA has been consistently found within platelets and thus suggests that ACE2-independent mechanisms of entry exist. Interestingly, when critically ill COVID-19 patient plasma is incubated with platelets from healthy volunteers, there is a similar increase in platelet activation markers (P-selectin, CD63) (47). While circulating virus may account for this change as well, other soluble mediators should be considered.



induced thrombocytopenia (HIT, **A**), COVID-19-related platelet activation (**B**), and vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT, **C**). The suspected platelet activation disorder will depend on the clinical context and known exposure to antigen (e.g. heparin, SARS-CoV-2, or adenovirus-based COVID-19 vaccine). Each of these disorders is characterized by platelet activation through the FcyRIIa *via* unique immune complexes. These include: anti-PF4/heparin (HIT), unidentified immune complexes (COVID-19), or anti-PF4 (VITT). Serum testing from patients will also feature unique platelet activation schemas in functional activation assays, such as the serotonin release assay (examples shown on the right). In the classic HIT-SRA (top right), addition of exogenous UFH significantly increases immune complex formation and platelet activation, which is inhibited by IV.3. Contrastingly, UFH inhibits immune complex formation in COVID-19 and VITT thrombotic patients. Instead, alternate antigens (Spike protein and PF4, respectively) are required for significant platelet activation. Dashed lined represents 20% platelet activation, which is the positive cut-off for the SRA.

THE "COVID COMPLEX" – IMMUNE COMPLEX MEDIATED PLATELET ACTIVATION

Immune complexes are one potential circulating factor that could contribute to platelet activation in COVID-19. As previously mentioned, immune complexes activate platelets through the $Fc\gamma$ RIIa and may be formed from antibodies against self or exogenous antigens. Viral illnesses are well documented to produce antibodies against self-antigens, such as antiphospholipid antibodies, through a process called molecular mimicry. Early reports in COVID-19 patients highlighted the presence of these antibodies in association with thrombosis, including anti-beta-2 glycoprotein and non-specific inhibitor (57–59). Injection of the serum IgG fraction from these patients into mice resulted in significantly increased thrombus formation compared to controls (59). However, this thrombus formation was also seen with COVID-19 patient serum that had low levels of antiphospholipid antibodies. This suggests that antiphospholipid antibodies are not the sole antibodies associated with this prothrombotic state.

Another potential hypothesis is that HIT antibodies are contributing to the IgG-mediated platelet activation seen in COVID-19 patients. This is supported by the observations that COVID-19 and HIT share many clinical similarities; COVID-19 patients are often exposed to heparin in the context of hospitalization; and a high proportion of COVID-19 patients test positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies on further testing (60, 61). However, in a cohort of ten critically ill COVID-19 patients with high suspicion of HIT, we found no evidence of
platelet-activating HIT antibodies, which has been replicated by others (61, 62). Interestingly, six of these samples were able to activate platelets in the serotonin release assay in the absence of heparin. This activation was inhibited by IV.3, an FcyRIIa inhibitor, thus confirming immune complex mediated platelet activation. Furthermore, all patients with platelet activation also contained anti-Spike IgG antibodies targeting SARS-CoV-2. It is plausible that Spike-specific IgG antibodies bind circulating Spike protein in viremic, critically ill patients to form plateletactivating immune complexes. This mechanism has previously been shown to occur with H1N1 influenza virus whereby influenza antibodies bind to virus to form immune complexes (63). These immune complexes activate platelets through the FcyRIIa and likely contribute to the pulmonary thrombosis seen with H1N1 infection (64). Most recently, one in vitro study confirmed that recombinant anti-Spike IgG is able to activate platelets through the FcyRIIa (65). This was determined through in vitro thrombus measurement using microfluidic flow chips and confocal microscopy. Thrombus formation only occurred in the presence of Spike protein and an "inflammatory signal" (von Willebrand factor in this study). Interestingly, anti-Spike IgG and Spike protein alone did not lead to significant thrombus formation. How exactly von Willebrand factor interacts to promote platelet activation is unclear but may be through facilitating platelet aggregation. Glycosylation status of anti-Spike IgG was also found to be a significant factor in the ability of these complexes to activate platelets. Therefore, certain anti-Spike IgG activate platelets in the context of COVID-19 infection, but this remains to be validated in the clinical context.

VACCINE INDUCED THROMBOTIC THROMBOCYTOPENIA (VITT)

It would be remiss to avoid a discussion of vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) in the context of platelet activation and COVID-19. Although this platelet activation is not directly related to SARS-CoV-2 viral infection, it has important clinical and public health implications. VITT is a novel, "drug" related disorder attributed to vaccination by adenoviral vectorbased SARS-CoV-2 vaccines. This primarily includes the ChAd-Ox1 (produced by AstraZeneca) and Ad26.COV2.S (Johnson and Johnson) vaccines. VITT was first described in eleven patients, predominantly female, who presented with unusual thromboses (cerebral venous sinus thrombosis, splanchnic-vein thrombosis) and thrombocytopenia (66). Patients often present a median of 14 days from vaccination and can be critically ill - estimated mortality is 22% in one cohort of 220 VITT cases (67). This mortality is significantly reduced from initial reports (55%), likely due to a combination of increased recognition and better treatment implementation (66). Given the parallels to HIT, it was hypothesized that similar platelet activating antibodies may be the underlying cause. This proved to be the case, with all patients featuring high titers of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that were able to activate platelets in functional assays (66). Interestingly, these antibodies did not require the presence of heparin to form immune complexes and thus are able to target PF4 independently (i.e. anti-PF4 antibodies). The binding site for these antibodies is located in the heparin-binding site on PF4, as shown by alanine-scanning mutagenesis, thus allowing them to form tetrameric immune complexes and activate platelets through FcyRIIa (68). This competitive binding to the heparin site likely explains why heparin inhibits VITT platelet activation in vitro (unlike in HIT, where heparin facilitates activation; see Figure 1). As previously mentioned, anti-PF4/heparin antibodies do not appear to be responsible for the thrombosis and platelet activation seen in COVID-19. In a cohort of 222 COVID-19 patients with thrombosis, only nineteen (8.6%) tested positive for anti-PF4/ heparin antibodies (69). None of these were able to activate platelets in the functional platelet assay. Therefore, anti-PF4 antibodies are likely not responsible for the thrombosis seen in COVID-19 patients and do not demonstrate cross reactivity with the Spike protein. This understanding is important for future vaccine development and management of these rare cases.

SUMMARY

Although the field of COVID-19 thrombosis is in its infancy, there is sufficient evidence to support a major role for platelets in disease pathogenesis. Platelets have been shown to be hyperactivated in critically ill patients and secrete excessive procoagulant molecules. Furthermore, they are able to interact with other immune cells to mediate the immune response. However, this excess inflammation may also contribute to tissue damage and ultimately, mortality. Targeting these pathways in order to dampen the excess immune response may thus present attractive therapeutic targets.

Immune complexes also appear to contribute significantly to these platelet changes in a manner similar to HIT and other immune-complex mediated disorders. The antigen specificity and additional characteristics of these immune complexes remain to be determined but will be crucial to the development of therapeutic targets. Identifying the specific antibodies involved may also allow clinicians to risk stratify patients who are at high risk of severe disease or thrombosis, thus offering the potential for prophylactic anticoagulation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both SJ and IN contributed equally to this work, including initial manuscript preparation, editing, and final drafting. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Funding was received from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR 452655) awarded to IN.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Jo-Ann Shepherd for her contributions as an illustrator.

REFERENCES

- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A Novel Coronavirus From Patients With Pneumonia in China, 2019. N. *Engl J Med* (2020) 382:727–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Features of Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary Vascular Endothelialitis, Thrombosis, and Angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2020) 383(2):120–128. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432
- Connors JM, Levy JH. COVID-19 and its Implications for Thrombosis and Anticoagulation. *Blood* (2020) 135:2033–40. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006000
- Malas MB, Naazie IN, Elsayed N, Mathlouthi A, Marmor R, Clary B. Thromboembolism Risk of COVID-19 is High and Associated With a Higher Risk of Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *EClinicalMedicine* (2020) 29:100639. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100639
- Boonyawat K, Chantrathammachart P, Numthavaj P, Nanthatanti N, Phusanti S, Phuphuakrat A, et al. Incidence of Thromboembolism in Patients With COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Thromb J* (2020) 18:34. doi: 10.1186/s12959-020-00248-5
- Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers DAMPJ, Kant KM, et al. Incidence of Thrombotic Complications in Critically Ill ICU Patients With COVID-19. *Thromb Res* (2020) 191:145–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.thromres.2020.04.013
- Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers D, Kant KM, et al. Confirmation of the High Cumulative Incidence of Thrombotic Complications in Critically Ill ICU Patients With COVID-19: An Updated Analysis. *Thromb Res* (2020) 191:148–50. doi: 10.1016/ j.thromres.2020.04.041
- Nahum J, Morichau-Beauchant T, Daviaud F, Echegut P, Fichet J, Maillet J-M, et al. Venous Thrombosis Among Critically Ill Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Netw Open* (2020) 3:e2010478. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.10478
- Hottz ED, Bozza FA, Bozza PT. Platelets in Immune Response to Virus and Immunopathology of Viral Infections. *Front Med* (2018) 5:121. doi: 10.3389/ fmed.2018.00121
- Mezger M, Nording H, Sauter R, Graf T, Heim C, von Bubnoff N, et al. Platelets and Immune Responses During Thromboinflammation. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01731
- Worth RG, Chien CD, Chien P, Reilly MP, McKenzie SE, Schreiber AD. Platelet Fcγriia Binds and Internalizes IgG-Containing Complexes. *Exp Hematol* (2006) 34:1490–5. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2006.06.015
- Levi M, Thachil J, Iba T, Levy JH. Coagulation Abnormalities and Thrombosis in Patients With COVID-19. *Lancet Haematol* (2020) 7:e438-40. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30145-9
- Yang X, Yang Q, Wang Y, Wu Y, Xu J, Yu Y, et al. Thrombocytopenia and its Association With Mortality in Patients With COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost JTH (2020) 18:1469–72. doi: 10.1111/jth.14848
- Kashi M, Jacquin A, Dakhil B, Zaimi R, Mahé E, Tella E, et al. Severe Arterial Thrombosis Associated With Covid-19 Infection. *Thromb Res* (2020) 192:75– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.05.025
- Lodigiani C, Iapichino G, Carenzo L, Cecconi M, Ferrazzi P, Sebastian T, et al. Venous and Arterial Thromboembolic Complications in COVID-19 Patients Admitted to an Academic Hospital in Milan, Italy. *Thromb Res* (2020) 191:9– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.024
- Lawler PR, Goligher EC, Berger JS, Neal MD, McVerry BJ, Nicolau JC. Therapeutic Anticoagulation With Heparin in Noncritically Ill Patients With Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2021) 385:790–802. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2105911
- Sholzberg M, Tang GH, Rahhal H, AlHamzah M, Kreuziger LB, Áinle FN, et al. Effectiveness of Therapeutic Heparin Versus Prophylactic Heparin on Death, Mechanical Ventilation, or Intensive Care Unit Admission in Moderately Ill Patients With Covid-19 Admitted to Hospital: RAPID Randomised Clinical Trial. *BMJ* (2021) 375:n2400. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2400
- Goligher EC, Bradbury CA, McVerry BJ, Berger JS, Gong MN. Therapeutic Anticoagulation With Heparin in Critically Ill Patients With Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2021) 385:777–89. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2103417

- van der Meijden PEJ, Heemskerk JWM. Platelet Biology and Functions: New Concepts and Clinical Perspectives. Nat Rev Cardiol (2019) 16:166–79. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0110-0
- Kaser A, Brandacher G, Steurer W, Kaser S, Offner FA, Zoller H, et al. Interleukin-6 Stimulates Thrombopoiesis Through Thrombopoietin: Role in Inflammatory Thrombocytosis. *Blood* (2001) 98:2720–5. doi: 10.1182/ blood.v98.9.2720
- Shin JY, Hu W, Naramura M, Park CY. High C-Kit Expression Identifies Hematopoietic Stem Cells With Impaired Self-Renewal and Megakaryocytic Bias. J Exp Med (2014) 211:217–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131128
- Grinenko T, Arndt K, Portz M, Mende N, Günther M, Cosgun KN, et al. Clonal Expansion Capacity Defines Two Consecutive Developmental Stages of Long-Term Hematopoietic Stem Cells. J Exp Med (2014) 211:209–15. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131115
- Sanjuan-Pla A, Macaulay IC, Jensen CT, Woll PS, Luis TC, Mead A, et al. Platelet-Biased Stem Cells Reside at the Apex of the Haematopoietic Stem-Cell Hierarchy. *Nature* (2013) 502:232–6. doi: 10.1038/nature12495
- Coppinger JA, Cagney G, Toomey S, Kislinger T, Belton O, McRedmond JP, et al. Characterization of the Proteins Released From Activated Platelets Leads to Localization of Novel Platelet Proteins in Human Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Blood* (2004) 103:2096–104. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-08-2804
- Zernecke A, Schober A, Bot I, von Hundelshausen P, Liehn EA, Möpps B, et al. SDF-1α/CXCR4 Axis Is Instrumental in Neointimal Hyperplasia and Recruitment of Smooth Muscle Progenitor Cells. *Circ Res* (2005) 96:784–91. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000162100.52009.38
- Cloutier N, Allaeys I, Marcoux G, Machlus KR, Mailhot B, Zufferey A, et al. Platelets Release Pathogenic Serotonin and Return to Circulation After Immune Complex-Mediated Sequestration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2018) 115: E1550–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1720553115
- Denis MM, Tolley ND, Bunting M, Schwertz H, Jiang H, Lindemann S, et al. Escaping the Nuclear Confines: Signal-Dependent Pre-mRNA Splicing in Anucleate Platelets. *Cell* (2005) 122:379–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.06.015
- Wong CHY, Jenne CN, Petri B, Chrobok NL, Kubes P. Nucleation of Platelets With Blood-Borne Pathogens on Kupffer Cells Precedes Other Innate Immunity and Contributes to Bacterial Clearance. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:785–92. doi: 10.1038/ni.2631
- Evangelista V, Manarini S, Sideri R, Rotondo S, Martelli N, Piccoli A, et al. Platelet/Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte Interaction: P-Selectin Triggers Protein-Tyrosine Phosphorylation-Dependent CD11b/CD18 Adhesion: Role of PSGL-1 as a Signaling Molecule. *Blood* (1999) 93:876–85. doi: 10.1182/blood.V93.3.876
- Frenette PS, Denis CV, Weiss L, Jurk K, Subbarao S, Kehrel B, et al. P-Selectin Glycoprotein Ligand 1 (Psgl-1) Is Expressed on Platelets and Can Mediate Platelet–Endothelial Interactions in Vivo. J Exp Med (2000) 191:1413–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.8.1413
- Buttrum S, Hatton R, Nash G. Selectin-Mediated Rolling of Neutrophils on Immobilized Platelets. *Blood* (1993) 82:1165–74. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V82.4.1165.1165
- 33. Asaduzzaman M, Lavasani S, Rahman M, Zhang S, Braun OO, Jeppsson B, et al. Platelets Support Pulmonary Recruitment of Neutrophils in Abdominal Sepsis. Crit Care Med (2009) 37:1389–96. doi: 10.1097/ CCM.0b013e31819ceb71
- Zarbock A, Singbartl K, Ley K. Complete Reversal of Acid-Induced Acute Lung Injury by Blocking of Platelet-Neutrophil Aggregation. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:3211–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI29499
- Krishna M, Nadler SG. Immunogenicity to Biotherapeutics The Role of Anti-Drug Immune Complexes. Front Immunol (2016) 7:21. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2016.00021
- Knoppova B, Reily C, Maillard N, Rizk DV, Moldoveanu Z, Mestecky J, et al. The Origin and Activities of IgA1-Containing Immune Complexes in IgA Nephropathy. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:117. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00117
- McKenzie SE, Taylor SM, Malladi P, Yuhan H, Cassel DL, Chien P, et al. The Role of the Human Fc Receptor Fcγriia in the Immune Clearance of Platelets: A Transgenic Mouse Model. J Immunol (1999) 162:4311–8.
- Warkentin TE. How I Diagnose and Manage HIT. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program (2011) 2011:143–9. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2011.1.143
- Warkentin TE, Levine MN, Hirsh J, Horsewood P, Roberts RS, Gent M, et al. Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia in Patients Treated With Low-

Molecular-Weight Heparin or Unfractionated Heparin. N Engl J Med (1995) 332:1330-6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199505183322003

- Zucker MB, Katz IR. Platelet Factor 4: Production, Structure, and Physiologic and Immunologic Action. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med Soc Exp Biol Med N Y N (1991) 198:693–702. doi: 10.3181/00379727-198-43309
- Selleng S, Selleng K, Friesecke S, Gründling M, Kuhn S-O, Raschke R, et al. Prevalence and Clinical Implications of Anti-PF4/heparin Antibodies in Intensive Care Patients: A Prospective Observational Study. J Thromb Thromb (2015) 39:60–7. doi: 10.1007/s11239-014-1105-2
- 42. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Kelton JG, Clare R, Ivanova M, Nazy I. Pathogenic Antibodies in Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia Specifically Target an Immunodominant Region on Platelet Factor 4. *Blood* (2019) 134:219. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-131462
- Huynh A, Arnold DM, Kelton JG, Smith JW, Horsewood P, Clare R, et al. Characterization of Platelet Factor 4 Amino Acids That Bind Pathogenic Antibodies in Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. J Thromb Haemost JTH (2019) 17:389–99. doi: 10.1111/jth.14369
- Warkentin TE, Arnold DM, Nazi I, Kelton JG. The Platelet Serotonin-Release Assay. Am J Hematol (2015) 90:564–72. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24006
- Warkentin TE. Laboratory Diagnosis of Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. Int J Lab Hematol (2019) 41:15–25. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12993
- Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets Can Associate With SARS-CoV-2 RNA and Are Hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703
- Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CRR, et al. Platelet Activation and Platelet-Monocyte Aggregate Formation Trigger Tissue Factor Expression in Patients With Severe COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252
- Althaus K, Marini I, Zlamal J, Pelzl L, Singh A, Häberle H, et al. Antibody-Induced Procoagulant Platelets in Severe COVID-19 Infection. *Blood* (2021) 137:1061–71. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008762
- Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet Gene Expression and Function in Patients With COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214
- Sreeramkumar V, Adrover JM, Ballesteros I, Cuartero MI, Rossaint J, Bilbao I, et al. Neutrophils Scan for Activated Platelets to Initiate Inflammation. *Science* (2014) 346:1234–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1256478
- Taus F, Salvagno G, Canè S, Fava C, Mazzaferri F, Carrara E, et al. Platelets Promote Thromboinflammation in SARS-CoV-2 Pneumonia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2020) 40:2975–89. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315175
- Nicolai L, Leunig A, Brambs S, Kaiser R, Weinberger T, Weigand M, et al. Immunothrombotic Dysregulation in COVID-19 Pneumonia Is Associated With Respiratory Failure and Coagulopathy. *Circulation* (2020) 142:1176–89. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048488
- Middleton EA, He X-Y, Denorme F, Campbell RA, Ng D, Salvatore SP, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Contribute to Immunothrombosis in COVID-19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Blood* (2020) 136:1169–79. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007008
- Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in COVID-19. *JCI Insight* (2020) 5:e138999. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.138999
- Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Binds Platelet ACE2 to Enhance Thrombosis in COVID-19. J Hematol OncolJ Hematol Oncol (2020) 13:120. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00954-7
- Campbell RA, Boilard E, Rondina MT. Is There a Role for the ACE2 Receptor in SARS-CoV-2 Interactions With Platelets? *J Thromb Haemost* (2021) 19:46– 50. doi: 10.1111/jth.15156

- Zhang Y, Xiao M, Zhang S, Xia P, Cao W, Jiang W, et al. Coagulopathy and Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Patients With Covid-19. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 382:e38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2007575
- Bowles L, Platton S, Yartey N, Dave M, Lee K, Hart DP, et al. Lupus Anticoagulant and Abnormal Coagulation Tests in Patients With Covid-19. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 383:288–90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2013656
- Zuo Y, Estes SK, Ali RA, Gandhi AA, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, et al. Prothrombotic Autoantibodies in Serum From Patients Hospitalized With COVID-19. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12:eabd3876. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd3876
- Warkentin TE, Kaatz S. COVID-19 Versus HIT Hypercoagulability. *Thromb Res* (2020) 196:38–51. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.08.017
- Brodard J, Kremer Hovinga JA, Fontana P, Studt J-D, Gruel Y, Greinacher A. COVID-19 Patients Often Show High-Titer Non-Platelet-Activating Anti-PF4/heparin IgG Antibodies. J Thromb Haemost JTH (2021) 19:1294–8. doi: 10.1111/jth.15262
- Nazy I, Jevtic SD, Moore JC, Huynh A, Smith JW, Kelton JG, et al. Platelet-Activating Immune Complexes Identified in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients Suspected of Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. J Thromb Haemost JTH (2021) 19:1342–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.15283
- Boilard E, Paré G, Rousseau M, Cloutier N, Dubuc I, Lévesque T, et al. Influenza Virus H1N1 Activates Platelets Through Fcγriia Signaling and Thrombin Generation. *Blood* (2014) 123:2854–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-515536
- 64. Harms PW, Schmidt LA, Smith LB, Newton DW, Pletneva MA, Walters LL, et al. Autopsy Findings in Eight Patients With Fatal H1N1 Influenza. Am J Clin Pathol (2010) 134:27–35. doi: 10.1309/AJCP35KOZSAVNQZW
- Bye AP, Hoepel W, Mitchell JL, Jégouic S, Loureiro S, Sage T, et al. Aberrant Glycosylation of Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Spike IgG is a Prothrombotic Stimulus for Platelets. *Blood* (2021) 138:1481–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021011871
- 66. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia After ChAdOx1 Ncov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(22):2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840
- Pavord S, Scully M, Hunt BJ, Lester W, Bagot C, Craven B, et al. Clinical Features of Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis. *N Engl J Med* (2021) 385:1680–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2109908. 0:null.
- Huynh A, Kelton JG, Arnold DM, Daka M, Nazy I. Antibody Epitopes in Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopaenia. *Nature* (2021) 596:565–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03744-4
- Greinacher A, Selleng K, Mayerle J, Palankar R, Wesche J, Reiche S, et al. Antiplatelet Factor 4 Antibodies Causing VITT do Not Cross-React With SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein. *Blood* (2021) 138:1269–77. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021012938

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jevtic and Nazy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Geoffrey Wool, The University of Chicago, United States

REVIEWED BY Claudia Grossi, Istituto Auxologico Italiano, IRCCS, Italy Frederik Denorme, The University of Utah, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Maurizio Sorice Maurizio.sorice@uniroma1.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 21 December 2022 ACCEPTED 09 February 2023 PUBLISHED 02 March 2023

CITATION

Capozzi A, Riitano G, Recalchi S, Manganelli V, Longo A, Falcou A, De Michele M, Garofalo T, Pulcinelli FM, Sorice M and Misasi R (2023) Antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with stroke during COVID-19: A role in the signaling pathway leading to platelet activation. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1129201. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1129201

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Capozzi, Riitano, Recalchi, Manganelli, Longo, Falcou, De Michele, Garofalo, Pulcinelli, Sorice and Misasi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with stroke during COVID-19: A role in the signaling pathway leading to platelet activation

Antonella Capozzi¹, Gloria Riitano¹, Serena Recalchi¹, Valeria Manganelli¹, Agostina Longo¹, Anne Falcou², Manuela De Michele², Tina Garofalo¹, Fabio M. Pulcinelli¹, Maurizio Sorice^{1*†} and Roberta Misasi^{1†}

¹Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ²Emergency Department, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Background: Several viral and bacterial infections, including COVID-19, may lead to both thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications. Previously, it has been demonstrated an *"in vitro"* pathogenic effect of *"antiphospholipid"* antibodies (aPLs), which are able to activate a proinflammatory and procoagulant phenotype in monocytes, endothelial cells and platelets. This study analyzed the occurrence of aPL IgG in patients with acute ischemic stroke (AIS) during COVID-19, evaluating the effect of Ig fractions from these patients on signaling and functional activation of platelets.

Materials and methods: Sera from 10 patients with AIS during COVID-19, 10 non-COVID-19 stroke patients, 20 COVID-19 and 30 healthy donors (HD) were analyzed for anti-cardiolipin, anti- β 2-GPI, anti-phosphatidylserine/prothrombin and anti-vimentin/CL antibodies by ELISA. Platelets from healthy donors were incubated with Ig fractions from these patients or with polyclonal anti- β 2-GPI IgG and analyzed for phospho-ERK and phospho-p38 by western blot. Platelet secretion by ATP release dosage was also evaluated.

Results: We demonstrated the presence of aPLs IgG in sera of patients with AIS during COVID-19. Treatment with the Ig fractions from these patients or with polyclonal anti- β 2-GPI IgG induced a significant increase of phospho-ERK and phospho-p38 expression. In the same vein, platelet activation was supported by the increase of adenyl nucleotides release induced by Ig fractions.

Conclusions: This study demonstrates the presence of aPLs in a subgroup of COVID-19 patients who presented AIS, suggesting a role in the mechanisms contributing to hypercoagulable state in these patients. Detecting these antibodies as a serological marker to check and monitor COVID-19 may contribute to improve the risk stratification of thromboembolic manifestations in these patients.

KEYWORDS

antiphospholipid antibodies, β2-GPI, COVID-19, thrombosis, stroke.

Introduction

Several infections have been shown to play a role in the triggering of anti-phospholipid antibodies (aPLs) (1, 2); indeed, it was demonstrated an overall increased risk of developing anticardiolipin (aCL) antibodies and an association between viral infections and presence of anti-\u00e32-Glycoprotein I (anti-\u00e32-GPI) antibodies (3). aPLs are often transient during infections, but in some cases, they may be associated with thromboembolic events (4). The most common mechanism involved in the infectious origin of the aPLs is molecular mimicry between B2-GPI and/or other Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS) antigens and infectious agents (5). Another well-studied mechanism is the two-hit hypothesis, which attempts to explain the persistent presence of aPLs without the occurrence of thrombotic events. Detection of aPLs might represent the first hit, whereas several findings underline the role of infections as a potential second hit. This hypothesis is supported by data that demonstrate, at the same time, the involvement of innate immunity receptors in APS pathogenesis mechanism(s) (6). The association between aPLs and infectious agents was first described in syphilis, but many other viral, bacterial and parasitic infections have been found to induce aPLs. The most common "triggering" factors are skin infections, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), pneumonia, hepatitis C virus (HCV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) (7-9).

In patients affected from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) thromboembolic events involving arterial, venous and microcirculation have been frequently reported. Therefore, this syndrome is now described as a viral pulmonary infection with respiratory complications, and more precisely as a multiple-organ disorder accompanied by hypercoagulability (10–12).

Furthermore, it has been reported that, even in young patients, neurological manifestations, in particular ischemic stroke, may arise in the context of COVID-19 (13–15). Interestingly, some papers have described the presence of aPLs together with increasing proinflammatory cytokine levels in COVID-19 patients with ischemic stroke (16). aPLs, including IgG and/or IgM aCL antibodies, IgG and/or IgM anti- β 2-GPI antibodies, and Lupus Anticoagulant (LA) are established as laboratory criteria for diagnosis of the APS, characterized by arterial and venous thrombosis and recurrent abortions (17). In addition, some "noncriteria" aPLs have shown promising clinical utility, especially in "seronegative" APS (SN-APS) patients, with a clinical picture typical of APS, but persistently negative for routine aPL antibody tests. They include mainly anti-phosphatidylserine/prothrombin (aPS/PT) and anti-vimentin/CL (aVim/CL) antibodies (18).

Reports in COVID-19 patients described the association of aPLs with thrombotic events (19), demonstrating that injection of the serum IgG fraction from these patients into mice resulted in significant increase of thrombus formation in addition to neutrophil hyperactivity, higher platelet counts and lower clinical estimated glomerular filtration rate. The mechanisms underlying the prothrombotic state are more complex and still unclear, but likely related to platelets, acting as mediators of thrombosis and hemostasis, but also as immune mediator. In fact, in critically ill COVID-19 patients, platelets are hyperactivated with an excessive

secretion of procoagulant molecules (20–22). Activated platelets also secrete platelet factor 4 (PF4), a member of the C-X-C chemokine family with high affinity for heparin and other anionic glycosaminoglycans (e.g., endothelial cell surface or platelet surface GAGs). PF4 has a proven procoagulant role but appears to have also anticoagulant effects (23, 24).

A role of platelets has been also demonstrated in aPL-related thrombosis by experimental models, which revealed that platelets are activated following the infusion of anti- β 2-GPI antibodies (25). Platelet activation is increased when anti-B2-GPI-B2-GPI complexes bind to the platelet thrombus and the activationsignaling pathways are mediated by interaction with phospholipids on the cell surface (phosphatidylserine, phosphatidylethanolamine) or with receptors of platelet membrane (26, 27). Their combination in complexes contributes to the activation of two platelet receptors for β 2-GPI, apolipoprotein E receptor 2' (apoER2') - and glycoprotein Ib α (GPIb α), that in turn cross-link anti- β 2-GPI antibodies (28, 29). In our previous paper we showed that aPLs, in particular anti-β2-GPI antibodies, were able to induce intracellular signals in platelets, which involve IRAK phosphorylation and NF-KB activation, leading to the up-regulation of Tissue Factor (TF), the major initiator of the clotting cascade (30).

Moreover, anti- β 2-GPI antibody binding induces the activation of a platelet prothrombotic phenotype expressed by p38 mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPK) phosphorylation, GP IIb/IIIa conformational change, P-selectin expression, and thromboxane B2 production (31). Therefore, MAPK pathways, including ERK kinases, activated by various stimuli, are important intracellular signaling in the activation of platelets as pivotal component of arterial and venous thrombosis (31, 32).

Since COVID-19 infection triggers the production of aPLs and the thrombotic events observed in severe COVID-19 resemble hypercoagulation seen in APS, especially as regards the catastrophic variant, it is reasonable to assume that aPLs may be potential mediators of cerebrovascular events in patients with COVID-19. From this assumption, our study analyzed the occurrence of aPLs in patients with COVID-19 and concomitant acute ischemic stroke (AIS), evaluating the effect of Ig fractions from these patients on signaling and functional activation of platelets.

Materials and methods

Patients

We enrolled 10 patients, referred to Emergency Department of Umberto I Polyclinic of Rome, positive for PCR Sars-CoV-2 and affected by large vessel occlusion AIS [mean age 72.8 (S.D. 17.6); 7 males, 3 females]. Clinical and demographic characteristics of patients are reported in Table 1. As control groups, matched for age and sex, we evaluated 10 non-COVID-19 stroke patients [mean age 71.5 (S.D. 17.5); 6 males, 4 females], 20 COVID-19 patients without vascular thrombosis [mean age 68.5 (S.D. 15.8); 13 males, 7 females] and 30 healthy donors (HD) [mean age 65.0 (S.D. 16.2); 21

TABLE 1 Demographics and clinical characteristics of the COVID-19/AIS patients.

	AIS patients n =10
Demographics, vascular risk factors and pre-stroke medications	
Age, mean (SD)	72.8 (17.6)
Female/Male	3/7
Stroke clinical and radiological characteristics	
Stroke on awakening/unknown time of onset	2 (20)
Infarct location - Right Left - Bilateral - Subtentorial	4 (40) 6 (60) 0 0
Occlusion site - Top of ICA - Tandem occlusion - MCA-M1 - MCA-M2 - MCA-M3-M4 - Posterior circulation - No occlusion	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 (10) \\ 0 \\ 4 (40) \\ 3 (30) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 2 (20) \end{array} $
NIHSS at baseline, median (IQR)	17 (4.75-23)
NIHSS at 24 h, median (IQR)	8 (4-19)
IV thrombolysis	1 (10)
Mechanical thrombectomy	4 (40)
Hemorrhagic transformation	3 (30)
TICI - 2a - 2b - 3	1/4 (25) 0 3/4 (75)
Infarct volume, cm ³ - mean (SD) - median (IQR)	73.47 (108.25) 25.95 (7.80-105.35)
Characteristics of COVID-19	
Time from COVID-19 diagnosis and stroke (days) - mean (SD) - median (IQR)	6.5 (8.7) 4 (0-12.25)
Chest CT	9 (90)
Pneumonia - <20% (mild) - 20-50% (moderate) - >50% (severe) - Bilateral pleural effusion	9 (90) 1/9 (11.1) 3/9 (33.3) 3/9 (33.3) 2/9 (22.2)
SOFA	
- 0	1/9 (11.1)
- 1	2/9 (22.2)
- 2	2/9 (22.2)
- 3	2/9 (22.2)
- 4	2/9 (22.2)
	(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

	AIS patients n =10				
Laboratory data (reference values)					
Lymphocytes, x10 ³ /µL (1-3.2)	1.31 (0.81)				
PLT, x10 ³ /µL (150-450)	284.7 (112.41)				
LDH, UI/L (135-225)	447.89 (340.54)				
Myoglobin, ng/ml (28-72)	294 (283.95)				
CRP, mg/dL (0-0.5)	6.59 (15.74)				
D-dimer, µg/L (0-550)	3115.40 (1719.73)				
Fibrinogen, mg/dL (200-400)	481.0 (91.35)				
INR (0.8-1.2)	1.07 (0.09)				
aPTT (0.8-1.2)	0.89 (0.18)				

Values are expressed as means (SD) and percentages.

males, 9 females]. Sera were collected and stored at –20°C until use. This study was conducted in compliance with the Helsinki declaration and approved by the local ethic committees (number NCT04844632); participants gave written informed consent.

Ig fractions were isolated from sera of patients or healthy donors using (NH4)₂SO₄ (ammonium sulfate, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) precipitation (33), slightly modified. In particular, following a preliminary purity reduction step by precipitation with caprylic acid (octanoic acid, Sigma-Aldrich) (34), saturated (NH4) ₂SO₄ to a final concentration of 33% was slowly added to sera and incubated for 1 h at 4°C. Then, the samples were centrifuged at 3000 x g for 30 min at 4°C and carefully the supernatant was decanted into a fresh tube. Again, saturated (NH4)₂SO₄ (one-third of the supernatant volume) was added to bring its final concentration to ~50% and incubated for 1 h at 4°C. The resulting precipitated Ig were isolated by centrifugation at 3000 x g for 30 min at 4°C after removing the supernatant. The pellets were resuspended with PBS equal to the original volume of sera. Finally, samples were dialyzed overnight against (NH4)₂CO₃ (ammonium carbonate) through a dialyzing membrane to remove remaining ammonium sulfate, lyophilized and resuspended in sterile PBS.

Detection of aPL antibodies

All the patients and HD sera were analysed for the presence of aCL and anti- β 2-GPI antibodies (IgG and IgM) by ELISA using QUANTA LiteTM detection kit (INOVA Diagnostic Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) and confirmed by chemiluminescence assay using Zenit RA Immunoanalyzer (A. Menarini Diagnostics, Florence, Italy), according to manufacturer's instructions.

Detection of "non-criteria" aPL antibodies

All the sera were also tested for the presence of "unconventional" ("non-criteria") aPLs: IgG and IgM antibodies specific for PS/PT were

(Continued)

assessed by ELISA using a QUANTA LiteTM detection kit (INOVA Diagnostic Inc.) according to manufacturer's instructions; IgG and IgM aVim/CL antibodies were tested by ELISA assay, as previously reported (18).

Detection of anti-PF4 antibodies

We additionally tested patients and HD sera for antibodies against PF4/polyanion, using a commercial enzyme immunoassay (Immucor, Lifecodes, Waukesha, WI). Sera with an optical density > 500 arbitrary units (AU) were considered as positive.

Platelet preparation

Platelets were obtained from blood samples [in presence of acid citrate dextrose (ACD) as anticoagulant] of healthy donors, that signed informed consent from Transfusional Center of Policlinico Umberto I, Sapienza University of Rome.

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) was preliminary separated from the whole blood by centrifugation at 150 x g for 15 min at 20°C. Two thirds of the PRP, with the addition of ACD, to prevent platelet activation, were transferred into a new another sterile tube, without disturbing the buffy coat layer, in order to avoid contamination. PRP was centrifuged at 900 x g for 10 min at 20°C (with no brake applied). Platelet-poor plasma (PPP) was discarded and platelet pellets were resuspended in Tyrode's buffer, containing 10% (v:v) ACD. Then, after washing, as above, platelets pellets were resuspended in Tyrode's buffer, containing Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA, 3 mg/ml).

Platelet were counted by a hemocytometer (Coulter, Beckman Coulter, Brea, California, USA), which gives that leukocyte contamination was < 1 leukocyte/10⁷ platelets. The purity of the isolated platelets was analyzed and confirmed by staining with a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)–conjugated anti-CD41 antibody (Beckman Coulter) and using flow cytometry (Coulter Epics, Beckman Coulter; data not shown).

In vitro incubation of human platelets and western blot analysis

After isolation, human platelets $(3 \times 10^8/\text{ml})$, were seeded in into 6-well cell culture plates and incubated with Ig fractions (200 µg/ml) from sera of patients described above, with Ig fractions from sera of healthy donors, with polyclonal anti-β2-GPI IgG (200 µg/ ml, Affinity Biologicals, Ancaster, Ontario, Canada) or with control IgG (Sigma Aldrich, cod. NI02, 200 µg/ml), for 10 min at 37°C, according to the methods previously described (35, 36). After the treatment, platelets were lysed in a buffer prepared with 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.2, 1% Nonidet P-40, 10% glycerol, 50 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and protease inhibitors cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). Protein extracts, in equal amount, were analyzed by western blot and, for this purpose, they were first subjected to 10% sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and then transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA, USA). Membranes, after blocking with Tris-buffered saline Tween 20 (TBS-T) 3% BSA, were incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-phospho-ERK1/2 (Cell Signaling, Inc., Danvers, MA, USA) and polyclonal rabbit antiphospho-p38 antibodies (Cell Signaling, Inc.). Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (Sigma-Aldrich) and then enhanced chemiluminescence western blot system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Buckinghamshire, UK) were used to visualize antibody reactions. As a control of loaded protein content, phospho-ERK1/2 and phospho-p38 membranes were stripped and reprobed with rabbit anti-ERK1/2 and rabbit antip38 (Cell Signaling, Inc.) respectively. Densitometric scanning analysis was performed using a NIH Image 1.62 software (National Institutes of Health). The density of each band (absolute value) in the same gel was analyzed.

Platelet activation

Platelets from healthy donors were prepared as reported above. Platelets were incubated for 1 h, with a mix of agonists composed by U-446619 (1 μ M; synthetic thromboxane A2 receptor agonist, Helena Biosciences Europe) plus epinephrine (10 μ M; Helena Biosciences Europe) used as positive control, or, alternatively, with Ig fractions (200 μ g/ml) from sera of patients or healthy donors and then analyzed by a luciferin/luciferase method (ATP lite, PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA) to analyze platelet secretion by ATP release dosage. ATP release was calculated as a percentage of max response from the U-446619 plus epinephrine positive control. This method was performed as previously reported (36–38).

In parallel experiments, platelet function was also investigated evaluating platelet aggregation. Briefly, after treatment, platelets were added in appropriate wells and, immediately after, the plate was placed in a Plate Reader Victor 3 (PerkinElmer). The absorbance and platelet aggregation (PA) percentage were assessed using the following formula: PA% = (sample Absorbance Units – PRP Absorbance Units)/(PPP Absorbance Units– PRP Absorbance Units) × 100, as previously described (36).

Statistical analysis

For western blot analysis the statistical procedures were performed by GraphPad Prism software Inc. (San Diego, CA, USA). D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test was used to assess the normal distribution of the data. Normally distributed variables were summarized using the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Differences between numerical variables were tested using Paired t-test.

For ATP dosage, the level of significance was determined by unpaired, 2-tailed Student's t test by KaleidaGraph Software 3.6. Results (showed as mean + SD) are considered statistically significant: * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$ *** $p \le 0.001$, **** $p \le 0.001$.

Results

Serum detection of antiphospholipid antibodies

The study included 10 patients defined as COVID-19/AIS. Clinical and demographic characteristics of patients are reported in Table 1.

This study analyzed the occurrence of aPLs in these patients. In particular, aCL IgG were detected in 5/10 (50%) patients and aCL IgM in 2/10 (20%). The patients who tested positive for IgG and IgM anti- β 2-GPI antibodies were 3/10 (30%) and 2/10 (20%) respectively. All positive samples were confirmed after 12 weeks. Two out of 10 (20%) resulted positive for IgG aPS/PT antibodies; the prevalence of aVim/CL antibodies was of 5/10 (50%) for IgG (Tables 2, 3).

In the control group of non-COVID-19 stroke no patients were positive for the aPL tests used, whereas in the COVID-19 patients without vascular thrombosis 2/20 (10%) resulted positive for IgM aCL and anti- β 2-GPI antibodies (Table 3). None of these 2 samples was confirmed as positive after 12 weeks.

No one of the HD sera studied resulted positive for all the aPLs tested.

Our results indicated that no patient or HD was positive for anti-PF4/polyanion antibodies (Table 3).

Ig fractions isolated from patients with AIS during COVID-19 induce ERK1/2 and p38 phosphorylation

Since anti- β 2-GPI antibodies are the main candidate to trigger platelet activation, platelets from healthy donors were treated with Ig fractions isolated from patients with AIS during COVID-19, with Ig fractions from healthy donors or with polyclonal anti- β 2-GPI IgG. As shown in Figure 1, treatment of platelets with the Ig fractions from patients with AIS during COVID-19, as well as with polyclonal anti- β 2-GPI IgG, induced a significant increase of both phospho-ERK (Figure 1A) and phospho-p38 (Figure 1B) expression, as compared to control untreated platelets or platelets treated with Ig fractions from healthy donors, non-COVID-19 stroke patients and COVID-19 patients without vascular thrombosis (p < 0.0001). In Figure S1 the results of all ten patients with AIS during COVID-19 are reported.

Ig fractions isolated from patients with AIS during COVID-19 trigger ATP release and platelet aggregation

In order to investigate the effect of Ig fractions isolated from patients with AIS during COVID-19 on functional platelet activation, platelets from healthy donors were treated with the Ig fractions. As shown in Figure 2A, results highlighted a significant increase of ATP release in samples stimulated with the Ig fractions from patients with AIS during COVID-19 as compared to those from healthy donors (p < 0.001). The analysis revealed that 7 out of the patients with AIS showed a significant increase of ATP release compared to healthy donors, with different values (Table 2), summarized in Figure 2A. Interestingly, the three patients unable to induce ATP release were resulted negative for all aPL tests. However, the strongest ATP release was with the Ig fraction from the AIS/COVID-19 patient with no aPL Ab, suggesting that antibodies other than aPLs present in sera of COVID-19 patients may activate platelets.

This finding was supported by the analysis of platelet aggregation, which revealed that Ig fractions isolated from AIS/ COVID-19 patients induced in platelets from healthy donors an

TABLE 2 Positivity of aPL antibodies in the 10 patients with acute ischemic stroke during COVID-19.

Patient <i>n</i>	aCL IgG Ig (GPL) (I	gМ	aβ2-0 IgG I (UA/ml) (gM	aPS/I IgG Ig (UA/mI) (I	gМ	aVim IgG I		ATP release (%)	Platelet aggre- gation (%)
1	47.0	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	pos	neg	8	22
2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	pos	neg	6	21
3	69.7	neg	32.1	neg	35.9	neg	pos	neg	10	20
4	59.6	55.6	28.6	25.0	neg	neg	pos	neg	11	32
5	141.6	neg	27.1	neg	38.0	neg	pos	neg	7	24
6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	3	15
7	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	17	25
8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	3	15
9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	2	17
10	70.0	62.3	neg	32.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	16	29

 $Ig, immunoglobulin; aCL, anti-cardiolipin; a\beta 2-GPI, anti-\beta 2-Glycoprotein I; aPS/PT, anti-phosphatidylserine/prothrombin; aVim/CL, anti-vimentin/cardiolipin.$

The cut-off level used is 20 GPL or MPL units for aCL IgG or IgM, 15 UA/ml for aβ2-GPI IgG or IgM and 30 UA/ml for aPS/PT according to manufacturer's instructions.

TABLE 3 Prevalence of autoantibodies in patients and healthy donors.

Autoantibodies	COVID-19/AIS (10) n (%)	Non-COVID-19/stroke (10) <i>n</i> (%)	COVID-19 (20) n (%)	Healthy donors (30) <i>n</i> (%)
aCL IgG	5 (50)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
aCL IgM	2 (20)	0 (0)	2 (10)	0 (0)
aβ2-GPI IgG	3 (30)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
aβ2-GPI IgM	2 (20)	0 (0)	2 (10)	0 (0)
aPS/PT	2 (20)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
aVim/CL	5 (50)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
aPF4	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

AIS, acute ischemic stroke; Ig, immunoglobulin; aCL, anti-cardiolipin; aβ2-GPI, anti-β2-Glycoprotein I;

aPS/PT, anti-phosphatidylserine/prothrombin; aVim/CL, anti-vimentin/cardiolipin; aPF4, anti-platelet factor 4.

average platelet aggregation of 21.5 + 5.67%, significantly higher of that induced by Ig fractions from healthy donors (p < 0.001), that virtually did not induce platelet aggregation (Figure 2B).

Discussion

This study demonstrates the presence of aPLs in a subgroup of COVID-19 patients who presented acute ischemic stroke during the SARS-CoV-2 infection. Our results converge with the data describing an increased prevalence of aPLs in COVID-19 patients, suggesting a role in the mechanisms contributing to hypercoagulable state observed in patients with critical ill, such as those presenting ischemic stroke (12, 15–17).

Several viral and bacterial infections may lead to both thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications, emphasizing a clear

correlation between inflammation and coagulation. Pathogens, as well as inflammatory cells and mediators, are responsible of TF induction, the main initiator of the coagulation cascade (39, 40). In previous works it has been demonstrated an "in vitro" pathogenic effect of aPLs, which are able to activate a proinflammatory and procoagulant phenotype in monocytes, endothelial cells and platelets, triggering a signal transduction pathway, leading to proinflammatory cytokines and TF release (41). The severe thrombo-inflammatory manifestations of COVID-19 patients are likely related to pathogenic mechanisms of viral infection and circulating aPLs. Several studies demonstrated platelet activation in COVID-19 patients (42); in particular it was shown that immune-mediated activation of platelets may contribute to the prothrombotic state in these patients (43, 44). With the aim to explore and verify a mechanism directly involved in the amplification of severe COVID-19 disease, we analyzed the effect



FIGURE 1

Ig fractions from patients with AIS during COVID-19 induce ERK and p38 phosphorylation. Human platelets from healthy donors were treated for 10 min with Ig fractions (200 μ g/ml) from AIS/COVID-19 patients, non-COVID-19 stroke patients, COVID-19 patients without vascular thrombosis and from healthy donors or with polyclonal anti- β 2-GPI IgG (200 μ g/ml). Protein extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blot to investigate phosphorylated ERK (A) and p38 MAPK (B) using anti-phospho-ERK1/2 and anti-phospho-p38 antibodies, respectively. Samples from three representative healthy donors, three anti- β 2-GPI IgG positive patients with AIS during COVID-19 (n. 3, 4, 5 of Table 2), one representative non-COVID-19 stroke patient and one representative COVID-19 patient are shown. Densitometric values of phospho-ERK and phospho-p38 levels, calculated in all healthy donors and patients, are represented and summarized by histograms. A statistically significant difference between expression of phospho-ERK and phospho-p38 in patients with AIS during COVID-19 vs healthy donors was found (****p < 0.0001).



on a pivotal signaling pattern in human platelets and investigated the functional activation of these cells. Our results showed an activation of MAPK pathways, referred to an increased phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and p38 proteins, following incubation with Ig fractions from sera of patients with AIS during COVID-19, compared to untreated platelets or treated with healthy donor Ig fractions. Moreover, our results highlighted an increase of adenyl nucleotides release, as well as platelet aggregation after treatment with Ig fractions from sera of patients with AIS during COVID-19.

For several years, the homeostatic role of PF4 has been ascertained, since it is released from the alpha granules of activated platelets and it transfers from plasma to the high affinity heparan sulphate on endothelial cells, inhibiting local antithrombin activity (AT), thus promoting clotting (45). In this concern, we additionally tested patient and healthy donor sera for antibodies against PF4/polyanion and no one resulted positive.

It is known that heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) is caused by antibodies that recognize the PF4 and they have also been found associated with vaccine-induced thrombosis with thrombocytopenia (VITT) syndrome (46). In a recent paper, we analyzed autoantibody specificities in sera from patients affected by VITT, showing the presence of aPF4/polyanion antibodies, as well as aPLs, suggesting a possible pathogenic role (47). Indeed, the aPF4/polyanion antibodies seem to play a role mainly in the thrombotic syndrome occurring after vaccines administration, probably resembling an autoimmune-HIT, where aPF4/polyanion antibodies activate platelets in the absence of heparin. Interestingly, the data of the present study indicate the absence of aPF4/polyanion antibodies in patients with AIS during COVID-19. Thus, in this case, the effect on platelet activation may be triggered by anti- β 2-GPI positive may activate the signaling pathway. It may be due to the positivity for other antibody specificities (48), including aCL and non-criteria antibodies. In addition, we cannot exclude that antibodies other than aPLs present in sera of COVID-19 patients may activate platelets (49).

In conclusion, our findings indicate that aPLs, including "noncriteria" aPLs, are present in a cohort of patients with AIS during COVID-19, suggesting that these antibodies may represent a thromboembolic risk factor. Moreover, the data on functional and signaling activation in platelets would seek to explain the link between autoimmune response and SARS-CoV-2 viral infection. Further studies will certainly be needed to elucidate the role of aPLs and other immunological mediators in triggering the immunopathological pathways that create the pro-inflammatory and pro-coagulant conditions found in COVID-19. However, detecting these antibodies, as a serological marker to check and monitor COVID-19, may contribute to improve the risk stratification, and drive a personalized treatment with the aim of preventing thromboembolic complications.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Local ethical committee (Policlinico Umberto I) number NCT04844632. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

FP and MS designed and performed the research. MD and AF selected the patients. GR, SR and VM performed experiments. AL and VM provided and analyzed the data. AC, RM and TG wrote the paper. MS supervised the research and edited the paper. All authors read, edited, participated in the revision, and approved the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Mendoza-Pinto C, García-Carrasco M, Cervera R. Role of infectious diseases in the antiphospholipid syndrome (Including its catastrophic variant). *Curr Rheumatol Rep* (2018) 20:62. doi: 10.1007/s11926-018-0773-x

2. Sène C, Piette JC, Cacoub P. Antiphospholipid antibodies, antiphospholipid syndrome and infections. *Autoimmun Rev* (2008) 7:272-7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2007.10.001

3. Blank M, Shoenfeld Y. Beta-2-glycoprotein-I, infections, antiphospholipid syndrome and therapeutic considerations. *Clin Immunol* (2004) 112:190–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2004.02.018

4. Nakayama T, Akahoshi M, Irino K, Kimoto Y, Arinobu Y, Niiro H, et al. Transient antiphospholipid syndrome associated with primary cytomegalovirus infection: a case report and literature review. *Case Rep Rheumatol* (2014) 2014:271548. doi: 10.1155/2014/271548

5. Abdel-Wahab N, Talathi S, Lopez-Olivo MA, Suarez-Almazor ME. Risk of developing antiphospholipid antibodies following viral infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lupus* (2018) 27:572–83. doi: 10.1177/0961203317731532

6. Shoenfeld Y, Blank M, Cervera R, Font J, Raschi E, Meroni PL. Infectious origin of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2006) 65:2–6. doi: 10.1136/ard.2005.045443

 Schapkaitz E, Libhaber E, Jacobson BF, Gerber A, Rhemtula H, Büller HR. Profile of antiphospholipid antibodies in HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected women with a history of thrombosis. Int J Lab Hematol (2022) 44:635–42. doi: 10.1111/ ijlh.13805

8. Abdel-Wahab N, Lopez-Olivo MA, Pinto-Patarroyo GP, Suarez-Almazor M. Systematic review of case reports of antiphospholipid syndrome following infection. *Lupus* (2016) 25:1520–31. doi: 10.1177/0961203316640912

9. Ordi-Ros J, Villarreal J, Monegal F, Sauleda S, Esteban I, Vilardell M. Anticardiolipin antibodies in patients with chronic hepatitis c virus infection: characterization in relation to antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* (2000) 7:241–4. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.7.2.241-244.2000

10. Merrill JT, Erkan D, Winakur J, James JA. Emerging evidence of a COVID-19 thrombotic syndrome has treatment implications. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2020) 16:581–9. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0474-5

11. Ten Berg J. Venous and arterial thromboembolic disease in COVID-19. J Thromb Thrombolysis (2021) 52:1007–9. doi: 10.1007/s11239-021-02524-1

12. Lippi G, Sanchis-Gomar F, Favaloro EJ, Lavie CJ, Henry BM. Coronavirus disease 2019-associated coagulopathy. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2021) 96:203–17. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.10.031

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1129201/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1.

Ig fractions from patients with AIS during COVID-19 induce ERK and p38 phosphorylation. Human platelets from healthy donors were treated for 10 min with Ig fractions (200 mg/ml) from 10 AIS/COVID-19 patients. Protein extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blot to investigate:

(A) phosphorylated and total ERK, using anti-phospho-ERK1/2 and anti-total-ERK1/2 antibodies.

(B) phosphorylated and total p38 MAPK using anti-phospho-p38 and anti-total-p38 antibodies.

13. Beyrouti R, Adams Me, Benjamin L, Cohen H, SF F, YY G, et al. Characteristics of ischaemic stroke associated with COVID-19. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2020) 91:889–91. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-323586

14. Cao W, Zhang C, Wang H, Wu Q, Yuan Y, Chen J, et al. Ischemic stroke: An underestimated complication of COVID-19. *Aging Dis* (2021) 12:691–704. doi: 10.14336/AD.2021.0209

15. Qi X, Keith KA, Huang JH. COVID-19 and stroke: A review. Brain Hemorrhages (2021) 2:76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.hest.2020.11.001

16. Benjamin LA, Patersona RW, Moll R, Pericleous C, Brown R, Mehta PR, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies and neurological manifestations in acute COVID-19: A single-centre cross-sectional study. *EClinicalMedicine* (2021) 39:101070. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101070

17. Miyakis S, Lockshin MD, Atsumi T, Branch BW, Brey RL, Cervera R, et al. International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). *J Thromb Haemost* (2006) 4:295–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01753.x

18. Truglia S, Mancuso S, Capozzi A, Recalchi S, Riitano G, Longo A, et al. "Noncriteria antiphospholipid antibodies": bridging the gap between seropositive and seronegative antiphospholipid syndrome. *Rheumatology* (2022) 61:826–33. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keab414

19. Zuo Y, Estes SK, Ali RA, Gandhi AA, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, et al. Prothrombotic autoantibodies in serum from patient hospitalized with COVID-19. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12:eabd3876. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd3876

20. La Cava A. Antiphospholipid antibodies and COVID-19. Autoimmun Rev (2021) 20:102910. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102910

21. Xiao M, Zhang Y, Zhang S, Qin X, Xia P, Cao W, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies in critically ill patients with COVID-19. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2020) 72:1998–2004. doi: 10.1002/art.41425

22. Jevtic SD, Nazy I. The COVID complex: A review of platelet activation and immune complexes in COVID-19. *Front Immunol* (2022) 14:807934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.807934

23. Zucker MB, Katz IR. Platelet factor 4: production, structure, and physiologic and immunologic action. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* (1991) 198:693–702. doi: 10.3181/00379727-198-43309

24. Sachais BS, Higazi AA, Cines DB, Poncz M, Kowalska MA. Interactions of platelet factor 4 with the vessel wall. *Semin Thromb Hemost* (2004) 30:351-8. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-831048

25. de Groot PG. Platelets as pivot in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Blood* (2014) 124:475-6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-06-576983

26. Baroni G, Banzato A, Bison E, Denas G, Zoppellaro G, Pengo V. The role of platelets in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Platelets* (2017) 28:762-6. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2017.1280150

27. Proulle V, Furie RA, Merrill-Skoloff G, Furie BC, Furie B. Platelets are required for enhanced activation of the endothelium and fibrinogen in a mouse thrombosis model of APS. *Blood* (2014) 124:611–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-02-554980

28. Romay-Penabad Z, Aguilar-Valenzuela R, Urbanus RT, Derksen RHWM, Pennings MTT, Papalardo E, et al. Apolipoprotein e receptor 2 is involved in the thrombotic complications in a murine model of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Blood* (2011) 117:1408–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-299099

29. Zhang W, Gao F, Lu D, Sun N, Yin X, Meili J, et al. Anti- $\beta 2$ glycoprotein I antibodies in complex with $\beta 2$ glycoprotein I induce platelet activation *via* two receptors: apolipoprotein e receptor 2' and glycoprotein I b α . Front Med (2016) 10:76–84. doi: 10.1007/s11684-015-0426-7

30. Capozzi A, Manganelli V, Riitano G, Recalchi S, Truglia S, Alessandri C, et al. Tissue factor over-expression in platelets of patients with anti-phospholipid syndrome: induction role of anti- β 2-GPI antibodies. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2019) 196:59–66. doi: 10.1111/cei.13248

31. Zhang W, Zha C, Lu X, Jia R, Gao F, Sun Q, et al. Anti-β2-GPI/β2-GPI complexes induce platelet activation and promote thrombosis *via* p38MAPK: a pathway to targeted therapies. *Front Med* (2019) 13:680–9. doi: 10.1007/s11684-018-0673-5

32. Adam F, Kauskot A, Rosa JP, Bryckaert M. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in hemostasis and thrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost* (2008) 6:2007–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03169.x

33. Fishman JB, Berg EA. Ammonium sulfate fractionation of antibodies. Cold Spring Harb Protoc (2018) 1:2018. doi: 10.1101/pdb.prot099119

34. McKinney MM, Parkinson A. A simple, non-chromatografic procedure to purify immunoglobulins from serum and ascites fluid. J Immunol Methods (1987) 96:271–8. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(87)90324-3

35. Abraham S, Ma L, Kong X, Askari S, Edelstein LC, McKenzie SE. PCTP contributes to human platelet activation by enhancing dense granule secretion. *Thromb Res* (2021) 202:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2021.03.003

36. Capozzi A, Riitano G, Recalchi S, Manganelli, Costi R, Saccoliti F, et al. Effect of heparanase inhibitor on tissue factor overexpression in platelets and endothelial cells induced by anti- β 2-GPI antibodies. *J Thromb Haemost* (2021) 19:2302–13. doi: 10.1111/jth.15417

37. Guarino ML, Massimi I, Mardente S, Lappa A, Donfrancesco S, Visentin GP, et al. New platelet functional method for identification of pathogenic antibodies in HIT patients. *Platelets* (2017) 28:728–30. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2017.1293803

38. De Michele M, Iacobucci M, Chistolini A, Nicolini E, Pulcinelli F, Cerbelli B, et al. Malignant cerebral infarction after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination: a catastrophic variant of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12:4663. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25010-x

39. Goeijenbier M, Wissen M, van de Weg C, Jong E, Gerdes VEA, Meijers JCM, et al. Review: Viral infections and mechanisms of thrombosis and bleeding. *J Med Virol* (2012) 84:1680–96. doi: 10.1002/jmv.23354

40. Rondina MT, Schwertz H, Harris ES, Kraemer BF, Campbell RA, Mackman N, et al. The septic milieu triggers expression of spliced tissue factor mRNA in human platelets. *J Thromb Haemost* (2011) 9:748–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04208.x

41. Misasi R, Longo A, Recalchi S, Caissutti D, Riitano G, Manganelli V, et al. Molecular mechanisms of "antiphospholipid antibodies" and their paradoxical role in the pathogenesis of "seronegative APS". *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21:8411. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21218411

42. Langnau C, Rohlfing AK, Gekeler S, Günter M, Pöschel S, Petersen-Uribe Á, et al. Platelet activation and plasma levels of furin are associated with prognosis of patients with coronary artery disease and COVID-19. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2021) 41:2080–96. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315698

43. Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet gene expression and function in patients with COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214

44. Uzun G, Pelzl L, Singh A, Bakchoul T. Immune-mediated platelet activation in COVID-19 and vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:837629. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2022.837629

45. Prechel MM, Walenga JM. Emphasis on the role of PF4 in the incidence, pathophysiology and treatment of heparin induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb J* (2013) 11:7. doi: 10.1186/1477-9560-11-7

46. Ruggeri ZM, Ruf W. Is VITT really a HIT. Nat Immunol (2021) 22:1352–3. doi: 10.1038/s41590-021-01042-9

47. Misasi R, Capozzi A, Riitano G, Recalchi S, Manganelli V, Mattei V, et al. Signal transduction pathway involved in platelet activation in immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia after COVID-19 vaccination. *Haematologica* (2022) 107:326–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2021.279729

48. Serrano M, Espinosa G, Serrano A, Cervera R. Antigens and antibodies of the antiphospholipid syndrome as new allies in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 coagulopathy. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:4946. doi: 10.3390/ijms23094946

49. Bye AP, Hoepel W, Mitchell JL, Jégouic S, Loureiro S, Sage T, et al. Aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike IgG is a prothrombotic stimulus for platelets. *Blood* (2021) 138:1481–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021011871

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Theresa Marie Rossouw, University of Pretoria, South Africa

REVIEWED BY Tanya Augustine, University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa

*CORRESPONDENCE Tamam Bakchoul Tamam.bakchoul@med.unituebingen.de

RECEIVED 14 March 2023 ACCEPTED 04 May 2023 PUBLISHED 19 May 2023

CITATION

Hirsch J, Uzun G, Zlamal J, Singh A and Bakchoul T (2023) Platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19 and vaccineinduced thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1186000. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1186000

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hirsch, Uzun, Zlamal, Singh and Bakchoul. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19 and vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia

Johannes Hirsch^{1,2}, Günalp Uzun^{1,2}, Jan Zlamal^{1,2}, Anurag Singh¹ and Tamam Bakchoul^{1,2*}

¹Institute of Clinical and Experimental Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, ²Center for Clinical Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is known to commonly induce a thrombotic diathesis, particularly in severely affected individuals. So far, this COVID-19-associated coagulopathy (CAC) has been partially explained by hyperactivated platelets as well as by the prothrombotic effects of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) released from neutrophils. However, precise insight into the bidirectional relationship between platelets and neutrophils in the pathophysiology of CAC still lags behind. Vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) is a rare autoimmune disorder caused by auto-antibody formation in response to immunization with adenoviral vector vaccines. VITT is associated with life-threatening thromboembolic events and thus, high fatality rates. Our concept of the thrombophilia observed in VITT is relatively new, hence a better understanding could help in the management of such patients with the potential to also prevent VITT. In this review we aim to summarize the current knowledge on platelet-neutrophil interplay in COVID-19 and VITT.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, platelet activation, coagulopathy, VITT, neutrophil extracellular traps (NET), immunothrombosis

1 Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is caused by infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). The disease was initially recognized as a predominantly respiratory illness after its first appearance in the city of Wuhan, China in late 2019, but the presence of the virus at extrapulmonary sites and its fatal effects were subsequently demonstrated (1–3).

COVID-19 patients often suffer from coagulopathy in addition to mortality due to respiratory failure. These are mainly consequences of the prothrombotic state, especially in moderate and severe cases. Venous thromboembolism (VTE), thrombocytopenia and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) were early described as common complications in SARS-CoV-2 infected patients (4–7). Agarwal et al. calculated the

overall prevalence of VTE to be as high as 20.7%, with the risk being doubled in COVID-19 cases admitted to the intensive care unit (8). A large retrospective analysis of more than 370,000 cases from England found that 86% of hospitalized COVID-19 patients with VTE also suffered a concomitant pulmonary embolism, highlighting the coagulation-related risks in COVID-19 (9).

The pathophysiology of COVID-19-associated coagulopathy (CAC) is still under investigation and both cellular and plasmatic constituents of the coagulation system appear to be affected by infection with SARS-CoV-2. It has been established that hyperactivated platelets play a major role in CAC (10-14). Recently, the contributions of cells of the immune system during thrombus formation have been discussed in the setting of immunothrombosis. Histopathological examinations of thrombi from COVID-19 patients have demonstrated an increased deposition of neutrophils within the thrombus matrix in the lung vasculature suggesting that platelet-neutrophil interplay may be crucial in initiation and perpetuation of thrombosis in (hyper-) inflammatory diseases such as COVID-19 (13, 15-18). Several studies have already shown an increase in platelet-neutrophil aggregates (PNAs) circulating in blood of COVID-19 patients. However, the exact mechanisms of interaction between platelets and neutrophils remain unclear as little research was conducted yet on how these cells interact in promoting CAC. Next to their ability of phagocytosis and secretion of antimicrobial enzymes, neutrophils are capable of releasing neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) mainly consisting of DNA (19). NETs serve as attachment structures for enzymes such as myeloperoxidase (MPO) or neutrophil elastase but also trap pathogens and allow their degradation by the antimicrobial substances. NETs have been studied extensively in the last decade for their impact on thrombus formation (20, 21). Various prothrombotic conditions including DIC in septic patients (22), neoplasms (23) and heparininduced thrombocytopenia (HIT) (24, 25) have been found to be associated with elevated levels of NETs. SARS-CoV-2 was also demonstrated to directly induce NETosis (26-28). Thus, the detrimental consequences of severe COVID-19 have been partially attributed to both direct and indirect effects of NETs.

Up until now several vaccine candidates have been approved worldwide to mitigate the burden on society and healthcare caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Among the first vaccine platforms authorized in Europe were mRNA-based vaccines and vaccines using adenoviral vectors. Shortly after the rollout of immunization programs, cases of thrombocytopenia accompanied by thrombotic events have been reported in individuals recently vaccinated with Vaxzevria (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine, AstraZeneca) or Janssen Covid-19 vaccine (Ad26.COV2.S, Johnson & Johnson) - both vaccines relying on the adenoviral vector technique. For the first (or unknown) immunization with Vaxzevria, the UK's Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) calculated the overall reported incidence of thromboembolic events associated with thrombocytopenia to be 15.9 cases/million doses (29). This specific syndrome, termed vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT), is caused by the formation of antibodies against platelet factor 4 (PF4). Thrombosis and particularly cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) is the key finding of VITT with the case fatality rate estimated to be approximately 18% (30, 31). The diagnosis of VITT usually requires a history of immunization with an adenoviral vector anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccine (mainly Vaxzevria or Janssen) minimum 4 days prior, detection of anti-PF4 antibodies in serum and additional more specific platelet aggregation tests (32–34). Treatment options in VITT include non-heparin anticoagulants, administration of intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) as well as supportive care (35, 36).

Here, we give an overview of the current state of research on the interaction between platelets and neutrophils in CAC and VITT.

2 Platelets and neutrophils in CAC

2.1 Altered platelet functionality in COVID-19

Besides a reduction in platelet count, the functional properties of platelets are reportedly deranged during COVID-19. Platelets of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 were found to have higher expression of activation markers than non-COVID-19 controls (11, 12, 37–40). Table 1 lists markers for platelet and neutrophil activation described in COVID-19. Moreover, platelets in COVID-19 had an increased tendency towards aggregation and showed greater responses to stimuli as ADP, thrombin receptor activator peptide 6 (TRAP-6) or thrombin itself (10, 14, 37, 38). This indicates both a hyper-active and hyper-reactive platelet phenotype during infection with SARS-CoV-2.

Direct and indirect aspects of platelet activation have been proposed. Zhu et al. confirmed the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA within platelets. Six out of the seven patients with this finding deceased shortly after. On the contrary, only one out of 24 COVID-19 patients from the survivor group was found to have RNA positive platelets (47). The principal mechanism of cellular uptake of SARS-CoV-2 is assumed to occur via the angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE2) receptor in combination with the transmembrane serine protease/serine subfamily member 2 (TMPRSS2) (48). However, whether ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are expressed on platelets is still under debate and other mechanisms of viral entry have also been proposed (37, 49, 50). Furthermore, CD147 may serve as a site of direct interaction between platelets and SARS-CoV-2 and was also described to be a mediator of viral entry into cells via endocytosis (51, 52). Additionally, glycoprotein Ib (or CD42b) was identified as a receptor used by the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 (53). Furthermore, the direct effects of SARS-CoV-2 on platelets appear to be mediated through the upregulation of both caspase-dependent (apoptosis) and caspase-independent pathways (necroptosis) (54, 55).

Examples for indirect mechanisms of platelet activation during SARS-CoV-2 infection include specific immunoglobulins found in sera of COVID-19 patients that induce procoagulant platelets *via* Fc γ RIIa signaling (11, 12), endothelial dysfunction with increased expression of von Willebrand factor (vWF) (56, 57) and stimulation of platelets by proinflammatory markers during the cytokine storm complicating severe cases of COVID-19 (58, 59). Tissue factor (TF)

TABLE 1 Markers of platelet and neutrophil activation described in COVID-19.

	Found in/on	Clinical significance	Citations
Platelets			
P-Selectin/CD62P	α granules	parameter of platelet activation	(12, 13, 37–39, 41)
Phosphatidylserine (PS)	cell membrane	procoagulant platelets defined as PS ⁺ /CD62P ⁺	(11, 12)
CD63	δ granules	parameter of platelet activation	(39)
PAC-1	activated GP IIb/IIIa	parameter of platelet activation	(13, 37)
Mitochondrial membrane potential, $\Delta \Psi m$ (e.g., TMRE)	mitochondria	loss of $\Delta\Psi m$ is seen in procoagulant and apoptotic platelets	(11)
Neutrophils			1
CD66b	granulocyte membrane	general PMN marker, but also increases with activation/ degranulation	(42, 43)
CD11b and CD18	Mac-1	markers of activation	(13, 38, 42–45)
Citrullinated histone (CitH3)	formed in process of NETosis, part of NETs	markers for NETosis	(40, 41, 46)
Myeloperoxidase (MPO) or MPO-DNA complexes	Primary (azurophilic) granules, part of NETs	markers for INE LOSIS	

secreted from SARS-CoV-2 infected cells such as epithelium also indirectly activates platelets *via* thrombin-mediated signaling (59, 60). Moreover, thrombopoietin (TPO), which promotes *in vitro* platelet hyperresponsiveness and platelet-leukocyte interaction, is found to be increased in COVID-19 patients (61, 62) Additionally, platelets also secrete cytokines during SARS-CoV-2 infection themselves and consequently contribute to the hyperinflammatory state increasing the risk of CAC (63, 64).

2.2 The role of neutrophils and NETs in CAC

Leukocytosis and thus, neutrophilia are common laboratory findings in COVID-19 as the mobilization of immune cells from the bone marrow is one of the earliest responses to combat pathogens (65). The phenotype of neutrophils changes during the infection with SARS-CoV-2. As expected, serum levels of typical markers of neutrophil activation (degranulation and NETosis) such as MPO-DNA complexes or citrullinated histone H3 (Cit-H3) in COVID-19 patients were found to be correlating with disease severity (41, 46). Furthermore, TF increases on neutrophils isolated from patients with severe COVID-19 (66). This suggests how among other pathways primed neutrophils potentially promote or even elicit thrombus formation. As mentioned, NETs are composed of DNA, DNA-associated structures (e.g., histones) and contents of neutrophil granules. Noubouossie et al. reported on the ability of neutrophil DNA to induce thrombin generation (TG) in both platelet-rich and platelet-free plasma although histone-mediated TG appeared to require the presence of platelets (67). For the latter, the toll-like receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 on platelets seem to be of importance in mediating the increase in TG (68).

In a mouse model for SARS-CoV-2 infection, Sung et al. demonstrated the importance of TLR2 and C-type lectin domain family 5 member (CLEC5A) in neutrophils for NETosis and the release of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin 6 (IL-6). Interestingly, further *in vitro* experiments with SARS-CoV-2 and mice neutrophils showed accumulation of MPO, Cit-H3 and DNA within the neutrophilic cytoplasm after 5 hours. However, marked NETosis became evident only when incubated with autologous platelets. This suggests that platelet presence could be necessary for further neutrophil activation and NETosis in the case of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Interestingly, in contrast to former evidence with the Dengue virus where NET formation was found to be thread-like, the authors concluded that NETosis elicited by SARS-CoV-2 had a different, more aggregated appearance (69).

Additionally, low-density neutrophils (LDNs) appear to be increasing in number in COVID-19 more than other neutrophil subpopulations (44). These cells - termed CD16^{int} due to their behavior to only intermediately stain with anti-FcyRIII (CD16) also display an upregulation of genes that are related to NETosis when compared to the CD16^{high} neutrophils. As expected, the authors reported spontaneous in vitro formation of NETs in these LDNs (42). Schulte-Schrepping et al. have further elaborated on the myeloid response in severe COVID-19 giving rise to distinct neutrophil precursor subclasses which are characterized by different gene activation signatures including genes involved in NETosis (70). Previously, LDNs have commonly been described in rheumatological diseases as systemic lupus erythematosus or antiphospholipid syndrome for their proinflammatory effects although consensus on their precise characterization in terms of origin, function and fate has not been reached (71, 72).

As a side note, neutrophils contribute to CAC by releasing a variety of immune mediators causing a cytokine storm and DIC

(73). For instance, Kaiser et al. proposed a vicious cycle of IL-8 released from neutrophils in severe COVID-19 which further attracts and activates additional neutrophils (74).

2.3 Direct and indirect interplay between platelets and neutrophils in COVID-19

2.3.1 Platelet-neutrophil aggregates as the result of direct interaction

The first quantifiable endpoint of platelet and neutrophil interaction in CAC is represented by complex formation. As mentioned, such platelet-neutrophil aggregates (PNAs) are abundant in SARS-CoV-2 positive patients (37, 41, 45, 75–77). COVID-19 disease severity correlates with blood levels of PNAs (78). Both normal-density neutrophils (NDNs) and LDNs form PNAs although complexes of platelets and CD16^{int} had significantly higher expression of P-selectin (CD62P) and CD40 than PNAs with CD16^{high} neutrophils (42). This could be an additional hint for the hyperactive properties of LDNs and their dominant role in mediating a potential synergy between activated platelets and neutrophils in thrombosis.

In the following, we provide an outline of the most relevant receptors in the process of aggregate formation. Figure 1 illustrates the direct and indirect aspects of platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19.

2.3.1.1 P-selectin and PSGL-1

Platelet CD62P (P-selectin) and neutrophil P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1, CD162) are a long-known

interaction site for platelets and granulocytes (79, 80). Wang et al. demonstrated the major role of PSGL-1 in the coagulopathy associated with systemic inflammation suggesting that CD62P-PSGL-1 coupling also is involved in CAC (81). P-selectin has been identified as the major platelet receptor for monocyte-platelet aggregation in COVID-19 patients (82). Interestingly, platelets *in vitro* activated by SARS-CoV-2 spike protein were shown to cause activation of monocytes *via* CD62P-PSGL-1 coupling (53). Non-specific gene signature analysis of whole blood from severe to critical COVID-19 patients additionally has shown an upregulation of SELPG, the gene encoding PSGL-1 (83).

2.3.1.2 Mac-1

The macrophage-1 antigen (Mac-1) is made up of the two integrins αM (CD11b) and $\beta 2$ (CD18) and serves several purposes including binding complement and regulation of leukocyte extravasation (84). Despite the name, neutrophils also express Mac-1 and determination of CD11b is considered a typical marker of neutrophil activation beside CD66b (Table 1). Previously, it was shown that Mac-1 interacts with platelet glycoprotein Iba (vWF receptor) in mediating thrombosis (21, 85). Increased expression of both CD11b and CD18 on neutrophils isolated from COVID-19 patients was noted when compared to healthy volunteers suggesting one potential mechanism of platelet activation via Mac-1 binding of platelet GP Ib (43, 45). Additionally, the behavior of three different neutrophil subpopulations in COVID-19 patients was investigated by Reyes et al. First, neutrophils isolated by density gradient centrifugation from both the PMN and PBMC layer were separated into NDNs



FIGURE 1

Graphical illustration of platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19. Inflammatory mediators released from immune cells as well as endothelial cells during COVID-19 activate both platelets and neutrophils independently. After activation, several receptors are known to be involved in platelet-neutrophil interaction in COVID-19 which in turn leads to NETosis, subsequent platelet activation and thrombus initiation. CD40L - CD40 ligand; SLC44A2 - solute carrier family 44 member 2; GP llb/llla - glycoprotein llb/llla; Mac-1 - macrophage-1 antigen complex; GP lb - glycoprotein lb; PSGL-1 - P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. Created with BioRender.com.

and LDNs. LDNs were further characterized for maturity based on expression of CD10 and CD16. Interestingly, mature LDNs (CD16⁺/CD10⁺) showed high levels of Mac-1 similar to NDNs but formed more complexes with platelets than NDNs. On the other hand, immature LDNs (CD16⁻/CD10⁻) showed lower levels of Mac-1 and appeared to form fewer PNAs (43).

As discussed later, Mac-1 also recognizes several chemokines secreted from platelets including PF4.

2.3.1.3 GP IIb/IIIa and SLC44A2

The platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (integrin α2bβ3, CD41/ CD61) is known to interact with the widely distributed choline transporter-like protein 2 (CTL2, SLC44A2) presenting on neutrophils. The importance of SLC44A2 in hemostasis and particularly VTE has already been established in both genetic and animal studies (86-88). Constantinescu-Bercu et al. highlighted the neutrophil SLC44A2 - platelet integrin $\alpha 2b\beta 3$ axis as an important communication channel of NETosis. Neutrophils were shown to form NETs when infused through GP IIb/IIIa-coated microchannels although simple incubation without flow resulted in a significant decrease in NETosis (89). This implies that formation of NETs also depends on mechanistic effects. From studies on platelet-monocyte interactions, Hottz et al. reported that in vitro inhibition of GP IIb/IIIa with abciximab limited the ability of platelets from COVID-19 patients to activate TF expression by monocytes (82). Up to this point there is no data available on SLC44A2 in COVID-19 and how it could potentially impact CAC except for fundamental proteomic data which suggests a significant downregulation of SLC44A2 in neutrophils from severe COVID-19 patients (90).

2.3.1.4 CD40 and CD40L

Apart from many immune responses which are regulated by CD40 and its ligand CD40L (CD154), platelets and neutrophils were also demonstrated to use this pathway (91, 92). Both CD40L expressed on the platelet membrane and soluble CD40L released from platelets (sCD40L) were found to be critical for neutrophil activation in animal models (93, 94). It was also established that CD40L is not uniquely limited to bind CD40 as it also interacted with Mac-1 (95). In general, neutrophil adhesion to platelets was shown to be enhanced by CD40L but this effect was dependent on Mac-1 as its inhibition with anti-CD11b reversed the bonding affinity of neutrophils for platelets (96). Blood from COVID-19 patients had significantly higher concentrations of sCD40L than healthy volunteers (97, 98). However, this was not consistent with the report of Blasi et al. where no significant difference in plasma sCD40L was evident between COVID-19 patients and healthy controls (99). Interestingly, Al-Tamimi et al. showed soluble CD40L levels peaking with moderate disease followed by a decline when disease severity increases (100). This may explain, at least in part, the inconsistencies observed at different time points in the course of COVID-19. In vitro stimulation of platelet-rich plasma with the receptor-binding domain of SARS-CoV-2 caused the levels of soluble CD40L to increase (101). This suggests a direct viral effect on platelets causing sCD40L secretion which in turn could induce neutrophil activation. Li et al. showed that spike protein-activated platelets interacted with monocytes using CD40L (53). This clearly highlights the substantiality of platelet presence in fully unfolding the effects of SARS-CoV-2.

On the other hand, the expression of CD40 on LDNs (CD16^{int}) correlated with both disease severity and the concentration of D-dimers (42). As described previously, such LDNs are thought to be pro-NETotic. Increased expression of CD40 on LDNs as binding site for platelet surface CD40L and sCD40L released from platelets among other cells (e.g., endothelium) could render these LDNs more susceptible to PNA formation and subsequent platelet-mediated neutrophil activation. For further information on the role of CD40/CD40L in thromboinflammation we refer to the review by Cognasse et al. (102).

2.3.2 Indirect pathways of plateletneutrophil interaction: inflammatory mediators and microvesicles

Numerous indirect ways of communication between platelets and neutrophils have been reported. Precise dissection of these pathways is challenging and often ambiguous. Most importantly, inflammatory mediators (e.g., cytokines) secreted from both cell types and so-called microvesicles (MVs) are thought to participate in indirect platelet-neutrophil interaction.

Microvesicles are released from cells through membrane budding and usually contain intracellular contents. Platelets are well known to release such extracellular vesicles into circulation in various situations including COVID-19 (63, 64, 103). High levels of platelet-derived MVs expressing TF were found in COVID-19 patients highlighting the thrombotic diathesis of SARS-CoV-2 infection (58, 104). Neutrophils from COVID-19 patients also release MVs which are an important source of TF. Skendros et al. suggested that this plateletneutrophil-TF axis may be the critical link between immune defense and both plasmatic and cellular hemostasis, leading to CAC (66). Previously, a circular relationship between MVs from neutrophils and platelets has been proposed where direct interaction via Pselectin/PSGL-1 coupling initiated platelet-induced arachidonic release from neutrophils. In turn, after uptake into the platelet interior, thromboxane A2 (TxA2) is generated and released causing endothelial activation and subsequently leukocyte rolling and diapedesis (105). Furthermore, TxA2 has been previously reported to play a role in NET formation in the pathogenesis of transfusion related acute lung injury (TRALI) (106). However, whether this applies to NETosis in COVID-19 as well is yet to determine.

The cytokine response to SARS-CoV-2 viremia is complex and sometimes progresses to an hyperinflammatory state with excessive cytokine release ("cytokine storm"). Multiple cell types participate in this process including neutrophils and platelets. As mentioned, platelets in COVID-19 may secrete soluble CD40L but also other non-cytokine mediators such as the positively charged PF4 in COVID-19 (64). PF4 or CXCL4 is known to interact with the neutrophil Mac-1 receptor and also directly with NETs as by their anionic nature. In general, its effects are diverse but include neutrophil chemotaxis, stimulation of NET formation and NET

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1186000

compaction (107-112). The exact role of PF4-mediated plateletneutrophil interaction in COVID-19 was not investigated further albeit a single study on COVID-19 patients that reported elevated levels of both PF4 and RANTES (Regulated and Normal T cell Expressed and Secreted), a chemokine released from platelets (76). High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) also plays a role among the mediators of platelet-neutrophil interplay and high HMGB1 levels were shown to be associated with COVID-19 mortality (113, 114). HMGB1 is a damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) protein which can be released from activated or necrotic cells. The function of HMGB1 in thrombosis has only been superficially covered but findings from acute myocardial infarction patients suggested that platelet-derived HMGB1 acts on neutrophils and stimulates the release of NETs. Here, the RAGE receptor (Receptor for Advanced Glycation End products) is of importance (115). An animal study from Vogel et al. has further elaborated on the essential role of HMGB1 in passing prothrombotic signals from platelets to neutrophils (116).

Another example of a relevant mediator in platelet-neutrophil interplay is represented by IL-6 which has already been identified as a main target in counteracting the hyperinflammatory state observed in severe cases of COVID-19 (58, 63). Interestingly, IL-6 blockade in COVID-19 plasma with tocilizumab significantly reduced the high levels of TF+-platelet MVs and PNAs when compared to control plasma (58).

Additionally, neutrophils may release calprotectin or S100A8/A9 upon activation, a protein with the potential to induce procoagulant platelets *via* GP Ib α *in vitro*. COVID-19 patients showed high levels of S100A8/A9 correlating with disease severity (117, 118). Again, differences in upregulation of both S100A8 and S100A9 gene were noted among distinct neutrophil precursor subclasses in severe COVID-19 (70). Additionally, calprotectin deposits have been identified on lung autopsies of COVID-19 deaths (119). The procoagulant effects of neutrophil cathepsin G on the other hand is more certain and direct interaction between this serine protease and platelets is thought to be mediated by protease-activated receptors, PAR-1 and/or PAR-4 (120–123). High levels of cathepsin G are found in COVID-19 but also pneumonia with acute respiratory distress syndrome of different etiologies (124, 125).

2.4 Platelets, neutrophils and NETs in VITT

Although little is known about platelet-neutrophil interplay in VITT yet, recent evidence suggests the importance of this relationship in initiating and perpetuating vaccine-induced thrombosis. Direct platelet-neutrophil interaction in the form of PNAs was already found to be upregulated in VITT resulting in higher levels of PNAs as compared to control (126). On a single cellular level, both platelets and neutrophils have been demonstrated to be directly activated *in vitro* by VITT antibodies (126–128). Several case reports have highlighted the presence of NETs within thrombi of VITT patients indicating that NETs are involved in vaccine-induced thrombosis (129, 130). Additionally, increased plasma levels of NET markers (e.g., Cit-H3, MPO-DNA

complex) were observed in VITT patients (126, 129). This is in line with recent findings in other prothrombotic conditions such as COVID-19 and HIT. Furthermore, the severity of side effects of the immunization has been correlated to serum histone 3 levels as well (131).

For neutrophils, the proportion of NET-releasing granulocytes was found to be significantly higher in VITT patients compared to control groups (126). Again, LDNs appear to be particularly involved here. NETosis from LDNs in VITT was significantly higher than NET release from NDNs (126, 129). Further research should be directed towards functions and significance of this peculiar neutrophil subpopulation to eventually identify potential pharmaceutical targets in counteracting NET formation in immunothrombosis. Interestingly, Greinacher et al. reported that in vitro incubation of isolated neutrophils with VITT serum and PF4 did not lead to NETosis unless platelets were also added to the experiment (128). Thus, it could be concluded that platelets have a crucial role in neutrophil activation and NET formation also in the setting of VITT. Here, microvesicles released from platelets seem to be of importance for the prothrombotic milieu and could help in explaining the cerebral venous tropism of VITT thrombosis (132). However, future efforts are needed to investigate the exact direct and indirect mechanisms of intercellular communication and interplay of neutrophil and platelets in VITT.

Recent studies have focused on neutrophil-activating peptide 2 (NAP2) or CXCL7 released from platelets stimulated with VITT antibodies which in turn activated neutrophils (133–135). Hundelshausen et al. proposed the use of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors (BTKi) in VITT as they were shown to limit platelet P-selectin expression, reduce neutrophil activation and inhibit platelet-neutrophil aggregation (136, 137). Apart from stored VITT sera mainly from spring 2021, future VITT models could rely on chimeric anti-PF4 antibodies mimicking vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia such as 1E12 (138).

3 Conclusions

In general, both platelets and neutrophils on their own are considered to be major actors in the prothrombotic state seen in COVID-19 and VITT. With our understanding of thromboinflammation still evolving, further efforts should be directed towards dissecting the precise mechanisms of direct and indirect platelet-neutrophil interplay. From our point of view, this relationship should be seen as bidirectional with both types of cells closely interacting and potentiating the thrombotic cascade of initiation, formation and extension of thrombosis. Detailed insights into this interaction and its pathways could be used to design targeted therapies that reduce the occurrence of lifethreatening thrombotic complications in COVID-19 and VITT. Additional research on the role of LDNs may help limit the consequences of hyperinflammation associated with COVID-19. In vitro thrombosis models, such as microfluidic systems, might be helpful in this regard to understand the role of different cells in the development of thrombosis in patients with COVID-19 as well

as VITT.

Author contributions

JH, GU and TB wrote the manuscript. JH, GU and AS performed the literature review and data collection. JH and JZ designed the Figures. JH, GU, JZ, AS and TB revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

We acknowledge support from the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Tübingen.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Puelles VG, Lütgehetmann M, Lindenmeyer MT, Sperhake JP, Wong MN, Allweiss L, et al. Multiorgan and renal tropism of SARS-CoV-2. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 383:590–2. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2011400

2. Yao X-H, Luo T, Shi Y, He Z-C, Tang R, Zhang P-P, et al. A cohort autopsy study defines COVID-19 systemic pathogenesis. *Cell Res* (2021) 31:836–46. doi: 10.1038/ s41422-021-00523-8

3. Basso C, Leone O, Rizzo S, de Gaspari M, van der Wal AC, Aubry M-C, et al. Pathological features of COVID-19-Associated myocardial injury: a multicentre cardiovascular pathology study. *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41:3827–35. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehaa664

4. Liao D, Zhou F, Luo L, Xu M, Wang H, Xia J, et al. Haematological characteristics and risk factors in the classification and prognosis evaluation of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Haematol* (2020) 7:e671–8. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30217-9

5. Al-Samkari H, Karp Leaf RS, Dzik WH, Carlson JC, Fogerty AE, Waheed A, et al. COVID-19 and coagulation: bleeding and thrombotic manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Blood* (2020) 136:489–500. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006520

6. Wichmann D, Sperhake J-P, Lütgehetmann M, Steurer S, Edler C, Heinemann A, et al. Autopsy findings and venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19: a prospective cohort study. *Ann Intern Med* (2020) 173:268–77. doi: 10.7326/M20-2003

7. Grosse C, Grosse A, Salzer HJ, Dünser MW, Motz R, Langer R. Analysis of cardiopulmonary findings in COVID-19 fatalities: high incidence of pulmonary artery thrombi and acute suppurative bronchopneumonia. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2020) 49:107263. doi: 10.1016/j.carpath.2020.107263

 Agarwal G, Hajra A, Chakraborty S, Patel N, Biswas S, Adler MK, et al. Predictors and mortality risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis* (2022) 16:1–22. doi: 10.1177/17539447221105013

9. Roberts LN, Navaratnam AV, Arya R, Briggs TW, Gray WK. Venous thromboembolism in patients hospitalised with COVID-19 in England. *Thromb Res* (2022) 213:138-44. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2022.03.017

10. Jakobs K, Reinshagen L, Puccini M, Friebel J, Wilde A-CB, Alsheik A, et al. Disease severity in moderate-to-Severe COVID-19 is associated with platelet hyperreactivity and innate immune activation. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:844701. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.844701

11. Althaus K, Marini I, Zlamal J, Pelzl L, Singh A, Häberle H, et al. Antibodyinduced procoagulant platelets in severe COVID-19 infection. *Blood* (2021) 137:1061– 71. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008762

12. Zlamal J, Althaus K, Jaffal H, Häberle H, Pelzl L, Singh A, et al. Upregulation of cAMP prevents antibody-mediated thrombus formation in COVID-19. *Blood Adv* (2022) 6:248–58. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2021005210

13. Nicolai L, Leunig A, Brambs S, Kaiser R, Weinberger T, Weigand M, et al. Immunothrombotic dysregulation in COVID-19 pneumonia is associated with respiratory failure and coagulopathy. *Circulation* (2020) 142:1176–89. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048488

14. Barrett TJ, Bilaloglu S, Cornwell M, Burgess HM, Virginio VW, Drenkova K, et al. Platelets contribute to disease severity in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2021) 19:3139–53. doi: 10.1111/jth.15534

15. Fox SE, Akmatbekov A, Harbert JL, Li G, Quincy Brown J, Vander Heide RS. Pulmonary and cardiac pathology in African American patients with COVID-19: an

autopsy series from new Orleans. Lancet Respir Med (2020) 8:681-6. doi: 10.1016/ S2213-2600(20)30243-5

16. Genchi A, Semerano A, Schwarz G, Dell'Acqua B, Gullotta GS, Sampaolo M, et al. Neutrophils predominate the immune signature of cerebral thrombi in COVID-19 stroke patients. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* (2022) 10:14. doi: 10.1186/s40478-022-01313-y

17. Johnson JE, McGuone D, Xu ML, Jane-Wit D, Mitchell RN, Libby P, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) coronary vascular thrombosis: correlation with neutrophil but not endothelial activation. *Am J Pathol* (2022) 192:112–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2021.09.004

18. Tanaka C, Hiraiwa S, Otsuka H, Yamaguchi M. Platelet aggregation with various morphologies of neutrophils in arterial thrombus in a patient with coronavirus disease: a case report. *J Surg Case Rep* (2022) 2022:1–5. doi: 10.1093/jscr/rjac532

19. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* (2004) 303:1532–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1092385

20. Fuchs TA, Brill A, Duerschmied D, Schatzberg D, Monestier M, Myers DD, et al. Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2010) 107:15880–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005743107

21. von Brühl M-L, Stark K, Steinhart A, Chandraratne S, Konrad I, Lorenz M, et al. Monocytes, neutrophils, and platelets cooperate to initiate and propagate venous thrombosis in mice *in vivo. J Exp Med* (2012) 209:819–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20112322

22. Stiel L, Mayeur-Rousse C, Helms J, Meziani F, Mauvieux L. First visualization of circulating neutrophil extracellular traps using cell fluorescence during human septic shock-induced disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Thromb Res* (2019) 183:153–8. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2019.09.036

23. Zhang Y, Wang C, Yu M, Zhao X, Du J, Li Y, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps induced by activated platelets contribute to procoagulant activity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Thromb Res* (2019) 180:87–97. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2019.06.005

24. Perdomo J, Leung HH, Ahmadi Z, Yan F, Chong JJ, Passam FH, et al. Neutrophil activation and NETosis are the major drivers of thrombosis in heparininduced thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1322. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09160-7

25. Gollomp K, Kim M, Johnston I, Hayes V, Welsh J, Arepally GM, et al. Neutrophil accumulation and NET release contribute to thrombosis in HIT. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3:e99445. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.99445

26. Arcanjo A, Logullo J, Menezes CC, de Souza Carvalho Giangiarulo TC, Dos Reis MC, de Castro GM, et al. The emerging role of neutrophil extracellular traps in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (COVID-19). *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:19630. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76781-0

27. Youn Y-J, Lee Y-B, Kim S-H, Jin HK, Bae J-S, Hong C-W. Nucleocapsid and spike proteins of SARS-CoV-2 drive neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *Immune Netw* (2021) 21:e16. doi: 10.4110/in.2021.21.e16

28. Veras FP, Pontelli MC, Silva CM, Toller-Kawahisa JE, de Lima M, Nascimento DC, et al. SARS-CoV-2-Triggered neutrophil extracellular traps mediate COVID-19 pathology. *J Exp Med* (2020) 217:e20201129. doi: 10.1084/jem.20201129

29. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. *Coronavirus vaccines - summary of yellow card reporting*. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1128782/Coronavirus_Vaccine_-Summary_of_Yellow_Card_reporting_23.11.2022_final.pdf.

30. Lane S, Shakir S. Assessing case fatality on cases of thrombosis with concurrent thrombocytopenia following COVID-19 vaccine AstraZeneca (Vaxzevria) in the united kingdom: a review of spontaneously reported data. *Drug Saf* (2022) 45:1003–8. doi: 10.1007/s40264-022-01217-9

31. Krzywicka K, Heldner MR, van Sánchez Kammen M, van Haaps T, Hiltunen S, Silvis SM, et al. Post-SARS-CoV-2-Vaccination cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: an analysis of cases notified to the European medicines agency. *Eur J Neurol* (2021) 28:3656–62. doi: 10.1111/ene.15029

32. Oldenburg J, Klamroth R, Langer F, Albisetti M, von AC, Ay C, et al. Diagnosis and management of vaccine-related thrombosis following AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccination: guidance statement from the GTH. *Hamostaseologie* (2021) 41:184–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1469-7481

33. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840

34. Nazy I, Sachs UJ, Arnold DM, McKenzie SE, Choi P, Althaus K, et al. Recommendations for the clinical and laboratory diagnosis of VITT against COVID-19: communication from the ISTH SSC subcommittee on platelet immunology. *J Thromb Haemost* (2021) 19:1585–8. doi: 10.1111/jth.15341

35. Cines DB, Greinacher A. Spotlight on vaccine-induced thrombosis and thrombocytopenia (VITT). *Blood* (2023) 141:1659–65. doi: 10.1182/blood.2022017696

36. Gabarin N, Arnold DM, Nazy I, Warkentin TE. Treatment of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). *Semin Hematol* (2022) 59:89–96. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2022.03.002

37. Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet gene expression and function in patients with COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214

38. Chao Y, Rebetz J, Bläckberg A, Hovold G, Sunnerhagen T, Rasmussen M, et al. Distinct phenotypes of platelet, monocyte, and neutrophil activation occur during the acute and convalescent phase of COVID-19. *Platelets* (2021) 32:1092–102. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2021.1921721

39. Bongiovanni D, Klug M, Lazareva O, Weidlich S, Biasi M, Ursu S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection is associated with a pro-thrombotic platelet phenotype. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12:50. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03333-9

40. Dechamps M, de Poortere J, Martin M, Gatto L, Daumerie A, Bouzin C, et al. Inflammation-induced coagulopathy substantially differs between COVID-19 and septic shock: a prospective observational study. *Front Med* (2021) 8:780750. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.780750

41. Petito E, Falcinelli E, Paliani U, Cesari E, Vaudo G, Sebastiano M, et al. Association of neutrophil activation, more than platelet activation, with thrombotic complications in coronavirus disease 2019. *J Infect Dis* (2021) 223:933–44. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa756

42. Morrissey SM, Geller AE, Hu X, Tieri D, Ding C, Klaes CK, et al. A specific lowdensity neutrophil population correlates with hypercoagulation and disease severity in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. *JCI Insight* (2021) 6:e148435. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.148435

43. Reyes L, Sanchez-Garcia M A, Morrison T, Howden AJ, Watts ER, Arienti S, et al. Prothrombotic hyperinflammatory neutrophil signature is distinct for COVID-19 ARDS. *Wellcome Open Res* (2021) 6:38. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.16584.2

44. Cabrera LE, Pekkarinen PT, Alander M, Nowlan KH, Nguyen NA, Jokiranta S, et al. Characterization of low-density granulocytes in COVID-19. *PloS Pathog* (2021) 17:e1009721. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009721

45. Rieder M, Baldus N, Stallmann D, Jeserich M, Goller I, Wirth L, et al. Early SARS-CoV-2 infection: platelet-neutrophil complexes and platelet function. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost* (2022) 7:100025. doi: 10.1016/j.rpth.2022.100025

46. Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19. *JCI Insight* (2020) 5:e138999. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.138999

47. Zhu A, Real F, Capron C, Rosenberg AR, Silvin A, Dunsmore G, et al. Infection of lung megakaryocytes and platelets by SARS-CoV-2 anticipate fatal COVID-19. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2022) 79:365. doi: 10.1007/s00018-022-04318-x

48. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell* (2020) 181:271–280.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052

49. Shen S, Zhang J, Fang Y, Lu S, Wu J, Zheng X, et al. SARS-CoV-2 interacts with platelets and megakaryocytes *via* ACE2-independent mechanism. *J Hematol Oncol* (2021) 14:72. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01082-6

50. Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 binds platelet ACE2 to enhance thrombosis in COVID-19. J Hematol Oncol (2020) 13:120. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00954-7

51. Maugeri N, de Lorenzo R, Clementi N, Antonia Diotti R, Criscuolo E, Godino C, et al. Unconventional CD147-dependent platelet activation elicited by SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost* (2022) 20:434–48. doi: 10.1111/jth.15575

52. Wang K, Chen W, Zhang Z, Deng Y, Lian J-Q, Du P, et al. CD147-spike protein is a novel route for SARS-CoV-2 infection to host cells. *Sig Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5:283. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00426-x

53. Li T, Yang Y, Li Y, Wang Z, Ma F, Luo R, et al. Platelets mediate inflammatory monocyte activation by SARS-CoV-2 spike protein. *J Clin Invest* (2022) 132:e150101. doi: 10.1172/JCI150101

54. Trugilho MR, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Gesto JS, Moraes EC, Mandacaru SC, Campos MM, et al. Platelet proteome reveals features of cell death, antiviral response and viral replication in covid-19. *Cell Death Discovery* (2022) 8:324. doi: 10.1038/s41420-022-01122-1

55. Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Tanriverdi K, Somasundaran M, Liu P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 initiates programmed cell death in platelets. *Circ Res* (2021) 129:631–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319117

56. Won T, Wood MK, Hughes DM, Talor MV, Ma Z, Schneider J, et al. Endothelial thrombomodulin downregulation caused by hypoxia contributes to severe infiltration and coagulopathy in COVID-19 patient lungs. *EBioMedicine* (2022) 75:103812. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103812

57. Birnhuber A, Fließer E, Gorkiewicz G, Zacharias M, Seeliger B, David S, et al. Between inflammation and thrombosis: endothelial cells in COVID-19. *Eur Respir J* (2021) 58:2100377. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00377-2021

58. Canzano P, Brambilla M, Porro B, Cosentino N, Tortorici E, Vicini S, et al. Platelet and endothelial activation as potential mechanisms behind the thrombotic complications of COVID-19 patients. *JACC Basic Trans Sci* (2021) 6:202–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2020.12.009

59. Puhm F, Allaeys I, Lacasse E, Dubuc I, Galipeau Y, Zaid Y, et al. Platelet activation by SARS-CoV-2 implicates the release of active tissue factor by infected cells. *Blood Adv* (2022) 6:3593–605. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007444

60. Francischetti IM, Toomer K, Zhang Y, Jani J, Siddiqui Z, Brotman DJ, et al. Upregulation of pulmonary tissue factor, loss of thrombomodulin and immunothrombosis in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *eClinicalMedicine* (2021) 39:101069. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101069

61. Lupia E, Capuano M, Vizio B, Schiavello M, Bosco O, Gelardi M, et al. Thrombopoietin participates in platelet activation in COVID-19 patients. *EBioMedicine* (2022) 85:104305. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.104305

62. Doi T, Hori T, Onuma T, Mizutani D, Ueda K, Enomoto Y, et al. Thrombopoietin and collagen in low doses cooperatively induce human platelet activation. *Acute Med Surg* (2022) 9:e769. doi: 10.1002/ams2.769

63. Taus F, Salvagno G, Canè S, Fava C, Mazzaferri F, Carrara E, et al. Platelets promote thromboinflammation in SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2020) 40:2975–89. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315175

64. Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets can associate with SARS-Cov-2 RNA and are hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703

65. Zinellu A, Mangoni AA. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between the neutrophil, lymphocyte, and platelet count, neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-Lymphocyte ratio and COVID-19 progression and mortality. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2022) 18:1187–202. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2022.2120472

66. Skendros P, Mitsios A, Chrysanthopoulou A, Mastellos DC, Metallidis S, Rafailidis P, et al. Complement and tissue factor-enriched neutrophil extracellular traps are key drivers in COVID-19 immunothrombosis. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:6151–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI141374

67. Noubouossie DF, Whelihan MF, Yu Y-B, Sparkenbaugh E, Pawlinski R, Monroe DM, et al. *In vitro* activation of coagulation by human neutrophil DNA and histone proteins but not neutrophil extracellular traps. *Blood* (2017) 129:1021–9. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2016-06-722298

68. Semeraro F, Ammollo CT, Morrissey JH, Dale GL, Friese P, Esmon NL, et al. Extracellular histones promote thrombin generation through platelet-dependent mechanisms: involvement of platelet TLR2 and TLR4. *Blood* (2011) 118:1952–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-343061

69. Sung P-S, Yang S-P, Peng Y-C, Sun C-P, Tao M-H, Hsieh S-L. CLEC5A and TLR2 are critical in SARS-CoV-2-Induced NET formation and lung inflammation. *J BioMed Sci* (2022) 29:52. doi: 10.1186/s12929-022-00832-z

70. Schulte-Schrepping J, Reusch N, Paclik D, Baßler K, Schlickeiser S, Zhang B, et al. Severe COVID-19 is marked by a dysregulated myeloid cell compartment. *Cell* (2020) 182:1419–1440.e23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.001

71. Denny MF, Yalavarthi S, Zhao W, Thacker SG, Anderson M, Sandy AR, et al. A distinct subset of proinflammatory neutrophils isolated from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus induces vascular damage and synthesizes type I IFNs. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:3284–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902199

72. Mauracher L-M, Krall M, Roiß J, Hell L, Koder S, Hofbauer TM, et al. Neutrophil subpopulations and their activation potential in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome and healthy individuals. *Rheumatology* (2021) 60:1687–99. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa532

73. Chan L, Karimi N, Morovati S, Alizadeh K, Kakish JE, Vanderkamp S, et al. The roles of neutrophils in cytokine storms. *Viruses* (2021) 13:2318. doi: 10.3390/v13112318

74. Kaiser R, Leunig A, Pekayvaz K, Popp O, Joppich M, Polewka V, et al. Selfsustaining IL-8 loops drive a prothrombotic neutrophil phenotype in severe COVID-19. *JCI Insight* (2021) 6:e150862. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.150862

75. Loyer C, Lapostolle A, Urbina T, Elabbadi A, Lavillegrand J-R, Chaigneau T, et al. Impairment of neutrophil functions and homeostasis in COVID-19 patients:

association with disease severity. Crit Care (2022) 26:155. doi: 10.1186/s13054-022-04002-3

76. Middleton EA, He X-Y, Denorme F, Campbell RA, Ng D, Salvatore SP, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to immunothrombosis in COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Blood* (2020) 136:1169–79. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007008

77. Yasseen BA, Elkhodiry AA, El-Messiery RM, El-sayed H, Elbenhawi MW, Kamel AG, et al. Platelets' morphology, metabolic profile, exocytosis, and heterotypic aggregation with leukocytes in relation to severity and mortality of COVID-19-Patients. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:1022401. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1022401

78. Le Joncour A, Biard L, Vautier M, Bugaut H, Mekinian A, Maalouf G, et al. Neutrophil-platelet and monocyte-platelet aggregates in COVID-19 patients. *Thromb Haemost* (2020) 120:1733–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1718732

79. Yang J, Furie BC, Furie B. The biology of p-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1: its role as a selectin counterreceptor in leukocyte-endothelial and leukocyte-platelet interaction. *Thromb Haemost* (1999) 81:1–7.

80. Palabrica T, Lobb R, Furie BC, Aronovitz M, Benjamin C, Hsu YM, et al. Leukocyte accumulation promoting fibrin deposition is mediated *in vivo* by p-selectin on adherent platelets. *Nature* (1992) 359:848–51. doi: 10.1038/359848a0

81. Wang X-L, Deng H-F, Tan C-Y, Xiao Z-H, Liu M-D, Liu K, et al. The role of PSGL-1 in pathogenesis of systemic inflammatory response and coagulopathy in endotoxemic mice. *Thromb Res* (2019) 182:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2019.08.019

82. Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CR, et al. Platelet activation and platelet-monocyte aggregate formation trigger tissue factor expression in patients with severe COVID-19. *Blood* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/ blood.2020007252

83. Yatim N, Boussier J, Chocron R, Hadjadj J, Philippe A, Gendron N, et al. Platelet activation in critically ill COVID-19 patients. *Ann Intensive Care* (2021) 11:113. doi: 10.1186/s13613-021-00899-1

84. Hyun Y-M, Choe YH, Park SA, Kim M. LFA-1 (CD11a/CD18) and mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) distinctly regulate neutrophil extravasation through hotspots I and II. *Exp Mol Med* (2019) 51:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s12276-019-0227-1

85. Wang Y, Gao H, Shi C, Erhardt PW, Pavlovsky A, A Soloviev D, et al. Leukocyte integrin mac-1 regulates thrombosis *via* interaction with platelet GPIbα. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:15559. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15559

86. Bennett JA, Mastrangelo MA, Ture SK, Smith CO, Loelius SG, Berg RA, et al. The choline transporter Slc44a2 controls platelet activation and thrombosis by regulating mitochondrial function. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3479. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-17254-w

87. Tilburg J, Coenen DM, Zirka G, Dólleman S, van Oeveren-Rietdijk AM, Karel MF, et al. SLC44A2 deficient mice have a reduced response in stenosis but not in hypercoagulability driven venous thrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost* (2020) 18:1714–27. doi: 10.1111/jth.14835

88. Germain M, Chasman DI, de Haan H, Tang W, Lindström S, Weng L-C, et al. Meta-analysis of 65,734 individuals identifies TSPAN15 and SLC44A2 as two susceptibility loci for venous thromboembolism. *Am J Hum Genet* (2015) 96:532–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.01.019

89. Constantinescu-Bercu A, Grassi L, Frontini M, Salles-Crawley II, Woollard K, Crawley JT. Activated α IIb β 3 on platelets mediates flow-dependent NETosis via SLC44A2. eLife (2020) 9:e53353. doi: 10.7554/eLife.53353

90. Kaiser, et al. *The human neutrophil proteome in pneumonia and COVID-19* (2021). Available at: https://neuprocov.mdc-berlin.de/.

91. Vanichakarn P, Blair P, Wu C, Freedman JE, Chakrabarti S. Neutrophil CD40 enhances platelet-mediated inflammation. *Thromb Res* (2008) 122:346-58. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2007.12.019

92. Lievens D, Zernecke A, Seijkens T, Soehnlein O, Beckers L, Munnix IC, et al. Platelet CD40L mediates thrombotic and inflammatory processes in atherosclerosis. *Blood* (2010) 116:4317–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-261206

93. Rahman M, Zhang S, Chew M, Ersson A, Jeppsson B, Thorlacius H. Plateletderived CD40L (CD154) mediates neutrophil upregulation of mac-1 and recruitment in septic lung injury. *Ann Surg* (2009) 250:783-90. doi: 10.1097/SLA. 0b013e3181bd95b7

94. Jin R, Yu S, Song Z, Zhu X, Wang C, Yan J, et al. Soluble CD40 ligand stimulates CD40-dependent activation of the β 2 integrin mac-1 and protein kinase c zeda (PKC ζ) in neutrophils: implications for neutrophil-platelet interactions and neutrophil oxidative burst. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e64631. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064631

95. Zirlik A, Maier C, Gerdes N, MacFarlane L, Soosairajah J, Bavendiek U, et al. CD40 ligand mediates inflammation independently of CD40 by interaction with mac-1. *Circulation* (2007) 115:1571–80. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.683201

96. Li G, Sanders JM, Bevard MH, Sun Z, Chumley JW, Galkina EV, et al. CD40 ligand promotes mac-1 expression, leukocyte recruitment, and neointima formation after vascular njury. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 172:1141–52. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.070633

97. Campo G, Contoli M, Fogagnolo A, Vieceli Dalla Sega F, Zucchetti O, Ronzoni L, et al. Over time relationship between platelet reactivity, myocardial injury and mortality in patients with SARS-CoV-2-Associated respiratory failure. *Platelets* (2021) 32:560–7. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2020.1852543

98. Nossent EJ, Schuurman AR, Reijnders TD, Saris A, Jongerius I, Blok SG, et al. Pulmonary procoagulant and innate immune responses in critically ill COVID-19 patients. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:664209. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.664209 99. Blasi A, von Meijenfeldt FA, Adelmeijer J, Calvo A, Ibañez C, Perdomo J, et al. *In vitro* hypercoagulability and ongoing *in vivo* activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis in COVID-19 patients on anticoagulation. *J Thromb Haemost* (2020) 18:2646–53. doi: 10.1111/jth.15043

100. Al-Tamimi AO, Yusuf AM, Jayakumar MN, Ansari AW, Elhassan M, AbdulKarim F, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection induces soluble platelet activation markers and PAI-1 in the early moderate stage of COVID-19. *Int J Lab Hematol* (2022) 44:712–21. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13829

101. Cano-Mendez A, García-Larragoiti N, Damian-Vazquez M, Guzman-Cancino P, Lopez-Castaneda S, Ochoa-Zarzosa A, et al. Platelet reactivity and inflammatory phenotype induced by full-length spike SARS-CoV-2 protein and its RBD domain. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:15191. doi: 10.3390/ijms232315191

102. Cognasse F, Duchez AC, Audoux E, Ebermeyer T, Arthaud CA, Prier A, et al. Platelets as key factors in inflammation: focus on CD40L/CD40. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:825892. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.825892

103. Zahran AM, El-Badawy O, Ali WA, Mahran ZG, Mahran EE, Rayan A. Circulating microparticles and activated platelets as novel prognostic biomarkers in COVID-19; relation to cancer. *PloS One* (2021) 16:e0246806. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246806

104. Camera M, Canzano P, Brambilla M, Rovati GE. Montelukast inhibits platelet activation induced by plasma from COVID-19 patients. *Front Pharmacol* (2022) 13:784214. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.784214

105. Rossaint J, Kühne K, Skupski J, van Aken H, Looney MR, Hidalgo A, et al. Directed transport of neutrophil-derived extracellular vesicles enables plateletmediated innate immune response. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:13464. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms13464

106. Caudrillier A, Kessenbrock K, Gilliss BM, Nguyen JX, Marques MB, Monestier M, et al. Platelets induce neutrophil extracellular traps in transfusion-related acute lung injury. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:2661–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI61303

107. Lishko VK, Yakubenko VP, Ugarova TP, Podolnikova NP. Leukocyte integrin mac-1 (CD11b/CD18, α M β 2, CR3) acts as a functional receptor for platelet factor 4. J Biol Chem (2018) 293:6869–82. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA117.000515

108. Deuel TF, Senior RM, Chang D, Griffin GL, Heinrikson RL, Kaiser ET. Platelet factor 4 is chemotactic for neutrophils and monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (1981) 78:4584–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.78.7.4584

109. Bdeir K, Gollomp K, Stasiak M, Mei J, Papiewska-Pajak I, Zhao G, et al. Platelet-specific chemokines contribute to the pathogenesis of acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2017) 56:261–70. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0245OC

110. Ngo AT, Yarovoi I, Zhao G, Sarkar A, Rauova L, Kowalska MA, et al. Platelet factor 4 (PF4) modulates the prothrombotic nature of neutrophil-extracellular traps (NETs): therapeutic implications of a NET-stabilization strategy. *Blood* (2021) 138:2096. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-153352

111. Matsumoto K, Yasuoka H, Yoshimoto K, Suzuki K, Takeuchi T. Platelet CXCL4 mediates neutrophil extracellular traps formation in ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11:222. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80685-4

112. Gollomp K, Johnston I, Kim M, Zhai L, Zhao G, Kowalska MA, et al. Platelet factor 4 (PF4)-mediated neutrophil extracellular trap compaction limits endothelial injury and promotes survival following lipopolysaccharide challenge. *Blood* (2017) 130:997. doi: 10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.997.997

113. Onuk S, Sipahioğlu H, Karahan S, Yeşiltepe A, Kuzugüden S, Karabulut A, et al. Cytokine levels and severity of illness scoring systems to predict mortality in COVID-19 infection. *Healthcare* (2023) 11:387. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11030387

114. Chen R, Huang Y, Quan J, Liu J, Wang H, Billiar TR, et al. HMGB1 as a potential biomarker and therapeutic target for severe COVID-19. *Heliyon* (2020) 6: e05672. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05672

115. Maugeri N, Campana L, Gavina M, Covino C, de Metrio M, Panciroli C, et al. Activated platelets present high mobility group box 1 to neutrophils, inducing autophagy and promoting the extrusion of neutrophil extracellular traps. J Thromb Haemost (2014) 12:2074–88. doi: 10.1111/jth.12710

116. Vogel S, Bodenstein R, Chen Q, Feil S, Feil R, Rheinlaender J, et al. Plateletderived HMGB1 is a critical mediator of thrombosis. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125:4638–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI81660

117. Silvin A, Chapuis N, Dunsmore G, Goubet A-G, Dubuisson A, Derosa L, et al. Elevated calprotectin and abnormal myeloid cell subsets discriminate severe from mild COVID-19. *Cell* (2020) 182:1401–1418.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.002

118. Infantino M, Manfredi M, Alessio MG, Previtali G, Grossi V, Benucci M, et al. Clinical utility of circulating calprotectin to assist prediction and monitoring of COVID-19 severity: an Italian study. *J Med Virol* (2022) 94:5758–65. doi: 10.1002/ jmv.28056

119. Colicchia M, Schrottmaier WC, Perrella G, Reyat JS, Begum J, Slater A, et al. S100A8/A9 drives the formation of procoagulant platelets through GPIb α . Blood (2022) 140:2626–43. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021014966

120. Faraday N, Schunke K, Saleem S, Fu J, Wang B, Zhang J, et al. Cathepsin Gdependent modulation of platelet thrombus formation *in vivo* by blood neutrophils. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e71447. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071447

121. Nemmar A, Hoylaerts MF. Neutrophil cathepsin G enhances thrombogenicity of mildly injured arteries *via* ADP-mediated platelet sensitization. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:744. doi: 10.3390/ijms23020744

122. Stoller ML, Basak I, Denorme F, Rowley JW, Alsobrooks J, Parsawar K, et al. Neutrophil cathepsin G proteolysis of protease-activated receptor 4 generates a novel, functional tethered ligand. *Blood Adv* (2022) 6:2303–8. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances. 2021006133

123. Elaskalani O, Abdol Razak NB, Metharom P. Neutrophil extracellular traps induce aggregation of washed human platelets independently of extracellular DNA and histones. *Cell Commun Signal* (2018) 16:24. doi: 10.1186/s12964-018-0235-0

124. Seren S, Derian L, Keleş I, Guillon A, Lesner A, Gonzalez L, et al. Proteinase release from activated neutrophils in mechanically ventilated patients with non-COVID-19 and COVID-19 pneumonia. *Eur Respir J* (2021) 57:2003755. doi: 10.1183/13993003.03755-2020

125. Beloglazov V, Yatskov I, Nikolaeva A, Lavrenchuk E, DuBuske L. Cathepsin G in patients with SARS-Cov-2 infection of various degrees of severity. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2022) 149:AB59. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2021.12.223

126. Leung HH, Perdomo J, Ahmadi Z, Zheng SS, Rashid FN, Enjeti A, et al. NETosis and thrombosis in vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun* (2022) 13:5206. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-32946-1

127. Althaus K, Möller P, Uzun G, Singh A, Beck A, Bettag M, et al. Antibody-mediated procoagulant platelets in SARS-CoV-2-Vaccination associated immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Haematologica* (2021) 106:2170–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2021.279000

128. Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, Wesche J, Handtke S, Wolff M, et al. Insights in ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood* (2021) 138:2256–68. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021013231

129. Holm S, Kared H, Michelsen AE, Kong XY, Dahl TB, Schultz NH, et al. Immune complexes, innate immunity, and NETosis in ChAdOx1 vaccine-induced thrombocytopenia. *Eur Heart J* (2021) 42:4064–72. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab506

130. de Buhr N, Baumann T, Werlein C, Fingerhut L, Imker R, Meurer M, et al. Insights into immunothrombotic mechanisms in acute stroke due to vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:879157. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.879157

131. Hetland G, Fagerhol MK, Wiedmann MK, Søraas AV, Mirlashari MR, Nissen-Meyer LS, et al. Elevated NETs and calprotectin levels after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination correlate with the severity of side effects. *Vaccines* (2022) 10:1267. doi: 10.3390/vaccines10081267

132. Marchandot B, Carmona A, Trimaille A, Curtiaud A, Morel O. Procoagulant microparticles: a possible link between vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia (VITT) and cerebral sinus venous thrombosis. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2021) 52:689–91. doi: 10.1007/s11239-021-02505-4

133. Field C, Kim H, Kowalska M, Weitzman M, Arepally G, Cines D, et al. Available at: https://abstracts.isth.org/abstract/in-vivo-murine-studies-demonstrate-that-neutrophil-activation-by-anti-nap2-antibodies-contributes-to-vaccine-induced-immune-thrombocytopenia-and-thrombosis-vitt/.

134. Rauova L, Wang A, Yarovoi S, Khandelwal S, Padmanabhan A, Oleshko O, et al. Vaccine-induced thrombocytopenia and thrombosis (VITT) antibodies recognize neutrophil-activating peptide 2 (NAP2) as well as platelet factor 4 (PF4): mechanistic and clinical implications. *Blood* (2021) 138:292. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-151685

135. Brown AJ, Sepuru KM, Sawant KV, Rajarathnam K. Platelet-derived chemokine CXCL7 dimer preferentially exists in the glycosaminoglycan-bound form: implications for neutrophil-platelet crosstalk. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1248. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01248

136. von Hundelshausen P, Lorenz R, Siess W, Weber C. Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT): targeting pathomechanisms with bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Thromb Haemost* (2021) 121:1395–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1481-3039

137. Goldmann L, Duan R, Kragh T, Wittmann G, Weber C, Lorenz R, et al. Oral bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors block activation of the platelet fc receptor CD32a (Fc γ RIIA): a new option in HIT? *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:4021–33. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000617

138. Vayne C, Palankar R, Billy S, Handtke S, Thiele T, Cordonnier C, et al. The deglycosylated form of 1E12 inhibits platelet activation and prothrombotic effects induced by VITT antibodies. *Haematologica* (2022) 107:2445–53. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2021.280251

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jihad Mallat, Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

REVIEWED BY Fabrice Cognasse, INSERM U1059 SAntél Ngéniérie BIOlogie, France Younes Zaid, Mohammed V University, Morocco

*CORRESPONDENCE Michel Slama ⊠ slama.michel@chu-amiens.fr Nicolas Guillaume ⊠ guillaume.nicolas@chu-amiens.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 14 March 2023 ACCEPTED 17 May 2023 PUBLISHED 02 June 2023

CITATION

Jacob V, Lambour A, Swinyard B, Zerbib Y, Diouf M, Soudet S, Brochot E, Six I, Maizel J, Slama M and Guillaume N (2023) Annexin-V positive extracellular vesicles level is increased in severe COVID-19 disease. *Front. Med.* 10:1186122. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1186122

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Jacob, Lambour, Swinyard, Zerbib, Diouf, Soudet, Brochot, Six, Maizel, Slama and Guillaume. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Annexin-V positive extracellular vesicles level is increased in severe COVID-19 disease

Valentine Jacob^{1,2†}, Alexis Lambour^{3†}, Benjamin Swinyard³, Yoann Zerbib³, Momar Diouf⁴, Simon Soudet⁵, Etienne Brochot^{1,6}, Isabelle Six⁷, Julien Maizel^{3,7}, Michel Slama^{3,7*†} and Nicolas Guillaume^{1,2*†}

¹Department of Human Biology Center, Amiens University Medical Center, Amiens, France, ²EA HEMATIM 4666, Jules Verne University of Picardie, Amiens, France, ³Department of Medical Intensive Care Unit, Amiens University Medical Center, Amiens, France, ⁴Department of Statistics, Amiens University Medical Center, Amiens, France, ⁵Department of Vascular Medicine, Amiens University Medical Center, Amiens, France, ⁶AGIR Research Unit, Jules Verne University of Picardie, Amiens, France, ⁷UR 7517 UPJV, Pathophysiological Mechanisms and Consequences of Cardiovascular Calcifications (MP3CV), Jules Verne University of Picardie, Amiens, France

Objectives: To evaluate extracellular vesicles levels in a cohort of SARS-CoV-2's patients hospitalized in an intensive care unit with and without COVID-19 associated thromboembolic events.

Methods: In this study, we aim to assess endothelial and platelet membranederived extracellular vesicles levels in a cohort of SARS-CoV-2 patients with and without COVID-19-associated thromboembolic events who were hospitalized in an intensive care unit. Annexin-V positive extracellular vesicles levels were prospectively assessed by flow cytometry in one hundred twenty-three critically ill adults diagnosed with acute respiratory distress syndrome associated with a SARS-CoV-2 infection, ten adults diagnosed for moderate SARS-CoV-2 infection and 25 healthy volunteers.

Results: On our critically ill patients, thirty-four patients (27.6%) had a thromboembolic event, Fifty-three (43%) died. Endothelial and platelet membrane-derived extracellular vesicles were drastically increased in SARS-CoV-2 patients hospitalized in the ICU compared to healthy volunteers. Moreover a slighty higher small/large ratio for platelets membrane-derived extracellular vesicles in patients was linked to thrombo-embolic events.

Conclusion: A comparison between total annexin-V positive extracellular vesicles levels in severe and moderate SARS-CoV-2 infection and healthy controls showed a significant increase in patients with severe infection and their sizes could be considered as biomarkers of SARS-CoV-2 associated thrombo-embolic events.

KEYWORDS

extracellular vesicles, microparticles, COVID-19, thrombosis, intensive care unit

10.3389/fmed.2023.1186122

Introduction

Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) infection can lead to severe acute respiratory syndrome due to coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). This disease is also associated with cardiovascular complications such as thrombo-embolic events (1). During the course of the disease, some macro or micro thromboembolic events, and disseminated intravascular coagulation have been described. Indeed, viral diseases can damage the endothelium in many ways. Endothelial cells are key regulators of vasomotricity, oxidative stress, coagulation, inflammation and are an important mediator of atherosclerosis and vascular disease (2). The virus can bind the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE-2) receptor expressed notably by type 2 alveolar cells, bronchial epithelial cells, and endothelial cells (1). Viral elements have been found inside endothelial cells, and associated to an accumulation of inflammatory cells, leading to endothelial and inflammatory cell death (3).

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are lipid-bound vesicles secreted into the extracellular space. EVs are heterogeneous membranous vesicles with different sizes, functions and origins. They include exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies, which contain lipids, nucleic acids and proteins (4). Exosomes are released continuously from cells, whereas microvesicles and apoptotic bodies are released predominantly by activated or apoptotic cells. EVs are generated by plasma membrane blebbing with externalization of phosphatidylserine. Indeed, in physiological conditions, phosphatidylserine is usually located only in the cytoplasmic leaflet (4). EVs can transfer these molecules to target cells in a communication system between neighboring and distant cells and tissues. EVs secreted by endothelial cells have some effects such as antioxidant effects by including for example glutathione transferases and peroxidases which may contribute to maintaining blood plasma redox state (5, 6), effects on endothelial cell activation through for example miRNA (7), role in oxidative stress-mediated dysfunction of endothelial cells. EVs from platelets play a role in coagulation, linked to the surface exposure of negatively charged phospholipids (8).

In this study, we aim to assess endothelial and platelet membranederived extracellular vesicles levels (eEVs and pEVs, respectively) in a cohort of SARS-CoV-2 patients with and without COVID-19associated thromboembolic events who were hospitalized in an intensive care unit.

Materials and methods

Patients

Consecutive patients (n = 131) referred to the medical intensive care medicine department in the Amiens University Hospital at, France between February 2020 and October 2021 who were diagnosed with acute respiratory distress syndrome associated with a SARS-CoV-2 infection (severe disease) were prospectively enrolled in this study. Severe disease was defined by at least one visceral failure (most often respiratory failure) requiring transfer to ICU. Eight patients were excluded in relation to a negative or questionable COVID-19 test (RT-PCR). Only data from 123 patients were analyzable for our study. This study "Thromboembolic events in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 serious acute pneumopathy (THROMBOCOVID1)" was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Bord (IRB) for the local Ethics Committee of Amiens Nord-Ouest II and registered on clinicaltrials.gov with the identifier NCT04377490. The need for IRB approval and informed consent was waived on May 4, 2020. All procedures were followed in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on institutional human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975. As some patients were recruited during the vaccination campaign, 8 patients were vaccinated (4 with one dose, 2 with two doses, 2 with three doses).

We also selected 10 consecutive patients referred to our medicine department, for moderate SARS CoV-2 infection who did not meet the criteria used to define patients with severe disease (no organ support, no invasive ventilation, no vasoactive drugs, no visceral failure). All patients or next-of-kin signed an informed consent.

Healthy individuals

Healthy volunteers (n=25) were selected from a bone marrow donation center. None of the volunteers took any drugs at that time or had chronic disease. They had no clinical signs of viral infection. COVID-19 tests were performed in the week within the selection and were negative. All participants signed an informed consent.

Investigations

All patients underwent a complete clinical examination, with laboratory and morphological measurements at Day 0, Day 7, Day 14, Day 21, and Day 28. Examinations included Doppler ultrasound in the case of a suspected venous thrombosis and a pulmonary CT angiography in the case of a suspected pulmonary embolism.

Endothelial and platelet membrane-derived extracellular vesicles (eEVs and pEVs)

Samples for EVs measurement were collected at Day 0, Day 7, Day 14, Day 21, and Day 28 according to the patients' availability. EVs were isolated from whole blood using a common differential centrifugation assay described in the literature (9). The citrated tubes were quickly centrifuged ($2,500 \times g$ for 15 min at room temperature). Supernatant was collected and platelet poor plasma was stored at -80° C. After thawing, we performed a second centrifugation of the supernatant ($25,000 \times g$ for 30 min at room temperature) and this platelet poor plasma was used to study EVs concentration and phenotype.

EV detection was then performed on thawed samples using a Cytoflex cytometer (Beckman Coulter Life Sciences, Villepinte, France). Annexin V-BV510 (Brillant Violet 510) as the EV marker (BioLegend, Paris, France), anti-CD41-FITC (IM0649U) as platelets marker and anti-CD144-PE (A07481) as endothelial marker (Beckman Coulter Life Sciences, Villepinte, France) were used for MP detection. Megamix-plus FSC beads (BioCytex, Marseille, France) calibrated from 0.1 to 0.9 μ m were used to define an analysis window consistent with the size of EVs. EVs were quantified using EV Count Beads (BioCytex, Marseille, France): [EV counts × (EV-count beads)]/ EV count beads counted. In order to discriminate EVs and aggregates, we set the signal detection at peak height (V-SSC-H and FSC-H) and peak width.

Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and continuous variables were presented as the median and 25th to 75th percentiles. Statistical analyses were performed using the nonparametric Mann–Whitney and Kruskal–Wallis tests for testing the hypothesis that the distributions of each of two groups was close for quantitative variables and Fisher's exact test for frequencies to assess the existence of statistical differences between groups. For EVs follow-up with this measurement at more than two time points, we used a repeated measures Anova test. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Demographics, clinical characteristics, and biological parameters of the study population

One hundred twenty-three patients were included in this study. The clinical and biological characteristics of all included patients

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of patients with severe form of
COVID-19.

Patients (n = 123)	
Age years, median (range)	67 (58.5–72)
Male	35 (71.5%)
Female	54 (28.5%)
BMI, mean (SD)	29.4 (25.3-33.6)
Comorbidities	
Arterial hypertension	60 (49%)
Auricular fibrillation	6 (5%)
Ischemic cardiopathy	18 (14.5%)
Thromboembolism	8 (6.5%)
Oral anticoagulants	14 (11%)
Diabetes	37 (30%)
Renal impairment	18 (14.5%)
Chronic dialysis	2 (1.5%)
Cancer	17 (14%)
Obstructive sleep apnea	7 (5.5%)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	5 (4%)
BMI>30	57 (46%)
Follow-up in the intensive care medicine department	
Sepsis-related organ failure assessment (SOFA), mean	5 (3-11)
Stay in the intensive unit (meantime in days)	19 (8.5–29.5)
Endotracheal intubation	90 (73%)
Invasive ventilation, meantime in days	18 (10-33.5)
Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, number of patients	13 (10.5%)
Thromboembolic events	34 (27.6%)
Pulmonary embolism	15 (12%)
Dexamethasone use	109 (88.5%)
Tocilizumab use	8 (6.5%)
Death	53 (43%)

are listed in Table 1. Mean age was 68 years, age range 58.5–72 years, 88 (71%) were male. Ninety patients (73%) required mechanical ventilation for a median of 18 days. Thirteen patients (10.5%) required extracorporeal circulation, 53 patients (43%) died. Thirty-four patients (27.6%) had a thromboembolic event: 25 deep vein thrombosis, 2 arterial thrombosis, 15 pulmonary embolisms (including the 6 associated with deep vein thrombosis). Four thromboses were detected on foreign material (2 on central catheter, one on extracorporeal circulation cannula, one on arterial cannula).

Endothelial and platelet membrane-derived extracellular vesicles are drastically increase in SARS-CoV-2 patients hospitalized in an intensive care unit compared to healthy volunteers

Circulating annexin-V positive EV subsets were quantified by sensitive flow cytometry using annexin-V forward scatter gating to identify annexin-V positive EVs of interest by size. This allows for the discrimination of small and large EVs (Supplementary Figure S1). They were drastically increased in patients with severe disease [median 1944/µL, 25th to 75th percentile (837.5–3595)] compared with those of patients with moderate disease [median 410.5/µL, 25th to 75th percentile (275.5-995.5)] p=0.004 and healthy volunteers [median 247/μL, 25th to 75th percentile, (157.5–429.5)] *p*<0.0001 (Figure 1; Supplementary Table S1) and this continued for the duration of the ICU stay (follow-up Day 1 to Day 28). Platelet (pEVs) and endothelialderived (eEVs) extracellular vesicles were also increase in patients with severe disease compared with moderate disease and healthy controls (Figure 2; Supplementary Table S1). By analyzing annexin-V positive EVs with forward scatter, we identified several profiles of EVs according to their small and large sizes. Small and large total EVs were increased in patients with severe disease, especially pEVs (Supplementary Table S1).

Endothelial and platelet membrane-derived extracellular vesicles levels are not linked to thromboembolic events in SARS-CoV-2 in-patients

To better understand the degree to which EVs are associated with severe disease, we compared the data between severe disease with and without thromboembolic events, n=34 and n=89, respectively. Unfortunately, none of the studied EV subsets showed any significant difference between these two populations (total, endothelial and platelet-derived small and large size EVs). However, we observed a trend of a slightly higher small/large ratio for total EVs (p=0.04) and pEVs (p=0.02) in patients with thrombo-embolic events (Supplementary Table S2). For a limited number of patients, we established the follow-up of annexin-V positive EV levels before and after the thrombo-embolic events (n=13). These events did not appear to induce a significant and reproductible change in the levels of our annexin-V positive EV subsets (Figure 3). This distinction was difficult to study because of the small number of patients who could be followed up for more than two weeks.

Discussion

Circulating annexin-V positive EVs were quantified by sensitive flow cytometry in a cohort of patients diagnosed with acute respiratory distress syndrome associated with a SARS-CoV-2 infection referred to an intensive care medicine department. Our data demonstrate a higher total annexin-V positive EV level in severe disease compared to moderate SARS-CoV-2 infection and healthy controls, with a significant increase in eEVs and particularly in pEVs.

In our study, we have included our patients over a large period of time including several pandemic waves. However the virus-variant status did not appear to be a factor of heterogeneity for our cohort. Indeed a previous study showed high similar counts especially of pEVs in two SARS-CoV-2 positive cohorts enrolled during both the first and the second pandemic waves (10).

In several studies, pEVs had already been found in association with viral infections such as the H1N1 virus (11), HIV (12), and dengue virus (13). They point to EVs and pEVs as potential biomarkers in COVID-19. Indeed, increased levels of circulating pEVs have been observed in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection (10, 14, 15). In the same way, high plasma concentrations of eEVs were also observed (15). In particular, patients with severe disease (intubated group) exhibited increased eEVs concentrations and mean size compared to an uninfected group. These eEVs also induced endothelial expression of pro-adhesive proteins (16), in line with a procoagulant and hyperinflammation setting. Indeed, the most severe forms of COVID-19 involve endothelial damage, clot formation, microthrombi, and multiple organ failure, suggesting a central role of the vascular endothelium (17). However, in our study, although we demonstrated a clear increase in total EV levels in severe COVID-19 infection, we failed to distinguish, in this way, thromboembolic events in this





Follow-up of annexin-V positive EV levels ($/\mu$ L) according to the thromboembolic event. For 6 patients, EV levels were assessed at Day 7 to Day 1 before and at Day 1 to Day 6 after the thromboembolic event. For 10 patients, EV levels were assessed at Day 1 to Day 6 and at Day 7 to Day 14 after the thromboembolic



event

Annexin-V positive EV levels in healthy controls and COVID-19 patients. Plasma levels ($/\mu$ L) of annexin-V positive endothelial and platelet membranederived EVs in healthy controls compared to moderate and severe COVID-19 disease.

10.3389/fmed.2023.1186122

specific population. Campello et al. (15) showed that baseline levels of pEVs were significantly associated with the development of thromboembolic events with a low OR (1.07) in a cohort of mild and moderate COVID-19 infection. In contrast, Guervilly et al. (18) did not show differences in EV subsets between the moderate and severe forms of COVID-19, but the activity of tissue factor linked to these EVs was significantly increased in patients with severe disease, but also in patients with symptomatic clinical thromboembolic events within 28 days after sampling. Another study showed that plasma procoagulant extracellular vesicles (tissue factor activity) were elevated ~nine-fold in severe COVID-19 patients (19). These data could explain the strong procoagulant imbalance in severe infection not only linked to the levels of EVs, but also by a high level of tissue factor activity. The systemic inflammation in severe COVID-19 disease leads to a wide range of hemostatic derangements in which the study of EVs is of interest. Moreover, we showed a slightly higher small/large ratio, especially for pEVs (p=0.02) in patients with thrombo-embolic events. This observation could be linked with previous studies showing that stimuli can activate platelets, resulting in the genesis of pEVs. The quantity, the structure and the size of the pEVs clearly depend on the type of activation. After activation, platelets undergo a conformational change, releasing effector molecules and EVs (20). Then, collagen and ADP activation induced spherical and smooth EVs production. Moreover with collagen or thrombin activation, many more EVs are produced. But, in case of thrombin activation, MPs are smaller, both spherical and elongated form (21, 22). Surface exposure of phosphatidylserine can explain the procoagulant effects of pEVS. Moreover, pEVs were more procoagulant when they were activated by a combination of collagen and thrombin (8). In COVID-19 infection, platelets internalized SARS-CoV-2 virions leading to EVs release (23). However, platelets activation was not directly induced by SARS-CoV-2 or purified spike but rather to the release of active tissue factor by infected cells (24).

Conclusion

Total annexin-V EV levels were increased in severe disease compared to moderate SARS CoV-2 infection and healthy controls, with a significant increase in eEVs, and particularly pEVs. In patients with thromboembolic events, although pEV and eEV levels were not linked to thromboembolic events, we nevertheless showed a slightly higher small/large ratio, especially for pEVs which seems to be an interesting way to explore in the link between severe COVID disease and thrombo-embolic events.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Bord (IRB) for the local Ethics

Committee of Amiens Nord-Ouest II and registered on clinicaltrials.gov with the identifier NCT04377490. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

VJ, AL, BS and YZ: acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, revising the article critically for important intellectual content, final approval of the version to be submitted. MD: analysis and interpretation of data, final approval of the version to be submitted. SS, EB, IS and JM: acquisition of data, final approval of the version to be submitted. MS and NG: conception and design of the study, interpretation of data, drafting the article and revising it critically for important intellectual content, and final approval of the version to be submitted.

Funding

This work was funded by the Amiens University Medical Center (Amiens, France) as part of the French government's program for hospital-based clinical research.

Acknowledgments

The authors want to thank our collaborators and members of the "*Thrombocovid Group*" (in alphabetical order). Gwladys Bourdenet, Estelle Cadet, Sandrine Castelain, Antoine Galmiche, Yves-Edouard Herpe, Mailys Le Guyader, Alexandra Leroy, Samy Modeliar, Stéphane Potriquier, Valéry Salle, Lauriane Soriot, Marie-Antoinette Sevestre, Sandrine Soriot-Thomas, Annelise Voyer.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1186122/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Pöhlmann S. A multibasic cleavage site in the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 is essential for infection of human lung cells. *Mol Cell.* (2020) 78:779–784.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.04.022

2. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. *Lancet*. (2020) 395:1417–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5

3. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

4. Waqas MY, Javid MA, Nazir MM, Niaz N, Nisar MF, Manzoor Z, et al. Extracellular vesicles and exosome: insight from physiological regulatory perspectives. *J Physiol Biochem.* (2022) 78:573–80. doi: 10.1007/s13105-022-00877-6

5. Desideri E, Ciccarone F, Ciriolo MR, Fratantonio D. Extracellular vesicles in endothelial cells: from mediators of cell-to-cell communication to cargo delivery tools. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2021) 172:508–20. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.06.030

6. Jin M, Drwal G, Bourgeois T, Saltz J, Wu HM. Distinct proteome features of plasma microparticles. *Proteomics*. (2005) 5:1940–52. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200401057

 Xia L, Zeng ZWH, Tang WH. The role of platelet microparticle associated microRNAs in cellular crosstalk. Front Cardiovasc Med. (2018) 5:29. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00029

8. Puhm F, Boilard E, Machlus KR. Platelet extracellular vesicles: beyond the blood. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2021) 41:87–96. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.314644

9. Inglis HC, Danesh A, Shah A, Lacroix J, Spinella PC, Norris PJ. Techniques to improve detection and analysis of extracellular vesicles using flow cytometry. *Cytometry A*. (2015) 87:1052–63. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22649

10. Cappellano G, Raineri D, Rolla R, Giordano M, Puricelli C, Vilardo B, et al. Circulating platelet-derived extracellular vesicles are a hallmark of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Cells.* (2021) 10:85. doi: 10.3390/cells 10010085

11. Boilard E, Paré G, Rousseau M, Cloutier N, Dubuc I, Lévesque T, et al. Influenza virus H1N1 activates platelets through Fcγ RIIA signaling and thrombin generation. *Blood.* (2014) 123:2854–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-515536

12. Rozmyslowicz T, Majka M, Kijowski J, Murphy SL, Conover DO, Poncz M, et al. Platelet-and megakaryocyte-derived microparticles transfer CXCR4 receptor to CXCR4-null cells and make them susceptible to infection by X4-HIV. *AIDS*. (2003) 17:33–42. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200301030-00006

13. Sung PS, Huang TF, Hsieh SL. Extracellular vesicles from CLEC2-activated platelets enhance dengue virus-induced lethality via CLEC5A/TLR2. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:2402. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10360-4

14. Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets can associate with SARS-CoV-2 RNA and are hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res.* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703

15. Campello E, Radu CM, Simion C, Spiezia L, Bulato C, Gavasso S, et al. Longitudinal trend of plasma concentrations of extracellular vesicles in patients hospitalized for COVID-19. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2022) 9:770463. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2021.770463

16. Garnier Y, Claude L, Hermand P, Sachou E, Claes A, Desplan K, et al. Plasma microparticles of intubated COVID-19 patients cause endothelial cell death, neutrophil adhesion and netosis, in a phosphatidylserine-dependent manner. *Br J Haematol.* (2022) 196:1159–69. doi: 10.1111/bjh.18019

17. Six I, Guillaume N, Jacob V, Mentaverri R, Kamel S, Boullier A, et al. The endothelium and COVID-19: an increasingly clear link. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:6196. doi: 10.3390/ijms23116196

18. Guervilly C, Bonifay A, Burtey S, Sabatier F, Cauchois R, Abdili E, et al. Dissemination of extreme levels of extracellular vesicles: tissue factor activity in patients with severe COVID-19. *Blood Adv.* (2021) 5:628–34. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003308

19. Girard TJ, Antunes L, Zhang N, Amrute JM, Subramanian R, Eldem I, et al. Peripheral blood mononuclear cell tissue factor (F3 gene) transcript levels and circulating extracellular vesicles are elevated in severe coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) disease. J Thromb Haemost. (2022) 21:629–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jtha.2022.11.033

20. Mabrouk M, Guessous F, Naya A, Merhi Y, Zaid Y. The pathophysiological role of platelet-derived extracellular vesicles. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2023) 49:279–83. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1756705

21. Ponomareva AA, Nevzorova TA, Mordakhanova ER, Andrianova IA, Rauova L, Litvinov RI, et al. Intracellular origin and ultrastructure of platelet-derived microparticles. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2017) 15:1655–67. doi: 10.1111/jth.13745

22. Rui S, Yuan Y, Du C, Song P, Chen Y, Wang H, et al. Comparison and investigation of exosomes derived from platelet-rich plasma activated by different agonists. *Cell Transplant.* (2021) 30:9636897211017833. doi: 10.1177/09636897211017833

23. Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Tanriverdi K, Somasundaran M, Liu P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 initiates programmed cell death in platelets. *Circ Res.* (2021) 129:631–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319117

24. Puhm F, Allaeys I, Lacasse E, Dubuc I, Galipeau Y, Zaid Y, et al. Platelet activation by SARS-CoV-2 implicates the release of active tissue factor by infected cells. *Blood Adv.* (2022) 6:3593–605. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007444

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Michael Osthoff, University Hospital of Basel, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY

Botond Lakatos, National Institute of Hematology and Infectious Diseases, Budapest, Hungary Juan Bandres, Bronx Veterans Medical Research Foundation, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Theresa M. Rossouw theresa.rossouw@up.ac.za

RECEIVED 06 June 2023 ACCEPTED 24 July 2023 PUBLISHED 14 August 2023

CITATION

van der Mescht MA, Steel HC, de Beer Z, Abdullah F, Ueckermann V, Anderson R and Rossouw TM (2023) Comparison of platelet-and endothelial-associated biomarkers of disease activity in people hospitalized with Covid-19 with and without HIV co-infection. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1235914. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1235914

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 van der Mescht, Steel, de Beer, Abdullah, Ueckermann, Anderson and Rossouw. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comparison of platelet-and endothelial-associated biomarkers of disease activity in people hospitalized with Covid-19 with and without HIV co-infection

Mieke A. van der Mescht¹, Helen C. Steel¹, Zelda de Beer^{1,2}, Fareed Abdullah^{3,4}, Veronica Ueckermann³, Ronald Anderson¹ and Theresa M. Rossouw^{1,2*}

¹Department of Immunology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, ²Department of Family Medicine, Tshwane District Hospital, Pretoria, South Africa, ³Division for Infectious Diseases, Department of Internal Medicine, Steve Biko Academic Hospital and University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, ⁴Office of AIDS and TB Research, South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria, South Africa

Introduction: SARS-CoV-2 elicits a hyper-inflammatory response that contributes to increased morbidity and mortality in patients with COVID-19. In the case of HIV infection, despite effective anti-retroviral therapy, people living with HIV (PLWH) experience chronic systemic immune activation, which renders them particularly vulnerable to the life-threatening pulmonary, cardiovascular and other complications of SARS-CoV-2 co-infection. The focus of the study was a comparison of the concentrations of systemic indicators o\f innate immune dysfunction in SARS-CoV-2-PCR-positive patients (n=174) admitted with COVID-19, 37 of whom were co-infected with HIV.

Methods: Participants were recruited from May 2020 to November 2021. Biomarkers included platelet-associated cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, MIP-1 α , RANTES, PDGF-BB, TGF- β 1 and TNF- α) and endothelial associated markers (IL-1 β , IL-1Ra, ICAM-1 and VEGF).

Results: PLWH were significantly younger (p=0.002) and more likely to be female (p=0.001); median CD4+ T-cell count was 256 (IQR 115 -388) cells/ μ L and the median HIV viral load (VL) was 20 (IQR 20 -12,980) copies/mL. Fractional inspired oxygen (FiO2) was high in both groups, but higher in patients without HIV infection (p=0.0165), reflecting a greater need for oxygen supplementation. With the exception of PDGF-BB, the levels of all the biomarkers of innate immune activation were increased in SARS-CoV-2/HIV-co-infected and SARS-CoV-2/HIV-uninfected sub-groups relative to those of a control group of healthy participants. The magnitudes of the increases in the levels of these biomarkers were comparable between the SARS-CoV-2 -infected sub-groups,

the one exception being RANTES, which was significantly higher in the subgroup without HIV. After adjusting for age, sex, and diabetes in the multivariable model, only the association between HIV status and VEGF was statistically significant (p=0.034). VEGF was significantly higher in PLWH with a CD4+ Tcell count >200 cells/ μ L (p=0.040) and those with a suppressed VL (p=0.0077).

Discussion: These findings suggest that HIV co-infection is not associated with increased intensity of the systemic innate inflammatory response during SARS-CoV-2 co-infection, which may underpin the equivalent durations of hospital stay, outcome and mortality rates in the SARS-CoV-2/HIV-infected and -uninfected sub-groups investigated in the current study. The apparent association of increased levels of plasma VEGF with SARS-CoV-2/HIV co-infection does, however, merit further investigation.

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, HIV, platelets, cytokines, chemokines, vascular endothelial growth factor

1 Introduction

Cytokine release syndrome, also referred to as hypercytokinemia or a 'cytokine storm', is a consequence of a dysregulated immune response and has been linked to the pathology seen in individuals presenting with severe COVID-19 (1). High levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines cause symptoms such as fever, hemodynamic instability, coagulopathy, splenomegaly, hepatitis, and multi-organ failure, which can be fatal (1). One of the common causes of mortality in COVID-19 is hypercoagulability (2), with some patients presenting with strokes, myocardial infarcts, pulmonary emboli, mesenteric ischemia, and limb thrombosis (3). Microemboli have also been associated with myocarditis and cardiac failure (2).

While it is still unclear whether the virus itself has intrinsic procoagulant effects, coagulopathy likely stems from the inflammatory response observed in these individuals and the ensuing endothelial activation or damage (4). Some authors have suggested that COVID-19 should be viewed and treated as a 'true vascular disease' and the importance of endothelium-platelet interactions is increasingly recognised (5, 6).

Although the main function of platelets is to maintain vascular integrity through coagulation and angiogenesis, their role in both the innate and adaptive immune response is also well recognised (7). Platelets are involved in the first-line response to invading pathogens, activating an innate immune response through Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (7). Toll-like receptor-7 plays an important role in protecting against viral infections in the innate immune system (8). SARS-CoV-2, a single-stranded ribonucleic acid (ssRNA) virus, binds to TLR-7 within endosomal compartments of cells, including platelets (9). Following binding of ssRNA viruses to TLR-7, the MyD88-dependent pathway is initiated, resulting in upregulated expression of inflammatory cytokines, most notably interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , by various immune cells including T-cells, B-cells, macrophages, monocytes, fibroblasts, plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and endothelial cells (10). The upregulated expression of these cytokines is consistent with a skewing of the immune response towards a T helper (Th)2 or Th17 phenotype (10).

It has been shown that platelets interact directly with SARS-CoV-2 and enhance uptake of the virus into various cell types (9). Platelets are hyperactivated during SARS-CoV-2 infection through mechanisms as diverse as epithelial damage, hypoxia, neutrophil extracellular trap formation, interactions between SARS-CoV-2 spike protein and platelets, autoimmune responses, and autocrine activation (6). Activated platelets undergo degranulation and release a number of inflammatory mediators that are stored in their granules (11). In addition, activated platelets also exhibit upregulated expression of adhesion molecules, including platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and regulated upon activation normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), which are both stored in and secreted from platelet α -granules (12).

South Africa has one of highest prevalences of HIV infection in the world, estimated at 13% in the general and 18.7% in the adult population (13). From the start of the pandemic, it was feared that HIV-associated immunodeficiency might predispose people living with HIV (PLWH) to infection with SARS-CoV-2, and that the persistent, systemic immune activation caused by HIV might exacerbate hyperinflammation during COVID-19. Both scenarios could lead to poor outcomes. Notably, an increase in thrombotic events (up to ten-fold higher) has been reported in PLWH receiving antiretroviral therapy (ART) compared to those of the healthy, uninfected population (14). This vulnerable population is, therefore, potentially at an even higher risk of developing thrombosis if co-infected with SARS-CoV-2.

Nevertheless, despite the existence of an extensive body of literature, predominantly encompassing clinical studies and

systematic reviews focused on comparisons of outcomes of patients hospitalized with COVID-19 without and with HIV co-infection, few of these studies have included detailed comparisons of the levels of biomarkers of systemic innate immune activation and their associations with organ dysfunction and outcome. To address this issue, the present study compared associations between the systemic levels of biomarkers of platelet and endothelial activation with clinical parameters and treatment outcomes in people living with and without HIV infection, admitted to hospital with COVID-19 in Tshwane, South Africa.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study population and sample collection

In this study, 174 patients who were admitted with COVID-19 (parameters of disease severity can be found in Supplementary Table 1) were recruited from May 2020 until December 2021 from Steve Biko Academic and Tshwane District Hospitals, Pretoria, South Africa. For each patient, approximately 20 milliliters (mL) of blood were collected in tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) as anticoagulant on the first day of admission, before treatment was commenced. The inclusion criteria were as follows: SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-positive; 18 years or older; and willing and able to provide informed consent to participate. Samples were processed and stored on the day of venipuncture. Plasma was stored in sterile tubes at -80°C until assayed. Results of routine pathology tests were extracted from the National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS) Trakcare database. Clinical data were recorded by trained clinicians using RedCap (v9.5.36). The study was approved by the University of Pretoria Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee (ref. 247/ 2020). Nine healthy volunteers with no prior history of SARS-CoV-2 or HIV were included as controls for biomarker testing.

2.2 Quantification of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors

Circulating levels of cytokines were determined in plasma samples using a Bio-Plex Human Cytokine/Chemokine Magnetic Bead Panel Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA, USA). The concentrations of the following cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors were determined: interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL1-receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A, also known as just VEGF), IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1 α), plateletderived growth factor (PDGF)-BB, and IL-8. Plasma samples were diluted four-fold and the experimental procedure was followed as per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, prepared magnetic beads (50 µL) were added to each of the 96 wells, and the plate was washed twice using an automated magnetic microplate washer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). The diluted samples, blanks, standards, and controls (50 µL) were added to appropriately designated wells. The plate was sealed and incubated (protected from light) at room temperature for 45 minutes with gentle agitation on an orbital plate shaker (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA). Following the incubation period, the plate was washed three times as described above and detection antibody (25 µL) was added to each well. The plate was sealed and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation. The plate was again washed three times followed by the addition of streptavidin-phycoerythrin (50 µL). The plate was sealed and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation. The plate was then washed a final three times. The beads were resuspended in 125 µL assay buffer and shaken vigorously for two minutes on a Cooke AM69 microplate shaker (Dynatech AG, Bleichestrasse, ZUG, CH) prior to assay on a Bio-Plex Suspension Array platform (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). Bio-Plex Manager Software 6.0 was used for bead acquisition and analysis of median fluorescence intensity. Results are presented as picograms per milliliter (pg/mL).

2.2.1 Preparation and dilution of: regulated-on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted, intracellular-adhesion molecule-1, and transforming growth factor- β 1

The regulated-on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) concentrations were determined using the Human RANTES enzyme-linked immunoassay (ELISA) kit (E-EL-H6006, Elabscience Biotechnology, Inc., Houston, TX, USA). Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (I-CAM-1) levels were measured using the Human I-CAM-1/CD54 ELISA kit (E-EL-H6114, Elabscience, Biotechnology, Inc.). Samples for both assays were thawed at room temperature and diluted to a ratio of 1:20 prior to analysis.

Transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) levels were determined using the Human TGF- β 1 ELISA kit (E-EL-0162, Elabscience Biotechnology, Inc.). Latent TGF- β 1 was activated to the immunoreactive form by adding 40 µL 1N hydrochloric acid to 240 µL plasma (diluted 1:8). After mixing thoroughly, the samples were incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. The samples were then neutralized with the addition of 40 µL 1.2 N sodium hydroxide and mixing thoroughly. The assay was performed immediately.

2.2.2 Procedure for sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays

Levels of RANTES, I-CAM-1 and TGF- β 1 were determined as per the manufacturer's instructions described briefly below.

The standards and appropriately prepared plasma samples (100 μ L) were added to the designated wells. The plate was sealed and incubated for 1.5 hours at 37°C. Following the incubation period, the plate contents were discarded followed by the addition of biotinylated detection antibody (100 μ L) to each well and the plate incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. The plate was then washed three times using an automated plate washer (BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, USA) followed by the addition of horseradish

peroxidase (HRP) conjugate (100 μ L) to each well. The plate was incubated for an additional 30 minutes at 37°C. The plate was washed a further five times as described above followed by the addition of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate reagent (100 μ L) and a further 15-minute incubation period at 37°C, protected from light. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 50 μ L stop solution and the optical density (OD) read at a wavelength of 450 nm using a plate spectrophotometer (BioTek Instruments Inc.). The concentration of the analyte present in each sample was determined using the appropriate generated standard curve and the results are presented as nanograms (ng)/mL.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Clinical information was captured from patient files and entered into a Microsoft excel spreadsheet. Results of routine laboratory tests were obtained from the NHLS. Results from specialized immunological tests were exported from the instrument to the spreadsheet. Double data entry by two independent researchers ensured the accuracy of the records. Data were exported to Stata 17 for analysis. Data were assessed for distribution and appropriate tests applied. The student's t-test and Kruskal-Wallis test were used to compare continuous variables between groups, while Pearson's chi-square and Fisher's exact test were used for univariate comparison of categorical variables. Stepwise, backward, multivariable logistic regression analysis was used to examine associations with HIV status after appropriate transformation of predictor variables. Spearman's correlation test, with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, was used to assess correlations between continuous variables.

3 Results

3.1 Demographic and clinical parameters at the time of hospital admission

A total of 174 patients was recruited. Their mean age was 52 (SD ±14) years and just over half (53.5%) were male. Comorbidities were common: hypertension (42.8%), diabetes mellitus (34%), heart disease (14.5%), kidney disease (9.9%), lung disease (8.9%), and cancer (3.1%). Of the group, 37 (21%) were PLWH. Twenty-six (70.3%) PLWH were on ART, with one having started 3 days before admission. The median CD4+ T-cell count was 256 (IQR 115 - 388) cells/µL and the median HIV viral load (VL) was 20 (IQR 20 -12,980) copies/mL. Nineteen PLWH (51.4%) had a suppressed VL (i.e. VL <20 copies/mL) at the time of admission. PLWH were significantly younger and more likely to be female. They were also less likely to have diabetes mellitus as a comorbidity, but more likely to have had, or to currently have, active TB. There was no difference in their duration of stay in the hospital, disease severity, or in their outcome. The in-hospital mortality rate for the cohort was 18.6%. The mortality rate in the PLWH group was 12.5% compared to 20% in the non-PLHIV group and the difference was not significant. These data are summarized in Table 1.

With respect to cardiac and pulmonary function on admission, both groups had an elevated pulse and respiratory rate. Patients

Variable		COVID-19 PLWH (n=37)	COVID-19 HIV-uninfected (n=137)	P-value
Age (years)		45.6 (±11)	53.7 (± 14.6)	0.002
Gender (male)		11/37 (29.7%)	82/137 (59.9%)	0.001
Hypertension		12/37 (32.4%)	56/122 (45.9%)	0.147
Diabetes		6/37 (16.2%)	48/122 (45.9%)	0.009
Heart disease		4/37 (10.8%)	19/122 (15.6%)	0.599
Lung disease		2/37 (5.4%)	12/121 (9.9%)	0.523
Kidney disease	Kidney disease		15/125 (12%)	0.080
Cancer	Cancer		3/122 (2.5%)	0.330
Current TB		3/36 (8.3%)	1/125 (0.8%)	0.015
Past TB	5		2/125 (1.6%)	0.004
Overweight		9/35 (25.7%)	36/117 (30.8%)	0.256
Duration of admission		8 (5 - 10)	8 (5 - 12)	0.722
n	nild noderate severe	13/35 (37.1%) 18/35 (51.4%) 4/35 (11.4%)	23/114 (20.2%) 62/114 (54.4%) 29/114 (25.4%)	0.061
Outcome (died)		4/32 (12.5%)	22/108 (20%)	0.395

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics of the participants.

Age is shown as mean (± standard deviation) and duration of admission as median (interquartile range). All other variables are shown as number (percentage).

People living with HIV (PLWH), Tuberculosis (TB).

Values in bold are significant.

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1235914

without HIV had lower levels of saturation on room air, although this association just missed statistical significance. Fractional inspired oxygen (FiO2) was high in both groups, but significantly higher in patients without HIV infection, reflecting a greater need for oxygen supplementation. The ratio of arterial oxygen partial pressure (PaO2 in mmHg) to FiO2, known as the PF ratio, was low in both groups, indicating moderate acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (Supplementary Table 2).

Access to specialized scans was unfortunately limited during the pandemic and only ten cases of clinically detectable thrombotic events were reported: eight in people without HIV (8/137 - 5.8%) and two in PLWH (2/37 - 5.4%) (p=0.640).

Routine blood parameters measured at the time of hospital admission are shown in Table 2. PLWH and HIV-uninfected patients had significantly elevated, but equivalent, levels of C-reactive protein (CRP). While ferritin levels were elevated in both groups, PLWH had significantly lower levels of this biomarker. In addition, D-dimers were similarly elevated in both groups, with no differences observed between the groups. Apart from significantly lower hemoglobin levels in PLWH, all other hematological markers were similar. All patients had a notable lymphopenia, but platelet counts were within normal limits. A total of 16 patients had thrombocytopenia: 4 living with and 12 without HIV (p=0.714).

3.2 Systemic concentrations of biomarkers of platelet and endothelial activation

Cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors representative of platelet (IL-8, MIP-1 α , RANTES, IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , PDGF-BB, TGF- β 1) and endothelial cell (VEGF, IL-1Ra, IL-1 β , ICAM-1)

activation were compared between patients with COVID-19, with and without HIV infection, and healthy control participants (n=9) by means of univariate analysis. The median age of the control group was 44 years (IQR 41 - 47) with a male:female ratio of 2:1. As shown in Table 3, all biomarkers, with the exception of PDGF-BB, were significantly different between the three groups with all markers being higher in patients with COVID-19, with or without HIV infection, than in controls. The only significant difference observed between patients with COVID-19 with and without HIV infection was RANTES, which was significantly lower in PLWH (p=0.034). RANTES levels were significantly higher in people with acute kidney disease [117.78 (36.42-166.66) p=0.0435] and narrowly missed significance in patients with hypertension [96.41 (46.17-163.92), p=0.0511]. In patients with cancer, RANTES levels were significantly lower [56.76 (23.32-64.99), p=0.040]. Male patients had significantly higher levels of RANTES [118.53 (54.17-204.44)] than female patients [68.19 (42.11-114.51), p=0.0016]. The results of the linear regression indicated that age explained 3.35% of the variation in RANTES levels [F(1,169)= 6.89, p=0.0095].

Stepwise backward multivariable logistic regression of all the markers revealed significant associations between HIV and PDGF-BB (OR=0.65; p=0.035), as well as between HIV and VEGF (OR=1.32; p=0.034). After adjusting for age, sex, disease severity, and diabetes in the multivariable model, the only significant association that remained was between HIV status and VEGF (Table 4). Levels of VEGF were higher in people living with hypertension (28.75 [IQR 4.22 - 150.01] versus 4.22 [IQR 4.22 - 72.88]; p=0.0312) but not in those with diabetes (p=0.2181), pre-existing lung disease (p=0.5558), kidney disease (p=0.6602) or cancer (p=0.3564).

Variable	COVID-19 PLWH (n=37)	COVID-19 HIV-uninfected (n=137)	Reference range	P-value
CRP (mg/L)	116 (57 – 189.5	105.5 (53 – 195)	<10	0.7819
Ferritin (ug/L)	269.5 (79 – 855)	742.5 (325 – 1576)	5 - 204	0.0020
D-dimer (mg/L)	0.77 (0.5 – 5)	0.66 (0.4 - 1.5)	0.00 - 0.25	0.2523
Trop I (ng/L)	10 (10 – 24)	11 (10 - 35)		0.4390
Hb (g/dL)	11.4 (± 2.96)	13.5 (± 2.6)	11.6 - 16.4	0.0001
Platelets (L x 10 ⁹ /L)	277.5 (208– 359)	263 (202.5 - 324.5)	186 - 454	0.4841
WCC (H x 10 ⁹ /L)	7.8 (5.7 – 9.8)	9.3 (6.8 - 11.8)	3.90 - 12.60	0.0509
Neutrophil count (H x 10 ⁹ /L)	6.8 (5.4 – 7.7)	6.8 (4.7 - 10.3)	1.60 - 8.30	0.4214
Lymphocyte count (L x 10 ⁹ /L)	1.06 (0.75 – 1.61)	1.16 (0.74 – 1.75)	1.40 - 4.50	0.9271
NLR	6.4 (2.8 – 9.7)	6.4 (3.5 - 10.3)		0.7959
PNR	43.2 (32.2 - 70.5)	38.9 (17.0 - 37.1)		0.2970
PLR	310.8 (156.7 - 419.3)	253.9 (153.6 - 347.1)		0.3921

TABLE 2 Routine blood parameters at admission.

All variables are shown as median (interquartile range) except for Hb which is shown as mean (\pm standard deviation)

C-reactive protein (CRP), Hemoglobin (Hb), neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR), platelet lymphocyte ratio (PLR), People living with HIV (PLWH), platelet neutrophil ratio (PNR), troponin I (Trop I), white cell count (WCC).

Values in bold are significant.

TABLE 3 Immunological parameters at admission.

Variable	COVID-19 PLWH (n=37)	COVID-19 HIV-uninfected (n=137)	Controls (n=9)	P-value*
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	153.88 (132.09 – 170.56)	144.19 (121.61 - 183.81)	112.23 (78.97 - 112.36)	0.0099
TGF-β1 (ng/mL)	7.35 (5.2 – 11.57)	8.08 (5.82 - 11.85)	5.02 (3.10 - 5.73)	0.0476
RANTES (ng/mL)	65.10 (51.62 - 104.93)	98.93 (45.63 - 181.51)	57.29 (36.51 - 60.35)	0.0371
IL-1β (pg/mL)	1.95 (1.46 - 2.66)	1.95 (1.46 - 2.89)	1.22 (0.98 - 1.71)	0.0492
IL-1Ra (pg/mL)	894.53 (725.59 – 1133.51)	812.8 (631.27 - 1089.68)	237.73 (214.08 - 407.8)	0.0002
IL-6 (pg/mL)	5.79 (1.82 - 12.0)	4.32 (1.6 - 9.4)	0.49 (0.3 - 0.54)	0.0007
IL-8 (pg/mL)	19.69 (15.32 - 28.36)	17.5 (10.73 - 23.48)	3.58 (2.8 - 6.47)	0.0001
MIP-1α (pg/mL)	4.10 (2.69 - 5.17)	3.29 (2.47 - 4.72)	1.3 (0.95 - 1.3)	0.0001
PDGF-BB (pg/mL)	460.42 (192.38 - 955.7)	504.48 (253.69 - 1044.48)	392.41 (31.74 - 494.58)	0.0926
TNF-α (pg/mL)	93.16 (73.41 - 118.40)	83.87 (68.6 - 102.39)	55.49 (50.67 - 68.6)	0.0009
VEGF (pg/mL)	17.71 (4.22 - 165.71)	4.22 (4.22 - 87.07)	4.22 (4.22 - 4.22)	0.0480

All variables are shown as median (interquartile range).

intracellular-adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), transforming growth factor-β1 (TGF-β1), regulated-on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), interleukin (IL), IL1-receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1α), platelet-derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB), tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

*P-values represent the overall difference between the 3 groups according to the Kruskal-Wallis test. Values in bold indicate significance. P-values for the differences between respective groups, according to the post-hoc Dunn test, are shown in Supplementary Table 1.

In order to determine whether the association with VEGF was due to HIV alone or rather secondary to a SARS-CoV-2/HIV interaction, PLWH with COVID-19 were compared to nine PLWH without COVID-19. The median age of this group was 47 years (IQR 39 - 61); 5 were female and 4 were male. Eight were on ART. The median CD4 count was 196 cells/mm3 (IQR 126 - 349), VL was 79 copies/mL (IQR 20 - 19,900); three had a suppressed VL (\leq 20 copies/mL) and six an unsuppressed VL. VEGF was significantly higher in PLWH with COVID-19 than in PLWH without COVID-19 (17.71 [IQR 4.22 - 165.71] versus 4.22 [IQR 4.22 - 4.22]; p=0.019). There was no difference in VEGF between the virally suppressed and unsuppressed PLWH without COVID-19 (p=0.2642), although it should be kept in mind that the numbers in these sub-groups were small.

Many variables were significantly correlated with one another, but no correlations were found between the cytokines and either the CD4+ T-cell count or the HIV VL, or between CD4 T-cell count and HIV VL. (Supplementary Figure 1). The heatmap presented in

HIV	Odds ratio	Standard Error	Z	P>z	95% confidence interval	
Age	0.9612	0.0159	-2.39	0.017	0.9305	0.9929
Sex	0.2580	0.1138	-3.07	0.002	0.1087	0.6125
Diabetes	0.2777	0.1484	-2.40	0.016	0.0975	0.7913
PDGF-BB	0.7800	0.1828	-1.06	0.289	0.4927	1.2347
VEGF	1.3537	0.1931	2.12	0.034	1.0236	1.7902
Estimated baseline odds	10.1942	14.4829	1.63	0.102	0.6296	165.0657

TABLE 4 Multivariable logistic regression model.

platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

Values in bold indicate significance.



FIGURE 1

Correlation plots of cytokine interactions. **(A)** COVID-19 PLWH, statistically significant positive correlations with rho above 0.5 were identified between the following cytokines: IL-8 and ICAM-1; TGF- β 1 and MIP-1 α ; TGF- β 1 and TNF- α ; MIP-1 α and IL-1 β ; IL-1 β and VEGF; IL-1Ra and IL-6; IL-1Ra and IL-8; MIP1- α and VEGF; and TNF- α and VEGF. **(B)** COVID-19 HIV-uninfected, statistically significant positive correlations with rho above 0.5 were identified between the following cytokines: IL-1Ra and PDGF-BB; MIP-1 α and VEGF; PDGF-BB and VEGF; and TNF- α and VEGF. *: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001.

Figure 1A represents the correlations in the COVID-19/PLWH group while the heatmap in Figure 1B depicts the results in people with COVID-19 but without HIV.

Just under half of PLWH (17/36 - 47.2%) with CD4+ T-cell count data (36/37 - 97.3%) had a level ≤200 cells/µL. These individuals had non-significantly lower levels of saturation on O2 (94% [IQR 90.5% - 96%] versus 96% [IQR 95% - 98%]; p=0.0564), and equivalent levels of FiO2 (p=0.1647), CRP (p=0.7185) and ferritin (p=0.750) when compared with individuals with counts above 200 cells/µL. They also had significantly higher levels of IL-6 and lower levels of VEGF. Although levels of RANTES and IL-8 were both higher in PLWH with a CD4 ≤200 cells/µL, these differences missed statistical significance (Table 5). Four out of the 17 (23.5%) COVID-19/PLWH patients with a CD4 count ≤200 cells/µL died, compared to none of the 15 (with outcome data) and a CD4 count >200 cells/µL. Levels of all the markers tested differed significantly between COVID-19/PLWH and PLWH controls, suggesting that all the changes observed were induced by COVID-19 in the context of HIV infection.

Eighteen (18/37 – 48.65%) PLWH had a detectable VL (>20 copies/mL). Compared to PLWH with an undetectable VL, they were significantly younger (39.9 ± 11 years versus 51.1 ± 7.7 years; p=0.037), less likely to have hypertension (16.7% versus 47%; p=0.046), diabetes (0% versus 31.6%, p=0.009) or be overweight (0% versus 47.4%; p=0.001). Patients with a detectable VL were also more likely to have active TB, but this difference was not statistically significant (17.6% versus 0%; p=0.095). They had significantly lower levels of TGF- β 1, IL-1 β , PDGF-BB, TNF- α and VEGF (Table 6). After multivariable logistic regression, only the association between VL and age (p=0.024) and VEGF (p=0.043) remained.

No significant differences in the levels of VEGF could be found between healthy PLWH controls and PLWH co-infected with SARS-CoV-2 with detectable VL. PLWH (19/37-51.35%) with an undetectable VL had significantly higher levels of VEGF than healthy PLWH controls with undetectable VL (126.12 [IQR 4.22– 269.27] versus 4.22 [IQR 4.22– 4.22]; p=0.0117) and detectable VL (126.12 [IQR 4.22– 269.27] versus 4.22 [IQR 4.22– 4.22]; p=0.0200).

All four of the PLWH who died had a CD4+ T-cell count of <200 cells/ μ L, 3/4 had a detectable VL, and two were known not to be on ART.

4 Discussion

As expected, COVID-19 was characterized by high levels of systemic inflammation, as reflected by the acute phase reactant, CRP, which is produced by the liver in response to increased expression of IL-6. Increased levels of CRP lead to elevated concentrations of IL-1 β and TNF- α that, in turn, lead to the increased expression of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 (15). All the platelet and endothelial markers, with the exception of PDGF-BB, were significantly higher in people with COVID-19 than in the group of healthy controls, indicating the extent of platelet and endothelial activation elicited by SARS-CoV-2 (6).

Overall, levels of inflammation were equivalent between COVID-19 patients with and without HIV infection. While the levels of pro-inflammatory markers, such as CRP, IL-6, IL-1Ra, and TNF- α , were slightly higher, and anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as TGF- β 1, were lower in COVID-19/PLWH than in those without HIV, none of these differences was significant. The platelet

TABLE 5 Comparison of immunological markers in PLWH with COVID-19 with low and higher CD4 counts.

Variable	COVID-19 PLWH CD4 ≤200 cells/µL (n=17)	COVID-19 PLWH CD4 >200 cells/µL (n=19)	P-value*
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	169.192 (144.02–178.61)	153.88 (132.09 -169.78)	0.1303
TGF-β1 (ng/mL)	7.35 (5.08 –11.57)	7.98 (5.20 –17.06)	0.2736
RANTES (ng/mL)	70.22 (59.71–107.02)	64.99 (32.98–82.01)	0.0890
IL-1β (pg/mL)	2.03 (1.71-2.43)	1.95 (1.35–3.69)	0.9494
IL-1Ra (pg/mL)	952.91 (747.98–1175.93)	894.53 (655.64–1133.51)	0.6345
IL-6 (pg/mL)	13.18 (5.39–72.3)	4.32 (1.25-7.28)	0.0028
IL-8 (pg/mL)	23.81 (15.32–31.61)	18.59 (14.45–20.24)	0.0769
MIP-1α (pg/mL)	4.8 (3.83–5.17)	3.38 (2.69–5.57)	0.2163
PDGF-BB (pg/mL)	578.07 (222.09–920.74)	378.77 (181.27–1040.34)	0.9873
TNF-α (pg/mL)	93.16 (76.85-116.12)	84.6 (73.41-124.78)	0.8121
VEGF (pg/mL)	4.22 (4.22-72.88)	123.35 (4.22–269.27)	0.0141

All variables are shown as median (interquartile range).

intracellular-adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), transforming growth factor-β1 (TGF-β1), regulated-on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), interleukin (IL), IL1-receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1α), platelet-derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB), tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

Values in bold indicate significance.

chemokine, RANTES, was significantly lower in PLWH but, after adjusting for other factors significantly associated with RANTES, such as age and sex, this difference lost significance. The initial difference observed was therefore likely due to the dissimilar demographic profiles of the patients with and without HIV infection.

The aforementioned systemic, pro-inflammatory biomarker data reflected, and probably explain, the essentially comparable clinical data, which characterized the groups of SARS-CoV-2-HIVinfected and -uninfected patients. While patients with COVID-19 without HIV infection appeared to have a more coordinated immune response, as reflected by the larger number of significant correlations between the immunological markers, this did not translate into differences in levels of inflammation or clinical outcomes. There were, however, a few exceptions. PLWH had lower levels of the acute phase reactant, ferritin, possibly secondary to less hypoxia (supported by the fact that PLWH needed less oxygen supplementation). In contrast, PLWH had higher levels of the coagulation marker, INR, together with nonsignificantly elevated levels of D-dimer. D-Dimer levels increase on recurrent cycles of coagulation and fibrinolysis, are associated with thrombosis and thromboembolic conditions and are, therefore, considered an important predictor of these events in COVID-19 patients (16). A correlation between D-Dimer and various physiological processes recognized in PLWH have been reported. These include endothelial dysfunction, microbial translocation, and active viral replication, as measured by VL (17–19). Interestingly, an equivalent number of clinical thrombotic events was reported in the two groups, although an important caveat is the absence of specialized scans that could have enabled diagnosis of occult thrombosis.

After multivariable logistic regression that accounted for age, gender, and differences in the prevalence of diabetes between the groups, VEGF emerged as a marker of interest. VEGF is a potent angiogenic factor and inducer of vascular permeability (20). It is released during hypoxia or in inflammatory conditions in response to endothelial injury and has been shown to be significantly increased in patients with COVID-19, correlating with disease severity (20, 21).

The early stage of endothelial activation is characterized by increased expression of ICAM-1 on the surface of endothelial cells to allow trans-endothelial migration of leukocytes to sites of inflammation (20). This is followed by elevation of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PA-1) and soluble thrombomodulin that initiate alterations in the coagulation process, as well as VEGF, which drives angiogenesis (20). The interaction of these biomarkers with leukocytes, smooth muscle cells, and other proinflammatory cytokines, leads to remodeling of the vessel wall and subsequent

Variable	COVID-19 PLWH VL >20 copies/mL (n=18)	COVID-19 PLWH VL ≤20 copies/mL (n=19)	P-value*
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	155.59 (132.09–175.55)	162.49 (134.75–170.56)	0.4158
TGF-β1 (ng/mL)	6.49 (4.41-10.51)	9.15 (6.86–15.12)	0.0268
RANTES (ng/mL)	66.31 (58.65–104.93)	64.78 (26.58–83.23)	0.1370
IL-1β (pg/mL)	1.90 (1.46–2.03)	2.43 (1.47–4.93)	0.0442
IL-1Ra (pg/mL)	886.04 (439.52–990.82)	979.5 (844.02–1462.14)	0.0833
IL-6 (pg/mL)	4.03 (1.25–31.69)	7.99 (4.32–13.18)	0.2626
IL-8 (pg/mL)	18.29 (12.89–28.23)	20.24 (17.47–29.62)	0.2016
MIP-1α (pg/mL)	3.52 (2.02–4.87)	4.57 (2.99–5.57)	0.0605
PDGF-BB (pg/mL)	307.17 (148.02–578.07)	704.67 (343.84–1052.76)	0.0167
TNF-α (pg/mL)	73.96 (60.28–107.82)	113.84 (81.64–148.85)	0.0025
VEGF (pg/mL)	4.22 (4.22-66.99)	126.12 (4.22–269.27)	0.0021

TABLE 6 Comparison of immunological markers in PLWH with COVID-19 with detectable and undetectable HIV viral loads.

All variables are shown as median (interquartile range).

intracellular-adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1), regulated-on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), interleukin (IL), IL1-receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1 α), platelet-derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

Values in bold indicate significance.

vasculopathy (22). In this regard, it is interesting to note that VEGF was strongly and positively correlated with the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β , TNF- α and the chemokine, MIP-1 α , in both groups, indicating the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the newly formed vessels.

HIV has long been known to be associated with higher levels of VEGF than uninfected controls (23). This is generally assumed to be detrimental and associated with the presence of Kaposi's sarcoma, as well as HIV-associated encephalopathy (24). It has, however, also been postulated that VEGF may play a role in maintaining vasculature and protecting against the development of age-related cognitive decline, and may hence represent an appropriate response under conditions of hypoxia (25). In this regard, it is interesting to note that, in our study, VEGF was higher in PLWH but that their oxygen saturation was higher and FiO2 lower, indicating less hypoxia. This suggests that the association between VEGF and HIV is unrelated to hypoxia, a contention also supported by others (26). It is intriguing to consider whether the higher levels of VEGF observed in PLWH could be related to the lower oxygen requirement in this population.

It would seem that the elevated levels of VEGF were caused by the interaction between HIV and SARS-CoV-2, since levels were significantly higher in the presence of co-infection than with HIV infection alone. This interaction was, however, evident only in patients with good HIV control, since levels in the co-infected group with active viral replication had median VEGF levels at the lower limit of detection of the assay. This is further supported by the fact that the difference in VEGF between COVID-19/PLWH and control PLWH was only evident in the presence of an undetectable VL. It is therefore interesting to note that some authors have proposed that VEGF might be a biomarker of a more preserved immune system (27). In this regard, it is noteworthy that PLWH with a low CD4 count and unsuppressed VL, common features of those who had demised, had significantly lower levels of VEGF.

COVID-19/PLWH with a CD4 count ≤200 cells/µL could be distinguished from those with higher CD4 counts by lower levels of VEGF and higher levels of IL-6. While their inflammatory markers were similar, it is notable that all four of the COVID-19/PLWH who died were in this category. This finding should be considered in light of the significant lymphopenia observed in all COVID-19 patients in this study.

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study of patients hospitalized with COVID-19 demonstrated a relatively low mortality and good outcomes overall, both in people with and without HIV infection. Although significantly elevated, no significant differences were observed in the levels of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors for platelet- and endothelial-associated markers between patients with and without HIV infection, which is in keeping with the clinical findings. The exception was VEGF, which was higher in PLWH. VEGF is a potent angiogenic factor, which could be advantageous under hypoxic conditions. Interestingly, VEGF concentrations were lower in PLWH with a low CD4 count and unsuppressed VL, which could be an indication that these patients are less able to mount an appropriate immune response.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethics approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Health Sciences of the University of Pretoria (247/2020). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent was obtained for participation from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

TR, FA and VU conceptualized the study. MM, ZB and HS prepared samples and performed the biomarker assays. FA, VU and ZB recruited participants and collected clinical data. MM, ZB, HS, RA and TR wrote the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

We acknowledge the South African Medical Research Council Self-Initiated Research Grant (SAMRC SIR) for funding the project.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the participants who donated blood samples to this study. We would like to thank Londikhaya Hlatshwayo, Talita Roma De Villiers and the clinical staff at Tshwane District Hospital for their support with recruiting participants and Lydia Vlok for her support in collecting and validating clinical data.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1235914/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Frey N, Porter D. Cytokine release syndrome with chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2019) 25(4):e123–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.12.756

2. Delshad M, Safaroghli-Azar A, Pourbagheri-Sigaroodi A, Poopak B, Shokouhi S, Bashash D. Platelets in the perspective of COVID-19; pathophysiology of thrombocytopenia and its implication as prognostic and therapeutic opportunity. *Int immunopharmacol* (2021) 99:107995. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107995

3. Janardhan V, Janardhan V, Kalousek V. COVID-19 as a blood clotting disorder masquerading as a respiratory illness: a cerebrovascular perspective and therapeutic implications for stroke thrombectomy. *J Neuroimaging* (2020) 30(5):555–61. doi: 10.1111/jon.12770

4. Connors JM, Levy JH. Thromboinflammation and the hypercoagulability of COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost (2020) 18(7):1559-61. doi: 10.1111/jth.14849

 Venter C, Bezuidenhout JA, Laubscher GJ, Lourens PJ, Steenkamp J, Kell DB, et al. Erythrocyte, platelet, serum ferritin, and P-selectin pathophysiology implicated in severe hypercoagulation and vascular complications in COVID-19. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(21):8234. doi: 10.3390/ijms21218234

6. Rossouw TM, Anderson R, Manga P, Feldman C. Emerging role of plateletendothelium interactions in the pathogenesis of severe SARS-CoV-2 infectionassociated myocardial injury. Front Immunol (2022) 13:776861. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2022.776861

7. Koupenova M, Clancy L, Corkrey HA, Freedman JE. Circulating platelets as mediators of immunity, inflammation, and thrombosis. *Circ Res* (2018) 122(2):337–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310795

8. Hottz E, Bozza F, Bozza P. Platelets in immune response to virus and immunopathology of viral infections. *Front Med* (2018) 5:121. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00121

9. Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Tanriverdi K, Somasundaran M, Liu P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 initiates programmed cell death in platelets. *Circ Res* (2021) 129 (6):631–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319117

10. Shafeghat M, Kazemian S, Aminorroaya A, Aryan Z, Rezaei N. Toll-like receptor 7 regulates cardiovascular diseases. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2022) 113(Pt A):109390. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2022.109390

11. Rohlfing AK, Rath D, Geisler T, Gawaz M. Platelets and COVID-19. Hamostaseologie (2021) 41(5):379-85. doi: 10.1055/a-1581-4355

12. Morrell CN, Aggrey AA, Chapman LM, Modjeski KL. Emerging roles for platelets as immune and inflammatory cells. *Blood J Am Soc Hematol* (2014) 123 (18):2759-67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-462432

13. StatsSA. Africa SS. *Mid-year population estimates 2022* (Republic of South Africa: Statistics South Africa) (2022). Available at: https://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/P03022022.pdf.

14. Freiberg MS, Bebu I, Tracy R, So-Armah K, Okulicz J, Ganesan A, et al. D-dimer levels before HIV seroconversion remain elevated even after viral suppression and are associated with an increased risk of non-AIDS events. *PloS One* (2016) 11(4):e0152588. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152588

15. Zhang C. The role of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction. Basic Res Cardiol (2008) 103(5):398-406. doi: 10.1007/s00395-008-0733-0

16. Lehmann A, Prosch H, Zehetmayer S, Gysan MR, Bernitzky D, Vonbank K, et al. Impact of persistent D-dimer elevation following recovery from COVID-19. *PloS One* (2021) 16(10):e0258351. doi: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2021.OA90

17. Kuller LH, Tracy R, Belloso W, De Wit S, Drummond F, Lane HC, et al. Inflammatory and coagulation biomarkers and mortality in patients with HIV infection. *PloS Med* (2008) 5(10):e203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050203

18. Calmy A, Gayet-Ageron A, Montecucco F, Nguyen A, Mach F, Burger F, et al. HIV increases markers of cardiovascular risk: results from a randomized, treatment interruption trial. *AIDS* (2009) 23(8):929–39. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32832995fa

19. Baker J, Quick H, Hullsiek KH, Tracy R, Duprez D, Henry K, et al. IL-6 and Ddimer levels are associated with vascular dysfunction in patients with untreated HIV infection. *HIV Med* (2010) 11(9):608. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1293.2010.00835.x

20. Flaumenhaft R, Enjyoji K, Schmaier AA. Vasculopathy in COVID-19. Blood (2022) 140(3):222–35. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021012250

21. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10223):497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

22. Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Mwandumba H, Al-Bayati Z, Flatley J, Griffiths M, Solomon T, et al. HIV is associated with endothelial activation despite ART, in a sub-Saharan African setting. *Neurology-Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2019) 6(2): e531. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000531

23. Ascherl G, Hohenadl C, Schatz O, Shumay E, Bogner J, Eckhart L, et al. Infection with human immunodeficiency virus-1 increases expression of vascular endothelial cell growth factor in T cells: implications for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-associated vasculopathy. *Blood* (1999) 93(12):4232–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.V93.12.4232

24. Christensen H, Boysen G, Christensen AF, Johannesen HH. Insular lesions, ECG abnorMalities, and outcome in acute stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2005) 76(2):269–71. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2004.037531

25. Hohman TJ, Bell SP, Jefferson ALAlzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I. The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in neurodegeneration and cognitive decline: exploring interactions with biomarkers of Alzheimer disease. *JAMA Neurol* (2015) 72 (5):520–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4761

26. Korgaonkar SN, Feng X, Ross MD, Lu TC, D'Agati V, Iyengar R, et al. HIV-1 upregulates VEGF in podocytes. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2008) 19(5):877–83. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007050629

27. Keating SM, Golub ET, Nowicki M, Young M, Anastos K, Crystal H, et al. The effect of HIV infection and HAART on inflammatory biomarkers in a populationbased cohort of US women. *AIDS (London England)* (2011) 25(15):1823. doi: 10.1097/ QAD.0b013e3283489d1f

Frontiers in Immunology

Explores novel approaches and diagnoses to treat immune disorders.

The official journal of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) and the most cited in its field, leading the way for research across basic, translational and clinical immunology.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



